Final General Management Plan Environmental Impact Statement



Missouri National Recreational River Nebraska • South Dakota



Illustration provided by Tom Moser 1/97



FINAL GENERAL MANAGEMENT PLAN ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT

MISSOURI NATIONAL RECREATIONAL RIVER

Cedar and Dixon Counties, Nebraska Yankton, Clay, and Union Counties, South Dakota

This *Final General Management Plan / Environmental Impact Statement* presents three alternatives for the future of the Missouri National Recreational River: a continuation of existing conditions (no-action) alternative, a resource protection/recreation (preferred) alternative emphasizing protection and enhancement of biologic values and the history and culture of the area, and a recreational emphasis alternative. In both action alternatives, the Corps of Engineers (COE) and the National Park Service (NPS) would manage the area through a cooperative agreement. The Corps of Engineers would function as the day-to-day manager of the water-related resources, while the National Park Service would administer the land-related resources. The agencies would work together where their responsibilities overlapped.

The environmental consequences of implementing the alternatives were analyzed. The no-action alternative (alternative 1) would continue the current cooperative agreement and would provide a baseline for comparison of the other alternatives. Alternative 2 (the preferred alternative) would provide for maintenance and protection and enhancement of biological values. It also would provide for management activities that would emphasize the history and culture of the river and its surroundings. Alternative 3 would provide increased recreational emphasis on the river. Partnerships with local entities would be sought to provide services in all alternatives.

The boundary in alternatives 2 and 3 is the same. It differs slightly from the existing boundary in alternative 1 for the recreational river. Some areas were deleted because they were not river related. Some historic sites and some new lands were added where the river has eroded a wider channel. All boundaries include important examples of the river's outstandingly remarkable resources.

The Draft General Management Plan / Environmental Impact Statement was on public review from October 15, 1998, to December 16, 1998. The Final Environmental Impact Statement has been revised to reflect substantive comments and concerns received during the comment period, and the text has been refined and clarified as necessary. A record of decision on the final plan will be issued 30 days after this final document has been made available for public review, as announced in the Federal Register. For additional information about this plan, contact the superintendent, Missouri National Recreational River, P. O. Box 591, O'Neill, Nebraska 68763-0591, telephone: 402-336-3970; or the chief, Environmental Analysis Branch, Planning Division, U. S. Army Corps of Engineers, 215 North 17th St., Omaha, Nebraska 68102-4978, telephone: 402-221-4598.

Digitized by the Internet Archive in 2012 with funding from LYRASIS Members and Sloan Foundation

http://archive.org/details/finalgeneralmana99nati

SUMMARY

This *Final Environmental Impact Statement* presents and analyzes three alternatives for management of the Missouri National Recreational River. The three alternatives are a continuation of existing conditions (no action), a preferred alternative that emphasizes protection, restoration, and enhancement of biologic values and the history and culture of the area, and a recreational emphasis alternative.

ALTERNATIVE 1: CONTINUATION OF EXISTING CONDITIONS (NO ACTION)

Description

Under the no-action alternative current management practices would continue. The National Park Service would continue to manage the recreational river, the Corps of Engineers would continue its current management presence, and the 1980 *General Design Memorandum* would remain in effect. The cooperative agreement would continue to be followed for bank stabilization, land acquisition, and recreational facility development. The National Park Service and the Corps would continue to be responsible for developing management plans and submitting budget requirements. Ranching and farming would continue under the management of individual property owners, and existing residential and other private development areas would remain. New residential development could be built within the boundary from time to time. Land acquisition along the river by counties and both states for recreational sites and access might continue.

Administrative staff for the recreational river would continue to be in the Omaha District Office. Maintenance would remain the same, law enforcement would continue to be provided by state and local authorities, and the staffing needs would be minimal. Resource management would be carried out by the Corps of Engineers and the National Park Service. Natural resources would mostly be managed and protected by private property owners and state wildlife agencies. Preservation/protection of cultural resources would be guided by the Corps' *General Design Memorandum*.

The visitor experience would be limited generally to current activities and interpretation available on the river. Current visitor activities would not be expected to change and recreational use within the recreational river would remain primarily local, with the possible exception of Ponca State Park. Existing roads and public river access would be maintained, and development of new public river access would likely occur slowly. Users would continue to be primarily local people. Controls over private and commercial development would be limited to federal floodplain restrictions and state and county restrictions.

The boundary would remain the same as that described in the 1978 legislation.

Impacts

Geologic features, mineral resources, fish and wildlife species (including threatened and endangered species), and air/water quality would not be affected. Land use without controls could affect streambanks and floodplains, and soil erosion could continue. Impacts on prime and unique farmland would gradually continue from riverbank erosion and from landowners. Natural vegetation surface area and species composition would continue to decline. Fish and wildlife habitat loss could occur, but

SUMMARY

future modification of water release levels and seasonal timing might improve conditions for some species. There would be adverse impacts on streambanks even with some mitigation efforts. Most historic resources would continue to be protected, but impacts on cultural resources cannot be accurately predicted.

Visitors would have limited knowledge of what the recreational river offers, and management of visitor use would continue. Continued trends could result in a loss of agricultural land to erosion and a loss of natural resources if mitigating measures were not effective. Increased use and continued conversion of agricultural land to residential and other private development might have a net adverse impact on the county government through the demand for county services.

ALTERNATIVE 2 (PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE)

Description

Under the preferred alternative the Corps of Engineers and the National Park Service could develop a revised cooperative agreement, with each having specific responsibilities (the NPS role would be somewhat larger than now). The primary emphasis would be maintenance or enhancement of natural and cultural resources, streambank protection, maintenance of scenic qualities as seen from the river, low levels of visitor use, and public understanding of the area through interest group involvement. The rural scene would be maintained, intrusive development would be restricted, and maintenance of the landscape through local government and private means would be encouraged. Easements, zoning, and tax incentives would be used.

COE and NPS managers could combine existing facilities if deemed efficient to do so. Maintenance would increase slightly from present levels because there would be few new visitor facilities. Two new boat ramps would be provided on the South Dakota side, and a bike trail would be provided on the Nebraska side. Local, state, and federal governments would have existing law enforcement responsibilities, and cooperative relations would be sought. The Corps would have minimal support staff.

Essential streambank erosion control could be allowed on a case-by-case basis, and purchase of rapidly eroding banks from willing seller might be considered. Natural resource management would act to restore wildlife, instream habitat, and the natural function of the river. Under joint leadership of the Corps of Engineers and National Park Service, other agencies, local entities, and private owners would work together for the protection and enhancement of biologic values. A primary emphasis would be on protection of species of special concern. Management activities would emphasize the history and culture of the river and its surroundings.

The visitor experience would emphasize the continuation of high-quality wildlife observation, hunting, fishing, and boating experiences. The interpretive theme emphasis would be on the Missouri River's natural systems. Development of new visitor or staff support facilities, including river access, would not be extensive. State and local government actions to maintain the landscape outside the boundaries or to provide tour routes and overlooks would be encouraged through partnerships, technical assistance, and financial assistance.

The boundary would be similar, with alterations, to that in the 1980 *Management Plan* and the 1980 *General Design Memorandum*. The boundary would be the downstream end of the Gavins Point Dam excavated discharge channel (downstream boundary of the Lewis and Clark Project), 59 miles

downstream to Ponca State Park, Nebraska. The National Park Service might identify and include historic and archeological sites that are not contiguous to the river. State and local government actions outside the boundaries would be encouraged through partnerships, technical assistance, and financial assistance.

Impacts

Geologic features, mineral resources, soils, air, noise, and water quality would not be adversely affected. Prime and unique farmland would be retained. Fish and wildlife species would benefit, and there would be long-term beneficial impacts on vegetation as well. Threatened and endangered species would not be adversely affected. Floodplains and wetlands would not be affected except the construction of proposed boat ramps might cause insignificant impacts. Proposed programs and efforts would help prevent adverse cumulative impacts on cultural resources; however ,if additional funding and personnel were unavailable to carry out proposals, resources might be adversely affected. Prehistoric resources would be protected, and ethnographic resources would benefit.

Types and levels of recreational use would not change significantly. A small localized increase in landbased visitor use would occur in the vicinity of the proposed bike trail. Boat ramp development would have location and construction constraints that should preclude impacting the least tern and piping plover. Localized increases in land-based recreational use could occur within the recreational river. Socioeconomic resources would generally benefit from the proposals.

ALTERNATIVE 3 (RECREATIONAL EMPHASIS)

Description

Actions proposed under alternative 3 would essentially be the same as alternative 2, except that enhanced recreational opportunities would be provided for visitors under alternative 3. A revised cooperative agreement would be implemented as described under alternative 2. Visitor use would be encouraged without destroying the special qualities of the river. There would be increased, but dispersed, access points. Private and public recreation development would remain and future opportunities for expansion would be sought. In addition to construction proposed under alternative 2, this alternative would also provide for construction of two to four primitive campgrounds. Interpretation of cultural resources would be important for resource protection as well as for visitor education and enjoyment. Some compatible private development such as campgrounds to accommodate expanded visitor opportunities would be encouraged without adversely affecting significant natural or cultural resources. Maintenance and other administrative activities would increase because of additional facilities and increased visitation.

The boundary under alternative 3 would be the same as described for alternative 2. Assistance on adjacent land outside the boundary would be the same as alternative 2, except that local entities would be encouraged to foster the development of tour routes and scenic overlooks along the river. The National Park Service would work cooperatively with local governments to provide more sites for visitors to learn about the history of the river and the region and might assist with planning of scenic roads outside the boundary.

Impacts

There would be no expected impacts on geologic processes or features, physiography, paleontological resources, mineral extraction activity, or prime and unique farmland. Trends of declining native vegetation would probably be stabilized but active improvement of native vegetation from restoration projects would be less likely than from alternative 2. Wildlife and habitats would be protected, threatened and endangered species would not be adversely affected, and wetland and floodplain protection would generally be improved. Air and water quality would not be affected. No impact is expected on noise. Cultural resources would benefit from greater interpretation and preservation information if staffing and funding were available.

Visitor use would increase because more recreational activities and interpretive programming would be offered. The proposed campgrounds, boat ramps, and bike trails would create an increase in land-based visitor use in the vicinity of such construction. Socioeconomic resources would generally benefit from proposed actions.

CONTENTS

Introduction

Purpose of and Need for the Plan 3 Context for the Plan 4 Overview of the River 4 Legislative Background 9 Purpose of the River 10 Significance of the Recreational River 11 Desired Future Conditions 12 History of the Planning Project 13 Relationship with Other Projects 14

The Alternatives

Alternative 1: Continuation of Existing Conditions (No Action) 23 General Concept and Philosophy 23 Management 24 Resource Management 27 Visitor Use and Interpretation 29 Boundary 30 Assistance on Adjacent Land Outside the Boundary 30 Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3 33 General Concept and Philosophy 33 Management 33 Resource Management 38 Visitor Use and Interpretation 41 Boundary 43 Assistance on Adjacent Land Outside the Boundary 44 Alternative 2: Resource Protection/Recreation (Preferred Alternative) 47 General Concept and Philosophy 47 Management 47 Resource Management 50 Visitor Use and Interpretation 53 Alternative 3: Recreational Emphasis 55 General Concept and Philosophy 55 Management 55 Resource Management 57 Visitor Use and Interpretation 58 Assistance on Adjacent Land Outside the Boundary 60

Summary of Alternatives 61

Affected Environment

Brief Description of the Riverway 71 Natural Resources 72 Cultural Resources 86 Visitor Experience 92 Visitor Use and Interpretation 93 Socioeconomic Resources 101

Environmental Consequences

Introduction 105 The Derivation of Impact Topics 105 Alternative 1: No Action 109 Impacts on Natural Resources 109 Impacts on Cultural Resources 112 Impacts on Visitor Use and Interpretation 113 Impacts on Socioeconomic Resources 114 Cumulative Impacts 115 Unavoidable Adverse Effects 116 The Relationship Between Short-term Uses and Maintenance and Enhancement of Long-term Productivity 117 Irreversible and Irretrievable Commitments of Resources 117 Alternative 2: The Preferred Alternative 118 Impacts on Natural Resources 118 Impacts on Cultural Resources 121 Impacts on Visitor Use and Interpretation 122 Impacts on Socioeconomic Resources 123 Cumulative Impacts 125 Unavoidable Adverse Effects 125 The Relationship Between Short-term Uses and Maintenance and Enhancement of Long-term Productivity 125 Irreversible and Irretrievable Commitments of Resources 125 Alternative 3: Recreational Emphasis 126 Impacts on Natural Resources 126 Impacts on Cultural Resources 128 Impacts on Visitor Use and Interpretation 129 Impacts on Socioeconomic Resources 130 Cumulative Impacts 130 Unavoidable Adverse Effects 131 The Relationship Between Short-term Uses and Maintenance and Enhancement of Long-term Productivity 131 Irreversible and Irretrievable Commitments of Resources 131

Compliance 132

Contents

Consultation and Coordination

Planning for the National Recreational River 139
Introduction 139
Scoping Process 139
Summary of Public Involvement 139
Co-lead Agencies 140
Cooperating Agencies 140
List of Agencies, Organizations, and Individuals Who Received Copies of the Environmental Impact Statement 143

Appendixes / Glossary / Bibliography / Preparers

Appendix A: Legislation 243
Appendix B: Plant Community Types 253
Appendix C: 1980 Cooperative Agreement Between U.S. Department of the Interior and U.S. Department of the Army 255
Appendix D: Bank Stabilization 258
Appendix E: U.S. Fish And Wildlife Letter 262
Appendix F: Vegetation Screening 263

Glossary 266 Bibliography 270 Preparers And Contributors 276

Index 280

Tables

- 1: Alternative 1 Land Use/Land Cover 26
- 2: Alternative 2 Land Use/Land Cover 49
- 3: Summary of Alternatives 61
- 4: Summary of Impacts 67
- 5: Federal and State Threatened, Endangered, or Candidate Species 81

Maps

Region 5 Vicinity 7 Original 1978 Boundary (No Action Alternative) 31 Boundary Alternatives 45



PURPOSE OF AND NEED FOR THE PLAN

The Missouri National Recreational River (MNRR) was added to the National Wild and Scenic Rivers System in 1978 (PL 95-625) by an amendment to the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act (Act). Section 3 of the Act states that the federal agency charged with administration of a component of the national wild and scenic rivers system shall prepare a management plan to provide for the protection of river values. The legislation adding the MNRR to the national wild and scenic rivers system gave administrative responsibility to the secretary of the interior, acting through the National Park Service. The legislation directed the secretary of the interior to enter into a cooperative agreement with the secretary of the army, acting through the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (COE), to provide recreational river features, appropriate recreational development, and construction and maintenance of streambank protection work as deemed necessary by the secretary of the army. In 1980 the U. S. Department of the Interior prepared a management plan for the MNRR (Heritage Conservation and Recreation Services 1980), and the COE prepared a general design memorandum (COE 1980) to expand on the conceptual program identified in the management plan.

The 1980 *Management Plan* was only partially implemented for several reasons. Subsequent to the completion of the 1980 plan, three species that are found in the MNRR were added to the federal list of threatened and endangerd species. If fully implemented, the plan could be incompatible with protection of these species; therefore, analysis of the potential impact is needed. In addition, some present-day federal policies act as constraints that have impacted the COE's ability to fully implement the management plan. For instance, the COE' policy requires that the development of recreational facilities be cost-shared, and there have been few cost-share partners on the MNRR. Federal law places restrictions on using federal funding for streambank protection on private lands. Also, federal construction of new bank protection structures, even for public land, has low budgetary priority. The 1980 plan needs to be updated to address concerns related to threatened and endangered species and, given the existing constraints, identify strategies to meet management objectives.

This *Environmental Impact Statement* addresses issues that have resulted in only partial implementation of the 1980 *Management Plan*. It presents overall approaches to land protection, resource management, interpretation, recreational development, and visitor use. The document also contains an analysis of the environmental consequences of each alternative. A final *General Management Plan* will set forth the general direction for managing the MNRR over the next 10–15 years.

CONTEXT FOR THE PLAN

OVERVIEW OF THE RIVER

The Missouri River begins at the juncture of three tributaries at Three Forks, Montana, and flows southeast for 2,300 miles before joining the Mississippi River a few miles north of St. Louis, Missouri. It is the longest river in the United States, if the tributary mileage above Three Forks is included in its total length. The river shared with the Oregon and Santa Fe trails the distinction of being one of the three main thoroughfares to the Far West and was the great waterway of prehistoric Indians, Lewis and Clark, fur trappers, and settlers.

The river is harnessed in its upper and middle reaches by a series of six multipurpose dams and reservoirs, and in its lower reaches, it has been channelized. The 59-mile segment of the Missouri River, from Gavins Point Dam to Ponca State Park, Nebraska, is one of the few remaining reaches that remains in a relatively natural condition.

The river forms the boundary between Nebraska and South Dakota. On the Nebraska side, the land along the river ranges from a relatively level floodplain to steep, tree-covered bluffs. There is a relatively level floodplain on the South Dakota side. Riverbanks vary from relatively flat, sandy beach areas to vertical faces 10 to 15 feet high where active erosion is taking place. The river varies from a meandering stream to a braided stream, depending on the location and river stage. The floodplain width between banks averages over 2,000 feet and varies from 600 feet to over 1 mile. Primary channel depths usually average between 10 and 20 feet with occasional 40- to 50-feet-deep scour holes.

Severe erosion is common. High bank erosion continues, with accretion limited to lower elevation bars, which are considerably less fertile than the higher bank areas formed prior to completion of the dams. This river segment was designated as a national recreational river because of the significant natural, recreational, and cultural qualities that are worthy of preservation. These include the backwater marsh areas, open sandbars, and cottonwood forests that provide wildlife habitat. Endangered and threatened species, such as the interior least tern, piping plover, pallid sturgeon, and bald eagle, all use the river.

Cultural resources include historic and prehistoric archeological sites, historic architectural and engineering features and structures, and resources of significance to American Indians. Important cultural resources include the Indian Hill, Schulte, and Wiseman archeological sites, ethnic settlements and farms, sunken steamboats, and landscape features noted by Lewis and Clark along what is now the Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail.

This section of the Missouri River has the potential to be a major recreational resource because it is near several large population centers. Developed sites have become increasingly popular, but public access points and facilities for recreational use are limited. These facilities have been developed by federal, state, county, and city governments and by private interests.





REGION MISSOURI NATIONAL RECREATIONAL RIVER

United States Department of the Interior • National Park Service DSC/July 1998/651/20,000





REGION MISSOURI NATIONAL RECREATIONAL RIVER

United States Department of the Interior • National Park Service DSC/July 1998/651/20,000









United States Department of the Interior • National Park Service DSC/July 1998/651/20,001



LEGISLATIVE BACKGROUND

The purpose of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act (1968) is to protect certain select rivers and their immediate environments for the benefit and enjoyment of present and future generations. To qualify for this protection, these rivers must be free-flowing, relatively undeveloped, and possess one or more "outstandingly remarkable" scenic, recreational, geologic, fish and wildlife, cultural, or similar values. Preservation of selected rivers in a free-flowing condition was intended to complement the dams, diversions, and other construction on key streams. There are over 10,000 miles of protected riverways in the national wild and scenic rivers system.

In 1977 the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers recommended recreational river designation of the 59-mile segment of the Missouri River between Gavins Point Dam and Ponca State Park in the Review Report for Water Resources Development, Missouri River, South Dakota, Nebraska, North Dakota, and Montana (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 1977). This review report is informally known as the umbrella study. The purpose of the umbrella study was to study the Missouri River System and make recommendations regarding water resource development. The Department of Interior cooperated in the umbrella study and urged the Corps to recommend designation of this segment under the Act.

On November 10, 1978, Congress amended the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act by adding the 59-mile segment of the Missouri River to the system (Public Law 95-625). Several diverse parties worked together to develop and support the legislation designating the Missouri National Recreational River. These parties represented a variety of interests and included the South Dakota and Nebraska congressional delegations, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, game, fish, and parks departments from both states, and the Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association, which represents landowners along this river segment seeking protection of their property from river erosion (166 *Congressional Record*, S18526-9, daily ed. October 12, 1978).

Statements in the *Congressional Record* clarify the impetus for designating the Missouri River National Recreational River. It states that:

This Corps' recommendation was acted upon by all parties involved as a solution to the very knotty problem of how to implement needed bank stabilization while at the same time protecting wildlife values. It also presented a unique opportunity for recreation along the last vestige of the natural Missouri much as it was before it underwent massive development (letter from Senator George McGovern, Senator Carl Curtis, and Senator Edward Zorinsky).

To address the interests of the various groups supporting designation, the establishing legislation includes the following statement:

The secretary of the army shall condition the construction or maintenance of any streambank stabilization or any recreational river feature . . . upon the availability to the United States of such land and interests in land in such ownership as he deems necessary to carry out such construction or maintenance and to protect and enhance the river in accordance with the purpose of this Act.

This language provides that in order for there to be new construction of any bank protection structures, the landowner who is to benefit from it must also make available land for the protection of biologic values. This was to ensure that there would be no bank stabilization without protection of wildlife and recreational values, and was agreed to by all parties involved with the designation (166 *Congressional Record*, S18526-9, daily ed. October 12, 1978).

INTRODUCTION

Public Law 95-625 and an analysis of this law are included as appendix A in this document.

The Wild and Scenic Rivers Act provides that boundaries must be set and that a comprehensive management plan must be prepared by the managing agency. Section 10 of the Act requires the managing agency to emphasize the protection of "esthetics, scenic, historic, archaeologic, and scientific features. Management plans . . . may establish varying degrees of intensity for its protection and development, based on the special attributes of the area."

Rivers in the system are classified as wild, scenic, or recreational on the basis of the amount of access and development existing at the time of designation. "*Wild* rivers are rivers, or sections of rivers, that are free from impoundments and generally inaccessible except by trail, with watersheds or shorelines essentially primitive and waters unpolluted. Wild rivers represent vestiges of primitive America. *Scenic* rivers are those that are free of impoundments, with shorelines or watersheds still largely primitive and shorelines largely undeveloped, but accessible in places by roads. *Recreational* rivers are those that are readily accessible by road or railroad, that may have some development along their shorelines, and that may have undergone some impoundment or diversion in the past."

Although the classification criteria allow for varying levels of development at the time of designation, this does not imply that additional inconsistent development is allowable in the future. The Wild and Scenic Rivers Act prescribes a nondegradation and enhancement policy for all designated rivers regardless of classification. Each component must be managed to protect and enhance the values for which the river was designated while providing for public recreation and resource uses that do not adversely impact or degrade those values.

Outstandingly Remarkable Values

By virtue of its inclusion in the system, the MNRR was designated to preserve its free-flowing condition and its outstandingly remarkable values [section 1(b) of the Act]. The legislation adding the recreational river to the system specifically references the Corps' umbrella study, which describes in detail the outstandingly remarkable values that made this segment eligible for inclusion within the system. These outstandingly remarkable values are cited as recreational, fish and wildlife, historical, and cultural.

The umbrella study also pointed out specific riverine areas that were recognized as having outstandingly remarkable natural values. These areas include the river setting at Goat Island, chutes paralleling Goat Island, the entrance of the James River, high bank shoreline forests, and sandbar clusters. The Nebraska wooded bluff, particularly at river miles 763, 776, and 787 (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 1977), is also included.

PURPOSE OF THE RIVER

Purpose statements were developed to focus direction and set priorities for the *General Management Plan*. The following purpose statements provide the reason(s) for which the river area was set aside.

preserve the river in a free-flowing condition and protect it for the enjoyment of present and future generations

provide streambank protection compatible with the river's significant natural and cultural resources

preserve the significant recreational, fish and wildlife, and historic and cultural resources of the Missouri River corridor

provide for a level of recreation and recreational access that does not adversely impact the river's significant natural and cultural resources

SIGNIFICANCE OF THE RECREATIONAL RIVER

Significance statements for the river were also developed. These statements describe the river's importance to our natural and cultural heritage and also what makes it special in the national system of protected rivers.

Natural

The habitat within the 59-mile segment of the recreational river corridor supports at least 44 federal- and state-listed sensitive species, including the endangered pallid sturgeon and interior least tern and the threatened bald eagle and piping plover. These species make up more than half of the threatened and endangered species found in Nebraska and South Dakota.

The riverine and riparian habitats within the river corridor provide important wildlife habitat.

The 59-mile segment is one of the last representative parts of the undammed, unchanneled middle Missouri River. It features a section of the river meandering in an older, wider river valley not found on the other undammed, unchanneled Missouri River sections. The large river environment found on the 59-mile Missouri River segment is rare on the Great Plains.

Cultural

The Missouri River was the principal highway to the northern plains used throughout prehistoric and early historic times. The 59-mile segment retains a historic landscape similar to that experienced by travelers over the centuries and captured in the writings and illustrations of early explorers.

The number and variety of prehistoric and historic resources along the river attest to the long history of human use. Prehistoric villages, the route of Lewis and Clark, steamboat wrecks, the territorial capital of Yankton, and ethnic settlements have the potential for enriching visitors' understandings of past and present cultures.

Recreational

The 59-mile river corridor provides high-quality outdoor recreation, including high-quality fishing, hunting, trapping, and boating. Opportunities for birdwatching and other wildlife observation abound.

The 59-mile Missouri River segment supports recreation on a large, relatively natural river.

INTRODUCTION

The river valley provides scenic vistas of a variety of natural landscapes such as bottomlands, cottonwood forests, wooded draws, forested hills, sand dunes, high-bank islands, wetlands, and chalkrock bluffs.

DESIRED FUTURE CONDITIONS

Desired future conditions statements describe a broad conceptual idea of what the river could be like, based on the resource conditions and visitor experiences desired. The desired objectives and the future condition of the river are described in the present tense. They describe a vision for the area and describe how the designated river might appear.

Landscape Preservation

Development along the river is managed so that the views along the river have a character similar to that which has existed from 1978 to the date of this plan. Construction of a Vermillion-Newcastle bridge would not be precluded but would require a determination under section 7 of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act.

The natural visual quality of the river corridor is restored where possible and man-made intrusions are subdued.

Extensive areas along the river provide wildlife habitat and scenic views under natural conditions.

Bank stabilization protects critical areas and reduces the rate of river widening; the majority of banks retain their natural appearance without stabilization.

Visitor Use

Visitors know about river-related recreational activities and know that the recreational river is part of the wild and scenic river system.

Visitors enjoy the character of the rural agricultural scene, complete with the braided, wide Missouri.

Visitors have a sense of discovery on the river reminiscent of Lewis and Clark and early travelers.

People continue to enjoy high-quality wildlife observation, hunting, fishing, and boating in a relatively natural setting.

People of all ages and abilities enjoy a variety of recreational activities that do not interfere with other people and that do not adversely impact river resources.

Water safety information is provided and visitors have a sense of security on the river. Health and safety considerations are appropriate and allow for recreational activities on the Missouri River.

There are a variety of opportunities available for visitors to learn about the Missouri River's natural and cultural heritage.

Scenic vistas are incorporated into the road and trail systems.

Public access points along the river are adequate in number and distribution and contain facilities for a variety of river-oriented outdoor recreational opportunities.

Visitor facilities are developed with sensitivity to private ownership, resource protection, and public health concerns.

Natural Resources

Plants, animals, and their habitats are protected, maintained, enhanced, and whenever possible restored.

The designated river segment is allowed to function naturally to the greatest degree possible.

Water and air quality support native species and visitor use.

Threatened and endangered species habitat is protected and enhanced.

Natural resource use does not adversely impact the other resource values of the designated river segment.

Cultural Resources

Significant archeological, historical, and ethnographic resources within the river corridor are identified, protected, and interpreted for the public.

Administration

Local, state, and federal agencies, community groups, advocate organizations, and individuals act in cooperation to protect and enhance the resources.

The Corps of Engineers was specifically authorized to provide construction of such recreational river features and streambank stabilization structures as the secretary of army deemed necessary and advisable, and to operate and maintain the streambank stabilization structures.

HISTORY OF THE PLANNING PROJECT

The river management planning process for this project was influenced by internal federal (Corps of Engineers and National Park Service) planning guidance as well as adherence to the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA). The National Environmental Policy Act requires that a full range of alternatives be considered, that public opinion be considered during the process, and that alternatives be analyzed for their impacts on the environment. A no-action alternative must be included to serve as a baseline for existing conditions.

INTRODUCTION

The National Park Service established an office in O'Neill, Nebraska, in October 1991. One of its roles was to establish local relationships with the people, organizations, and governments in the five-county, two-state area. Within the National Park Service, planning responsibilities were shared by the office in O'Neill, the NPS Denver Service Center, and the Midwest Regional Office in Omaha.

The National Environmental Policy Act encourages cooperation throughout the planning process. The presence of local county planning team representatives was important because of their knowledge of and sensitivity to local concerns and because counties are able to adopt comprehensive plans and zoning ordinances to manage land use within their boundaries. The planning team also included representatives of federal and state agencies that had either jurisdiction or special expertise on this portion of the Missouri River. The legislation designating the river assigned overall administrative authority to the National Park Service, but responsibility for construction of bank stabilization, recreational facilities, and other recreational river features was assigned to the Corps of Engineers. In addition, an existing cooperative agreement between the National Park Service and the Corps of Engineers delegated many of the day-to-day management responsibilities for the river to the Corps. Because of these co-management responsibilities, the National Park Service and the Corps are co-lead agencies in preparation of this *Environmental Impact Statement*. As the Missouri National Recreational River is downstream of the Missouri River mainstem reservoir system, the management of the MNRR segment cannot supersede the existing water control operations for authorized purposes of flood control, navigation, power generation, recreation, water supply, and fish and wildlife.

Other people and agencies have also been consulted, including officers and members of the Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association (MRBSA), a local organization of property owners, conservationists, hunters, fishermen, and boaters. The Association was the driving force behind the movement that culminated in the inclusion of this segment of the Missouri in the national wild and scenic river system. This effective organization earned the Outdoor Recreation Achievement Award from the secretary of the interior in 1978 for its work on designation of the recreational river.

A management plan was prepared by the Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service in 1980. (This agency was later incorporated into the National Park Service.) The recreational river boundary included about 16,951 acres. In July 1980 the Corps of Engineers prepared the *Missouri National Recreational River General Design Memorandum MRR-1* to implement the plan. That plan has been only partially implemented due to federal policies that require cost-share sponsors for recreational development and that limits the use of federal money for streambank protection on private land. The National Park Service, in the 1991 appropriation act, was given \$150,000 to prepare a updated revision of the 1980 *Management Plan.*

Scoping meetings for the new general management plan were held in Lincoln, Newcastle, and Omaha, Nebraska and Vermillion and Yankton, South Dakota in 1992. Concerns expressed by the public included streambank protection, environmental protection, lack of public access and facilities, and retention of private landownership.

RELATIONSHIP WITH OTHER PROJECTS

National Park Service

Reconnaissance Survey Report. A related report was prepared for a proposed national recreation area in Knox and Boyd Counties, Nebraska, including the area adjacent to Lewis and Clark Lake and the Missouri, Niobrara, and Verdigre Creek National Recreational Rivers. This report was mandated by the

Niobrara Scenic River Designation Act of 1991. While resources are of state and local significance, the National Park Service concluded that most of the resources of the study area are not of sufficient national significance to justify a national recreation area. The report was completed in June 1998 and forwarded to Congress. Congress must act to implement any recommendations of that report.

Missouri/Niobrara/Verdigre Creek National Recreational Rivers General Management Plan. The 39 miles of the Missouri River between the headwaters of Lewis and Clark Lake and Fort Randall Dam were designated as a recreational river in 1991. At the same time, the lower 20 miles (the law incorrectly said 25 miles) of the Niobrara River and the lower 8 miles of Verdigre Creek were also included. A separate *General Management Plan / Environmental Impact Statement* was released for those river segments. These plans address nearby areas and are not directly related to this plan.

Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail. The Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail, commemorating the Lewis and Clark expedition's route from the Mississippi River to the Pacific Ocean and return, includes this section of the Missouri River. The National Park Service administers the Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail through an office in Madison, Wisconsin. A comprehensive plan for management and use of the trail was completed in 1982. The plan had a number of recommendations for the trail along the sections of the recreational rivers covered by this plan. The trail study provides excellent information on the area and recommends treatment of historic resources and public education, but its recommendations are not binding on planning for the recreational rivers. The trail plan is general in nature. Future planning for the Lewis and Clark Trail would conform to goals and actions proposed in this *General Management Plan*.

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

The Corps of Engineers has responsibility for management of Missouri River water control operations, including flood control, navigation, and power generation, water supply, irrigation, recreation, and fish and wildlife. Its policy is not to budget for stabilizing streambanks (unless specifically appropriated by Congress) or constructing recreational facilities, as these are not a high priority budget item. A policy change would require a directive from Congress or the secretary of the army and/or policy exceptions. When it appears to be in the best interest of the government, the Corps of Engineers can request policy exceptions. This *Environmental Impact Statement* recognizes the constraints the current Corps policy places on the Corps' capability to stabilize streambanks and develop recreational facilities and recommends alternative strategies to address these issues.

Guidance for operating the Missouri River mainstem system is provided by the COE *Master Water Control Manual.* This manual is under review by the COE Missouri River Region office to determine if the current plan or another alternative best meets the current needs of the basin. As part of the revision process, the effects of alternative water flows in the system are being evaluated for economic (flood control, navigation, hydropower, water supply, recreation) and fish and wildlife needs.

This *Environmental Impact Statement* is consistent with the existing COE *Master Manual* and recognizes that the *Master Manual* is being updated. While flow releases from the dam are outside the scope of this plan, as administrator of the MNRR, the National Park Service favors an alternative that would protect and enhance the values for which the MNRR was included in the national wild and scenic rivers system. In reaching a decision on the *Master Manual* update, the Corps would need to balance the needs of the MNRR with the other needs of the Missouri River basin.

The COE Gavins Point Project has both fee and easement land that is included in the recreational river designation. Fee and easement land acquired by the Corps of Engineers would continue to be managed by them directly in cooperation with other federal and state agencies. These lands are managed for recreational uses which are consistent with this *General Management Plan*.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service

The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service has responsibility for administering the Endangered Species Act. The Service has listed the interior least tern as an endangered species and the piping plover as a threatened species. In 1990 the U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service issued a jeopardy opinion on the continued existence of these two birds, which nest along sandbars on this and other portions of the Missouri River. They required the Corps of Engineers to prepare a recovery plan implementing alternatives, conservation recommendations, and measures to remove or reduce jeopardy to the birds. Each year the Corps of Engineers prepares an annual work plan to manage habitat in the Missouri River to achieve these objectives.

Informal consultation with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service was initiated by the National Park Service in a memorandum dated December 23, 1994. In addition, coordination with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service on the management of the recreational river has occurred by their participation on the planning team.

The pallid sturgeon was federally listed as an endangered species in 1990. A recovery plan for the pallid sturgeon has been prepared. The Corps of Engineers is on the recovery team for the pallid sturgeon.

Recovery plans exist for all eight threatened and endangered species: the peregrine falcon, whooping crane, interior least tern, pallid sturgeon, American burying beetle, piping plover, bald eagle, and western prairie fringed orchid.

If other species are listed, actions would be required to provide for their continued existence. This plan should provide the flexibility to define and accommodate such future needs.

South Dakota and Nebraska Departments of Transportation

The Nebraska Department of Roads and the South Dakota Department of Transportation, in cooperation with the Federal Highway Administration, have proposed building two new bridges over the Missouri River, the Vermillion-Newcastle Bridge and the Meridian (Yankton) Bridge. The first would connect Vermillion, South Dakota, to Newcastle, Nebraska, linking South Dakota Highways 19 and 50 to Nebraska Highway 12. In South Dakota the road shoulders would be extended to provide bike paths. The bridge would allow a more direct agricultural and commercial trade between the two states, and access to medical, educational, and recreational facilities would be improved. The presence of the bridge would likely increase recreational use along this portion of the Missouri River. Two alternative crossing areas were considered – near Myron Grove Crossing and along Deer Creek at Mulberry Point. The crossing at Mulberry Point was selected. A *Final Environmental Assessment* and section 4(f) evaluation was approved by the Federal Highway Administration, the South Dakota Department of Transportation, and the Nebraska Department of Roads on October 12, 1995.

The Meridian (Yankton) Bridge is still in planning, but the idea is to replace an existing bridge that is structurally unsound with a modern one in the same corridor.

Primary bridge design has been completed. Bid letting for construction of the bridge is scheduled for fall 1999. Section 7(a) of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act states that "no department or agency of the United States shall assist by loan, grant, license or otherwise in the construction of any water resources project that would have a direct and adverse effect on the values for which such river was established, as determined by the Secretary charged with its administration." A water resources project is defined as a project that impacts the bed or bank of a designated river.

The National Park Service has prepared a section 7 evaluation for the proposed Vermillion-Newcastle bridge (NPS 1997). The section 7 evaluation was prepared to indicate whether the proposed bridge is consistent with protecting the outstandingly remarkable values of the MNRR. The section 7 evaluation concludes that as long as certain mitigating measures are included in the project plans for the proposed bridge, it would be consistent with protecting the outstandingly remarkable values of the MNRR. An interpretive pullout is planned to help mitigate impacts of bridge construction on the river.

The secretary of the interior is charged with administration of this river as a component of the national wild and scenic rivers system. The National Park Service is obligated to make the section 7 determination on behalf of the secretary of the interior. In making the section 7 determination for this proposed bridge and all future water resources projects, the National Park Service will evaluate the impact of the project on the free-flowing character and outstandingly remarkable values for which this segment of river was designated as a component of the national wild and scenic rivers system. The Meridian Bridge will require a section 7 evaluation by the National Park Service before construction.

The studies preceding and recommending designation of the MNRR describe the outstandingly remarkable values as recreation, fish and wildlife, historic, archeological, and cultural. In addition, specific river features were identified as having outstandingly remarkable natural values. These features include the river setting at James River Island, the entrance of the James River and the Missouri River chutes paralleling James River Island, the general shoreline forest dominated by cottonwood trees, clusters of sandbars, and the Nebraska wooded bluffs (BOR 1971, HCRS 1978, and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 1977).

State of Nebraska

Nebraska's *State Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan* (SCORP), prepared by the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission (NGPC), details recreational facilities, demands, and needs on a statewide basis. The plan points out that there has been an increasing demand for water-based recreation in the past in response to the creation of lakes. The plan argues that some of this demand would shift to nonwater-based activity if water is not accessible. The Nebraska SCORP generally recognizes a need for increased recreational facilities in the Missouri National Recreational River area and encourages the development of those facilities. This *Environmental Impact Statement* is consistent with the Nebraska SCORP.

A Comprehensive Trails Plan for the State of Nebraska (1994) includes this segment of the Missouri River in its Lewis and Clark Resource Corridor. The corridor extends from the Omaha Indian Reservation at Macy to Niobrara State Park. The corridor includes both the 59- and 39-mile segments of the Missouri River, plus Lewis and Clark Lake State Recreation Area and Niobrara and Ponca State

INTRODUCTION

Parks. The trail connects Nebraska's three Indian reservations and opens important economic development opportunities for the state's Indian communities. A secondary shoulder trail is recommended along scenic Highway 12 from Ponca to Crofton, with a multiuse trail proposed to connect Ponca to Ponca State Park. North of Bow Valley, a route through St. Helena would provide access back to the Missouri River. A multiuse trail would connect Crofton to both the Nebraska and South Dakota shores of Lewis and Clark Lake.

State of South Dakota

The South Dakota Department of Game Fish and Parks (SDGFP) has prepared the *State Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan* (SCORP 1991–1995). This plan details statewide recreational facilities, demands, and needs. Fishing, powerboating, and waterskiing needs were identified in the southeastern part of the state. These needs could be fulfilled through additional marina development on Lewis and Clark Lake. The SDGFP also manages wildlife areas adjacent to the river. The South Dakota SCORP generally recognizes a need for increased recreational opportunities in the MNRR area and encourages the development of those facilities. This *General Management Plan* is consistent with the South Dakota SCORP.

Lewis and Clark Natural Resources District

The Lewis and Clark Natural Resources District, headquartered in Hartington, Nebraska, includes portions of Knox, Cedar, and Dixon Counties. Nebraska natural resource districts provide a number of cost-share programs and services to local property owners. Their role and programs are defined elsewhere in this document. The roles and program of the Lewis and Clark Natural Resources District are consistent with and could help further the objectives of this *General Management Plan*.

County Plans

Clay County, South Dakota, has prepared both a zoning ordinance and a subdivision ordinance. Land subject to flooding or deemed to be topographically unsuitable for residential development would not be subdivided. Natural features and cultural sites are to be held in "due regard" when evaluating a site for subdivision potential. With the exception of the city of Vermillion, land along the Missouri River is located in the F-1 Floodplain Conservation District. Agriculture, forestry, fish hatcheries, and public parks and recreation areas are permitted uses in the F-1 District. Special-exception uses in this district include single-family dwellings, public utilities, golf courses, and private outdoor recreation areas. The minimum lot size for this district is 2 acres. This district has a 75-foot setback from the "median water line." The county auditor currently serves as the zoning administrator.

County zoning is a land use management tool that could be used to protect land adjacent to the Missouri National Recreational River. The National Park Service would work with local officials to develop standards consistent with the objectives of this *General Management Plan*.

Yankton, Clay, and Union Counties in South Dakota participate in the National Flood Insurance Program (NFIP), administered by the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA). Because of this participation, flood insurance is available within this corridor. Each of these counties have Flood Insurance Rate maps available. These maps contain the 100-year flood boundary (zone A), determined by approximate methods, but do not contain 100-year flood elevations and floodway boundaries. The Corps, Omaha District, completed a detailed floodplain information study that includes the 100-year flood boundaries and elevations for the Missouri River. The counties that participate in the insurance program have the responsibility to control development within the 100-year floodplain under the FEMA program. Failure to control development within the 100-year floodplain may result in losing their participation in the insurance program.

Cedar and Dixon Counties in Nebraska do not currently participate in the insurance program. Flood insurance is therefore not available. There are no Flood Insurance Rate maps available for these counties. There is, however, the Corps' Missouri River Special Flood Hazard information that can be used to determine 100-year flood elevations.

This *Final General Management Plan / Environmental Impact Statement* recommends new development be either outside the 100-year floodplain or floodproofed to 1 foot above the 100-year floodplain. Therefore, this plan is consistent with the National Flood Insurance Program.

Union County, South Dakota, has adopted a subdivision and zoning ordinance. A Floodplain Conservation District adjacent to the Missouri River consists of the land identified on zone A of the Flood Insurance Rate map for the county. Permitted uses in this district include agriculture (and one associated dwelling unit if the tract is greater than 5 acres), wildlife refuges, and public recreation areas. Signs shall not be greater than 10 square feet. Permitted conditional uses include private recreation areas, hunting and fishing resorts, and boat docks and marinas. The county employs a land use administrator to review proposals for compliance with the county zoning and subdivision ordinance.

Planning district III prepared a zoning ordinance for Yankton County, South Dakota; however, it was voted down by county residents.

Neither Cedar nor Dixon Counties in Nebraska have zoning ordinances.



ALTERNATIVE 1: CONTINUATION OF EXISTING CONDITIONS (NO ACTION)

GENERAL CONCEPT AND PHILOSOPHY

The Wild and Scenic Rivers Act directed the secretary of the interior, acting through the National Park Service, to prepare a comprehensive management plan for the Missouri National Recreational River (MNRR) to provide for the protection of its values. In 1979 a recreational river management plan was prepared by the Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service (now part of the National Park Service). Boundaries included about 16,951 acres. A *General Design Memorandum* (GDM) was developed by the Corps of Engineers in 1980 to implement proposals in the *Missouri National Recreational River Management Plan* (HCRS 1979). Many laws and regulations have gone into effect since the GDM was published, and certain actions proposed would now require extensive environmental analysis before implemented twice for the construction of site-specific recreational development. Supplement no. 1, dated March 1986, provided for the construction of the Myron Grove access, as cost-shared by Clay County, South Dakota. Supplement no. 2, dated December 1988, provided for the construction of Riverside Park, as cost-shared by the city of Yankton.

A cooperative agreement was entered into by the secretaries of the interior and army in February 1980. Due to constraints such as few cost-share sponsors for recreational development, insufficient federal interest for new construction of bank protection structures on private land, and the federal-listing of three species that occur on the MNRR, the *General Design Memorandum* has been only partially implemented.

The authorized appropriation ceiling is \$21 million, and of that amount approximately \$1.4 million (through FY97) has been appropriated for Yankton's Riverside Park, the Myron Grove area, habitat construction for terns and plovers, and other purposes. This funding has been used for cost-shared recreational development, threatened and endangered species activities (studies and habitat construction), and writing reports, coordination, etc. Yankton's Riverside Park and the Myron Grove areas have been the recipients of matching funds from this source. Endangered species development has been at 100% federal cost.

None of this money has been used for streambank protection. Bank stabilization structures that happen to be in the recreational river are section 32 (of the Water Resources Development Act 1974) experimental structures (which have been turned over to the project sponsors). However, the Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association has been successful at getting annual congressional add-ons, with funding appropriated through the Corps' operation and maintenance budget for maintenance of the structure. Current policy is that the Corps of Engineers will not undertake any new construction of streambank protection structures without a specific line-item congressional appropriation.

The National Park Service would continue as overall administrator of the recreational river; the Corps of Engineers would continue its current management presence; and the *General Design Memorandum* would remain in effect. The Corps of Engineers would undertake minimal new development for recreation or streambank protection, and this could generally be in partnership with others.

The no-action alternative describes what has been accomplished to date, the Corps of Engineers management role, and any specific new development(s) that are actually planned. If the *General Design Memorandum* does not address a subject, this alternative would not attempt to anticipate management actions. Development would be minimal.

National Environmental Policy Act regulations require that an alternative of "no action" be considered to supply a baseline for the environmental analysis of impacts of proposed actions. The no-action alternative documents current conditions and trends. It also provides a basis for comparing the impacts of the action alternatives. It describes the state and local laws and private actions needed for protecting significant natural, cultural, and recreational resources that are now present.

MANAGEMENT

Cooperating Agencies and Partnerships

The current conditions include a mix of private property and local, federal, and state jurisdiction. The Corps of Engineers' management has included some recreational development in partnership with local agencies and monitoring of private actions. Other existing conditions likely to continue include varied management under federal, state, and local law, and by existing property owners. Overall coordination has been included in the scoping associated with environmental compliance for construction projects, general riverflow coordination through scoping for the Annual Operating Plan for the Missouri River Main Stem System, semiannual public meetings sponsored by the Corps of Engineers, and annual meetings of the private Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association. Coordination by the Corps is a part of any private section 404 permit within this stretch of the river, including coordination with the National Park Service, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, state agencies, and the general public. The Corps also actively coordinates with the U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service on issues related to endangered species in the recreational river.

Agencies currently work together and consult with each other on specific programs and actions. The National Park Service and the Corps of Engineers have an cooperative agreement that details their respective roles. A copy of the existing agreement is included as appendix C. In general, the cooperative agreement assigns most day-to-day management responsibility to the Corps, including bank stabilization, land acquisition, and recreational facility development. The National Park Service and the Corps are jointly responsible for developing management plans and submitting budget requirements. The National Park Service is responsible for overall administration of the MNRR under the provisions of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act, including preparation of section 7 determinations. The Corps of Engineers has assigned one person from its district planning group to oversee the river, and technical specialists and engineers are available on an as-needed basis for design and construction of proposed projects. Although Corps' employees at the Gavins Point office patrol and monitor the river for other activities (endangered species, section 404 compliance, etc.), they do not patrol the river for the purposes of the recreational river designation. The Gavins Point project manager is on the planning team, and has had input into the development of this GMP. Before 1991 the National Park Service provided environmental review for construction projects from its Omaha office, and since 1991 the National Park Service field office in O'Neill, Nebraska, has minimally fulfilled its oversight role under this agreement. The advisory commission established by the designation act ceased to exist in 1988, and there is no proposal to reestablish the commission.

Land Use Management

Ranching and farming would continue under the management of individual property owners. Agriculture dominates the landscape, with corn and soybeans being the major crops. Intensified farming methods such as feedlots and confinement facilities are not yet present along this stretch of the river. Each year some land along both shores is converted to recreational cabin development.
The 1980 *Missouri National Recreational River Management Plan* recognized that protection and enhancement of recreational river values was dependent on the willingness of landowners to agree to use the lands identified in the river corridor in a manner compatible with recreational river designation. It listed the kinds of agreements that could be used to achieve this goal. Landowners would be contacted to discourage building of incompatible development, and it was recognized that easement interests could be acquired to achieve this. By law, condemnation can only be used for easements and then only for a maximum of 5% of the land. To date, none of these methods have been used.

The General Design Memorandum, approved in 1980, suggested it may be desirable to obtain scenic easements on as much as 15,600 acres of the designated corridor made available by willing sellers. Willingness of landowners to participate in this program was based on their willingness to sign right-ofentry forms for streambank protection work. With this incentive, 58 of 66 owners contacted signed the forms. However, no land has since been acquired in fee or scenic easement by the Corps of Engineers or the National Park Service during the 16 years of the General Design Memorandum existence. The Corps has not acquired land because it has been directed by headquarters not to acquire any additional land that is not directly adjacent to existing Corps' project lands. However, the Corps of Engineers could obtain easements (which would probably be managed by some other entity) in conjunction with construction of new streambank protection projects, if there was a federal interest in the land to be protected.

Land has been acquired along the river by counties and by both states for several recreational sites and access on both sides of the river. This might continue under this alternative.

Existing residential and other private development areas would remain. New developments are proposed and would be built within the boundary from time to time. In Union and Clay Counties, South Dakota, zoning guides this development to a certain extent. No such zoning controls are in place in Yankton County, South Dakota, or in Cedar and Dixon Counties in Nebraska. The *Recreational River Management Plan* proposed that a designated agency work with local governments to consider zoning for lands within the corridor. Such work has not taken place. Development on these shores has generally occurred without federal review, except in cases where Corps of Engineers wetlands or streambank protection permits were required.

General Administration

Administration and Maintenance Facilities. Administrative staff for the MNRR would remain in the Omaha District office, although there could be opportunities for use of the Gavins Point visitor center and other Corps facilities and personnel for purposes consistent with the MNRR.

Maintenance. The maintenance workload under this alternative would remain at present levels because there would be no new visitor facilities. Maintenance of projects built with matching funds from the Corps of Engineers would be the responsibility of the cost-share sponsor, with the exception of endangered species construction.

Law Enforcement. Law enforcement would continue to be occasionally provided by state and local authorities to manage the visitor activities. The Corps of Engineers has the authority to enforce rules and regulations promulgated in the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 36 CFR 327, which are applicable to water resource development projects administered by the chief of engineers.

Staffing Needs. The Corps and NPS staffing needs would be minimal. NPS staffing needs would be handled as collateral duties by staff assigned to the O'Neill and Omaha offices.

Federal Costs. Cost categories include:

Category	COE Costs	NPS Costs
Labor	\$13,000ª	\$23,000 ^b
Equipment, supplies, materials and transportation	4,000	8,000 ^c
Resource monitoring / studies	50,000	1,000 ^d
Cost-shared construction	e	
Total	\$67,000	\$32,000

^a Project manager GS-11 one-third time. Engineering labor associated with construction and design is not included. Overhead charges associated with labor are not included.

^bPark manager GS-13, one-third time (shared in thirds with the 39-mile Missouri and Niobrara Scenic Riverway

^cOne-third of respective costs typically budgeted for labor.

^dOne overflight or one boat trip annually.

^e Costs associated with the design and construction of new facilities will be developed during the development of the *General Design Memorandum* and after nonfederal cost-share sponsor has shown interest.

Since this is a conceptual management plan, determination of costs involves considerable uncertainty, especially with regard to future construction, because none is specifically planned, and construction would require a cost-share sponsor. However, construction consistent with the goals of this alternative is still possible, and costs associated with such would be prepared during the development of a design memorandum, after a cost-share sponsor has shown interest. Cost-sharing for recreational projects is currently standard within the Corps nationwide, and the operation and maintenance of those projects is the responsibility of the sponsor.

TABLE 1: ALTERNATIVE 1 - LAND USE/LAND COVER

Land Use/Land Cover category	Public land (acres)	Private land (acres)	TOTAL (acres)
Cropland	337	7,135	7,472
Pasture/rangeland	186	2,323	2,509
Upland wooded forest	1,096	2,331	3,427
Floodplain forest	3	471	474
Palustrine wetlands	36	4,442	4,478
Riverine wetlands	193	15,359	15,552
Lacustrine wetlands	0	0	0
TOTAL	1,851	32,061	33,912

Numbers were rounded off to the nearest whole acre. The 33,912 acres include 16,951 acres above the ordinary high watermark.

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

Some public and private land is not currently developed or used for agriculture and retains high value as a natural landscape and ecosystem. These lands are valuable for continued good-quality habitat, sustaining water quality, protecting natural and cultural resources, and preserving scenic qualities. Such areas include old-growth cottonwood forests, riparian areas, woody draws, relatively undisturbed wetlands, sparsely vegetated sandbar islands, native prairies, and cultural sites. The National Park Service would encourage property owners to conserve or restore these areas to their natural state.

Streambank Protection

The objectives of the bank preservation program as authorized and as identified in the *General Design Memorandum* are as follows:

- Protect the location of high banks and those features, such as wooded areas, islands, and vegetated low bars, that contain values which contribute to the designation as a recreational river
- Implement, subject to available funding, bank preservation measures at previously identified critical erosion problem sites
- Ensure the continued effectiveness of bank preservation features to preserve the characteristics of the river existing at the time of designation.

Although actual erosion rates are lower now (80 acres/year) than before the dam was built (200 acres/year), high accretion land does not form now as it did before the dam. Therefore, the net loss of high bank is greater now than before the dam. Water coming out of the dam is sediment-poor, and the soils in the area are highly erodible, so erosion is common. Some of these losses are offset by the control of flooding, so floodplain areas formerly prone to flooding can now be cleared and farmed.

Bank preservation (preservation of the high bankline, preservation of features between banks, and reduction of soil loss) was also included as an integral part of the Missouri National Recreational River designation. The final report for the section 32 program went to Congress in 1991.

Objectives of the streambank protection program in the *General Design Memorandum MMR-1* are to protect the location of high banks and features such as wooded areas, islands, and vegetated low bars that contain significant resources; implement bank preservation measures at severe erosion sites; and ensure continued effectiveness of bank preservation features. The *General Design Memorandum MMR-1* identified 31 potential erosion areas and critical areas (22 high bank areas and nine island vegetated bar areas) and set priorities for site needs. Nine projects were eventually constructed on this section of river under Section 32 of the Water Resources Development Act.

The recreational river act provided for federal operation and maintenance of natural features as part of the recreational river designation and provided for operation and maintenance of bank preservation features in place prior to implementation of the act. Streambank erosion was identified as an important issue along the Missouri River in the *General Design Memorandum MMR-1*, other related plans and projects, and during the scoping phase of this project. On private property, property owner donation of easements would be necessary for new stabilization. While the intent was to turn over maintenance of these projects to local sponsors, funding is expected to continue by the Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association for the Corps to do this work each year.

The provision of the *General Design Memorandum MMR-1* that allowed COE construction of new streambank protection structures was conditional upon the availability to the United States of such land and interest in land in such ownership as the Corps deemed necessary. The Corps of Engineers or partner agencies have been successful in obtaining permanent construction easements for this work from landowners.

Natural Resources

General. Natural resources would mostly be managed and protected by private property owners and state wildlife agencies, since much of the habitat protection work described in the *General Design Memorandum* has not been realized.

Monitoring of Resources. Current inventorying and monitoring by state and federal agencies would continue. Although new monitoring, if needed, is not precluded in this alternative, new coordination of inventory and monitoring would take place primarily in response to obligations under the Endangered Species Act.

Threatened and Endangered Species. Natural resource management would involve activities by the Corps of Engineers, in consultation with U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, the National Park Service, and the states of Nebraska and South Dakota. Current ongoing programs carried out by the Corps under the MNRR authority include funding to support recovery efforts of the least tern and piping plover as well as studies to gain additional information on the pallid sturgeon.

Cultural Resources

The river, its floodplain, and the bluffs have provided for basic human needs in an otherwise harsh plains environment for thousands of years. A cultural chronology of the area is generally understood (from prehistoric periods to the present day). The *General Design Memorandum* listed cultural resource objectives for the recreational river, including inventorying, protecting, and interpreting historic and prehistoric resources. These objectives have not been met.

Cultural Resource Inventory, Evaluation, and Monitoring. The GDM objective is to establish and maintain an ongoing inventory of all lands within the river management corridor to identify, evaluate, and protect prehistoric and historic cultural resources. No active surveys are known to have occurred in the past few years. The Corps' responsibility would continue to be limited to protecting archeological resources on its own land.

Preserving and Protecting Cultural Resources. The GDM goal is to preserve and protect sites. Private property owners and government agencies would continue to manage resources on their land. Minimal law enforcement would be available to reduce levels of looting or vandalism that can occur.

Federal undertakings (such as new construction) that could affect national register or national registereligible properties would be subject to section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act.

Continuing Research. Future research would be limited to that initiated by the Corps of Engineers, state historical societies, and local historians.

VISITOR USE AND INTERPRETATION

The visitor experience would be limited generally to activities and interpretation that are currently available on the recreational river. The Corps of Engineers and local tourism offices have prepared a few maps and brochures, and some exhibits and signs exist to inform visitors of their recreation options, present safety messages, and provide interpretation of the recreational river's natural and cultural history. These are usually private or agency efforts to fulfill a specific need. Public access to the river and developed facilities for recreational uses are limited.

Interpretation

Interpretation and information would continue to be available through publications from several local tourism and economic development offices, including the Upper Missouri Chamber of Commerce, the Northeast Nebraska Travel Council, and the Northeast Nebraska Rural Conservation and Development District. The COE Lewis and Clark Regional Visitor Center located at Gavins Point Dam interprets the Missouri River Basin Plan, natural and cultural history of the river, and current management issues through exhibits, slide shows, overlooks, and personal contact.

While the *Missouri River Recreational River Management Plan* gave few details, the *General Design Memorandum* called for a decentralized and self-guiding approach to interpretive programs in the river corridor. Of the 11 areas slated for recreational development and 13 public use areas, efforts have been made on only two to four sites.

Visitor Activities

Present users of the river are principally local fishermen and recreational boaters. The many sandbars, changing currents, and underwater hazard snags make the river unsuitable for those not familiar with it. Current patterns of river use would likely continue. Boating, fishing, hunting, and trapping would not be expected to change from current levels. Though prohibited by NPS policy, the use of airboats and personal watercraft could likely occur, but to a limited extent, in the shallow backwater inlets and tributaries of the Missouri River.

Visitor Use Management

There have been a few visitor use studies conducted which included the MNRR and the Gavins Point Dam recreational areas. However, none of these studies were conducted in such a way that a firm trend for visitor use of the MNRR over the last 20 years could be developed (see the Visitor Use Management section in the "Affected Environment" chapter for visitor use study results).

Although visitor use data is also available from the Gavins Point Project Office, the South Dakota SCORP, and the Nebraska SCORP, these data include the increasing visitor use of the Gavins Point facilities, which most likely do not correlate with visitor use within the MNRR itself. As stated earlier, recreational use within the MNRR would remain primarily local, with the possible exception of Ponca State Park. There is no evidence to support that visitors from Gavins Point facilities would also use the MNRR.

There is a strong need for baseline visitor studies specifically for the MNRR, as well as ongoing monitoring of visitor use over time using the same methods, especially for riverine visitor uses. One of the

THE ALTERNATIVES

previous studies could potentially be used as a baseline if similar methodology is used for subsequent monitoring studies.

Some visitor use management occurs at existing state, county, and city parks along the MNRR. However, there would be no coordinated approach to visitor use management associated with the MNRR as a whole.

Visitor Development and Access

The *Recreational River Management Plan* listed 14 sites to be developed, and the fully implemented *General Design Memorandum* called for extensive recreational development and land acquisition, including campgrounds and boat ramps at 11 different sites. The *General Design Memorandum* was supplemented twice for the construction of site-specific recreational development. Supplement No. 1, dated March 1986, provided for the construction of the Myron Grove access, as cost-shared by Clay County, South Dakota. Supplement No. 2, dated December 1988, provided for the construction of Riverside Park, as cost-shared by the city of Yankton. Thirteen public use areas were planned and would require land acquisition. The *Recreational River Management Plan* recognized the continued operation and maintenance of private recreational sites, and in addition, proposed agreements with entities to develop more sites. The *General Design Memorandum* provided no guidance for private access development.

In this alternative, existing roads and public river access would be maintained, and development of new public river access would likely occur slowly in response to local needs. Most visitors must find the river on their own and use the river on its own terms. Therefore, river users would continue to be primarily local people. Though full implementation of the existing GDM is not anticipated, there is a possibility that the Corps of Engineers could provide cost-share funding for the development of scenic drives, trails, camping areas, and hunting access within the boundary, provided funding was available.

Controls over private and commercial development along the river would be limited to federal floodplain restrictions, plus state and county restrictions. Cabin and housing areas would be developed or enlarged based on market demand, and private property owners might provide additional campgrounds for public use.

BOUNDARY

The no-action boundary would be the downstream end of the Gavins Point Dam excavated discharge channel (downstream boundary of the Lewis and Clark Project), 59 miles downstream to Ponca State park, Nebraska, as generally depicted in the document entitled Review Report for Water Resources Development, South Dakota, Nebraska, North Dakota, Montana," prepared by the Corps of Engineers in August 1977 (the so-called "umbrella" report). The land within this boundary totals some 16,951 acres.

ASSISTANCE ON ADJACENT LAND OUTSIDE THE BOUNDARY

There has been no direct assistance to local entities by federal agencies under this authority.





United States Department of the Interior • National Park Service DSC/Nov. 1997/651/20,002

ACTIONS COMMON TO ALTERNATIVES 2 AND 3

GENERAL CONCEPT AND PHILOSOPHY

The action alternatives provide for protection of natural and cultural resources and for management of visitor use. Recreational rivers usually contain a broader range of agricultural and forestry uses than scenic or wild rivers; therefore, all action alternatives would allow for continuation of traditional farming and ranching practices on private land, consistent with goals and objectives outlined in this *General Management Plan*. Landscape changes would be managed primarily through the use of voluntary conservation agreements, or through zoning ordinances. Agreements could be used for agricultural land, residential or other private developments areas, or to protect significant resources. As required by the establishing legislation, land or interests in land must be made available to the United States to protect and enhance the values of the MNRR before any new construction of bank protection structures could be initiated or maintained by the Corps under the authority of the act. Land acquisition would be rare and used only if absolutely necessary to protect resource values or to provide needed recreational access.

MANAGEMENT

Cooperating Agencies and Partnerships

Several government agencies would continue to have responsibilities along the 59-mile MNRR. However, management of the MNRR would be the responsibility of the National Park Service and the Corps of Engineers. The establishing legislation assigned to the secretary of the interior (acting through the National Park Service) responsibility for administering the river as a component of the national wild and scenic rivers system. The establishing legislation also directed the secretary of the interior to enter into a cooperative agreement with the secretary of the army (acting through the Corps) for construction and maintenance of bank stabilization work, recreational facilities, and other recreational river features. The existing cooperative agreement is included as appendix C.

If needed after the record of decision is issued, a revised agreement between the National Park Service (administrator or overseer) and the Corps of Engineers (day-to-day onsite manager) would outline the responsibilities of each agency. The agreement would reflect current policies and authorities and to be consistent with the alternative selected by this planning process. As the agency responsible for the Gavins Point Dam project, the Corps would remain responsible for operation, maintenance, and management of all existing facilities associated with the project. The National Park Service would retain overall authority to administer the MNRR as a component of the NWSRS. The Corps would continue to be responsible for most construction activities, such as recreational development, bank stabilization, and other recreational river features as deemed necessary with advice provided by the National Park Service. The Corps and the National Park Service would work jointly on habitat enhancement projects with the Corps taking the lead on construction that would protect and enhance biologic values. Subject to funding, the two agencies would also work together on resource surveys, monitoring, interpretation, and other activities, with the National Park Service taking the lead on developing interpretive materials.

The NPS role would be somewhat larger than at present. The National Park Service would work with local landowners and governments on appropriate land uses within the boundary and would provide public information and interpretation opportunities, as well as facilities for recreational use. They would promote wise and safe use of the river by recreationists. The National Park Service would call and lead

THE ALTERNATIVES

periodic (at least annual) meetings with the Corps of Engineers to discuss implementation of the cooperative agreement and this plan. The cooperative agreement may be updated, if needed, under any selected alternative, including the no-action alternative.

The two agencies would seek help from each other and from state and county agencies, organizations, and individuals. Both agencies would seek funding to support active management of the area. Federal staff would continue to confer with the public, local governments, and interest groups such as the Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association.

Land Use Management

Both alternatives ensure that present development could remain in place inside the boundaries. Compatible land uses include farming and ranching and those basic visitor facilities, such as comfort and convenience facilities, currently in place. (These facilities are described in the "Affected Environment" section of the document.) The alternatives have different visions of future development along the river, but both would adhere to the following approaches.

Those uses that were present in 1978 were found by the 1980 management plan to be consistent with the intent of the Wild and Scenic River Act and would be allowed to continue. For developments built between 1978 and the date of this plan, the managing agency would offer technical assistance and work with property owners to help ensure continued consistency with the goals of this *General Management Plan*.

Future (after the date of this plan) land uses would be evaluated for compatibility with the objectives and goals of this plan. Residential and other private development within the boundary would continue. The amount of new development recommended in the two alternatives differs. Details concerning inkind replacement and new structures, as well as density, design, and location, are defined in each alternative. The managing agency would actively seek to avoid incompatible land uses and development. Incompatible activities include feedlots and confinement facilities and extensive new cabin and residential development.

Developed land in the vicinity of the river would be assessed based on current use. All other land uses would generally be assessed based on agricultural rates. Tax breaks for preserving natural environments are currently rare. The National Park Service would actively support tax breaks for such voluntary protection.

A mixture of all of the above land use management tools is assumed in all the action alternatives. Because of the voluntary nature of many of these methods, neither the relative nor actual amount of land to be acquired can be predicted.

Wildlife Conservation Areas. Working with the river managers, landowners could donate or sell riverfront land to the U.S. for wildlife, streambank protection, and other public purposes. The intent would be to

- create a green area along the river that is 200 feet deep or more, depending on the particular property
- enhance wildlife production and natural vegetation barriers that slow erosion

- create a long-term legal interest (by the National Park Service, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and public entities) in the land sufficient to permit bank stabilization by the Corps of Engineers
- allow day-use only access to the public for such activities as picnicking, rest, and emergency use
- future camping facilities could be provided as demands warranted

In the past, temporary construction easements have been obtained voluntarily from owners for access to the riverbank for streambank protection work by the Corps of Engineers. Such easements, now held by the Lewis and Clark Natural Resources District in Nebraska and the respective counties in South Dakota, generally run in perpetuity. This program is intended to be replaced by the above as new agreements are reached.

County Zoning and/or Comprehensive Plans. County zoning would be encouraged as a land use management tool that can protect land adjacent to the Missouri River. Zoning is a local power that can be used to prohibit or authorize a large variety of land uses. County zoning can also help control the density of development, provide development setbacks from the river, and help maintain the rural scene. At present, zoning exists only in Clay and Union Counties in South Dakota, and in the city of Yankton. The National Park Service would work with county commissioners, planning and zoning officials, states, and other agencies to encourage innovative design and adopt development standards within the boundary that are in keeping with riverway goals. The following guidelines illustrate what types of land uses and development standards would be appropriate. Technical assistance to property owners would be available to help achieve these goals.

Conservation Easements. Conservation easements could be acquired through donation or purchase by the managing agency or by a private organization. Generally, conservation easements run with the land, cannot be revoked, and the terms can be negotiated. Conservation easements can prohibit or authorize a variety of land uses. In general, this type of easement would inhibit new development while allowing agricultural activities to continue. Restrictions could be placed on logging, vegetation removal, quarrying, and disturbance of wetlands. Other types of easements could be developed to protect cultural resources, provide streambank protection, or allow for flooding. Property owners could negotiate limits on public or managing agency use of the land. Some land within the recreational river is expected to be protected through conservation easements offered by willing sellers. Such easements would primarily be used to protect outstandingly remarkable natural and cultural resources and scenic areas.

It is anticipated that four types of easement estates in addition to a fee estate would be used in acquiring land and interests in land. These include a scenic preservation easement, a scenic recreational and preservation easement, and two types of bank preservation.

The scenic preservation easements would maintain in perpetuity the land use at the time of acquisition. The purpose of this easement would be to preserve the scenic beauty of bankside lands as they were viewed from the river.

The scenic recreation and preservation easement would maintain the present scenic features and additionally would allow the public to enter the area for hiking, picnicking, fishing, and tent camping. Trails and sanitation facilities would be constructed as needed.

The bank preservation easements would be used only where bank preservation features were constructed. One easement would allow public access and the other easement would not. The

first would be coupled to a recreation and scenic preservation easement and the second to a scenic preservation easement.

Fee acquisition would be contemplated in those areas where major recreational development would occur.

Fee Acquisition. The purchase of land by government agencies or land trusts could be used where other protection means were not suitable or where landowners preferred to sell outright rather than grant conservation easements. The Wild and Scenic Rivers Act does not require land acquisition, as is the case along this stretch of the river. The intent of this plan is to encourage river protection through local and cooperative methods and not to rely on land acquisition as a frequently used tool. Any land acquired would be used primarily for the development of river access, trailheads, trails, cultural sites, overlooks, visitor information sites, and similar facilities. Each alternative describes why, when, how much, or where land might be acquired if needed for such purposes as river access, visitor facilities, or preservation of resources.

The boundaries of the recreational river show the extent of important resources that should be protected and define the outer limit of the recreational river. The Wild and Scenic Rivers Act limits the land that can be bought in fee title to an average of no more than 100 acres per mile. In addition, on this Missouri National Recreational River segment, condemnation can not be used to acquire an interest in fee simple title and purchases can be from willing sellers only. By law, condemnation can only be used for easements and then only for a maximum of 5% of the land.

Guidelines for Existing and Replacement Structures. The following guidelines are only suggestions to landowners building on the banks of the river. They are also recommendations to counties preparing zoning ordinances. Guidelines for existing and replacement development are as follows:

There would be no effect on existing structures and uses.

Replacement structures should be set back at least 100 feet from the riverbank and built on a site with a minimum 100 feet of riverfront.

Replacement structures should be consistent with maintenance, screening, visibility, texture, and color recommendations.

Colors should be soft, subtle, earth tones that are similar to those in the surrounding environment.

Native plants should be used for landscaping. Vegetation should be maintained so that, except for the view corridors, structure would be screened from the river during the summer. Foundation plantings at the base of residences would be an acceptable means of vegetation screening (see appendix F).

Exterior maintenance of structures is important to the achievement of the recommendations in this plan.

Guidelines for Zoning and New Construction. Guidelines for zoning and new construction would be achieved through the use of the above-listed land use management tools. Technical assistance and some funding assistance to property owners would be available to help achieve these objectives. Guidelines for zoning and for new public and private construction are as follows:

The lot should have a minimum of 300 feet of riverfront.

The structure should be set back 200 feet from the ordinary high water mark.

Construction materials should meet the intent of the maintenance, screening, visibility, texture, and color recommendations of this plan.

Colors should be soft, subtle, earth tones that are similar to those in the surrounding environment.

Landscaping should use native plants.

Vegetation should be maintained, as determined in each alternative, so that the structure is screened during the summer.

Development should be unobtrusive so that the natural landscape dominates.

The undeveloped portions of property should contain native vegetation and a natural substory of grass and shrubs.

New buildings should be located on a contour higher than that reached by high water flows (79,500 cfs).

Boat ramps and boat docks along the river should be shared in order to minimize the need for the number and the need for access roads.

The setback for new structures should be equal to or greater than the 100-year floodline or be elevated or floodproofed to a level of at least 1 foot about the 100-year flood elevation to stay within Federal Emergency Management Administration flood insurance guidelines.

The 100-year flood flow for the 59-mile reach has been estimated to be 79,500 cfs by the Corps of Engineers (Omaha District 1981, Missouri River special flood hazard information maps). Any development subject to damage by flood waters or erosion should not be located lower than 1 foot above the stage corresponding to this discharge. An elevation equal to that generated by a 500-year flood would better ensure against disasters and could restrict development in valuable natural areas.

Guidelines for Agricultural Land. Farming and ranching practices are viewed as supporting the protection of the river, and this plan recognizes current and evolving agricultural use as a cultural attribute of the recreational river corridor. Encouraging use of land for agriculture helps to minimize future development within the corridor. Feedlots and confinement facilities would not be considered consistent with the recreational river designation. Currently there are no feedlots and confinement facilities along this stretch of the river within the boundary.

Agricultural and forestry practices should be similar in nature and intensity to those present in the area at the time of designation. Vegetation growing between farm fields may help to stabilize and retard erosion of banks, would provide a buffer zone of natural vegetation that would enhance scenic and wildlife habitat values, and could reduce some loading of pollutants into the river. Private property owners could be encouraged to set aside some agricultural land for wildlife habitat easements. Application of fertilizers and biocides should meet integrated pest management goals established by agricultural agencies. Financial assistance for livestock watering equipment could be used as an incentive to minimize trampling of riverbanks.

Guidelines for Public Land. Public land and facilities inside the boundary would continue to be managed for its dedicated purposes and for the purposes of the recreational river designation. Each action alternative would rely on the use of cooperative agreements and/or memoranda of understanding among government agencies and other partners to ensure consistency with this plan and to resolve jurisdictions and conflicting mandates. Existing public lands include wildlife easements as well as some areas that are dedicated to recreation. Fee and easement land owned by the Corps of Engineers would continue to be managed by them or in cooperation with other agencies. The Corps of Engineers would remain the lead decision-maker and point of contact for this land.

General Administration

Maintenance. Maintenance activities and facilities related to habitat development and management, including streambank protection, would be provided by state and federal agencies, as funding allowed. Funds to maintain recreational facilities have been budgeted primarily by counties and the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission. Additional funds may be needed from state and federal sources to maintain and enhance habitat as determined in the alternatives. With the permission and cooperation of property owners, federal funding could be used to help preserve significant cultural resources on private land inside the boundaries.

Law Enforcement. Current sharing of responsibilities across jurisdictional lines would be encouraged in both action alternatives. Generally, enforcement activities are specific to the laws and responsibilities of the various participating agencies. While state laws govern fishing, hunting, and trapping on private land, trapping is prohibited on federally owned land administered as part of the recreational river, unless authorized by specific statute. NPS regulations prohibit airboats and personal watercraft on the Missouri National Recreational River. The only exception is the use of airboats for emergency or approved administrative use.

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

General

Following completion of this *General Management Plan*, more detailed cultural and natural resources management planning might be needed for the Missouri National Recreational River. If needed, a resource management plan, prepared by the National Park Service, would detail research needs, summarize information needs, and analyze and set priorities for resource management work. These plans could facilitate joint actions with the Corps of Engineers, the U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service, or the state game and fish agencies.

The section 1135 program of the Water Resources Development Act of 1986, as amended, would provide for technical assistance and funding for restoring habitat lost as a result of a COE project. (About 25% of the cost would be shared by a nonfederal partner.) Such programs could be used to restore habitat to compensate for changes in the river resulting from Gavins Point Dam or to create chutes and wetlands. The development of such planning tools could also be supported by federal or state technical and financial assistance.

Streambank Protection

The action alternatives recognize that streambank protection measures are necessary and authorized in the Missouri National Recreational River legislation. Wherever possible, the use of natural streambank protection or bioengineering techniques are recommended. Such techniques include cabling tree trunks and brushy material to the bank (Palmitter method), planting live willow stakes or live willow fascines (bundles), constructing live cribwalls, or any combination thereof. Vegetative means of streambank protection are compatible with protection of recreational riverine appearance and they encourage revegetation of the riparian corridor. Resource agency staff members are often available to provide technical assistance with these techniques.

When bioengineering techniques are not feasible nor practicable, erosion control techniques (including the use of rocks for streambank protection) would be permitted subject to conditions prescribed in this *General Management Plan.* The COE section 33 program authorizes the Corps of Engineers to stabilize streambanks on private land on the Missouri River under certain conditions. The Corps of Engineers could also buy interest in eroding land along the Missouri River from willing sellers as an alternative to stabilizing. Purchase of land is often more economical than stabilization and allows erosion to add sediment to the river system.

New streambank erosion control techniques would require a section 10/404 COE permit and would be used to protect structures and agricultural land. This policy would also apply when alteration or extension of structures would require a new section 10/404 COE permit. Each stabilization action would require an individual permit under normal (non-flood) circumstances. The Corps would cooperate to ensure that streambank protection is compatible with the purposes of the recreational river authorization.

For permitting purposes, acceptable materials would be determined on a case-by-case basis. Natural or natural-appearing materials would be encouraged. Clean brick and broken masonry would be considered if covered with natural-appearing materials. The material should be covered by topsoil and seeded. Streambank protection may also allow for protection of significant biological resources (special habitats such as wooded areas, islands, and sandbars) and significant cultural resources such as archeological sites on a case-by-case basis.

Natural Resources

General. The managing agency and partners would cooperate in the inventory and monitoring of riverrelated resources and would coordinate management for protection/restoration and enhancement of biologic resources. Natural river processes would be enhanced when possible. A coordinated effort would be made by all partners to protect and manage threatened and endangered species and sensitive and unusual habitat such as cottonwood forests, islands, and sandbars. Research that would support river-related interpretive programs and resource management objectives would be encouraged. Water quality would continue to be monitored by various federal and state agencies.

Floodplains and adjacent wetlands would be considered sensitive in all the alternatives, and they would be protected to the greatest extent possible. They reduce the adverse effects of flooding, maintain water quality, provide fish and wildlife habitat, preserve visual variety, and maintain biologic values. All action alternatives would preserve, restore, and increase wetlands in the river corridor. Wetlands would be protected and enhanced on public land (executive orders would be followed) and their protection would be encouraged on private land by preservation incentives, voluntary programs, and enforcement of state and federal law.

This plan would support efforts to control the spread of nuisance plants and state-listed weeds that compete with native plants and threatened and endangered species for habitat and that could be detrimental to agricultural crops. The managing agencies would work with local agencies under a cooperative agreement.

Management for Biologic Resources. Management for protecting, restoring, and enhancing biologic values would vary according to alternative.

Monitoring of Resources. Monitoring of resources would vary according to alternative. No entry onto private land would take place without property owner consent.

Threatened and Endangered Species. Federal and state endangered and threatened species would continue to be protected in all areas under federal or state jurisdiction. Policies and programs for the preservation and protection of the species and their habitat would continue by consultation among the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Corps of Engineers, National Park Service, Nebraska Game and Parks Commission, and the South Dakota Department of Game, Fish and Parks. NPS policy (but not Corps policy) requires that federal candidate species be afforded equal protection to those species that are listed.

To avoid direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts potentially associated with new boat ramps, the following conditions would be met:

- 1) boat ramp placement would be 1/4 mile from historic nesting islands
- 2) boat ramp construction would avoid the May-August nesting season

3) boat ramp design and parking lot size would seek to redistribute existing visitor use, rather that encourage additional use at locations that could impact the terns and plovers
4) if visitor use impacts exceeded carrying capacity standards (as determined by monitoring), management would take actions that would bring conditions back within standards
5) Site-specific environmental compliance, including compliance with section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act, would be completed before any new boat ramps were constructed. As part of this site-specific compliance, information section 7 consultation under the Endangered Species Act would be reinitiated with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service

Actions that might be taken, would include the following:

- a) increase public awareness through additional signing and posting
- b) patrol island perimeters by boat, especially on holidays and weekends
- c) limit numbers of people allowed to launch boats from boat ramps
- d) close certain boat ramps

Cultural Resources

Management of Cultural Resources. Management of cultural resources would be accomplished through the cooperative efforts of property owners, public interest groups, local communities, and government agencies. The goal would be to preserve the significant historical, architectural, ethnographic, landscape, and archeological resources that make up the cultural heritage of the river corridor. The intent would be to work with others to minimize the loss of historic material and to conserve resources important for public education and scientific study. Preservation programs could not be implemented on private land without the approval and invitation of the owner.

Cultural Resource Inventory, Evaluation, and Monitoring. The National Park Service, in cooperation with the state historic preservation officers, would identify cultural resources inside the boundary and evaluate their significance and integrity using national register criteria. This includes the monitoring of significant sites on public land. Identification of historic properties eligible for the national register would help property owners qualify for restoration or rehabilitation funding or tax act certification. These activities could be undertaken on nonfederal lands in cooperation with landowners if funding was available.

Preserving and Protecting Cultural Resources. Continuation of resource stewardship by private owners is a major goal of all alternatives in this plan and would be particularly important in maintaining the cultural landscape. The National Park Service would work with other agencies and local communities to help ensure cultural resources were identified and protected during development of new or enlarged visitor facilities.

Shared expertise as well a variety of agreements and incentives could be used to preserve cultural resources. Federally funded or permitted projects must comply with the provisions of section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act.

Visitors would be directed to public areas that can best accommodate use. Visitors would be educated about the importance of the sites and their preservation. Visitor use would be routinely monitored to ensure that resources were not damaged. If resources were threatened, protective measures would be developed. Management actions, including cooperative law enforcement, public education, and visitor management, would be used to ensure that the sense of community, trust among neighbors, and the serene nature of this recreational river continued and that resources were protected. Government-to-government consultation with Native Americans would help to prevent damage to ethnographic sites.

Museum objects and natural and cultural resource collections, archeological materials, site records, and other archival materials would continue to be the responsibility of individual land-managing agencies. Financial incentives (e.g., the National Park Service Heritage Preservation Fund grants) could be used to encourage care of artifacts from nonfederal land, such as support for local museums.

Continuing Research. Data was collected for this planning project (NPS 1994a, NPS 1994b, and NPS 1995), but site-specific inventories of cultural resources and a resource management plan (including provisions for management of collections) still would be needed.

VISITOR USE AND INTERPRETATION

Visitor Experience

Visitor experience is a phrase used to describe everything visitors do, learn, and enjoy in an area. In this plan, "visitor" refers to local people as well as those from afar. Visitor experience refers both to the experience visitors have while at the river and to the memories and insights they take with them when they leave.

The alternatives described in this *General Management Plan* would provide opportunities for people to learn about and enjoy the significance and history of the recreational river. Within the wide range of possible visitor experiences would be a number that could be reasonably provided to visitors. These are described as visitor experience goals. They contain the basic elements of what a visit to the recreational river should be — safe, informative, fun, enriching, relaxing, and memorable.

THE ALTERNATIVES

Visitors to the Missouri National Recreational River would have opportunities to

receive orientation and information before and throughout a visit to the recreational river

learn about river safety so that they can fully enjoy their recreational and cultural experiences

know that the Missouri National Recreational River is part of the wild and scenic river system

learn about appropriate activities and behaviors so that the river's resource values (threatened and endangered species, cultural resources, riparian habitats) are not adversely impacted

Interpretation and Visitor Services

Interpretation is a process of education. It stimulates curiosity and conveys ideas and stories and helps people to understand and discover deeper meanings and relationships. Interpretation is part of the visitor experience.

Visitors ask questions about lodging, food, and other basic needs when they visit the recreational river. They also ask about options for recreational activities on the river. Visitors often want to know about local history, and the Missouri River's role in western exploration and settlement. The natural history of the Missouri River area, including its wildlife and wildflowers, interests many people as well.

These types of questions can lead into the stories about the Missouri River and its inhabitants. The recreational river's interpretive themes would help to identify those stories and their contexts. Primary interpretive themes are those ideas that are central to the recreational river's purpose, resource significance, and visitor experience. Every visitor should have access to them. The themes provide the foundation for the recreational river's interpretive program, both inside and outside the recreational river boundary.

Regardless of the delivery method (personal programs, audiovisual programs, or publications), successful interpretation ties together factual information with sensory activities. The goal of the recreational river's interpretive programming would be to provide an educational and recreational experience that would lead to visitor enjoyment and protection of the resources.

Primary Interpretive Themes

The primary interpretive themes listed below serve as guidelines for describing the resources and significance of the Missouri National Recreational River. They are listed in no particular order below; there is some overlap because some themes cannot be addressed without discussing aspects of others. The primary interpretive themes would be applicable regardless of which action alternative is implemented; however, there would be differences in the emphasis placed on the themes.

Every visitor to the recreational river should have an opportunity to learn about the following ideas:

Lewis and Clark traveled the Missouri River while exploring the Louisiana Purchase.

Visitors can still see landscapes similar to those that Lewis and Clark saw.

The Missouri River, nicknamed the "Big Muddy," tells many stories of past explorations, settlements, and steamboat commerce, and of ongoing river changes. The river also influences future use and habitation.

The Missouri River has many moods, from raging and forceful to quiet and peaceful; the river has inspired many people.

There are many opportunities for people to use and enjoy the 59-mile segment of the Missouri National Recreational River. People also need to be aware of the river's dangers.

Changes to the Missouri River floodplain as a result of the construction of six mainstem dams have resulted in significant changes in plant and animal communities (including threatened and endangered species). The river requires thoughtful, cooperative management to function in a manner resembling its natural state.

The river unpredictably re-positions real estate. It can change course quickly, and shallow areas can become deep overnight.

Visitor Activities

Types and amounts of visitor use would vary by individual alternative. However, boating, fishing, hunting, and trapping would continue in all alternatives under state law. Trapping is prohibited on federally owned land administered as part of the recreational river.

Visitor Use Management

Indicators and standards would be established to protect natural and cultural resources and visitor experiences from excessive use. When resources begin to be damaged or use is excessive, the managing agency would act to avoid or mitigate damage or would control and regulate excessive use.

Visitor Development and Access

The alternatives would provide detail on the amount of development proposed. Some developed and primitive public camping would be available along the recreational river in South Dakota and Nebraska. Private property owners might provide additional campgrounds for public use. Such new development, if any, should comply with the intent and direction of this plan. There would be potential for development of scenic drives or for creation of scenic overlooks.

When constructed, the Vermillion-Newcastle bridge would provide an opportunity for an overlook and resource interpretation.

BOUNDARY

The proposed boundary for alternatives 2 and 3 would be the downstream end of the Gavins Point Dam excavated discharge channel (downstream boundary of the Lewis and Clark Project), 59 miles

THE ALTERNATIVES

downstream to Ponca Sate Park, Nebraska. The boundary has been revised from the original 1980 boundary to include areas of active erosion and four large archeological or cultural sites that are listed on the National Register of Historic Places. A portion of Clay County Park some distance from the river and some cropland has been deleted from the boundary as well.

The river and its islands are included but not used for the acreage calculations. Total acreage within this boundary proposal is about 17,414 acres. Copies of maps marked with the proposed changes to the boundaries can be seen at NPS offices in Omaha and O'Neill, Nebraska; at the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers office at Gavins Point Dam; at the courthouses in Dixon and Cedar Counties in Nebraska; and at Yankton, Clay, and Union County courthouses in South Dakota. Following completion of this *General Management Plan*, a reference to the boundary maps will be published in the *Federal Register*.

No property rights are lost on any private land inside the boundary of the recreational river. The inclusion of private land within the boundary does not mean that the land is slated for acquisition. The boundaries show only the area where resources are considered important and need protection. Lands would be acquired only if it becomes necessary for resource protection or if they are needed for recreational facilities. Since 1978 (when this river was designated), no land has been acquired.

ASSISTANCE ON ADJACENT LAND OUTSIDE THE BOUNDARY

Assistance would be provided to local governments and property owners only when requested or by consent. For example, recommendations for county zoning ordinances could protect riparian areas, steep slopes, or key vistas from intensive developments. Recommendations for county zoning could include landscape standards that would help to screen new developments from the river. The National Historic Preservation Act provides for grants, technical assistance, and educational programs to aid in preservation and protection of sites eligible for listing on the National Register of Historic Places. Designation of local historic districts or zoning could also be used to help protect these sites.

The Corps of Engineers could provide several opportunities for land protection and/or restoration under certain conditions. The section 22 program of the Water Resources Development Act of 1974, as amended (WRDA) would allow for technical assistance and funding (cost-shared) for reconnaissance-level water resources studies. Examples of potential studies include floodplain management, water supply, hydrology, recreation planning, and environmental studies. A sponsor would be required, generally from some government entity (city, county, or state). This program does not fund detailed feasibility studies or construction.

The section 1135 program of the Water Resources Development Act of 1986, as amended, would provide for technical assistance and funding for restoring habitat lost as a result of a COE project. (About 25% of the cost would be shared by a nonfederal partner.) Such programs could be used to restore habitat to compensate for changes in the river resulting from Gavins Point Dam or to create chutes and wetlands. The development of such planning tools could also be supported by federal or state technical and financial assistance.





ALTERNATIVE 2: RESOURCE PROTECTION/ RECREATION (PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE)

GENERAL CONCEPT AND PHILOSOPHY

This preferred alternative uses as a base the 1980 *Management Plan* and the *1980 General Design Memorandum*. It recognizes, however, that many aspects of those plans have not been carried out. It also recognizes that the intervening years have produced new laws to implement. Maintenance and restoration of biologic values in the Missouri River ecosystem are part of these new responsibilities. There has also been a change in public perception of the need for different levels of government to work together in partnership to increase the efficiency of all levels of government. Much of the difference between the two plans above and this preferred alternative is based in these concepts. This alternative description should be read together with the previous "Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3" section.

The primary goals of this alternative are to

preserve or protect natural and cultural resources

allow for streambank protection to protect croplands and wildlife habitat, as authorized and encouraged by the law

preserve and protect scenic qualities as seen from the river with minimal change

provide for low levels of visitor use in harmony with the special nature of this river and its inherent hazards

create public understanding of these goals through local interest group involvement

MANAGEMENT

Cooperative Agencies and Partnerships

The Corps of Engineers and the National Park Service could develop a revised cooperative agreement if needed. The Corps would be responsible primarily for construction of bank protection structures, recreational facilities, and other recreational river features as deemed necessary. The Corps would continue to manage river flows as outlined in the current Master Water Control Manual. Through offices in Omaha, Nebraska, the Corps would develop plans for implementation of the GMP/EIS, including design and construction, and would participate in other studies and monitoring efforts needed to ensure that the recreational river values were not impacted by proposed construction. The Corps could also offer assistance to the National Park Service for interpretive displays and features as needed.

The National Park Service would retain its role as administrator of the recreational river and would be more involved in day-to-day management activities. The National Park Service would work with counties, landowners, and others on land development and protection issues within the boundary. In lieu of the need for extensive acquisition called for in the *General Design Memorandum*, the National Park Service would seek to protect land through local partnerships and cooperative agreements. The NPS would be the lead for producing visitor information aids, preparing appropriate signing, and possibly developing historical and archeological interpretive sites away from the river. The National

Park Service would also recommend appropriate recreational development to the Corps, using the money set aside for matching grants for recreational river projects.

Both the Corps of Engineers and the National Park Service could accept donations of interests in land or work with cooperators to acquire easements to fulfill the purposes of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act. The Corps would not, however, maintain management of donated lands, but would turn such lands over to the NPS, USFWS, the state, or counties for public management. In addition, the two agencies would work jointly on resource management issues, establishing partnerships with other agencies and private landowners to protect and enhance the values of the Missouri National Recreational River. Either agency may also seek partnerships with others to implement resource management or other activities to meet the purposes of the act. The National Park Service and the Corps would jointly host annual or semiannual public meetings in lieu of re-creating the MNRR advisory group. Host assignments would alternate between the two agencies. They would also confer on at least an annual basis on budget allocations, cost sharing, partnering, and joint projects. Both agencies would also continue to confer individually with private groups.

Land Use Management

In addition to the proposals under the "Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3" section, land protection objectives would maintain the rural scene, restrict intrusive development, and encourage maintenance of the landscape through local government and private means. Easements and zoning would be used to help maintain the rural scene and allow development in ways that emphasize the natural attributes of the river. Land in fee title might be acquired from willing sellers in a few cases in order to provide new public access to the river or cultural preservation and interpretation.

General Administration

Administration and Maintenance Facilities. Administrative offices and maintenance facilities for the Corps of Engineers already exist at Gavins Point. The National Park Service would operate from a nearby office, which is currently in O'Neill, Nebraska. Managers could combine existing facilities if deemed efficient to do so. Maintenance facilities would be needed by the various agencies as their responsibilities demanded. Added facilities for interpretation of cultural sites to visitors might be accompanied by a need for ranger stations and maintenance facilities. This would depend on the acquisition and the design of such facilities and the cooperating partners that might be involved.

Maintenance. The maintenance workload under this alternative would increase only slightly from current levels because few new visitor facilities are proposed. Funds to maintain existing facilities are presently budgeted by various federal, states and local agencies. Funds would need to be budgeted by the Corps of Engineers or National Park Service for any new facilities that are built. Funds would be needed for added work proposed to maintain and enhance habitat, as well as to assist in maintenance of any trails that are constructed.

Law Enforcement. Local, state, and federal governments would have existing law enforcement responsibilities in the project area, and cooperative relations would be sought. However, the National Park Service would retain and would intend to fully exercise federal law enforcement responsibilities on the water surfaces and on lands it owns in accordance with the administration of the national park system, the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act, and the act establishing the Missouri National Recreational River.

Staffing Needs. The Corps would have minimal existing support staff under this alternative. NPS involvement could be handled as collateral duty by staff assigned to the Niobrara National Scenic River and the Missouri/Niobrara/Verdigre Creek National Recreational Rivers. The NPS employees could be located close to the river and could be supervised as a subunit by staff at the O'Neill office.

Federal Costs.	Cost	categories	include
----------------	------	------------	---------

Category	COE Costs	NPS Costs
Labor	\$80,000 ^a	\$283,000 ^b
Equipment, supplies, materials, and transportation	5,000	95,000
Grants, contracts, agreements, and cost-sharing with cooperators		30,000
Technical and planning assistance for adjacent property owners		25,000
Land acquisition (both fee and easement)		100,000
Cultural and natural resources research		65,000 ^c
Resources monitoring / studies	50,000	3,000 ^d
Interpretive media at key river sites	20,000	128,000 ^e
Develop two new river access sites, plus trails and roads	^f	
Total	\$155,000	\$729,000

^a Project manager GS-11, half-time; plus two design/construction engineers to prepare the *General Design Memorandum*; GS-12, one-fourth time. Does not include overhead costs associated with labor.

^b Park manager, GS-13, one-third time; full-time employees: outdoor recreation planner, GS-12; two park rangers, RM&VP, GS-9; two maintenance workers, WG-7; administrative technician, GS-7

^c One study annually

^d One overflight and two boat trips annually and monthly onsite inspections

^e Sixteen waysides (low profile/upright wayside exhibit) @ \$6,000-8,000 each

^f Construction costs to be developed in the *General Design Memorandum*, after nonfederal cost-share sponsor shows interest

There are no priorities associated with these costs; all are equally important. The managing agency would be the partnership of the Corps of Engineers, the National Park Service, and state and local governments. Therefore, presumably some of the above funds would come from the NPS budget and some from the other governments. The relative proportion of these funding sources is yet to be developed.

TABLE 2: ALTERNATIVE 2 - LAND USE/LAND COVER

Land Use/Land Cover Category	Public Land (acres)	Private Land (acres)	TOTAL (acres)
Cropland	335	7,163	7,499
Pasture/rangeland	188	2,526	2,714
Upland wooded forest	1,107	2,441	3,548
Floodplain forest	3	565	568
Palustrine wetlands	36	4,529	4,565
Riverine wetlands	193	15,422	15,615
Lacustrine wetlands	0	0	0
TOTAL	1,863	32,646	34,509

Numbers were rounded off to the nearest whole acre. The 34,509 acres include 17,414 acres above the ordinary high watermark.

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

The primary goal of resource management under this alternative would be to protect and enhance Missouri River values as a relatively natural ecosystem with the following objectives:

- in accordance with the *Master Water Control Manual and Operating Plan*, allow for the seasonal high riverflows necessary for maintaining important river habitats and species*
- protect biologically valuable habitats essential to the river ecosystem through private and public means
- maintain the present scenic qualities as seen from the river with minimal change
- educate visitors about threatened and endangered species, protection and enhancement of biologic values, river processes, and the cultural resources and events that tell the story of the river
- provide for low levels of visitor use in harmony with the special nature of this river and its inherent hazards
- provide for recreational home development in harmony with the above objectives through local means and appropriate standards

*This Final General Management Plan / Environmental Impact Statement is consistent with the existing Master Water Control Manual and recognizes that the Master Water Control Manual is being updated. Flow releases from the dam are outside the scope of this plan, but the National Park Service, as administrator of the MNRR, favors an alternative that would protect and enhance the values for which the national recreational river was included in the national wild and scenic rivers system. In reaching a decision on the update of the Master Water Control Manual, the Corps will consider the needs of the MNRR along with the other needs of the Missouri River basin.

Streambank Protection

Streambank protection to protect croplands and wildlife habitat is authorized and encouraged by the law. Some erosion and expansion of banks might occur because the river has not yet stabilized to a post-dam condition. Streambank erosion control for agricultural land would have high priority if it could also provide new significant habitat. When feasible, erosion control structures would incorporate features to improve aquatic habitat and create new habitat and would be designed to give the appearance of a natural bank under normal flow conditions. Streambank erosion control should include experimentation with softer, environmentally sensitive methods using natural appearing and other approved materials. Purchase of rapidly eroding banks from willing sellers may be considered, if cost effective under Corps of Engineers policy, as an alternative to stabilization. Such purchase may also provide sediment to the river ecosystem. Section 10/404 streambank protection permits would include conditions to ensure the protection of threatened and endangered species and significant biological resources.

Natural Resources

General. Natural resource management would act to preserve and protect wildlife, instream habitat, and the natural function of the river. A primary emphasis would be on protection of species of special concern.

Management of Biologic Resources. This alternative would emphasize management for conserving, protecting, and enhancing riverine biologic values on public land and could include incentives for private property owners to improve the quantity, quality, and diversity of native wildlife and fishery habitat in the riverine-riparian ecosystem. Federal funding for biological resource protection would be available where the chances of success are high and the relative costs are low. Under the joint leadership of the Corps of Engineers and the National Park Service, other agencies, local entities, and private owners would work together to manage for the protection, restoration, and enhancement of biologic values.

Maintenance, protection, and enhancement of biologic values in the Missouri River ecosystem would be emphasized in this alternative. The meandering river, eroding banks, sandbars, backwater areas, cottonwood forests, and instream snag habitat were characteristics of the pre-dam river that would be maintained where feasible to compensate for the effects of the mainstem dams. Floodplains, wetlands, and nesting sandbar islands would be emphasized.

Strategies aimed at accomplishing biology-related objectives would be pursued through the annual work plans of the cooperating agencies. These objectives should be balanced to achieve the best effect. Within the constraints represented by a managed riverflow and the conversion of much of the old floodplain to agricultural crops, the biological objectives for the Missouri National Recreational River are

to maintain viable populations of native plants and animals well distributed throughout their geographic range

to maintain genetic variability in and among populations of native species

to maintain representative examples of the full spectrum of ecosystems, biological communities, habitats and their ecological processes

to implement management solutions at the landscape level that integrate human activities with the conservation of biologic resources

To accomplish these objectives, the Corps of Engineers and National Park Service would be aware of and concerned about the health of the surrounding watershed. Restoration would be focused on securing relatively healthy areas where the chances of accomplishing biological objectives are the greatest, expanding riparian and floodplain restoration, and developing carefully designed restoration strategies.

On private land, riverine protection could be more narrowly applied to riparian buffers and undeveloped floodplains along with other biological hotspots or intact riverine habitat patches. Programs of agencies that provide riverine habitat and open space would be supported. Implementation on private land would be through "bottom up" local protection and restoration efforts, incorporating minimum federal standards and regulations along with a flexible package of financial incentives, funding options, and technical assistance so that locally developed protection programs evolve. Other available assistance programs include the Corps of Engineers section 22 and 1135 programs (see the "Assistance on Adjacent Land Outside the Boundary" section in Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3). For the most part, case studies demonstrate that the productivity of degraded riparian areas can be restored, usually with a net gain in livestock forage.

Monitoring of Resources. Significant resources, such as shrub wetlands and floodplain forests, oxbows, islands, and sandbars, would be inventoried and monitored with emphasis on accomplishing goals and biological objectives. The managing partners would determine the means and magnitude for implementation of a monitoring program.

Threatened and Endangered Species. This alternative emphasizes the need for endangered species habitat creation efforts, including those for state-listed species, while recognizing that implementation would depend primarily on the commitment of other agencies and the private sector. The managing agencies would coordinate with the U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Nebraska Game and Parks Commission, and the South Dakota Department of Game, Fish, and Parks to further identify, protect preserve, and enhance federally and state-listed species and their habitat.

Cultural Resources

Management of Cultural Resources. This alternative proposes management activities that would emphasize the history and culture of the river and its surroundings. The emphasis would be secondary to the stress placed on biological goals, but visitors would be also able to learn about the historic importance of the area. There would be a greater understanding of the use of the river and its valley from prehistoric times, through the period of exploration and settlement, to the present. The landscape would retain much of its present character, intrusive development would be limited, and maintenance of the landscape beyond the boundaries would be encouraged. Cooperation among local communities and state and federal agencies would be sought to manage, protect, and interpret the resources in the river valley that relate to the rich history of the Missouri River while meeting biological goals of this alternative.

Cultural Resource Inventory, Evaluation, and Monitoring. Because unknown resources cannot be interpreted or managed effectively, cultural resources would be inventoried to document known and unknown sites. Areas threatened by vandalism, erosion, or natural resource management actions and sites proposed for interpretation would have the highest priority for documentation. Resources would be evaluated for their national register significance and integrity, and national register eligible properties would have priority for monitoring.

Preserving and Protecting Cultural Resources. This alternative makes no recommendations for acquisitions of specific sites. Instead, it recognizes that local cooperative resource protection efforts, including public heritage education, a local heritage preservation commission, archeological watch programs, and local participation in federal or state preservation programs are the best methods for protecting cultural resources.

Where personnel and funding were available, the National Park Service could offer technical assistance (e.g., regional or center historic preservation specialist or archeologists) and financial incentives (through NPS Heritage Preservation Fund grants). Sites outside the boundaries but in the river valley could be included in preservation and interpretation efforts through cooperative agreements or financial and technical assistance. Funding assistance could also be provided for access to cultural sites outside the boundary if the site is needed to help visitors understand the river's history, is nearby, and improved access is in the best interest of the site.

Sites vulnerable to damage from trampling, looting, or vandalism should be stabilized to prevent erosion or architectural damage by the owner or local entities. Artifacts should be inventoried and

collected as appropriate. The level of site access could be modified based on the best interest of the site and any potential for visitor use. Where national register-eligible resources were threatened and no protective measures were in place, acquisition of conservation easements or fee title to selected sites could be necessary.

Agencies would follow environmental and historic preservation laws and regulations when modifying areas to enhance natural river processes and protection/restoration of biologic values or during renovation of existing visitor facilities. If needed, mitigating measures would be developed by the managing agency in consultation with the Nebraska and South Dakota state historic preservation officers. Protective measures such as routine law enforcement patrols could be established if the need arose.

Continuing Research. Research programs, such as oral histories or archeological excavations, would help involve the community in resource protection while contributing to scientific knowledge about the area.

VISITOR USE AND INTERPRETATION

The visitor experience would emphasize the continuation of high quality wildlife observation, hunting, fishing, and boating in a relatively natural setting. Visitors would be able to have a quiet, contemplative experience on the river and would have a sense of discovery reminiscent of Lewis and Clark and other early travelers.

The interpretive theme emphasis would be on the Missouri River's natural systems, including the potential restoration of some areas. People would have opportunities to learn about the Missouri River's natural heritage and to learn about and help protect species of special concern. Interpretation would also highlight the 59-mile segment's rich history and culture. The visitor experience would also focus on visitor enjoyment of the character of the rural agricultural scene. Messages concerning visitor responsibility for protecting cultural resources would be presented.

Interpretation

Essential informational and orientation messages focusing on boating, hunting, and fishing, and safe river use would be provided. These messages would also emphasize visitor responsibility in conserving and protecting species of special concern.

Interpretive programming would focus on the river's natural resources and would emphasize changes to the river and the efforts of agencies to mitigate adverse effects. Interpretation and education would be offered both inside and outside the recreational river boundaries. Programs would use a variety of methods, such as environmental education programs in local schools and in neighboring communities. An effort would be made to build a local constituency to help protect the river's natural values.

An interpretive and educational program would be developed to focus on the interconnection between cultural and natural resources and changes to the river over time. A variety of interpretive methods would be used, including written educational materials and interpretive displays at river access sites. Basic orientation and information for visitors would be provided, and interpretation and heritage education would be developed around the historic and cultural resources of the area.

The National Park Service would work cooperatively with local and regional school districts, historical societies, ethnic organizations, and others to interpret and celebrate the recreational river story. Volunteers would be sought to supplement these efforts.

Visitor Activities

River-based activities for visitors would be low key and would complement the natural values of the river. Present uses of the river, including boating, fishing, hunting, and trapping, would continue on nonfederally owned park land.

River-based activities would respect the natural values of the river. Very few federal services would be provided, and visitors would have to watch for sandbars, floating debris, and snags. The sense of remoteness would add to the quality of the visit for some people. Existing uses would continue and conflicts would be avoided between different user groups by keeping visitor uses at present levels.

Visitor Use Management

The managing agency would encourage river users to enjoy the river in ways that were consistent with the river's values. Resource protection and land stewardship messages would be presented through interpretation.

The emphasis on river history and cultural resources would assist in dispersing visitors beyond the boundaries. Visitors would have more places to learn about the history of the river and more ways to understand the river.

Visitor Development and Access

Development of new visitor or staff support facilities, including river access, would not be extensive. Such development would be kept outside significant resource areas. Where possible, land-based visitor services and facilities would be developed outside the recreational river boundaries on public land or private land through cooperative efforts. Some development of interpretive facilities would allow visitors to appreciate the Missouri River as an historic highway. Development of new river access sites could be at two locations: one near Elk Point and one between Myron Grove and Yankton, both in South Dakota. The safety and appearance of public access facilities would be improved, but not with the intention of expanded use.

Additionally, new hiking opportunities would be provided for visitors to explore and learn about cultural resources of the river on both sides of the river. New trailheads would be small and might require new or improved access roads. New trails would be designed for low impact and would be self-guided interpretive nature trails contributing to the aesthetic and educational aspects of the recreational river. Decisions about the number and locations of such facilities would be made in cooperation with neighboring agencies and private individuals. The purchase of a trail easement might be required. The managing agency might assist with funding a portion of trails, trailheads, and related work.

ALTERNATIVE 3: RECREATIONAL EMPHASIS

GENERAL CONCEPT AND PHILOSOPHY

This alternative proposes management and interpretation of the river that would provide enhanced recreational opportunities for visitors. In this alternative, the river would be considered underused, and actions described in this alternative would increase use and allow enjoyment by a greater number of people without destroying the special qualities of the river. Access points would be dispersed to prevent crowding. Visitors would have a greater understanding of the special qualities of the river. Interpretation of cultural resources would be important for resource protection as well as for visitor education and enjoyment.

Implementation of recreational objectives would be emphasized, as long as they were consistent with the need to protect natural and cultural resources and endangered species habitat. This alternative would seek to maintain natural features in the river corridor, such as sandbars and beaches, backwater areas for recreational fishing, and open space and picnic areas. Visitor use would be encouraged and visitor opportunities would be expanded, which could include some compatible private development, without adversely affecting significant natural or cultural resources or other private property owners.

MANAGEMENT

Cooperating Agencies and Partnerships

A revised cooperative agreement between the Corps of Engineers and the National Park Service could be written if needed and signed by both agencies as described under alternative 2. The other management concepts in that alternative would be true of this alternative also.

The National Park Service as "administrator" would work with states, counties, landowners, and others on land development and protection issues from the riverbanks outward within the boundaries. Closer coordination with these entities might be needed because of the generally more permissive development standards of this alternative. The extensive acquisition called for in the *General Design Memorandum* would still not be needed here, however. The National Park Service would also lead in providing greater levels of visitor information aids, appropriate signing, and the possible development of historical and archeological interpretive sites away from the river, in concert with the anticipated higher levels of use. The National Park Service might recommend the development of appropriate recreational facilities to the Corps of Engineers.

Land Use Management

Private and public recreation development, including river access points, scenic roads, trails, and visitor structures, would remain, and future opportunities for expansion would be sought. Residential and other private development would remain, and future expansion would be allowed. Land needed for visitor facilities would be acquired from willing sellers. Ranching and farming would be expected to continue.

County zoning would be encouraged in this alternative. Easements, zoning, or tax incentives would be used to control development. Land in fee title might be acquired from willing sellers by the federal government in order to provide visitor facilities and access points.

General Administration

Administration and Maintenance Facilities. In recognition of its larger responsibilities for boat ramps, trails, and campgrounds, the National Park Service would need facilities and offices near the river. The new facilities for visitor use would require ranger and maintenance facilities.

Maintenance. The maintenance workload under this alternative would increase from present levels because new visitor facilities are proposed. Funds to maintain existing facilities are budgeted by various federal, state, and local agencies. Funds would be budgeted by the National Park Service for operation and maintenance of new facilities.

Law Enforcement. Law enforcement responsibilities would be carried out as described under alternative 2.

Staffing Needs. In addition to the current levels of staff for the Corps of Engineers and the National Park Service, additional NPS employees would be needed to handle the added duties. Greater staff time would be involved in developing interpretation, negotiating cooperative agreements with local governments and individuals, managing campgrounds and trails, and coordinating law enforcement both on and off the river. The NPS employees could be located close to the river and could be supervised as a subunit by staff at the O'Neill office.

Federal Costs. Cost categories include:

Category	COE Costs	NPS Costs
Labor	\$120,000 ^a	\$434,000 ^b
Equipment, supplies, materials, and transportation	5,000	145,000
Grants, contracts, and agreements and cost-sharing with cooperators		30,000
Technical and planning assistance for adjacent property owners		25,000
Land acquisition (both fee and easement)		100,000
Provide two to four new campgrounds, including access roads	^c	
Develop two new river access sites, plus trails and roads	^c	
Develop two scenic overlooks	^c	
Cultural land natural resources research		130,000
Resources monitoring / studies	60,000	
Assistance in developing interpretive sites, bulletin boards,		
kiosks, and publications	20,000	
Total	\$205,000	\$864,000

^a Project manager GS-11, three-fourths time, plus two design/construction engineers half-time, plus one interpretive ranger one-fourth time. These are upfront costs and do not include overhead costs associated with labor.

^b Park manager, GS-13, one-third time; full time: unit manager, GS-12; outdoor recreation planner, GS-12; two park rangers, I&VS, GS-9; park ranger, RM&VP, GS-11; two maintenance mechanics, WG-9; administrative technician, GS-7; part time: four park ranger-interpreters, GS-4; two motor vehicle operators, WG-4.

^cConstruction costs will be developed during the development of the *General Design Memorandum*, after a nonfederal cost-share sponsor shows interest.

Remaining costs would be developed prior to finalizing this plan. There are no priorities associated with these costs; all are equally important. The managing agency would be the partnership of the Corps of Engineers, the National Park Service, and state and local governments. Therefore, presumably some

of the above funds would come from the NPS budget and some from the other governments. The relative proportion of these funding sources is yet to be developed.

RESOURCE MANAGEMENT

The implementation of recreational objectives would be emphasized in this alternative. That may result in more activities directed at maintaining existing habitat rather than seeking opportunity to increase or enhance habitat. There would be a need however to meet all of the existing requirements in law to protect natural and cultural resources and endangered species habitat. The natural features in the river corridor, such as sandbars and beaches, backwater areas for recreational fishing, and open space and picnic areas, would be monitored and maintained. Interpretation of cultural resources would be important for resource protection as well as for visitor education and enjoyment.

Streambank Protection

Streambank erosion control could be used to protect land, residences and other significant structures (barns, silos, and others), as long as significant biological resources and recreational values were uncompromised. Some new stabilization projects could be needed to facilitate access and safe use of the river by larger numbers of visitors. In addition, more riverfront development might result in an increased need for streambank protection in order to protect investments.

Natural Resources

General. Natural resource management would occur as required by federal, state, and local laws and regulations; however, an emphasis would be placed on providing opportunities for fishing, hunting, trapping, and nature study. Trapping is not permitted on federal land administered for the purpose of the recreational river. Habitat important to threatened and endangered species would continue to be protected. This could be accomplished through timing of recreational use and patrolling of sensitive resource sites.

Management of Biologic Resources. The Corps of Engineers and the National Park Service, in cooperation with the U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service, state wildlife agencies, and local entities and property owner groups, would work together to manage for the protection, restoration, and enhancement of biologic values. Generally, management for protecting and enhancing biologic resources would be less intensive than alternative 2. Improving backwater areas and adding sandbars to increase recreational fishing opportunities may also benefit biological resources.

Monitoring of Resources. The National Park Service and Corps of Engineers would assist in the monitoring of resources within the recreational river. The Corps efforts would likely focus primarily on riverine species, while the NPS efforts would likely focus on terrestrial species; however, neither would be precluded from assisting the other with their efforts.

Significant resources within and adjacent to the river would be inventoried and monitored in order to protect them from increased visitor use and recreational activities. Visitor activities that could result in harmful effects on threatened and endangered species would be restricted to a level that would not harm the species. For example, restrictions could prohibit camping, picnicking, and sports or games on tern and plover islands.

Threatened and Endangered Species. Management of threatened and endangered species and their significant habitat would be less intensive than in alternative 2, but adding to jeopardy situations for endangered species would be avoided. For example, habitat improvement that also enhances fishing or other recreational opportunities, would be emphasized under this alternative.

Cultural Resources

Management of Cultural Resources. The emphasis on recreation in this alternative would include the recreational value of understanding the history of human use in the river valley. Cultural resource management would focus largely on the development of historic resource interpretation, balanced with protective measures for significant sites.

Cultural Resource Inventory, Evaluation, and Monitoring. Resources would be inventoried and evaluated for national register significance. Areas proposed for concentrated visitor use or development would have the highest priority for survey and evaluation. Properties eligible for the National Register of Historic Places and sites located in areas of high visitor use or proposed for interpretation would be monitored, and appropriate mitigation measures would be developed to help ensure these resources are not impacted during increased visitor recreational activities.

Preserving and Protecting Cultural Resources. Public education, site documentation and stabilization, and development of mitigating measures would be crucial to prevent damage to sites located in high visitor use areas. Law enforcement would also be vital to protect sites and to help ensure that visitor use does not intrude on private property owners. Frequently, significant cultural sites are best protected from irretrievable loss through their anonymity. Where funding was available, incentives such as heritage preservation grants, could be used to encourage resource preservation. National register-eligible sites would have the highest priority for protection. Where there was no other alternative for resource protection, funding would be sought to purchase the site.

Continuing Research. Research would be the same as described for alternative 2.

VISITOR USE AND INTERPRETATION

The visitor experience would include a range of recreation and public use opportunities beyond what is presently available. People of all ages and abilities would enjoy river activities that do not interfere with others and that do not adversely impact river resources. Quiet contemplative activities, consistent with river values, would be encouraged.

Interpretation

Interpretive facilities and programming would include a broad range of information, orientation, and interpretation services that would emphasize recreational options as well as safety messages. Interpretation would emphasize all of the river's natural, cultural, and recreational themes. Messages concerning resource stewardship and respect for private property rights would also be presented. Interpretive services could be provided both within and outside of the river boundary. With the exception of vulnerable cultural sites, most interpretation would be provided through self-guiding methods.

Some visitors would need information and other kinds of assistance requiring the managing agency to provide more publications, information kiosks, wayside exhibits, and seasonal contact stations in dispersed locations convenient to areas of visitor congregation.

Visitor Activities

Current uses of the river would continue. Additional recreation would be made available through the development of new campgrounds, hiking and biking trails, scenic roads, and visitor contact facilities.

Visitor Use Management

Visitors would have more places to visit and more ways to use the recreational river under this alternative.

Visitor Development and Access

Development would be planned to enhance visitor services and an appreciation of the Missouri River as a historic highway. Public access facilities would be improved to address safety and appearance concerns and to serve a greater number of visitors. Development would support expanded visitor services that would be provided in more places. New land-based visitor facilities could be built at existing or new access sites to meet visitor information needs. The managing agencies might seek partners to build or operate facilities. Land would have to be acquired for these facilities, or cooperative agreements would be arranged with public and private owners. Visits would be encouraged through active support of land- and water-based activities. Development of new river access sites is proposed at only two locations: one near Elk Point and one between Myron Grove and Yankton, both in South Dakota. The safety and appearance of public access facilities would be improved. The intention would be to provide more opportunities to accommodate expanded use.

The National Park Service would work with counties to guide development and growth in a manner appropriate to the goals of the riverway. One or two campgrounds would be provided on each side of the river. The location of the campgrounds has not been determined. Sites would be chosen based on reasonable access to major roads; nearby geographic, cultural, or natural features of interest; lack of conflict with other nearby land uses; and dispersal along both sides of the river. Private property owners would be encouraged to provide these campgrounds, or if not provided by the private sector, the managing agency would build them. New campgrounds might require new or improved access roads. The managing agency might choose to assist with funding the roadwork done within the boundaries.

The National Park Service would work with local entities to identify new hiking trail opportunities. As trails were conceived and willing sellers of land were identified, the trails might be built. New trailheads would be small and might require new or improved access roads. The number or location of such facilities has not been determined. Sites would be chosen based on connecting river-related features or where loop trips could be routed to include geographic, cultural, or natural features of high interest. They would be provided along routes that would minimize conflicts with other activities. The routes would be chosen in cooperation with potential cooperators. The National Park Service or the Corps of Engineers might choose to assist with funding a portion of trails, trailheads, and related work within the boundaries.

ASSISTANCE ON ADJACENT LAND OUTSIDE THE BOUNDARY

Local entities would be encouraged to foster the development of tour routes and scenic overlooks along the river. Such facilities would help visitors gain an understanding of the river and the role it played in the region's history. For the most part, these roads would be located outside the river boundary in order to obtain the most scenic views. In addition, the National Park Service would work cooperatively with local governments to provide more sites for visitors to learn about the natural and cultural history of the river and region. The National Park Service might assist with planning (but not construction or maintenance) of scenic roads outside the boundary as long as the roads were within the boundary or within view of this portion of the Missouri River valley.
Action	Alternative 1: Continuation of Existing Conditions (No Action)	Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3	Alternative 2: Resource Protection/Recreation (Preferred Alternative)	Alternative 3: Recreational Emphasis	
Concept	The National Park Service would continue as overall administrator of the rec- reational river; the Corps of Engineers would con- tinue its current manage- ment presence; and the <i>General Design Memo-</i> <i>randum</i> (GDM) would remain in effect.	Protection of natural and cultural resources and man- agement of visitor use would be provided. Traditional farming and ranching prac- tices on private land would continue. Landscape changes would be managed primarily through the use of relatively nonintrusive tools. Acquisition of easements or fee land would occur only when less intrusive means failed.	1980 Management Plan and 1980 GDM would be used as a baseline; the primary goals would be as follows: natural and cultural resources would be maintained and enhanced; streambank protection would protect croplands; scenic qualities would be maintained; low levels of visitor use would be accom- modated; local interest group involvement would be established.	Management and interpret- ation of the river would provide enhanced recrea- tional opportunities. Visi- tor use would be encour- aged without destroying the special qualities of the river. There would be in- creased, but dispersed, access points.	
Management	Cooperative agreement details respective roles of NPS and COE. The Corps would continue management of some recreational development in partnership with local agencies. Varied federal, state, and local law management would continue.	Several government agencies would continue to have responsibilities along the MNRR. Management would be the responsibility of the NPS and COE. The NPS would be administrator or overseer and the Corps would be the day-to-day onsite manager. If needed, a revised cooperative agreement would reflect current policies and authorities.	The Corps and the National Park Service could develop a revised cooperative agree- ment. Each would have spe- cific responsibilities. The Corps would continue to manage river flows as outlined in the current Master Water Control Manual.	A revised cooperative agreement could be written and signed by both agencies as described under alternative 2. Other management concepts would be the same as alternative 2.	

Action	Alternative 1: Continuation of Existing Conditions (No Action)	Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3	Alternative 2: Resource Protection/Recreation (Preferred Alternative)	Alternative 3: Recreational Emphasis	
Land Use Management	Ranching and farming would continue under the management of individual property owners. If cur- rent conditions continued, there would be no federal land acquisition in fee. Land acquisition along the river by counties and by both states for several recreational sites and access on both sides of the river might continue. Existing residential and other private development areas would remain. New developments are pro- posed and would be built within the boundary from time to time.	The Corps and the National Park Service would share the responsibility of over- seeing and coordinating the management of the MNRR. The National Park Service would retain overall author- ity to administer the MNRR as a component of the wild and scenic rivers system, and the Corps would continue to be responsible for most construction activities, with advice provided by the National Park Service. There could be a revised agreement between the NPS and COE, with the NPS role being somewhat larger than now. The river managers would work with landowners to protect as much land within the boundary as possible.	Land protection objectives would maintain the rural scene and allow develop- ment in ways that emphasize the river's natural attributes. Land in fee title might be acquired to provide new public access to the river or cultural preservation and interpretation. County zoning would be encouraged.	Private and public recrea- tion development would remain and future oppor- tunities for expansion would be sought. Land needed for facilities would be acquired from willing sellers; ranching and farm- ing would continue. County zoning would be encouraged.	
Visitor Development and Access	Existing roads and public river access would likely occur slowly in response to local needs. River users would continue to be pri- marily local people. The Corps could provide cost- share funding for devel- opment of scenic drives, trails, etc., provided fund- ing was available. Con- trols over private and commercial development along the river would be limited to federal flood- plain restrictions plus state and county restric- tions. Cabin and housing areas would be developed or enlarged based on mar- ket demand, and private property owners might provide additional camp- grounds for public use.	Detail would be provided on the amount of development proposed. Some developed and primitive public camp- ing would be available along the recreational river in South Dakota and Nebraska. Private property owners might provide additional campgrounds for public use. Such new development should comply with the in- tent of the plan. Scenic drives or creation of scenic overlooks could be devel- oped.	Development of new visitor or staff support would not be extensive. New hiking op- portunities would be pro- vided for visitors to explore and learn about cultural resources on both sides of the river. New river access sites would be near Elk Point and between Myron Grove and Yankton, SD. Safety and appearance of access facilities would be improved.	Development would sup- port expanded visitor ser- vices and new land-based facilities. Private property owners would be encour- aged to provide one to two campgrounds on each side of the river; campgrounds could be built by the managing agency. The National Park Service would work with local entities to identify new hiking trail opportunities. New river access sites would be near Elk Point and between Myron Grove and Yankton, SD. The National Park Service and the Corps might choose to assist with funding the roadwork, a portion of trails and trailheads, and related work.	

Action	Alternative 1: Continuation of Existing Conditions (No Action)	Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3	Alternative 2: Resource Protection/Recreation (Preferred Alternative)	Alternative 3: Recreational Emphasis
General Administration	Maintenance workload would remain the same; maintenance of projects built with matching funds from the Corps would be the responsibility of the cost-share sponsor, with the exception of endan- gered species construc- tion. Law enforcement would continue to be pro- vided occasionally by state and local authorities to manage visitor activi- ties. Corps and NPS staffing needs would be minimal. The Corps and the National Park Service would each have one part- time employee.	Facilities related to habitat development and manage- ment would be provided by state and federal agencies as funding allowed. Current sharing of law enforcement responsibilities across juris- dictional lines would be en- couraged. Facilities would be provided by the Corps as funding allowed; current sharing of responsibilities across jurisdictional lines would be encouraged.	Maintenance facilities would be needed by various agen- cies as responsibilities de- manded. The maintenance workload would increase only slightly from current levels. The Corps and the National Park Service would need to budget funds for any new facilities. Additional funds would also be needed for added work. Local, state, and federal governments would have existing law enforcement responsibilities and cooperative relation- ships would be sought. The Corps would have minimal existing support staff under this alternative, and the National Park Service would have six full-time and one part-time employee.	Facilities and offices would be near the river. Mainte- nance workload would in- crease. Law enforcement would continue to be pro- vided by existing state and federal authorities. Addi- tional NPS staffing would be required. The NPS would have eight full-time and six part-time employees.

Action	Alternative 1: Continuation of Existing Conditions (No Action)	Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3	Alternative 2: Resource Protection/Recreation (Preferred Alternative)	Alternative 3: Recreational Emphasis	
Resource Management	Natural: The National Park Service would en- courage property owners to conserve or restore lands and the ecosystem to their natural state. Na- tural resources would mostly be managed and protected by private prop- erty owners and state wildlife agencies because much of the habitat pro- tection work in the <i>Gen- eral Design Memorandum</i> has not been realized. Re- source management of threatened and endan- gered species would in- volve activities by the Corps, in consultation with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, the Na- tional Park Service, and Nebraska and South Dakota.	Natural: Implementation of all existing plans for the riv- er by federal, state, and local partners would continue. The managing agency and partners would cooperate in the inventory and monitor- ing of river-related resources and coordinate management of protection/ restoration and enhancement of biologic resources. Floodplains and adjacent wetlands would be protected to the greatest extent possible. Federal and state endangered and threat- ened species would continue to be protected in all areas under federal or state juris- diction.	Natural: The Missouri Riv- er would be protected and enhanced as a relatively na- tural ecosystem. Natural re- source management would act to preserve and protect wildlife, instream habitat, and the natural function of the river. Maintenance, protection, and enhancement of biologic values would be emphasized. Streambank protection to protect croplands and wildlife habitat is authorized and encouraged by the law. Floodplains, wetlands, and nesting sandbar islands would be inventoried and monitored. Federal and state-listed species would be further identified, protected, preserved, and enhanced.	Natural: Federal, state, and local groups would work together to manage natural resources and for protecting and enhancing biologic resources, but it would be less intensive than alternative 2. Empha- sis would be placed on offering opportunities for fishing, hunting, trapping, and nature study. Back- water areas and sandbars would be opened to recre- ational use. Situations that would jeopardize endan- gered species would be avoided. Significant re- sources would be inven- toried and monitored by the National Park Service and the Corps.	
	Cultural: The Corps' re- sponsibility would con- tinue to be limited to pro- tecting archeological re- sources on its own land. Private property owners and government agencies would continue to manage resources on their land, and minimal law enforce- ment would be available to reduce the minimal lev- els of looting or vandal- ism. Federal undertakings that could affect national register or national regis- ter eligible properties would be subject to sec- tion 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act. Future research would be limited to state historical societies and local his- torians.	Cultural: Cultural resources would be managed through cooperative efforts of prop- erty owners, public interest groups, local communities, and government agencies. The National Park Service, in cooperation with state historic preservation offi- cers, would identify cultural resources inside the bound- ary and evaluate their sig- nificance and integrity using national register criteria. The National Park Service would work with other agencies and local communities to help ensure cultural re- sources were identified and protected during develop- ment of new or enlarged facilities.	Cultural: Management ac- tivities would emphasize the history and culture of the river and its surroundings. Local cooperative resource protection efforts would be used for protecting cultural resources. When personnel and funding were available, the National Park Service could offer technical as- sistance and financial incen- tives. Sites vulnerable to damage should be stabilized and artifacts inventoried and collected as appropriate. Re- search programs such as oral histories and archeological excavations would be used for resource protection.	Cultural: Cultural resource management would be focused largely on interpretation of historic resources, balanced with protection of significant sites. Significant cultural resources would be inven- toried, evaluated, and mon- itored to protect them during increased visitor recreational activities. Pub- lic education, site docu- mentation and stabilization, and development of miti- gating measures would be used to prevent damage to sites in high visitor use areas.	

Action	Alternative 1: Continuation of Existing Conditions (No Action)	Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3	Alternative 2: Resource Protection/Recreation (Preferred Alternative)	Alternative 3: Recreational Emphasis
Visitor Use and Interpretation	The visitor experience would be limited to activi- ties and interpretation cur- rently available on the river; interpretation and information would con- tinue to be available through publications from local tourism and eco- nomic development of- fices; visitor use would remain primarily local, with a modest increase in visitation. Boating, fish- ing, hunting, and trapping would not be expected to change from current levels.	Visitors would have oppor- tunities to learn about and enjoy the significance and history of the recreational river. The primary goal of interpretive programming would be to offer an educa- tional and recreational experience that would lead to visitor enjoyment and protection of the resources. Primary interpretive themes would serve as guidelines for describing the resources and significance of the river. The managing agency would act to avoid or mitigate dam- age or would control and regulative excessive use of resources.	Same as Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3.	A range of recreational and public use opportunities would be offered beyond what is now available. In- terpretation would empha- size all the river's natural, cultural, and recreational themes. Interpretation ser- vices could be provided within and outside the river boundary. Current use of the river would continue.
Boundary	The boundary would be the same as that described in the 1978 legislation.	The boundary would be the downstream end of the Gavins Point Dam excavated discharge channel (downstream boundary of the Lewis and Clark Project), 59 miles downstream to Ponca State Park, Nebraska. Lands would be acquired only if it becomes necessary for resource protection or if they are needed for recreational facilities.	Same as Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3.	Same as the preferred alternative.

Action	Alternative 1: Continuation of Existing Conditions (No Action)	Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3	Alternative 2: Resource Protection/Recreation (Preferred Alternative)	Alternative 3: Recreational Emphasis
Assistance on Adjacent Land Outside the Boundary	No direct assistance to local entities would be provided by federal agencies. The section 1135 program of the Water Resources Development Act would provide for technical assistance and funding for restoring habitat lost as a result of a Corps project.	For the most part, roads and overlooks would be outside the river boundary to obtain elevated views of the river landscape. Assistance would be provided to local govern- ments and property owners only when requested or by consent. The Corps would provide several opportuni- ties for land protection and/or restoration under certain conditions. The section 1135 program of the Water Resources Develop- ment Act would provide for technical assistance and funding for restoring habitat lost as a result of a Corps project.	Same as Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3.	In addition to the actions identified in the "Actions Common to Alternatives 2 and 3, local entities would be encouraged to foster the development of tour routes and scenic overlooks along the river. The National Park Service would work cooperatively with local governments to provide more sites for visitors to learn about the history of the river and the region. The NPS might assist with planning of scenic roads outside the boundary.

Торіс	Alternative 1: No Action	Alternative 2: Preferred Alternative	Alternative 3: Recreational Emphasis
Natural Resources	There would be no expected im- pacts on geologic processes or fea- tures, physiography, paleontological resources, or mineral extraction activity. Impacts on prime and unique farmland would continue at a slow rate. Soil erosion would con- tinue. Damage to natural resources would likely increase. Wildlife populations and habitat could be impacted. Continuation of existing MNRR programs under the old GMP would not adversely affect threatened and endangered species. Maintenance of existing structures for streambank erosion could continue. New structures could be built by the Corps of Engineers (COE). Impacts on water, air, and noise would be negligible.	There would be no expected impacts on geologic processes or features, physiography, paleontological resources, or mineral extraction activity. A beneficial impact would occur on prime and unique farmland. Soil loss from riverbank erosion and some agricultural practices would continue; proposals would have long- term beneficial effects on preserving remnants of native vegetation; fish and wildlife populations should benefit from proposed actions. Increased efforts to maintain native plant condi- tions and monitor recreational use would benefit bald eagles, terns, and plovers. Maintenance of existing struc- tures for streambank erosion could continue. New structures could be built by the COE on donated wildlife habitat easements as funding per- mitted. Wetland and floodplain protection would be improved. There would be no effects on water, air, or noise. Specific conditions would be met to avoid direct, indirect, and cumulative impacts associated with new boat ramps.	There would be no expected impacts on geologic processes or features, physiography, paleontological re- sources, or mineral extraction activity. No impact on prime and unique farmland would result. Existing impacts on soils would continue as described under alternative 1. Trends of declining native vegetation would probably be stabilized, but active improvement of native vegetation from restoration projects would be less likely than from alternative 2. Wildlife and habitats would be protected with more emphasis on sport hunting and fishing. Threatened and endangered species would not be adversely af- fected. Wetland and floodplain protec- tion would generally be improved. Maintenance of existing structures would continue. Increasing the number of summer homes and cabins along the river might increase the demand for streambank protection. The preservation of the natural appear- ance of the river would be positively enhanced.
Cultural Resources	Lack of coordinated management and funding would result in limited adverse effects, mostly from neglect. Because of unknown future development along the rivers, im- pacts on cultural resources cannot be predicted. Historic resources would continue to be protected under public and private steward- ship; however, they could be ad- versely affected by neglect, changes in demographics, and inappropriate development and visitor use. Prehis- toric resource could be negatively impacted from inappropriate uses, undirected recreational activities, development, and continued lack of agency personnel and funding. There is potential for adverse impacts on ethnographic resources.	Cooperative efforts among agencies and local citizens to identify and pro- tect resources would benefit cultural resources. Historic resources would benefit from added community and agency attention, but unless funding was available, historic resources would suffer. Prehistoric resources would be protected, and interpretation of selected sites would be beneficial. However, if funding and staff were lacking, resources could be adversely impacted. Ethnographic resources would benefit.	Generally, resources would benefit from greater interpretation and pres- ervation information if staffing and funding were available to adequately meet program needs. New develop- ment and increases in recreational use could adversely impact historic re- sources, but this impact largely would be mitigated from added community and agency attention. If funding and staffing were available to implement programs, more intensive management would help prevent most adverse impacts on prehistoric resources. Effects on ethnographic resources would be the same as alternative 2.

Торіс	Alternative 1: No Action	Alternative 2: Preferred Alternative	Alternative 3: Recreational Emphasis
Visitor Use and Interpretation	Scarce interpretation would result in minimal knowledge and enjoyment of the river by many visitors. There would be no change to the current river experiences for visitors; how- ever, construction of new boat ramps or other visitor use facilities would not be precluded in this alternative. Occasional crowded conditions might exist on peak days. Current management of visitor use would continue, although additional studies would still be done if needed. Site-specific environmental compliance regarding visitor use would be done if future construction warranted.	Water-based visitor use would remain the same while land-based use could increase slightly for a small net visitor use increase. The quality of river ex- periences would not change signifi- cantly; visitors would benefit from the opportunity to attend, participate in, and learn from interpretive programs. An increase in visitor use management tasks could be required.	More recreational activities and interpretive programming would create more visitor enjoyment and understanding of the river's values. The addition of more land-based recreational facilities would increase the land-based visitor use and could be significant at the regional level. There would be no increase in water-based visitor use because the boat ramps would be designed to redistribute existing visitor use. Additional site- specific visitor use monitoring could be conducted in conjunction with construction, if cost-share sponsors were interested in such construction and if the construction moved forward. Visitor use would be monitored to manage visitor use so that the values for which the MNRR was designated would not be impacted. Land-based visitor use management methods, such as increased law enforcement, visitor education, etc., and monitoring of land-based and river-based visitor use would be necessary.
Socioeconomic Resources	There would be an unknown but probably slight benefit on the regional economy. There would be no impacts on land use, property owners, and regional populations. Unknown but minor beneficial net effects would occur on county expenses and revenues. A minor beneficial increase in employment opportunities would probably occur.	There would be an unknown but probably measurable benefit for the regional economy. No local impact would occur on land use, property owners, and regional population. A net adverse effect on county government through the demand for county service would occur. Some employment options would be decreased if land acquisition resulted in larger holdings. Other employment options would increase with increased development and with management and operation of the recreational river and with in- creased demand for services. There would be an unknown but probably minor increase in employment opportunities.	There would be a modest benefit on the regional economy. Land use, property owners, and the regional population would be affected the same way as described under alternative 2. The net effect on county expenses and revenues would probably be minor. There would be an unknown but probably minor increase in employment opportunities.

Affected Environment



BRIEF DESCRIPTION OF THE RIVERWAY

The Missouri River is considered the longest river in the United States, if one includes its tributary streams in Montana. The river shared with the Oregon Trail and the Santa Fe Trail the distinction of being one of the three main thoroughfares to the far west. In early historic times, it was a wild and unpredictable river that transported tons of freight.

The river is now harnessed in its upper and middle reaches by a series of multipurpose dams and reservoirs. In its lower reaches, the river has been further tamed by channelization. The 59-mile segment of the Missouri River from Gavins Point Dam in South Dakota to Ponca State Park in Nebraska is one of the few remaining reaches that is unchannelized and undammed, providing a remnant of the original free-flowing Missouri. This segment of the river has been designated as a national recreational river because of the remarkable natural and cultural values that are worthy of preservation.

Natural features along the corridor include two large wooded islands, wooded Nebraska bluffs, and views of wide expanses of water with sandbars and steep or gentle riverbanks. The two large high-bank islands (James River Island and Goat Island) are covered by dense cottonwood and dogwood stands and are rare for the present day Missouri River. The 300- to 400-foot high Nebraska bluffs are outstanding because they are an uncommon topographic feature in the surrounding landscape. Due to the river's action, some of the bluffs have eroded into sheer cliffs. The soil and subsoil show up clearly in brown, yellow, and gray horizontal layers.

NATURAL RESOURCES

Along the Missouri River from Gavins Point Dam downstream to the Missouri state line, researchers have found that in the time since dam construction and channelization, deciduous vegetation has decreased 41%, wetlands by 39%, sandbars by 97%, and grasslands by 12%. Cultivated land meanwhile increased 43 fold in a 90-year period. The fish community has declined 80% from its 1940 level. Endangered and threatened species such as the interior least tern, piping plover, bald eagle, and pallid sturgeon all use the river.

This section of the Missouri River is one of only two sections that reveal the original appearance of the middle Missouri River. The native plants and animals are still quite plentiful. There are species from at least 27 families of plants, 17 families of mammals, 29 families of birds, 10 families of reptiles and amphibians, 15 families of fishes, and 45 families of insects in the corridor (COE 1980). Preservation of the river setting would provide the opportunity to see the river similar to what it once was throughout its significant history.

GEOLOGY, PHYSIOGRAPHY, AND PALEONTOLOGY

The northern high plains region is based on rocks of marine origin generally lying at the surface. The adjacent land along the river is characterized by gently sloping bluffs to the north and steep, dissected bluffs rising sharply from the floodplain on the south. The oldest rocks of the area are the bluff forming, chalky limestone of the Niobrara Formation and the shales of the Pierre Formation. These accumulated in shallow seas that occupied the western interior of North America between 85 and 65 million years ago as the Mesozoic Era drew to a close.

These older deposits are covered in places with deposits of streams, wind, and glaciers over the last 5 to 10 million years. The project area is situated between the glaciated and unglaciated portions of the Missouri Plateau in the Great Plains Province of the Interior Plains. According to scientists, the river's course marks the terminus of the southern advance of the Mankato Substage of the Wisconsin glaciation period in the region. The wide floodplain of the Missouri River consists of sandy soils deposited by the river since the Pleistocene.

Field study of the Missouri River environs by paleontologists has been sporadic following 19th century expeditions. Marine strata of the Niobrara and Pierre formations that make up the Nebraska bluffs have yielded fish and mollusk fossils and occasionally a specimen of a marine vertebrate. There has been no systematic search for such remains by any institution. The known fossil sites of younger age are nearly all gravel pits where small but significant collections of Pleistocene vertebrates have been obtained. Only four sites known from the scientific literature occur in this area of the Missouri National Recreational River.

Mineral Resources

The main mineral-related activity in the project area is the extraction of building materials, including sand, gravel, clay, and chalk. These deposits are generally in the bluffs along the river. There are many active and abandoned extraction sites along the Missouri River.

Small coal and peat deposits are present in Dixon County, Nebraska, but no hardrock mining or coal mining has been done in the project area. There are no active oil and gas fields anywhere in the project

area. Exploratory wells were drilled in the past, but none were commercially successful. There is no indication of renewed industry interest in the project area.

VEGETATION

Natural vegetation along the river is composed primarily of two major plant communities, the floodplain forest of willow and cottonwood, and the elm and oak woodland typical of the bluffs that border the floodplain in Nebraska.

Varying stages of floodplain vegetative succession are evident throughout the project area. On the sandbars and newly deposited accretion land adjacent to the riverbanks grow the pioneer species of floodplain succession: annual weeds, short-lived grasses, sedges, and seedling willow and cottonwood. Farther back and higher above the water table, larger willow and cottonwood trees dominate until finally a floodplain forest of cottonwoods occurs on the highest banks and islands. The understory in the mature cottonwood forest is primarily dogwood, sumac, wild grape, and poison ivy. Much of the mature cottonwood forest on the high banks adjacent to the river has been replaced with pasture and cultivated cropland, though remnant groves remain. The two large islands also support substantial groves of mature vegetation. Riparian vegetation has been severely reduced by clearing for agriculture. Over one-half of that remaining is forested, dominated by cottonwood with lower densities of green ash, slippery elm, red cedar, Russian olive, mulberry, and box elder. The sparse vegetation under the mature cottonwoods consists mostly of scouring rush, Kentucky bluegrass, smooth brome, and switchgrass. Riparian grasslands along the river are dominated by Kentucky bluegrass, smooth brome, and other invasive grass and weeds. Agricultural conversion of wetlands and riparian forest has eliminated over 60% of the natural areas within 0.6 mile of the river (Clapp 1977).

In contrast to mixed floodplain forest and agricultural use on the floodplain are the hardwood forests of the adjoining bluffs. There are several places where the river flows at the base of the bluffs. The slopes support a dense growth of oak, ash, mulberry, and walnut, with burr oak as the dominant species. Where grazing has been limited, there is a good understory shrub layer with such species as dogwood and sumac. This hardwood forest is dominant on the north-facing slopes and in the many draws and ravines of the bluffs. Near the hilltops where soil moisture is less abundant and where there is a south or west exposure, the forest is replaced by native grass mixed with yucca.

Sand dune habitat is interspersed between the other plant communities in the river corridor. The Elk Point dunes are white, undulating sandhills that rise up to 20 feet. Distribution of vegetation in these areas is variable. Sand dunes include areas with no vegetation, areas with considerable grass and forb cover, and areas with tall cottonwoods only or with tall cottonwoods and an understory of willows, cottonwood saplings, or alfalfa.

There are sandbars in or adjacent to the river that are essentially unvegetated. Sandbars provide important resting areas for migrating waterfowl, feeding locations for breeding shorebirds, and important breeding sites for piping plovers and least terns.

Cultivation of the fertile floodplains began in earnest with the populating of Nebraska and South Dakota or "the region" in the late 1800s. Thousands of acres of floodplain forest were cleared and prairies were mowed, grazed, and plowed for crops. The construction of dams, dikes, and streambank protection eventually provided some control of the river and furthered the conversion of native vegetation to domestic crops.

AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT

Plant communities were mapped for the project area using Geographic Information System (GIS) technology with data provided by the Nebraska Natural Resource Commission and the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service National Wetlands Inventory. The plant communities include agricultural lands, upland forest, and floodplain forest. The woody draws, cottonwood forest floodplains, and remnant prairie patches are among the best of the last large river natural resources remaining in conjunction with a free-flowing reach of the Missouri River.

Leafy spurge and spotted knapweed are widely distributed in the project area and are designated as noxious weeds by the state of Nebraska. Purple loosestrife is not designated as a noxious weed but is spreading rapidly and threatening wildlife habitat on the Missouri River. It forms dense stands on several hundred acres of wetlands found on the bottomlands and islands. Hybrid cattails are widespread in wetlands along the river. Eastern red cedar, a native tree, is spreading into grassland and developing dense thickets due to suppression of prairie fires. In the uplands, other woody species besides red cedar are also encroaching into native grassland, including green ash, slippery elm, and smooth sumac. Smooth brome is widespread in both the uplands and in the bottomlands, and Russian olive has invaded many of the shrubland and bottomland forests, especially those subject to heavy grazing (COE 1991b and 1994).

SOILS

The recreational river boundary contains land in Cedar and Dixon Counties, Nebraska, and Yankton, Clay, and Union Counties, South Dakota. Soil surveys have been completed for Nebraska and for Yankton and Union Counties, South Dakota (SCS 1979). The soil survey for Clay County, South Dakota, is being updated.

The soils vary from level and nearly level silty and clayey soils on the floodplains of the Missouri River and its terraces to undulating to steep loamy and clayey soils on uplands. Most soil types are moderately to well drained. The Sansarc soil series consists of shallow, well-drained soils formed in residual material from clayey shale on the breaks of the Missouri River. The Inavale soil series consists of deep, somewhat excessively drained soil formed in sandy riverwash material on the Missouri River. The silty clay soils on the Missouri River floodplain are deep and poorly drained, such as those in old oxbows. Most of these areas support native vegetation and are used as wildlife habitat.

PRIME AND UNIQUE FARMLAND

Prime farmland, one of several kinds of important farmlands defined by the U.S. Department of Agriculture, is land that is best suited to growing food, feed, forage, fiber, and oilseed crops. It may be cultivated land, pasture, woodland, or other land, but it is not urban or built-up land.

The project area is primarily rural. Agriculture plays an important role in the overall economy. Primary agricultural products include cattle, hogs, corn, oats, soybeans, and alfalfa.

The croplands and rangeland plant communities include a range of cover types such as row crops, alfalfa fields, mixed-grass prairie, wet-mesic prairie, and tallgrass prairie, as well as both grazed and hayed areas.

FISH AND WILDLIFE

Fisheries are significant though somewhat degraded. Habitat on the Missouri River between Gavins Point Dam and Ponca State Park is more typical of an unchannelized, natural river conditions than reaches farther downstream. Native fish in this Missouri River segment are relatively productive and include sauger (*Stizostedion canadense*), carp (*Cyprinus carpio*), channel catfish (*Ictalurus punctatus*), goldeye (*hiodon alosoides*), shovelnose sturgeon (*Scaphirhynchus platorynchus*), gizzard shad (*Drosoma cepedianum*), river carpsucker (*Carpiodes carpio*), and a naturally reproducing population of paddlefish. This reach is one of the recovery-priority areas for the pallid sturgeon. Other common species in the Missouri River include shorthead redhorse (*Moxostoma macrolepidotum*), freshwater drum (*Aplodinotus grunniens*), and gar (*Lepisosteidae*).

The native river fishes have declined due to migration blockage, loss of habitat, change in habitat, and competition from new species that have taken advantage of the changes, all primarily due to the river regulation effects of the mainstem dams. These regulatory practices have resulted in a less turbid river and an annual cycle of riverflows (hydrograph) that causes lower than normal river elevations during critical months for fish breeding. The mainstem and tributary reservoirs are used to store spring runoff that is released in late summer and fall. Since this is a reversal of the natural hydrograph, life cycles of plants, nesting birds, aquatic insects, and fish are adversely affected. No peaking of Gavins Point releases at the level for power production has been done for many years. In some years, it has been necessary to peak a few thousand cfs one day in three to prevent lest terns and piping plovers from nesting at low elevations. Releases on the two down days are increased to the peak release in mid to late summer to support navigation flows.

The mainstem dams have controlled flooding, and development has encroached into the old erosion zone near the river, where habitat was best for fish and wildlife. The forest-grassland community has been slowly replaced by agriculture, industry, and private dwellings. From its headwaters in Montana to the mouth at St. Louis, the Missouri River has lost 4.4 million acres of fish and wildlife habitat in this manner. It is estimated that 475 million pounds of annual fish production has been lost since the dams and channelization were completed. Their decline is an indication of changes from the natural Missouri River ecosystem, such as the loss of snags and organic matter, two features vital to aquatic habitats.

Wildlife is plentiful in and along the Missouri River, but types of wildlife have changed since the settling of the West. A recent survey of the area identified 48 species of mammals. Small mammals, including mice, voles, bats, moles, rats, and ground squirrels, made up roughly 60% of the species. Furbearers contributed another 20%. White-tailed deer (*Odocoileus virginianus*) and mule deer (*Odocoileus hemionus*) are the only large mammals in the project area; white-tailed deer may be found throughout the length of the water project. Coyote (*Canis latrans*), red fox (*Vulpes vulpes*), and badger (*Taxidea taxus*) are common. Other small fur-bearing animals include raccoon (*Procyon lotor*), mink (*Mustela vison*), weasel (*Mustelidae*), muskrat (*Ondatra zibethicus*), opossum (*Didelphis virginiana*), striped skunk (*Mephitis mephitis*), Plains spotted skunk (*Spilogale putorius interrupta*), beaver (*Castor candensis*), rabbit, (*Sylvilagus floridanus*), and bobcat (*Felis rufus*).

For mammals as well as reptiles, the species composition has not changed significantly from early historic times, except for the loss of grizzly bear (*Ursus arctos*) and large herbivores like buffalo (*Bison bison*) and elk (*Cervus elaphus*). The community makeup, however, has been affected by land use changes.

The river corridor is home year-round for 25 bird species. An additional 58 species commonly nest in the area, while another 15 species are common winter residents. Over 115 species regularly use the corridor on their spring migration and 110 return through the area during their fall migration. The

Missouri River ecosystem is a significant pathway for migratory birds. Migrating species benefit from bottomland, which serves as wintering, feeding, breeding, and staging grounds. There has been relatively little change in the diversity of the bird community from the historic past, although loss of habitat has affected numbers.

The river and island complexes are important wildlife habitat. The chutes and backwater areas of islands provide feeding, resting, and breeding areas for waterbirds and furbearers.

THREATENED AND ENDANGERED SPECIES

The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service has determined that eight species that are protected under provisions of the Endangered Species Act of 1973 (as amended) could be affected by the proposed action for the Missouri National Recreational River. The peregrine falcon (*Falco peregrinus*), whooping crane (*Grus americana*), interior least tern (*Sterna antillarum*), Eskimo curlew (*Numenius borealis*) pallid sturgeon (*Scaphirhynchus albus*), black-footed ferret (*Mustela Nigripes*) and American burying beetle (*Nicrophorus americanus*) are listed as endangered. The piping plover (*Charadrius melodus*), bald eagle (*Haliaeetus leucocephalus*), western prairie fringed orchid (*Platanthera praeclara*), and prairie white-fringed orchid (*Platanthera leucophaea*) are classified as threatened. Eskimo curlew, black-footed ferret, and prairie white-fringed orchid occurring within the project area is not probable (see appendix E).

Potential rare species areas were determined using GIS technology in consultation with South Dakota Game, Fish and Parks and Nebraska Game and Parks biologists. These areas could provide habitat for 71 identified rare, threatened, or endangered species, both federal and state. Species were identified and noted if they were known to be or had a strong potential to be in the project area. These species were then assigned a probability of occurrence within each of the 17 general plant communities. Individual community rankings were then computer-generated to map high value areas.

Peregrine Falcon

Peregrine falcons are generally associated with wetlands and open areas, such as cropland and grassland. Peregrine falcons almost always nest on steep cliffs more than 150 feet high and close to water. They feed almost exclusively on birds captured in flight in areas such as woodlands, marshes, and open grasslands (COE 1994).

The wintering habitat of the peregrine falcon is poorly understood and no nesting or wintering activity has been documented in recent times. Some adults remain near the nest cliff year-round; others move from their northernmost breeding grounds during the winter to forage farther south. Most observations in South Dakota and Nebraska are of peregrine falcons migrating in late April, early May, September, and October (USFWS 1995).

Whooping Crane

Whooping cranes are sometimes seen in South Dakota and Nebraska during spring and fall migrations. They can be found in cropland and pasture, wet meadows, and shallow marshes. They use shallow portions of rivers, lakes, reservoirs, and stock ponds. Both freshwater and alkaline basins are used for feeding and resting. They roost in shallow water. Nearby Boyd, Knox, and Charles Mix Counties are on the eastern edge of the whooping crane migration corridor. No sightings have been confirmed within the 59-mile segment of the Missouri River. Whooping cranes migrate through South Dakota and Nebraska between October 1 and December 1 in the fall and March 15 and May 15 in the spring. The *Whooping Crane Recovery Plan* was revised in 1986 (USFWS) and describes actions needed to ensure their survival and aid their recovery.

Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover

The interior least tern nests on sparsely vegetated sandbars or shoreline areas that provide unobstructed visibility in a wide channel. The size of nesting sandbars varies from under 1 acre to many acres. Varying riverflows affect the size and quality of nesting habitat. The primary nesting period for this species is from early May to late August. About 10% of all terns (anywhere) nest along the Missouri between Ft. Peck Reservoir, Montana, and Ponca, Nebraska. The remaining short, free-flowing stretches of river, including the Missouri segment below Gavins Point Dam to Ponca State Park, provide the primary sandbar nesting habitat for terns. Forty-three percent of the Missouri River tern population nests in the 59-mile segment of the recreational river.

Terns select nest sites away from the water's edge and at high elevations when sufficient habitat is available. Most terns nest in areas where there is less than 5% vegetative cover and where the cover is only a few inches tall. The least tern eats primarily fish, feeding in shallow waters of rivers, streams, and lakes.

Least tern populations have declined as a result of alterations of habitat (USFWS 1994). Channelization and construction of reservoirs and pools have contributed greatly to the elimination of much of the tern's sandbar nesting habitat; 76% of the Missouri River within the tern's range is either channelized or impounded.

Current regulation of dam discharge poses additional problems for terns. Reservoirs have controlled the flows that scour sandbars. River main stem reservoirs now trap much of the sediment load, which results in less aggradation and more degradation of the riverbed and, subsequently, less sandbars. Predation of chicks, disturbance by people and domestic pets, trampling by grazing cattle, and flooding during the nesting season are other factors that have contributed to population decline. The *Interior Population of the Least Tern (Sterna antillarum) Recovery Plan* (USFWS 1990) describes actions planned to return the species to nonendangered status throughout its range.

The Corps has developed an implementation plan intended to increase numbers of birds, their fledging ratios, to manage flows to avoid impacting nests, to increase public awareness, and to increase the acres of suitable nesting habitat. In addition, during high-flow years, the Corps has initiated the collection of eggs and chicks for rearing in an incubation setting at the Lewis and Clark Lake Project Office.

The national recreational river provides important nesting and chick-rearing habitat for the Missouri River population of least terns, with 31% of the total adult birds systemwide (including the Missouri River reservoirs) being found within the national recreational river (based on surveys over the past 12 years). Numbers of adult least terns varies annually within Missouri River segments. Numbers of adult terns from 1986–1997 have averaged 183, ranging from 80 in 1997 to 272 in 1993 (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 1996 and 1997). Numbers of adult birds are linked to the amount of sandbar habitat available, which is correlated with the amount of water in the Missouri River (which consists of discharges from Gavins Point Dam combined with the discharges from the James, Big Sioux, and Vermillion Rivers). For example, in 1993, discharges from Gavins Point dam were reduced to as low as 6,000 cfs in order to reduce the inflow of water to downstream portions of the Missouri River which

AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT

were flooding. In 1997, releases were as high as 70,000 cfs to reduce the amount of water stored in upstream reservoirs so those reservoirs could accept the record inflow from snowmelt.

In 1991 there was an international plover census (Haig and Plissner 1992). There are three historic breeding ranges (Northern Great Plains, Great Lakes, and Atlantic Coast). The Northern Great Plains population, which nests on wetlands and riverine systems, numbers approximately 2,500. Thirty-four percent of the Missouri River piping plover population nests in the 59-mile segment of the recreational river. On riverine systems, plovers usually nest in association with terns.

The piping plover nests on sparsely vegetated sandbars, sand and gravel shorelines of rivers, and alkali wetlands. The amount and distribution of nesting site vegetation affects plover habitat and reproductive success. Studies suggest that plovers select a higher nest site when available, and that birds select sites away from the water's edge as well as being relatively high above the water (USFWS 1994). The primary nesting period is from early May to late August.

The MNRR provides important nesting and chick-rearing habitat for piping plovers within the Missouri River system, with 29% of the adult birds systemwide being found within the MNRR (based on combined data from surveys over the past 12 years). Numbers of adult piping plovers in the MNRR from 1986–1997 have averaged 115 adult birds, ranging from 22 in 1997 to 212 in 1988 (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, 1996 and 1997). Numbers of plovers are also related to the amount of sandbar habitat in the river, but not as much as for least terns, since piping plovers also regularly nest on the prairie couteau in the Dakotas, and are found on gravel pits and reservoir shoreline areas more so than the least terns.

Nesting habitats on the Missouri River typically are dry sandbars located midstream in wide, open channels and with less than 25% vegetative cover. These conditions provide the essential requirements of wide visibility, protection from terrestrial predators, isolation from human disturbance, and sufficient protection from rises in river levels. The optimum range for vegetative cover on nesting habitat has been estimated at 0%–10%, and the majority of the plovers nest where vegetation is less than 10 centimeters tall (USFWS 1994). Open, wet, sandy areas provide feeding habitat for plovers. Forage areas include the nesting island and adjacent sandbar flats.

The reasons for decline of the piping plover are basically the same as the least tern: alterations of habitat resulting in elimination of sandbars, altered flow regimes, predation, and disturbance by humans. Actions to ensure long-term stability and survival of piping plovers that would lead to their removal from the endangered species list are described in the *Great Lakes and Northern Great Plains Piping Plover Recovery Plan* (USFWS 1988).

Pallid Sturgeon

The pallid sturgeon is a large native river fish found in the Missouri River and the lower reaches of major tributaries. The recreational river may contain some of the most significant habitat for potential natural reproduction of the sturgeon between the Yellowstone River in Montana and Ponca State Park. The *Pallid Sturgeon Recovery Plan* (USFWS 1993) identified the area below Gavins Point Dam to the confluence with the Mississippi River as one of four areas on the Missouri River for priority implementation of recovery actions.

Pallid sturgeon are well adapted to life on the bottom in swift waters of large, turbid, free-flowing rivers. The floodplain, backwaters, chutes, sloughs, islands, sandbars, and main channel waters that

form the diverse river ecosystem provide the habitat requirements for pallid sturgeon and other native large-river fish, such as paddlefish, lake sturgeon, blue sucker, and various river chubs.

Destruction and alteration of habitat by human modification of the river system is believed to be the primary cause of decline in reproduction, growth, and survival of pallid sturgeon (USFWS N.d.). The physical and chemical elements of channel morphology, flow regime, water temperature, sediment transport, turbidity, and nutrient input all once functioned to provide habitat for pallid sturgeon and other native species. On the main stem of the Missouri River, approximately 36% of riverine habitat within the pallid sturgeon's range was transformed from river to lake habitat by construction of six dams and another 40% of the river downstream of dams has been channelized. The remaining 24% of the habitat has been altered due to changes in water temperature and flow caused by dam operations. The Missouri River dams also are believed to have adversely affected pallid sturgeon by blocking migration routes and by inundating spawning and nursery areas.

Western Prairie Fringed Orchid

The western prairie fringed orchid is usually found in tallgrass calcareous silt loam or subirrigated sand prairie. There are orchids in Hall, Lancaster, Otoe, Sarpy, Seward, and Cherry Counties in Nebraska. In South Dakota the orchid historically was found in wet meadows in the Big Sioux Valley in Minnehaha County, South Dakota. Although the orchid is not known to grow now in South Dakota, potential habitat does exist, so it may be present in South Dakota.

American Burying Beetle

The American burying beetle has recently been collected (1993 and 1994) in Dawson, Lincoln, Keya Paha, and Cherry Counties in Nebraska. Beetle habitat is not clearly defined, but recent captures suggest the possibility of riparian woodlands, wetland forest, mixed agricultural land (including pastures and mowed fields), and grassland. Historic locations for the beetle in South Dakota include Haakon, Union, and Brookings Counties. There may be beetles on some of the older wooded islands, but none have been confirmed.

The beetle is attracted to carrion anywhere in South Dakota or Nebraska that has significant humus and topsoil suitable for the burying of carrion, on which it is dependent for food. The beetle is one of the largest of its kind and is a strong flier, which enables it to move great distances in search of its prey.

Bald Eagle

Bald eagles use mature riparian forested areas near streams and lakes. The large cottonwood trees along the Missouri River have reached their maturity and are beginning to degenerate. Eagles depend on these trees for nesting, perching, and roosting. Cottonwood regeneration has been almost nonexistent due, in part, to the preclusion of natural overbank flooding along the Missouri River. Ultimately, successional changes lead to replacement of cottonwoods by smaller climax species, such as green ash. Destruction of wild areas through development and increased human activity are adversely affecting the suitability of both breeding and wintering areas.

Although most of the mature floodplain forest has been dramatically reduced since settlement (Bragg and Tatschl 1977), the floodplain along most of the flowing reaches has sufficiently large cottonwood trees for nesting. Three major areas of mature cottonwood forest remaining on the Missouri River in

AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT

South Dakota are known to support wintering populations of bald eagles, including portions of the recreational river, particularly in the Yankton/James River Island area. Bald eagle wintering habitat was identified in a U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service report (USFWS 1986). Nineteen areas were identified as being known wintering areas or having potential as wintering areas.

Migrating and wintering bald eagles may be found in South Dakota and Nebraska from November 1 to April 1. The eagles feed on fish and weak or injured waterfowl near the open tailwaters downstream from Gavins Point Dam. Actions to ensure long-term stability and survival of the bald eagle in the northern recovery region are described in the *Northern States Bald Eagle Recovery Plan* (USFWS 1983).

CANDIDATE SPECIES AND SPECIES OF CONCERN

Table 5 lists species for which current information indicates that listing by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service as threatened or endangered may be appropriate, but for which conclusive data on biological vulnerability and threat are not available. It is NPS policy (but not Corps policy) to give these species the same consideration and protection as federally listed species. An example of a candidate species is the paddlefish, whose populations have decreased throughout its range (Hesse et al. 1993).

WATER RESOURCES

Surface Hydrology

The Missouri River in the project area is still in a relatively natural state. It is the only river segment downstream of Gavins Point Dam that has not been channelized by dikes and revetments. It is characterized by a wide, meandering channel with shifting sandbars and subsidiary channels.

The river has seven principal aquatic habitats: the main channel, main channel border, sandbar, pool, chute, backwater, and marsh. The sandbar, backwater, and marsh habitats are especially threatened. These habitats are extremely productive and dynamic, and are not duplicated in the channelized or impounded segments of the river.

Hydroelectric power production does not determine the magnitude of the Gavins Point release. The limited storage capacity of Lewis and Clark lake ensures that Fort Randall Dam releases are passed through Gavins Point Dam within two to three days. Gavins Point smooths the peaking releases normally made from Fort Randall. The Gavins Point release is determined by system storage and the severity of downstream flooding , not the Fort Randall release. It is also the focal point for controlling uniform riverflows on the open Missouri and contributes significantly to navigation.

Common Name (Scientific Name)	FEDERAL	NEBRASKA	South Дакота
Vertebrates — Birds		Status	Status
Bald eagle (Haliaeetus leucocephalus)	Т	ST	SE
Black tern (Chlidonias niger)	Of concern		
Cerulean warbler (Dendroica cerulea)	Of concern		
Eskimo curlew (Numenius borealis)	Е	SE	SE
Ferruginus hawk (Buteo regalis)	Of concern		
Interior least tern (Sterna antillarum athalassas)	Е	SE	SE
Loggerhead shrike (Lanius ludovicianus migrans)	Of concern		
Osprey (Pandion halieatus)			ST
Peregrine falcon (Falco peregrinus)	Е	SE	SE
Piping plover (Charadrius melodus)	Т	ST	ST
Western burrowing owl (Athene cunicularia hypugea)	Of concern		
Whooping crane (Grus americana)	Е	SE	SE
White-faced ibis (Plegadis chihi)	Of concern		
Vertebrates — Mammals			
Black bear (Ursus americanus)			ST
Black-footed ferret (Mustela nigripes)	Е	SE	SE
Mountain lion (Felis concolor)			ST
Plains spotted skunk (Spilogale putorius interrupta)	Of concern		
Northern river otter (Lutra canadensis)		SE	ST
Swift fox (Vulpes velox)	Of concern	ST	ST
Vertebrates — Fish			
Banded killifish (Fundulus diaphanus)			SE
Blacknose shiner (Notropis heterolepis)		ST	
Blue sucker (Cycleptus elongatus)	Of concern		
Central mudminnow (Umbra limi)			SE
Finescale dace (Phoxinus neogaeus)		ST	ST
Flathead chub (Platygobio gracilis)	Of concern		
Lake sturgeon (Acipenser fulvescens)	Of concern	ST	
Longnose sucker (Catostomus)			ST
Northern redbelly dace (Phoxinus eos)		ST	ST
Paddlefish (Polyodon spathula)	Of concern		
Pallid Sturgeon (Scaphirhynchus albus)	Е	SE	SE
Pearl dace (Margariscus margarita)		ST	SE
Plains minnow (Hybognathus placitus)	Of concern		

TABLE 5: FEDERAL AND STATE THREATENED, ENDANGERED, OR CANDIDATE SPECIES

			South
COMMON NAME (SCIENTIFIC NAME)	FEDERAL	NEBRASKA	ДАКОТА
Plains topminnow (Fundulus sciadicus)	Of concern		ST
Sicklefin chub (Macrhybopsis meeki)	Of concern		ST
Sturgeon chub (Macrhybopsis gelida)	Of concern		ST
Topeka shiner (Notropis tristis)	Of concern		
Troutperch (Percopsis omiscomaycus)			ST
Western silvery minnow (Hybognathus argyritis)	Of concern		
Vertebrates — Reptiles and Amphibians			
Blandings turtle (Emydoidea blandingii)	Of concern		ST
Eastern hognose snake (Heterodon platirhinos)			ST
False map turtle (Graptenys pseudogeographica)	Of concern		ST
Lined snake (Tropidoclonion lineatum)			ST
Northern redbelly snake (Storeria occipitomaculata)			ST
Spiny softshell (Apalone spinifera)			ST
Invertebrates — Freshwater Mussels			
Elktoe (Alasmidonta marginata)	Of concern		
Scaleshell (Leptodea leptodon)	Of concern		
Spectacle case pearly mussel (Cumberlandia monodonta)	Of concern		
Invertebrates — Insects			
American burying beetle (Nicrophorus americanus)	E	SE	
Plants			
Blowout penstemon (Penstemon haydenii)		SE	
Bulrush (Scirpus hallii)	Of concern		
Butterfly weed (Gaura neomexicana spp. coloradensis)		SE	
Prairie white-fringed orchid (Platanthera leucophaea)	Т		
Western prairie fringed orchid (Platanthera praeclara)	Т	ST	

T = Federal Threatened; E = Federal Endangered; ST = State Threatened; SE = State Endangered

The actual May through September Gavins Point releases for the 30-year period 1967 through 1996 average 33,500 cfs. The reservoir system first filled to normal operating levels in 1967. Output from the COE's Long Range Study (LRS) Model, which uses inflows dating from 1898 through 1993, shows that the May through September Gavins Point release would have averaged 33,400 cfs using the Corps; current water control plan guidelines (1997). The L.S. model results from the period of record data 1898 through 1993 compare favorably with the recent actual historical data 1967 through 1996 as far as Gavins Point average release data for May through September. Highest sustained Gavins Point releases have been 60,000 to 61,000 cfs from August through November in 1975 and 60,000 to 70,000 cfs from June through November 1997. The record November 1997 Gavins Point release of 70,000 cfs was to help evacuate the highest annual runoff in 100 years record, which was 48.7 million acre-feet, 197 percent of normal. Releases only averaged 8,000 cfs in August 1993 to help control the great Midwest Flood of 1993. The 100-year Gavins Point flood release is estimated to be 79,500 cfs.

The Corps of Engineers performs flow management of the river to accomplish purposes authorized by Congress. General guidelines for flow determinations are spelled out in the Corps' *Master Water Control Manual*, and system release plans are updated monthly depending on reservoir system storage, anticipated system inflows and multipurpose requirements. An annual operating plan is published each year, which forecasts intended operations assuming varying water conditions. Each fall, federal and state agencies, Indian tribes, the general public, and all others are invited to comment on a draft annual operating plan.

Management continues to be determined by the Corps of Engineers, primarily according to the *Master Water Control Manual* and the Corps' annual operating plans. Consultation with the National Park Service, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, and others occurs during the draft stages of the annual operating plan.

Wetlands

Thirteen lacustrine, palustrine, and riverine wetland community types were identified and mapped for the recreational river using USFWS National Wetlands Inventory data. The categories were further classified by the Nebraska Game and Parks Natural Heritage Program into wetland community types based on their habitat similarities and association with rare, threatened, and endangered species. The *Nebraska Wetlands Priority Plan* (1991), written by the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission in cooperation with Fish and Wildlife Service, identified this river segment as a wetland complex that qualified for acquisition consideration under provisions of the National Wetlands Priority Conservation Plan.

Backwater chutes, pools, and lakes were a part of the braided river channel created by erosion and sedimentation. Wetlands, created by changes in channel shape, were maintained by periodic flooding. Lack of flooding has changed the species composition of remaining wetlands.

Floodplains

The upper and lower sections of the Missouri River are influenced by the presence of the large dams and extensive riverflow regulation by the Army Corps of Engineers. The river bed has degraded in a number of areas leading to steeper banks, which in turn decreases bank stability. Eroded bank material contributes to the formation of mid-channel bars. Current erosion rates, deposition patterns, etc., reflect the river's attempt to adjust to the regulated flow regime. The floodplain along both sides of the river generally has substantial galleries and patches of large cottonwoods and associated species. In places, the floodplain forests extend up to 1 mile from the river. Cottonwoods are also commonly associated with several large islands within the free-flowing Missouri River segment.

Before portions of the Missouri River were channelized and impounded, it annually eroded portions of its floodplain (USFWS 1993). Most of this erosion has now stopped. Erosion was a natural function of the river system. Through erosion, inorganic sediments, organic matter, and large woody debris were introduced into the river. This material was essential to habitat dynamics and nutrient cycling. Such sediment and nutrient discharge are the raw materials for habitat development. Construction of dams eliminated 80% of this material.

The 100-year and 500-year floodplains were determined and mapped using GIS technology. Areas prone to flooding were mapped with data provided by the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission, in consultation with COE and NPS hydrologists. The flood-prone areas were then used to evaluate the

existing (alternative 1) boundary. Some potential sites for new facilities are located in the 100- and 500year floodplains.

The ordinary high water mark was interpreted from 1:24000 scale color aerial photography taken in October 1991. Vegetation patterns were the key indicator used; if there was no vegetation in a flow pattern, it was assumed to be inside the ordinary high water mark.

Water Quality

Water quality in the project area is generally good. Water quality measurements have been collected at Gavins Point Dam and Yankton, and data has been collected near the mouths of the two major tributaries, the James River and Vermillion River. Water released from Gavins Point Dam generally complies with the requirements listed in the Federal Water Pollution Control Administration's *Water Quality Criteria*, dated April 1, 1968. The inflows from the James and Vermillion Rivers have occasional high levels of fecal coliform bacteria; however, this is not expected to cause sufficient water quality degradation in the Missouri River to limit its use for primary contact recreation. Degrading point-source water quality influences are downstream of the study area near Sioux City, Iowa.

Selenium is found in eastern South Dakota. The Corps of Engineers did an analysis of the Missouri River water and sediment during 1992 in conjunction with a project to create habitat for interior least tern and piping plover. Sample sites included Niobrara, Nebraska, and Running Water, South Dakota, west of this segment. Results indicated that selenium amounts were below the limits set in state water quality standards and recommendations by the Environmental Protection Agency (EPA).

Dams caused the water of the Missouri River to become less turbid, or much clearer, by reducing natural sediment transport in the river. It is believed that high turbidity did not affect the primary energy source of the river, the erosion caused by main channel meandering, or the runoff from tributaries (Hesse et al. 1988).

Water quality standards established by both Nebraska and South Dakota require that the water be suitable for primary contact recreation and warmwater fish propagation. The standards can only be applied to controllable pollution sources. A possible major source, nonpoint agricultural land use, is not included. Contact recreation is not expected to be limited anywhere except possibly near the James and Vermillion Rivers.

AIR QUALITY

Air quality is an important resource that directly affects the visitor experience. The Clean Air Act (42 U.S.C. 7401 et. seq.) was amended in 1977 to preserve, protect, and enhance the air quality in national parks, wilderness areas, and other nationally significant areas. Under the act, the recreational river was designated as a class II clean air area. This means that moderate, well-planned industrial growth could be permitted near the recreational river as long as the class II maximum allowable increases for particulate matter, sulfur dioxide, and nitrogen dioxide are not exceeded. The federal land manager (the assistant secretary of the interior for the U.S. Fish and Wildlife and Parks) and the National Park Service have the responsibility to protect the area's air quality-related values, including visibility, plants, animals, soils, water quality, cultural and historic objects and structures, and human health.

Congress amended the Clean Air Act again in 1990. The amendment retained and enhanced the park and wilderness provisions. Section 169A of the Clean Air Act established a national goal of preventing future and remedying existing visibility impairment that results from anthropogenic sources of air pollution.

Air quality in the project area is generally good. The project area is in the Nebraska Intrastate Air Quality Region. The project area is an attainment area for the National Ambient Air Quality Standards. The clean air and good visibility for scenic views are important values of the project area.

NOISE

Noise levels in the project area are varied, with relative tranquility in some areas, typical urban sounds in more developed areas near towns, and seasonal sounds of motorboats in other areas. The opportunity to experience a quiet, natural environment is part of the relatively primitive recreational experience that is valued on the recreational river.

CULTURAL RESOURCES

The cultural resources along the river require consideration in planning and resource management. Archeological, historic, and cultural landscape resources include places and objects that reflect and have meaning to past and present human cultures or that have important information about them. These tangible resources are nonrenewable; once their significant material aspects are gone, they are lost forever. Renewable ethnographic resources are associated with traditional human use and may include sacred sites and traditional use areas.

PREHISTORIC RESOURCES

This segment of the Missouri River lies at the juncture of several geographic, climatic, and environmental transition zones that include plains, prairies, and woodlands. For thousands of years this rich and varied topography, geology, animal life, and vegetation have provided opportunities for many different prehistoric Indian groups to hunt, gather, trade, and build settlements. The archeological remains of their tools and weapons, campsites and habitations, food, and religious and ceremonial objects provide clues to their lifestyles. Each of the prehistoric Indian groups adapted to the area and its resources differently, which resulted in observable distinctions among the area's sites.

A number of archeological projects have been conducted in or near the recreational river and are summarized in NPS 1994c and Ludwickson et. al (1981). Surveys have varied in coverage, research direction, reporting, analysis of data, and terminology. Most of the sites have been defined by the presence of surface materials, and only limited excavations have been conducted in the area.

Of the 285 sites within or adjacent to the riverway, only three are Euroamerican (two mills and a cemetery). However, a number of the sites are multicomponent. These sites contain evidence of occupation or use by several different groups, often over a long period of time, and may include historic features. The rest of the sites can be defined only as prehistoric or protohistoric. (Generally, Protohistoric sites were created during the time when Euroamerican exploration and early settlement were occurring). The prehistoric and protohistoric sites include burials and burial mounds, villages, and campsites with scattered lithics and ceramics. These archeological sites fall into the following periods and/or cultural affiliations that have been identified by archeologists.

Paleoindian Period

Paleoindian people hunted large game such as the now extinct mammoth and *Bison antiquus* from about 11,500 to 7,900 B.P. These sites are often identified by the presence of Clovis, Folsom, or Llano type projectile points. Three Paleoindian period sites have been found along the Missouri River in or immediately adjacent to the project area.

Archaic Period

Like the Paleoindians before them, Archaic groups occupying the area from about 8,500 years before present (B.P.) to about 2,000 years B.P., relied on a wide range of animals and gathered food. However, scientists speculate that climatic changes contributed to the extinction of large animals, which made Archaic people more dependent on vegetables and smaller game.

A number of Archaic sites have been found along the Missouri River, but only four have been identified in or adjacent to the study area.

Woodland Period

The development of farming and new technology and tools such as the bow and arrow and ceramics marked the transition into the Plains Woodland period (from about 2,000 to 800 years B.P.). When compared to earlier times, this period is characterized by an increasing complexity in the numbers and variety of tool types and styles, shelters, and in types of animals used for food. It is thought that bison hunting and gathering were supplemented by horticultural crops like corn and squash. Symbolic items and elaborate mortuary practices suggest increasing ritual or religious behavior.

Numerous Woodland sites found in the area include burial mounds, base camps, habitation sites that once had lightly built skin or thatch-covered structures in a dense cluster, hearths and pits, and traces of wigwam type structures. Remains of maize, squash, gourds, bison, and a variety of woodland animals have been found at these sites, along with numerous lithic materials and decorated ceramics.

Great Oasis

Great Oasis appears to have been an independent cultural group practicing extensive trade (especially in shells) with other groups to the east from whom they may have acquired corn. Area Great Oasis sites date between about 1,150 and 850 years B.P. and are contemporaneous with Late Woodland occupations in Nebraska and southeastern South Dakota. Great Oasis sites often include the remains of moderately large villages or small camps with storage pits that held large quantities of cultivated plant foods. Artifacts include distinctive pottery.

A number of Great Oasis sites occur along the recreational river and include scatters of lithic materials and ceramic shards, campsites, storage pits, and some burials.

Coalescent Tradition

During the period from around A.D. 1000 to A.D 1400, cultures collectively known as the Central Plains Tradition developed in Kansas, Nebraska, and western Iowa. These groups built villages of loosely scattered square earth lodges that contrasted with the compact villages of the Middle Missouri Tradition (built north and upriver from the study area). Interaction among these two groups and prehistoric farmers from the upper Midwest (the Oneota) resulted in a new cultural tradition in the study area from about A.D. 1300 through historic times. This Coalescent Tradition includes St. Helena Phase sites along the Missouri River.

Numerous Coalescent and/or St. Helena Phase sites have been recorded along the Missouri River between the upper Niobrara and Ponca. Of these the majority are within the project area. St. Helena Phase sites include at least 17 village, house, and burial sites within the Indian Hill Archeological District in Dixon County, Nebraska. Other important St. Helena Phase sites are the Shulte site in Cedar County, Nebraska with 18 earthlodges, and the Wiseman Village and nearby Wiseman Mounds. One site associated with a Western Oneota occupation is near the river in South Dakota. AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT

HISTORIC USE

Historic Indian tribes, including the Omaha, Ponca, Santee Dakota, Pawnee, Arikara, Ioway, and the Brule and Oglala Divisions of the Lakota, are also believed to have used the area. The Omaha and Ponca are closely related and are believed to have once been parts of the same tribe. French maps show Omaha Indians on the land along the Missouri River, and they are known to have participated in the fur trade. They settled in what is now northeastern Nebraska and adjacent South Dakota during the 17th century and built political alliances with the Ponca. An Omaha site at Bow Creek was occupied during the 1730s. Ponca homelands were generally west of the project area, although at the time of contact with Euro-Americans, traditional Ponca hunting grounds extended all the way from southeastern South Dakota to near Lincoln, Nebraska.

The Pawnee may have been part of the Coalescent Tradition of the Dakotas, and their historic homeland was along the Loup and Platte Rivers in central Nebraska. Archeologists also believe that before the 1500s the ancestors of the historic Pawnee once lived in small farming hamlets scattered along the Missouri River. Other than occasional bison hunts, the Pawnee apparently made little use of this area in historic times. They had no permanent villages within the project area. The tribe was removed to the Indian territory in the 1870s.

The Arikara lived in earthlodge villages, some with central plazas. The Arikara and Pawnee are both thought to have been part of the Coalescent Tradition of the Dakotas and may have been associated with prehistoric St. Helena Phase sites along the Missouri River. The archeological record suggests the Ioway came into the recreational river area around 1700 and left circa 1720 to 1750. The Yankton Sioux located in an area near present-day Gavins Point Dam, and several of their village sites are still present in that vicinity.

Several area sites have been dated to the protohistoric period, a time when Europeans first began to explore the area, including the "Bad Village" of the Omaha and the Santee/Yankton Village. Smutty Bear's Yankton Village and Yankton Village sites are above Gavins Point Dam near Yankton. Area sites also include Sedentary Sioux and Omaha, Oneoto, and Ponca.

In the early 1800s relations between the Dakota and the U.S. government were generally peaceful, and several major treaties established boundaries for the tribe. Wars with the Chippewa encouraged some emigration westward, but the Santee or the eastern Dakota were widely scattered following the Minnesota Sioux uprising of 1862. In 1866 one group of Santee were forcibly relocated to what is today the Santee Reservation in Knox County, Nebraska.

Euroamerican exploration of this area began in the early 1700s when the Mallet brothers ascended the Missouri in search of trade routes. Spanish traders soon followed, and by 1739 traders and explorers had built encampments at the mouth of the Niobrara River. A number of trading posts were built along the Missouri River in association with the fur trade. Several of these forts were situated along the 59-mile stretch of the Missouri River, including Ft. Vermillion I, McClellans Trading Post, and a Columbia Fur Company Post.

Acquisition of the area as part of the Louisiana Purchase in 1803 led to the 1804–1806 Lewis and Clark expedition that hoped to link exploration with westward expansion and American commercial development. The Lewis and Clark expedition diaries described geographic features and landmarks along the route, several of which are still visible. These features include Mineral Bluffs (just above Elk Point), the Ionia "volcano", recorded by Clark on August 24, 1804; Spirit Mound, visited by the expedition on August 25; and Calumet Bluff, the site of the expedition's first council with the Plains Indians on August 30, 1804. While none of Lewis and Clark's campsites have been verified

archeologically, general locations have been identified from journals and local landmarks. Locations include campsites near Mineral Bluffs, Sweeney Bend, the mouth of the Vermillion River, Goat Island, northeast of St. James, near the mouth of the James River, and opposite and a little below the present city of Yankton. On their return in 1806, they camped in the vicinity of Rush Island. Some of these landscapes as seen from the river are also reminiscent of the scenes reported by Lewis and Clark. Features recorded during their 1804 visit include cottonwood stands, islands, and bluffs along the river.

During the mid-1800s a series of military expeditions explored the Missouri River valley seeking transportation routes across the Great Plains. As fur tophats went out of style, the fur trade network ceased to be a powerful force in the area. Official federal Indian policy during the first half of the 19th century included assimilation and removal of Indian tribes. Around the time of the Civil War, overland and by steamboat travel through the area increased as Euroamericans seeking land and gold in the West began to filter through the region. Treaties with Indian tribes were negotiated and repeatedly violated, and conflicts between tribes and Euroamericans escalated. Eventually a chain of military forts was constructed across the northern Plains.

By the 1880s most Indians had been confined to reservations where their survival depended on the Indian agencies. Various religious groups sent missionaries to minister to Indians, soldiers, and travelers and to establish missions and build churches on the reservations.

As tribes were removed to reservations, land in the study area came open for settlement. Immigration into the area was encouraged by the Homestead Act of 1862 and aided by the development of reliable overland routes, such as the Fort Randall Stage and Wagon Road, increased steamboat and ferry service on the river, and construction of railroads (the Chicago, Milwaukee, and St. Paul Railroad in South Dakota and the Chicago and North Western Railroad in Nebraska). During the late 1870s and early 1880s, immigrants from France, Ireland, the Scandinavian countries, Czechoslovakia, Germany, and German-Russia settled in this area and established farms and ranches, small market villages, and crossroads communities, such as the communities of St. Helena and Wynot. Originally treaties provided for individual allotments on the new Santee reservation, but the Dawes Act of 1887 provided for opening of nonallotted land to settlers. During the last three decades of the 19th century the main force in Santee life was assimilation.

Late 19th and early 20th century immigrants built a number of local communities like St. Helena, Concord, Dixon, North Bend, and Ponca. Historic Euroamerican structures and features from the late 1800s and early 1900s include general stores, postal facilities, mills, farms, churches, school buildings, granaries, railroad depots, and cemeteries. A number of century farms (farms owned by the same family and located on the same property for at least 100 years) are present along the river. Danish settlers formed the nucleus of Norway Township in Clay County, and their barns and houses, built in the Danish style, are part of a thematic national register nomination. Czech farmsteads dot the landscape in Yankton County. Fifty-seven cultural sites have been documented in or adjacent to the river, including farmsteads, historic houses and barns, cemeteries, and sites associated with early settlement.

A number of the river's other historic resources are related to transportation themes. The river was the primary highway to the northern Plains until the late 1800s. At least five steamboats are known to have been lost in the MNRR stretch of this historic transportation conduit. The wrecks probably now lie beneath silt and sandbars. The historical record (Chittenden 1897) for steamboat wrecks loosely links these locations to bends in the river (many of which no longer exist) and to tributaries (which still do exist). Therefore, the exact locations are not known, and it is likely that any wrecks would be deeply buried, especially near Yankton (two wrecks reported), near the mouth of the James River (one wreck), and near the mouth of the Vermillion River (two wrecks).

AFFECTED ENVIRONMENT

Railroads facilitated the development of communities like Yankton and Burbank, both of which have numerous historic homes and businesses listed on national and state registers of historic properties. The Meridian Bridge spanning the Missouri River at Yankton was a significant engineering accomplishment because its design provides two vertically stacked spans for motor traffic and a vertical lift span to allow the passage of boats beneath. During the early 20th century a number of transportation routes were established or improved, including South Dakota State Route 50, built along the Fort Randall Stage and Wagon Road.

Ponca State Park, developed in 1934, is a planned recreational facility whose structures and landscape design illustrate public works projects built during the Great Depression. The park also demonstrates the growth of 20th century tourism and recreation along the Missouri River in Nebraska.

Extensive flooding prompted the passage of many flood control measures during the mid-1900s. The Flood Control Act was passed in 1944 to capitalize on the potential of the Missouri River. This law created a program, later known as the Pick-Sloan Plan, which has had far-reaching benefits for the entire Missouri Basin through flood control, irrigation, navigation, development of recreation areas, fish and wildlife conservation, and production of hydroelectric power. Construction related to the Pick-Sloan Plan created a number of utility corridors and engineering structures, including the Gavins Point Dam and powerhouse, which were built during the mid 1950s.

Cultural Landscapes

The pastoral qualities of the landscapes are widely appealing, but a cultural landscape is more than a beautiful scene: "It is a space on the surface of the earth that has a degree of permanence, with its own distinct character, either topographical or cultural, and above all a space shared by a group of people. When these people modify their patch of ground, a cultural landscape results" (NPS 1994).

The river valley contains a series of cultural landscapes that were created through the interaction of people with natural forms and forces. The landscapes include residences and farm buildings (many of them historic), bridges, roads and trails, fences and corrals, orchards and gardens, cultivated fields, grazing land, and forested areas. The arrangement of these features on the land and the spatial relationships among them combine to create these rural landscapes. These landscapes are characteristic of this area, not only because of the landforms and vegetation, but because of the ways people settled the land and used its resources, particularly with traditional farming and cattle ranching. The states of South Dakota and Nebraska have identified numerous historic resources that contribute to agrarian and ethnic landscapes. For example, settlers constructed residences and farm buildings of native chalkstone. Often the design and arrangement of these buildings was guided by the availability of local materials, the topography, and by cultural traditions.

NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES AND NATIONAL HISTORIC LANDMARKS

Very few of the cultural resources of the study area have been rigorously studied and evaluated to determine national register eligibility, national historic landmark (NHL) status, or level of significance in a national context. In Nebraska, within or immediately adjacent to the recreational river boundaries, six historic properties are listed on the National Register of Historic Places: the Bow Valley Mills, the Meridian Bridge at Yankton, Schulte Archeological Site, Wiseman Archeological Site, Ponca Historic District, and the Indian Hill Archeological District. Most South Dakota national register sites are within the Yankton and Vermillion Historic Districts. A number of South Dakota farms included in a

noncontiguous thematic nomination of Czech folk architecture in southeastern South Dakota are close to but not within the boundaries of the river. In recognition of its importance to American history, the route of the 1804–1806 Lewis and Clark expedition was designated as a national historic trail in 1978.

The Historical Overview and Inventory of the Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways (NPS 1994b), the Draft Archeological Overview and Assessment, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways (NPS 1994a), and the Draft Cultural Anthropological Overview of the Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways (NPS 1995) helped to identify prehistoric and historic resources in the study area that have potential for further evaluation for national register eligibility. Specific recommendations include further study of Gavins Point Dam, the powerhouse(s) and other features related to the Pick-Sloan Plan to determine their national significance as related to technology, engineering, and invention. Further study of the ethnic sites, structures, and communities to determine their potential as nationally significant historic districts, cultural landscapes, or multiple resource nominations is also recommended. Ethnographic resources associated with traditional farming and ranching and with ethnic settlements are included in the area's cultural resource base. During preparation of the Cultural Anthropological Overview (NPS 1995), researchers consulted with Indian tribes to identify tribal concerns, traditional uses, and sensitive areas. This information would be used in project planning to ensure that important resources are protected, but information would not be made public unless tribes so request. Additional research is needed to further document traditional ranching and farming and the cultural landscapes associated with these activities.

VISITOR EXPERIENCE

There is little or no identification of, or orientation to, this unit of the national wild and scenic rivers system for visitors. The area is not often a destination for national visitors; the majority of use is by local people in Nebraska and South Dakota. The recreational river offers a variety of river-related activities, including boating, fishing, hunting, trapping, and wildlife viewing. There is both private and public access to the 59-mile stretch of the Missouri River.

There is no single entry point into the recreational river. Local users put their boats onto the 59-mile stretch of the Missouri River at any of the public or private boat ramps. There are many small towns on both the South Dakota and Nebraska sides of the Missouri River, so there are multiple arrival experiences in the local area. The river can be crossed only at Gavins Point Dam and at Meridian Bridge at Yankton, South Dakota.

There are two businesses on the 59-mile stretch of the Missouri River where visitors can purchase supplies: the Sportsman's Steak House (a restaurant and bar) and Atens Resort (boat rental and repairs, bait shop, and restaurant).

This section of the Missouri River offers a variety of experiences. Local people, especially those who grew up in the area, recognize the river's beauty and bounty. A variety of scenery surrounds river users, and views include broad, open vistas. People who fish, hunt, or canoe on the Missouri River can hear the sounds of nature, including moving water and wind in the trees. The river has a calming effect on people. The calm, quiet experiences on the river are almost always balanced with the challenges of negotiating watercraft around, over, or through low water, sandbars, snags, and other river obstacles.

VISITOR USE AND INTERPRETATION

VISITOR USE MANAGEMENT

The earliest study that included estimates of visitor use was the 1976 study, the results of which were contained in the 1977 *Umbrella Study* (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 1977). This study estimated annual recreation-days at 950,000, of which the majority of use was for swimming (298,000), followed by fishing (214,000) and camping (129,000). Hunting, picnicking, boating, and canoeing were combined for 309,000 recreation-days. This study also estimated that the ultimate demand for recreation within the MNRR would be 1,700,000 recreation-days, but no estimate was given on when that ultimate demand would likely be reached. No information exists as to what methodology was used to determine recreation-days in this study, and participants in the visitor use portion of the study are no longer with the Corps. Therefore, these data can only be taken at face value and cannot be compared with any confidence to more recent visitor use studies.

In 1991 the Corps contracted for initial visitor use studies in conjunction with the *Master Manual* review. The extensive survey sample was composed of fishing license holders. The participants provided data on number of trips to river sites, number in party, types of recreational activities, and duration of stay. The reach from Gavins Point Dam to Sioux City, which includes the MNRR, had 404,000 recreation user-days estimated from the survey. A number of concerns were raised regarding the limitations of the sample of fishing license holders, since boating is a significant recreational activity in the open river.

Another visitor use study was done by the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission in 1993 (Hesse et al. 1993), which documented visitor use along the Missouri River, including the MNRR segment. The study results were reported in user-hours, not user-days, and the activity breakdown was much finer than in the 1976 study. For example, instead of fishing, activities were broken down by types of fishing activity such as seining. The Corps used these data when writing Volume 6C, entitled *Economic Studies, Recreation Economics, of the 1994 Master Water Control Manual Draft EIS*. The user-hours for each recreation activity were converted into user-days, based upon the survey average hours per recreation activity and expanded to the population with the survey methodology. Total user-days for public access points in the river reach were estimated at 721,000 recreation days. Although the identified number of cabins in the 1993 survey were used, a separate mathematical calculation was developed by a Corps' recreation team to estimate cabin use at 227,000 recreation days per year. The total recreation days were estimated at 948,000.

INTERPRETIVE PROGRAMS AND FACILITIES

Orientation/Information

There are few orientation or informational materials available to the public that pertain expressly to the recreational river. The Department of the Interior and the Corps of Engineers published a *Public Information Fact Sheet* on the Missouri National Recreational River. It offers a map, information about available facilities, and safety and river use messages. The recreational river is not identified with signs or noted on local highway signs.

Both Nebraska and South Dakota publish boating, fishing, and hunting guides that include the recreational river (in addition to Lewis and Clark Lake and other water-based recreational resources).

These guides provide information concerning boating, fishing, and hunting regulations on the river and safety messages.

Interpretive Programs

Only a limited amount of interpretation on the Missouri River's natural and cultural history can be found along this stretch of the Missouri River. The interpretive exhibits in Yankton and at Gavins Point Dam are adjacent to the recreational river. However, the area's history and cultural heritage is more extensive than these exhibits would suggest.

For example, the region's rich and complex Native American history is barely covered. Several tribes are mentioned in the context of their initial contacts with the Lewis and Clark expeditions in August and September 1804 and September 1806, but there is no treatment of prehistoric occupation of the area or of tribal histories subsequent to white contact.

There is little interpretation available concerning the Euroamerican settlement of the region. Waves of European immigration included the Danish, Swedish, Norwegian, Irish, Czech, Bohemian and German-Russians. Physical evidence of the impact of immigrant and American ranchers, farmers, and settlers is all around the recreational river. Present-day visitors to the area can learn about this history through personal contacts with local people or by participating in local festivals, fairs, rodeos, or other activities.

The natural resources of the Missouri River are interpreted only minimally. Changes in the Missouri River's physical appearance and the history and operational aspects of the Corps of Engineers' efforts to control Missouri River flooding are presented in the Lewis and Clark Visitor Center at Gavins Point Dam. Staff at South Dakota's Lewis and Clark Recreation Area west of Yankton offer programs on basic aspects of natural history.

There is an existing Corps program for endangered species (especially least terns and piping plovers) interpretation along the Missouri River, including the MNRR. Public awareness actions include radio and televised public service announcements during nesting season, school visits, campground talks, seasonal interpretive signs and posters (especially near boat ramps), and an Internet access site.

Missouri River Interpretive Facilities

Ponca State Park. The Nebraska Game and Parks Commission offers an informational and interpretive brochure on Ponca State Park in Ponca, Nebraska. The brochure discusses the Lewis and Clark expedition as well as the park's flora and fauna.

Interpretation of the Lewis and Clark expedition of 1804–1806 was formalized at Ponca State Park in 1997. The National Park Service, under a cooperative agreement with the state of Nebraska, built a river observation deck at Ponca State Park and installed wayside exhibits interpreting the expedition, the latter in coordination with the Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail.

Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail. The Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail (established by Congress in 1978 as a component of the national trails system) is administered by the National Park Service, in partnership with many federal, state, and local agencies, private organizations, and private landowners. Interpretation is provided along the trail from Illinois to Oregon. In Nebraska the historic expedition is interpreted in several parks and museums along the Missouri River, as well as by a series of state historical markers. Planning is underway by the National Park Service to construct a series of interpretive kiosks and panels along the expedition route through Nebraska. The National Park Service is working with the Corps of Engineers and the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission to construct interpretive kiosks at Lewis and Clark Visitor Center at Gavins Point Dam and in Ponca State Park, in Ponca, Nebraska.

Spirit Mound. A new organization, the Spirit Mound Trust in Vermillion, South Dakota, is raising funds to purchase and protect Spirit Mound. Visited and described by Lewis and Clark on August 25, 1804, the mound is located 6 miles north of Vermillion. A sign for the site is in place at the turnoff on South Dakota Highway 19.

Yankton. The Yankton Area Chamber of Commerce offers a walking and auto tour brochure for the city of Yankton. Visitors can walk or drive to nearly 40 different historic residences and buildings, including the Historic Downtown Yankton District (National Register of Historic Places). Some of the attractions include the G.A.R. Hall, Gurney Seed & Nursery, Carnegie Library, A.M.E. Church, and many individual residences. Only the Cramer-Kenyon Heritage Residence is open to the public for tours. The chamber of commerce hands out thousands of the brochures every year to walk-ins, conventioneers, and visitors to the Yankton Riverboat Days and Summer Arts Festival held every August. The estimated number of people who take the self-guided tour is 2,000–3,000 per year. The Riverboat Days Festival attracts over 100,000 annually to Yankton.

Dakota Territorial Museum. The Dakota Territorial Museum in Yankton, South Dakota, interprets the early years of the town's history. Operated by the Yankton County Historical Society, the museum contains several historic buildings, including a schoolhouse, railroad depot, and blacksmith shop. The main building houses American Indian artifacts and memorabilia from Yankton's years as a transshipment point on the river and as capital of the Dakota Territory. Visitation to the museum averages 10,000 people annually.

Gavins Point Dam. The Corps of Engineers offers public tours of the powerhouse at the dam. There are interpretive displays about the dam and powerhouse functions. Printed orientation and information brochures about COE areas are provided for visitors.

Lewis and Clark Regional Visitor Center. The Corps of Engineers' Lewis and Clark Visitor Center is at Gavins Point Dam on the Nebraska side. The visitor center offers interpretive exhibits that cover a wide range of history and natural history topics. The Lewis and Clark expedition, transportation routes, fur trade, steamboat era, railroading, and harnessing the river are a few of the subjects. Artifacts from the main stem dam construction and early Corps explorations are on display. Large picture windows offer views of the dam and lake. The number of people visiting the Lewis and Clark Visitor Center has varied up and down from 20,000 to 45,000 annually since its opening in 1976. Most recently, the number of visitors totaled 37,310 in 1997 and 32,543 in 1998.

In spring 1996 the Corps of Engineers, in cooperation with the National Park Service, installed interpretive wayside exhibits at a visitor center overlook. These wayside exhibits interpret the Lewis and Clark expedition in coordination with the Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail.

Lewis and Clark Recreation Area, South Dakota. This area lies just west of the recreational river segment. On summer weekends, interpretive programs are offered for visitors at the Lewis and Clark Recreation Area managed by the South Dakota Department of Game, Fish and Parks. Recreation area staff members present the programs throughout the area, and subjects focus on crafts and natural history. At the Gavins Point unit of the recreation area, people can visit an interpretive shelter. Interpretive panels offer information on the Yanktonai people of the region; on Missouri rivercraft,

including steamboats and keelboats; and on the Lewis and Clark expedition meeting with the Yankton at Calumet Bluff in 1804.

Lewis and Clark State Recreation Area, Nebraska. This area also lies just west of the recreational river segment. The Nebraska Game and Parks Commission manages six areas along Lewis and Clark Lake encompassing 1,315 acres. Facilities include a marina with 80 boat slips, gas, a convenience store, 286 camping pads, 178 with electrical hookups, water, restrooms, and showers. The recreation area lacks a visitor center and it does not have any interpretive exhibits. A brochure is in the planning stage. Visitation for 1995 was estimated at over 100,000 people. Interpretive programs or facilities are not available at Nebraska's Lewis and Clark State Recreation Area.

RECREATIONAL FACILITIES

There are more than 15 public and private access areas on the Missouri River from Gavins Point Dam to Ponca State Park. All South Dakota areas are on the left bank (L) and all Nebraska areas are on the right bank (R).

Gavins Point Tailwaters, Nebraska (River mile 810.+R)

The Corps of Engineers manages Gavins Point Dam and its recreational facilities. On the Nebraska side, the tailwaters area is available for fishing all year. There are picnic shelters, a playground, a fish cleaning station, and restrooms. A double-wide concrete ramp allows access to the river.

Gavins Point Tailwaters, South Dakota (River mile 810.+L)

There are several developed COE areas downstream from the dam on the South Dakota side of the river that offer recreational facilities. Collectively, the Pierson Ranch area, Chief White Crane area, training dike area, and Cottonwood area have concrete boat ramps, a campground, electric hookups, a jogging and bike trail, picnic shelters, a playground, restrooms, a fish cleaning station, a fishing pier, and a beach.

Aten Resort, Nebraska (River mile 808.8R)

This privately owned resort provides limited access to the Missouri River. A gravel ramp may be unusable due to heavy siltation. The resort offers a boat dock, restrooms, and concessions.

Riverside Park, South Dakota (River mile 805.8L)

Owned by the city of Yankton, this public park has a double-wide boat ramp for access to the river. The park offers a campground, boat docks, restrooms, picnic tables, firepits, ball diamonds, a playground, and an amphitheater. This park was developed under the 1980 *General Management Plan* for the MNRR, using this funding and authorization in conjunction with the cost-share sponsor, the city of Yankton.
St. Helena Access, Nebraska (River mile 798.8R)

This public access point is owned by Cedar County and offers a single-wide boat ramp. The site has picnic tables and shelters, firepits, restrooms, and a campground.

Wiseman Wildlife Management Area, Nebraska (River mile 786.0R)

This area is managed by the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission. It is dedicated to the management of habitat for fish and wildlife. Activities include hunting, fishing, trapping, and nonconsumptive use of wildlife.

Myron Grove Game Production Area, South Dakota (River mile 787.2L)

Operated by the South Dakota Department of Game, Fish, and Parks, this area has a boat ramp, a dock, parking, and restroom facilities. The area is known locally as "High Line" landing because of an electric powerline that once spanned the river here. This river access point was developed under the 1980 *General Management Plan* for the MNRR, using this funding and authorization in conjunction with the cost-share sponsor, Clay County, South Dakota.

Brooky Bottom Landing/Cedar County Park, Nebraska (River mile 784.9R)

This small public park is owned by Cedar County and offers a double-wide concrete boat ramp for river access. The site has picnic tables and shelters, benches, restrooms, and a campground.

Vermillion Boat Club, South Dakota (River mile 782.6L)

Privately owned, this site offers limited access with a membership. The site has a single-wide concrete boat ramp. Recreational facilities and activities include a boat dock and restroom. Only members and guests can use the boat ramp.

Clay County State Recreation Area and State of South Dakota Recreational Area, South Dakota (River mile 780.8L)

This area consists of two adjacent parks. The Clay County State Recreation Area is a 200-acre park with no river access. The park has a rodeo grounds, picnic area, and playground. There is little or no camping. The state recreational area provides parking and a boat ramp for river access. Most of the public use is on the riverfront; the boat ramp is heavily used in the summer.

Frost Wilderness Area, South Dakota (River mile 778.0L)

The South Dakota Department of Game, Fish, and Parks operates this wilderness area as an undeveloped forest area along the river. There are no facilities and river access is not very good. There is little public use.

Indian Hills Park, Nebraska (River mile 764.5R)

This park is privately owned. It has a boat ramp, picnic tables, camp pads with electrical hookups, and additional open areas for camping. The present ramp is at the foot of the bluffs.

Mulberry Bend Wildlife Management Area, Nebraska (River mile 775.4R)

The new Mulberry Bend Wildlife Management Area boat access facility was a community project facilitated by the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission. A small park offers parking, a vault restroom, and a boat ramp (accessible) on a gravel county road.

Bolton Game Production Area, South Dakota (River mile 763.5L)

The South Dakota Department of Game, Fish, and Parks operates this unimproved area. There is some clearing of underbrush and trees for parking. The boat ramp is sometimes unusable due to high water. A few local people use the area, but there is little other public use. Access is poor because of a dirt road entrance.

Ponca State Park, Nebraska (River mile 753.5R)

Sitting on top of bluffs overlooking the Missouri River, this scenic 859-acre state park offers many recreational amenities. Established in 1934 by the state of Nebraska and developed by the Civilian Conservation Corps, the park has access to the river via a wide concrete boat ramp. Recreational facilities include housekeeping cabins, a campground with electrical hookups, restrooms, showers, picnic areas and shelters, scenic overlooks, hiking trails, and a swimming pool. This park offers an excellent view of the unchanneled river in its natural state. Attendance at Ponca State Park in 1998 was 260,450.

RECREATIONAL ACTIVITIES

The river offers a scenic area with opportunities for boating, fishing, canoeing, and wildlife observations in a relatively undeveloped landscape. River users can feel a sense of slow passage through a historic transportation corridor with its prehistoric and historic American Indian occupation, Lewis and Clark expedition campsites, fur trade, steamboating activities, and surrounding rural landscape. The various recreational activities along this segment of the Missouri River are described below.

Camping

Developed public camping is available at the COE Gavins Point Dam tailwater areas. Downriver, developed public camping is available at Riverside Park, St. Helena access, and at Ponca State Park. Private campgrounds open to the general public within the recreational river are at Indian Hills Park and Brooky Bottom.

Hiking/Trails

The only current areas for public hiking within the recreational river are in Ponca State Park. There are hiking trails throughout the park, and horseback trail rides are offered during the summer.

The Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail does not include a continuous hiking corridor; rather it consists of rivers and reservoirs, short trail segments, and marked highways, which sometimes very loosely follow the expedition routes. Visitors have options for hiking, driving, or boating segments of the trail. The number of visitors who follow the historic trail along this section of the Missouri River is not known but is increasing with the approach of the expedition's bicentennial in 2004–2006.

Fishing

There is abundant fishing along the recreational river throughout the seasons. Gavins Point tailwater species include walleye, sauger, channel and flathead catfish, crappie, eel, drum, paddlefish, buffalo, smallmouth bass, white bass, and carp. Species in the Missouri River below Gavins Point include channel and flathead catfish, drum, carp, sauger, walleye, white bass, crappie, sturgeon, and paddlefish.

Hunting

Hunting is popular along the Missouri River. Waterfowl hunting along the river and in its marshy backwaters is some of the best in Nebraska and South Dakota. White-tailed deer are hunted in the bluffs above the river and in the creek bottoms through the grasslands and croplands. Wild turkeys are hunted along the river bottom and in forests, while pheasants, bobwhite quail, and Hungarian (gray) partridge are hunted in agricultural fields. Squirrels are hunted in the forested bluffs along the river. The only public hunting along the 59-mile stretch of the Missouri National Recreational River in Nebraska is in Ponca State Park, where deer hunting is allowed with a special permit. Hunting occurs on private land with permission of the landowner.

Scenic Drives

Other than the overlooks at Ponca State Park, there is little access to the river for people seeking open, scenic views. Because land use is primarily agricultural, there are few roads along the river for scenic drives. In Nebraska there are two short sections of county road along the river.

Lewis and Clark Lake

Lewis and Clark Lake, impounded behind Gavins Point Dam, extends about 25 miles upstream from the dam, is immediately upstream of the recreational river, and covers 33,000 acres. This lake is one of the largest, most intensively developed, water-based recreational resources in a 200-mile radius. The lake provides accessible deep water and has highly developed facilities for shoreline recreation on the South Dakota side (Lewis and Clark Recreation Area) as well as less intensive recreational development and access on the Nebraska side (Lewis and Clark Lake State Recreation Area). The Corps of Engineers also provides recreational facilities near the dam.

Recreational activities on the lake include boating, waterskiing, sailing, swimming, fishing, and hunting. Campsites are offered on both sides of the lake, and picnicking, horseback riding, bicycling,

hiking, cross-country skiing, and snowmobiling are popular. Because of the extensive recreational facilities and activities that it provides, Lewis and Clark Lake attracts a great number of visitors from throughout the surrounding area, particularly from the states of Nebraska, South Dakota and Iowa. In 1994 visits to the South Dakota state recreational facilities reached 1,043,451. Visits to the Nebraska state recreational facilities on the lake reached 95,206 in 1994. The total number of visits (head count) at Lewis and Clark Lake (including Nebraska and South Dakota facilities, COE facilities, and areas with walk-on and drive-though use) from October 1, 1993, to September 30, 1994, reached 1,630,718.

RECREATIONAL USE PATTERNS

Missouri River

Downriver from Yankton and the developed facilities on Lewis and Clark Lake and at Gavins Point Dam, the character of the river changes dramatically. There are few land-based services on either side of the river for river users, with primitive river access being the norm. The majority of visitation is local.

Commercial boat rental services are available. Traditional uses of the river by local people include boating, fishing, hunting, trapping, wildlife watching, and the use of personal watercraft and airboats, both of which are illegal on national park system waters. The Missouri River has constantly changing sandbars and snags and is difficult to navigate; safe use of the river requires some knowledge and experience.

Most river use occurs from Memorial Day to labor Day, especially on good-weather weekends and holidays. The nature of the river precludes certain uses of the river; however, typical uses on any given weekend includes numerous boats and sunning and playing volleyball on sand beaches such as at Goat Island. Boat use on the river increases during higher than normal releases from Gavins Point Dam, since more water reduces the tendency for boats to get stuck on underwater sandbars.

Summer use of cabins and trailers along this section of the Missouri River is high and increasing, based on anecdotal observations by local residents. Developments on the recreational river consist of permanent residences, seasonal residences, cabins, and trailers. In the area of Brooky Bottom Park and Sportsman's Steak House, there are about 50 cabins and houses. Other homes and cabins are in the Holmes addition (river mile 786–786.5 in South Dakota); 14–15 summer trailers at the Vermillion Boat Club (river mile 782.6); development at river mile 782.8–783; and development at the Ponderosa, south of Burbank, South Dakota (river mile 769–770). There is also a loose cluster of homes and cabins near river mile 772 at the mouth of the Vermillion River.

Although several visitor use studies have been completed in the past 20 years, none have been done using consistent collecting and recording methodology. Inconsistent data hinder the analysis of visitor use trends. Baseline visitor use studies are needed, as is ongoing monitoring of visitor use. For more information on existing visitor use studies, see pages 29 and 30.

SOCIOECONOMIC RESOURCES

The socioeconomic region is defined as Cedar and Dixon Counties in Nebraska and Yankton, Clay, and Union Counties in South Dakota. The information in this section was derived from a 1993 report prepared for the National Park Service by the University of Nebraska-Lincoln Bureau of Business Research.

DEMOGRAPHICS

The regional population has decreased 7% during the last 65 years. The population gains in Clay and Yankton Counties have nearly offset the substantial decreases in the other three counties. The 1990 census recorded 59,000 people in the five-county region. Since there has been no significant exodus of younger people, the median age is similar to the average for Nebraska and South Dakota. There is substantial immigration to the area; only 61% of the residents are living in the state where they were born. The population is 98% white. There are no American Indian reservations in the immediate project area.

EMPLOYMENT AND INCOME

Total employment in 1990 was approximately 33,000. Between 1975 and 1990 farm employment decreased sharply from 20% to 13% and is now approaching the average for the two states. Government employment decreased slightly to 20%, which is higher than the state averages for either Nebraska or South Dakota. The rest of the economy experienced a broad-based increase in employment, especially in the manufacturing and service sectors. The net effect was that overall employment in the region increased 12% between 1975 and 1990. During this same period total employment for the two states increased 25%.

The primary sources of employment are government, manufacturing, service sector, and retail sales. Tourism makes a minor contribution to the regional economy. In 1990 tourism was responsible for approximately \$5 million in payroll, 580 jobs, and \$4 million in tax receipts. This overstates the impact of tourism because most visitor use is by local residents and generates no added economic benefit to the regional economy. Economic benefits result only to the extent that visitors bring in money from outside the region.

Regional per capita income (\$14,774 in 1990) is lower than in most surrounding counties or in South Dakota, Nebraska, or the nation as a whole. The poverty rate is 15%, which is only slightly higher than the average for the two states. After adjusting for inflation, it becomes apparent how different components of personal income changed between 1975 and 1990. Farm income varied due to weather and prices, but the overall trend was down. Nonfarm income also decreased. These decreases in earnings were more than offset by growth in income sources other than employment. Per capita government transfer payments (retirement, medical, welfare payments) were 54% higher in 1990 than in 1975, substantially outpacing the growth in the two states and the nation. Such payments now account for 17% of total personal income and would be expected to continue to increase as the population ages. Dividends, interest, and rent income also grew dramatically and now account for 19% of total personal income.





INTRODUCTION

The National Environmental Policy Act requires that environmental documents disclose the impacts of a proposed federal action and any adverse effects that could not be avoided if the proposed action was implemented. In this instance, the proposed federal action would involve implementation of the general management plan for the recreational river. Through comparison of the impacts of each alternative, the relative merits and drawbacks of each can be evaluated, and informed decisions for managing the recreational river can be made. The environmental consequences addressed in this document pertain to actions resulting from implementation of the *General Management Plan*.

This *General Management Plan* is a vehicle to establish long-term management objectives, identify issues, and establish courses of action, including areas of further study, necessary to address the issues. The range of alternatives provide an opportunity to assess various options for meeting management objectives from a programmatic viewpoint.

The alternatives in this plan offer general strategies for long-term management and protection of land and water resources and recreational use. This is a general analysis and addresses the potential results of following different alternatives of management. Because no specific land purchase or construction projects are proposed, and the alternatives are general strategies for long-term management, the consequences (or impacts or effects) can only be assessed in general terms. Where possible, direct and indirect effects are identified. As actions mentioned in this plan are implemented, site-specific environmental compliance requirements will be met.

THE DERIVATION OF IMPACT TOPICS

To compare the impacts of the alternatives and focus the discussion of potential consequences of proposed actions, specific impact topics were selected. These were based on federal laws, regulations, and executive orders; National Park Service *Management Policies*; knowledge of the resources; resource studies; and concerns expressed by private property owners, special interest groups, and other agencies.

Soils

Soils support plant and wildlife habitat that exists along the recreational river. Potential facilities and visitor activity could affect soils. Impacts to soils could include erosion, compaction, and/or soil mixing resulting in an inability for the soil to support plant and wildlife habitat.

Prime and Unique Farmland

Prime farmland, one of several kinds of important farmlands defined by the U.S. Department of Agriculture, is the land that is best suited to food, feed, forage, fiber, and oilseed crops. Federal agencies are required to analyze the impacts of federal actions on agricultural lands. The policy was developed to minimize the effect of federal programs in converting prime, unique, or locally important farmland to nonagricultural uses.

Vegetation

NPS management policies state that the National Park Service will seek to perpetuate native plant life as part of natural ecosystems. The vegetation communities along the recreational river are important resources that provide habitat, prevent soil erosion, and create an aesthetically pleasing environment for visitors.

Wildlife/Fisheries

NPS management policies state the National Park Service will seek to perpetuate native animal life as part of natural ecosystems and to perpetuate the inherent integrity of water resources and aquatic ecosystems.

Threatened and Endangered Species

The Endangered Species Act requires an examination of the impacts of federally funded and permitted actions on all federally listed threatened and endangered species. NPS policy also requires an examination of the impacts on species of special concern.

Wetlands, Floodplains, and Streambanks

Executive order 11990 and NPS management policies require an examination of the impacts of federally funded and permitted actions to wetlands. Executive order 11988 and NPS policies require an examination of impacts on floodplains and of potential risks involved with placing facilities within floodplains.

Water Quality

NPS management policies state the National Park Service will seek to perpetuate surface and groundwaters as integral components of aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems. The National Park Service will seek to restore, maintain, or enhance water quality consistent with the Clean Water Act.

Air Quality

The Clean Air Act requires federal land managers to protect air resources and NPS management policies address the need to analyze air quality during planning.

Noise

Noise levels have the potential to impact visitor experience and adjacent landowners and therefore have been analyzed.

Cultural Resources, Including Cultural Landscapes

The National Historic Preservation Act and NPS planning and cultural resource guidelines call for the consideration and protection of historic properties in planning proposals. As defined by the National Historic Preservation Act, the term historic properties refers to all cultural resources, including prehistoric archeological sites, cultural landscapes, and historic sites eligible for or listed on the National Register of Historic Places. Areas along the recreational river contain numerous archeological and historic resources valuable in American history and prehistory.

Ethnographic Resources

Laws such as the National Historic Preservation Act, the American Indian Religious Freedom Act, the Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act, and NPS policy require attention to American Indian concerns in planning. Because the Santee and Yankton Sioux and Ponca tribes have traditional ties to the land and value special sites and resources within the three recreational rivers, ethnographic resources are addressed in the following impact sections. The National Historic Preservation Act also recommends that ways be found to preserve diverse historic, ethnic, and folk cultural traditions, so impacts on local ranching and farming communities would also be considered.

Visitor Activities

What types of activities, where they occur, when they occur, and how many visitors participate in various activities within the park have a direct impact on the quality of the visitor experience and the ability of the park staff to protect the resource base. Visitor activities and use are key to the mission of the National Park Service and are included in the impact section as part of the planning discussion.

Visitor Use Management

The management of visitor use is a critical element of overall park management. Where, when, for what purposes, and in what volumes visitors use the park are elemental aspects of a well functioning park. Proactive management of visitor use can prevent problems and conflicts before they result in unacceptable resource damage or degradation of the visitor experience; therefore, this topic is addressed in the plan.

Interpretation

Interpretation and orientation are integral functions of any national park. How these functions are implemented and how successfully they provide information to the public and visitors can greatly affect visitor use and enjoyment of the park. These activities can also be effective management tools for resource protection.

Recreational River Staff Payroll and Other Expenditures

The Missouri National Recreational River does not exist separately from the local and regional economic and social environment. NEPA and CEQ implementing regulations recognized that federal actions, such as creating and developing units of the national park system, could affect local and

regional economic and social conditions. One of the most direct socioeconomic impacts of a park is the hiring of staff and expenditure of funds to support the staff. Such expenditures tend to have a positive effect on the local area.

Land Use, Property Owners, and Regional Population

Creation of a new park unit invariably results in some changes in land use, and possibly ownership that may affect the local populace. These potential changes need to be addressed as part of the planning and decision making process related to the development of any new park.

County Expenses and Revenue

Development of this park would encourage recreational use of the Missouri River. Increased use would place some extra burden on local authorities for law enforcement and emergency services. Often national park status may also lead to changes in property values — increases in value for property adjacent to the park due to increased desirability as residential sites. Acquisition of private property for park purposes will lead to the removal of land from the local real estate tax roles. Such impacts on local county expenses and revenues are examined as part of the affected socioeconomic environment.

Employment

Besides the direct employment of park staff, national park units tend to indirectly provide additional employment opportunities in recreation-related businesses such as motels, restaurants, automotive services, and guide services as a result of increased visitation to the region. Such opportunities could be locally important and are therefore analyzed.

ALTERNATIVE 1: NO ACTION

IMPACTS ON NATURAL RESOURCES

Geology, Physiography, and Paleontology

Analysis. Alteration of geologic processes or features, physiography, or paleontologic resources are not expected. There are no major earthmoving or blasting activities proposed that would impact geologic processes or features or cause substantial alteration of the topography. Minor facility development would not impact the above resources. Prior to any facility development, paleontologic assessment would be done, and facilities would be relocated to avoid any scientifically important paleontologic resources should they be discovered.

Conclusion. There would be no expected impacts on geologic processes or features, physiography, or paleontologic resources.

Mineral Resources

Analysis. Extraction of sand, gravel, clay, and chalk would continue at dispersed sites scattered along the river valley. Mining has the potential to impact resource values along the river valley. The Wild and Scenic River Act does not preclude mining or mineral extraction on private land. Existing uses supply local needs and are relatively small in scale. Demand and cost of hauling long distance make large-scale expansion of activity unlikely. Mining is conducted under state and federal regulations with required permits.

Conclusion. There would be no expected impacts on mineral extraction activity or new impacts on mineral resources.

Prime and Unique Farmland

Analysis. Cropland and pastureland meeting USDA criteria of prime and unique farmland could be impacted by private real estate development. The trend of dispersed small-scale residential development would continue along the river at the discretion of landowners. Most of the land on the South Dakota side of the river is under zoning control (except for Yankton County), but none of the land on the Nebraska side of the river is controlled by zoning. Some real estate development has occurred in riparian forest, with no effect on farmland. Riverbank erosion of farmland would continue, influenced by river channel movement, waterflow management, and placement of riprap. Economic considerations of the value of farmland versus the cost of riprap discourages increased erosion control efforts.

Conclusion. Impacts on prime and unique farmland would gradually continue from riverbank erosion and from landowners converting cropland to residential development.

Soils

Analysis. Riverbank erosion would continue. The process of river downcutting would lead to higher and less stable banks, resulting in collapse and soil loss. Development and agriculture have the potential to cause topsoil erosion. Landowners reduce soil loss by certain farming methods. Conservation programs also help prevent soil loss.

Conclusion. Soil erosion impacts would continue due to increase in riverflows, agriculture, and private development.

Vegetation

Analysis. Historic data and aerial photographs indicate a decline of native grassland and riparian forests. Lack of flooding, introduction of nonnative plants, and conversion of land to agriculture and development impact native plant communities. Fire suppression has contributed to the increase of red cedar. Lack of early season flooding and ice scouring have increased sandbar vegetation. Cottonwood riparian forests have matured and are not reproducing due to lack of periodic flooding. Some landowners participate in vegetation conservation and revegetation programs. Damage to natural resources caused by human uses would affect vegetation due to the lack of required protection measures and limited law enforcement.

Conclusion. Natural vegetation surface area and species composition would continue to decline. Under this alternative damage to natural resources would be expected to increase.

Fish and Wildlife

Analysis. State and federal regulations and conservation programs would continue to provide protection. Upland fish and wildlife habitat protection largely depends on private landowner actions. Some landowners participate in habitat enhancement programs. Habitat loss could occur from conversion to agriculture, residential development, and alteration of riverflows. Future modification of water release levels and seasonal timing might improve conditions for some species.

Conclusion. Fish and wildlife populations and habitat could be impacted if land uses significantly changed over time.

Threatened and Endangered Species

Analysis: Current ongoing programs under the existing *General Management Plan* would continue. These include funding to support recovery efforts of the least tern and piping plover and studies to gain additional information on the pallid sturgeon. Although no new construction is planned, this alternative does not preclude new construction. If new construction would occur, then site-specific compliance would be done.

Conclusion: Continuation of existing MNRR programs under the old *Management Plan* would not adversely affect threatened and endangered species.

Wetlands, Floodplains, and Streambanks

Analysis. A significant overall decrease in quantity and quality of wetlands has occurred due to historic modification of the river and floodplain. River downcutting has lowered the water table, drying oxbow ponds. River downcutting has also reduced the quantity of backwater chute wetlands. Oxbow ponds and marshes fill in and change over time without periodic flooding to rejuvenate them. Ponds and seasonally wet areas have been drained for agriculture. Regulation of floods has encouraged conversion of floodplain native vegetation to agriculture and other development. Wetland restoration might result over the long term from proposed changes in riverflow management and from incentives in existing state and federal conservation programs.

Streambank erosion could continue where streambank protection is not in place. Private individuals could continue to apply for streambank protection permits as erosion threatens their property. The Corps of Engineers could continue to maintain the section 32 streambank protection structures as appropriations are available for such purposes. New structures or extension of old structures in newly eroding areas could occur. Landowners could continue to allow for COE maintenance of existing structures through permanent easements. Donation of permanent easements to create wildlife habitat and allow for streambank protection could become an active program.

Conclusion. Dam construction has had a significant indirect effect in reducing wetlands and encouraging floodplain development and agriculture. With recent conservation and agricultural policy, the process may have stabilized. There could be continued maintenance of existing structures along the streambanks. New structures could be built by the Corps. Land use changes without strong controls would ultimately result in adverse impacts on wetlands and floodplains. There would be adverse impacts on streambanks, even with some mitigation efforts.

Water Quality

Analysis. Water quality is considered to be generally good. No point sources of contaminants have been identified. Water sampling at the mouth of the James River indicates localized elevated fecal coliform counts. There are no livestock yards along the river, but some agricultural chemicals could reach the river. Residential septic disposal has potential to contaminate the river where systems are close to the river and inadequately operated. Increasing shoreline development could increase contamination.

Conclusion. Water quality is generally adequate for water contact recreation and warm water fisheries, with no short- or long-term impacts expected.

Air Quality

Analysis. Air quality is good. No heavy industry occurs in the area, and farming practices do not depend on burning fields or waste. Short-term localized impacts could occur from construction-related dust or emission. No significant reduction of air quality is expected in the near future.

Conclusion. Air quality is good and no adverse impacts would be expected.

Noise

Analysis. Motor noise is occasionally produced by boats and some agricultural activity; however, natural conditions dominate. Human caused sources are not expected to significantly increase.

Conclusion. Impact from human-caused noise is minor and not expected to be adverse.

IMPACTS ON CULTURAL RESOURCES

General

Analysis. Cultural resources on public land would generally benefit from continued management by existing agencies, but lack of a coordinated, comprehensive management effort would continue fragmented preservation efforts. Higher priorities for mandated programs (recreation, riverbank stabilization) leaves limited funding for cultural resource protection and research, and would result in neglect or occasional negative effects.

Conclusion. Lack of coordinated management and funding would result in limited adverse effects, mostly from neglect. Because of the unknown future development along the rivers, impacts on cultural resources cannot be accurately predicted.

Historic Resources

Analysis. Most property owners would continue current stewardship practices, but neglect, demographic changes, and occasional inappropriate uses would continue to diminish the number and quality of historic structures. Little technical assistance would be available to help preserve or document historic resources. The absence of strong protection programs and educational programs would contribute to deterioration and resource degradation. In areas lacking zoning or other protective measures, inappropriate development or visitor use could compromise the integrity of historic resources, including cultural landscapes.

Conclusion. Most historic resources would continue to be protected under public and private stewardship. However, historic resources could be adversely affected by neglect, changes in demographics, and inappropriate development and visitor use.

Prehistoric Resources

Analysis. Land managing agencies could continue to suffer a lack of personnel, funding, and program direction to fully identify, evaluate, and protect prehistoric resources. Present levels of private stewardship would likely continue. The present level of resource impacts does not appear to be significant, but impacts could increase in the future with unmanaged visitor use and development.

Conclusion. There could be adverse impacts from inappropriate uses, undirected recreational activities, development, and continued lack of agency personnel and funding.

Ethnographic Resources

Analysis. Lack of agency coordination and funding could mean that sensitive areas would remain unidentified, and without identification, no protective measures would be put into place. There is potential for inadvertent damage to ethnographic resources from construction or visitor activities.

Conclusion. There is potential for adverse impacts on ethnographic resources.

IMPACTS ON VISITOR USE AND INTERPRETATION

Interpretation

Analysis. Identification, orientation, and information about the recreational river would continue to be minimal. The scarcity of in-depth interpretation programming along the recreational river would continue. Visitors would have limited knowledge of facilities, activities, safety, and recreational opportunities on the river, resulting in confusion, lost time, or possible shortened visits.

Conclusion. Visitors would have limited knowledge and enjoyment of the river.

Visitor Activities

Analysis. Types of recreational uses on the river would not be expected to change from present conditions. Occasional crowded conditions for visitors might exist on peak days.

Conclusion. There would be no change to the current river experiences for visitors; however, construction of new boat ramps or other visitor use facilities would not be precluded in this alternative. Site-specific environmental compliance would be done if construction occurred.

Visitor Use Management

Analysis. Management of visitor use would continue to be on an as-needed basis. Visitor use studies and management of visitors would not be precluded in this alternative, and could be done, if needed, subject to availability of funding. The levels of use would not be expected to change significantly from present conditions.

Conclusion. Current management of visitor use would continue, although additional studies could still be initiated if needed. Site-specific environmental compliance regarding visitor use would be done if future construction warranted.

IMPACTS ON SOCIOECONOMIC RESOURCES

Recreational River Staff Payroll and Other Expenditures

Analysis. The regional economy would benefit to the extent that outside monies were used to fund payroll, operations, and construction associated with the national river. However, the level would be quite small. Federally funded streambank protection would also provide economic benefits.

Conclusion. Under this alternative, there would be an unknown, but probably slight, benefit to the regional economy.

Land Use, Property Owners, and Regional Population

Analysis. Land use in South Dakota could be affected by county zoning. If zoned, current land uses would be expected to continue; however, new land uses would be subject to county zoning. The Federal Emergency Management Administration requires the implementation of flood hazard regulations limiting construction in the 100-year floodplain as a prerequisite to the provision of federally subsidized flood insurance. The enforcement of such regulations might limit the construction of residential structures of any type close to the river. Market conditions have not yet resulted in land being converted to feedlots or other incompatible land use. However, residential homes, new cabin development, and developed campgrounds have been built and could accelerate in the future. Even in counties that have zoning, such as Union County, considerable residential development could occur, since minimum lot sizes along the river are 2 acres. The managing agency could purchase conservation easements to prevent such conversions, but it has had no history of doing so. The decisions have rested with property owners and with county governments. The managing agency would not condemn land to prevent incompatible land uses. Limiting land use could result in at least a perceived loss of freedom and a reduced potential for economic gain. When this was accomplished through zoning, property owners would probably not be compensated for any resulting decrease in the value of the land, nor would they pay more if land values increase.

Conclusion. Under this alternative, there would be a potentially minor adverse local impact on land use, property owners, and regional population.

County Expenses and Revenue

Analysis. There might be an increase in recreation and dispersed residential and other private development. This would increase both property tax revenues and demand for services. Overnight use might increase slightly. The counties might potentially implement lodging taxes. To the extent the counties choose to levy such taxes, revenue would increase with increased overnight use.

Increased visitor use and dispersed residential and other private development would result in increased maintenance cost for roads and parks and more demand for law enforcement and other emergency services.

This unit would not be staffed with federal employees trained and equipped to respond to fire, rescue, and law enforcement emergencies. Federal funds would not be available to contract with county governments or others to provide such services. Since no federal or state funds would be used to provide such services, the only mitigation of the increasing demands placed on the county governments would be the rising valuation of property and tax revenues.

The county tax base would increase as agricultural land was converted to residential and other private development. The resulting increase in tax revenue would at least partially offset the increased services required to support these land uses.

No conservation easements or fee land would be purchased by federal, state, or county government or by any nongovernmental organization. Since no land would be purchased by the government, none would be removed from the county tax base.

Conclusion. Under this alternative, increased use and continued conversion of agricultural land to residential and other private development might have a net adverse impact on the county government through the demand for county services.

Employment

Analysis. Employment options would increase with increased development and with increased demand for services.

Conclusion. Under this alternative, there would be an unknown, but probably minor beneficial, increase in employment opportunities.

CUMULATIVE IMPACTS

Analysis

Other ongoing actions that are reasonably foreseeable within the MNRR area include the implementation of a new master water control regime (ongoing EIS), the Vermillion-Newcastle bridge (completed EIS with funding for bridge available), and the Highway 81 bridge (ongoing EIS). Also, the Corps does annual management and monitoring activities for the least tern and piping plover to implement the USFWS 1990 Biological Opinion. The current tern and plover management plan has expired, and the Corps is in the process of writing a new habitat-based management plan for the birds. The Corps also has a protocol established for collection of eggs and chick rearing within the Missouri River, including the MNRR.

Although other plans are in existence (state SCORPS, Lewis and Clark Trail plan, Nebraska Trails Plan, etc.), implementation of these actions would not be considered reasonably foreseeable because there would be no ongoing environmental compliance, funding, nor design plans, for future construction.

Of the reasonably foreseeable actions, the *Master Manual* update and the Highway 81 bridge are too early in the EIS process to have determined an alternative and related impacts associated with that alternative. Therefore, it would be speculative to try and anticipate which alternative would be selected and include that within our cumulative assessment. It is important to be aware that these other planning projects are ongoing within the MNRR. The Vermillion-Newcastle bridge project, however, does have a selected alternative and associated impacts, so that could be considered cumulatively with this GMP/EIS. Also, it is reasonably foreseeable that the Corps would continue tern and plover habitat creation and management actions, even though the plan with specific locations has not yet been finalized. The construction actions proposed in this GMP/EIS themselves are only tentative at this point, since no cost-share sponsors, design plans, or funding has been established yet. Site-specific analysis of cumulative actions would be done in conjunction with site-specific environmental analysis when, and if, anything is built as a result of this plan.

ENVIRONMENTAL CONSEQUENCES

The impacts associated with the Vermillion-Newcastle bridge would be as follows: short-term temporary minimal water quality, air quality, and noise impacts associated with bridge construction; minimal, but permanent wetland impacts associated with bridge placement (1/3 acre in Nebraska and 1/10 acre in South Dakota), which would be mitigated; positive impact on local economic activity, in conjunction with the increase of traffic between the towns of Vermillion and Newcastle and the surrounding area; and potential increase in land-based recreational use based on development of a bike path from Vermillion to the river in conjunction with the bridge project. No effect on threatened or endangered species would occur, as long as mitigation (stabilization of Mulberry Point and planting additional trees for eagle habitat) was implemented.

The Corps' tern and plover management program would provide a positive impact on terns and plovers.

Concentration of visitor use in a previously undisturbed area could increase the loss of cultural resources over time. Vandalism and illegal artifact collecting also may damage irreplaceable resources and destroy scientific evidence through the undocumented removal or disturbance of objects from their original locations. Once artifacts are removed from an area, it might be impossible to determine who used the site, when it was used, or the national register significance of the site. Over time, these activities would reduce the number and quality of sites, and there would be a cumulative impact on the sites and on the data base, which could skew and limit the information available for research.

Construction of the Vermillion-Newcastle bridge might impact an archeological site on the Nebraska side of the river. The Nebraska Department of Road would try to avoid the site or would mitigate effects on it.

Conclusion

Under alternative 1 existing actions on the MNRR would continue. This alternative would not preclude future development but would not propose any new development at this time. The cumulative impacts of this alternative, in conjunction with the other reasonable foreseeable actions, concludes that there would be a localized increase in traffic and economic activity in the Vermillion-Newcastle area, which would not be significant to the MNRR as a whole, as well as temporary construction-related impacts in that same area.

Various efforts and programs would be focused on preventing adverse cumulative impacts on cultural resources; however, some impacts would occur.

UNAVOIDABLE ADVERSE EFFECTS

Continued trends could result in a net loss of agricultural land to erosion and a net loss of natural resources if mitigating measures are not effective.

Increased use and continued conversion of agricultural land to residential and other private development might have a net adverse impact on the county government through the demand for county services. Whether this would actually take place cannot be predicted.

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SHORT-TERM USES AND MAINTENANCE AND ENHANCEMENT OF LONG-TERM PRODUCTIVITY

The primary short- and long-term use of the project area would be agricultural. Long-term productivity would be affected if agricultural land was converted to private developments. The long-term ability of the area to maintain natural resources, the current quality of life, and the visitor experience would decrease incrementally as these trends continued.

IRREVERSIBLE AND IRRETRIEVABLE COMMITMENTS OF RESOURCES

Irreversible commitments of resources cannot be reversed, except perhaps in the extreme long-term. Irretrievable commitments of resources are those that are lost for a period of time — a resource is devoted to a use that simultaneously precludes other uses. This plan is not predicted to significantly preclude any such uses.

ALTERNATIVE 2: THE PREFERRED ALTERNATIVE

IMPACTS ON NATURAL RESOURCES

Geology, Physiography, and Paleontology

Analysis. Alteration of geologic processes or features, physiography, or paleontologic resources are not expected. There are no major earthmoving or blasting activities proposed that would impact geologic processes or features or cause substantial alteration of the topography. Minor facility development would not impact the above resources. Prior to any facility development, paleontologic assessment would be done, and facilities would be relocated to avoid any scientifically important paleontologic resources should they be discovered.

Conclusion. There would be no expected impacts on geologic processes or features, physiography, or paleontologic resources.

Mineral Resources

Analysis. Impacts would be similar as described under alternative 1. If mining activity increased, impacts would likely be mitigated by cooperative efforts made by various levels of government.

Conclusion. No new impacts would be anticipated.

Prime and Unique Farmland

Analysis. No new impacts on prime and unique farmland would result from recreational river management programs. Impacts on cropland from river bank erosion would continue as described under alternative 1. Impacts from long-term residential development might be less than would occur under alternative 1; however, much would depend on decisions by landowners and local government. Economic incentives (such as conservation easements) and improved development planning could influence development and reduce impact on farmland.

Conclusion. More prime and unique farmland would be retained.

Soils

Analysis. The trend of soil loss from riverbank erosion and some agricultural practices would continue as described under alternative 1. There would be no expected new impacts.

Conclusion. There would be no expected new impacts.

Vegetation

Analysis. Emphasis on monitoring and restoring remnants of native vegetation, plus improved education, interagency cooperation, and landowner incentives, could reverse the trend of declining native vegetation conditions. Impacts on native vegetation have resulted from a variety of past actions, including clearing for agriculture, control of floods, fire suppression, and introduction of non-native vegetation. Reversing these impacts would take long-term cooperative effort. Only a small percentage of the river valley would be affected and would depend on willing landowners.

Conclusion. Proposed management would have long-term beneficial effects on preserving remnants of native vegetation, with potential restoration of limited sites.

Fish and Wildlife

Analysis. Fish and wildlife habitat would benefit from proposed protection and enhancement along with native vegetation conditions described above. There would be no effect on state management of game and fish. Fish and wildlife populations may increase with improved habitat conditions; however, many other variables affect wildlife, such as real estate development, agricultural practices, riverflow management, and long-term weather patterns.

Conclusion. Fish and wildlife and populations should benefit from proposed actions.

Threatened and Endangered Species

Interior Least Tern/Piping Plover

Analysis. The interior least tern (least tern) and the piping plover are discussed together because they share the same breeding and nesting habitat during the same summer timeframe. The avoidance measures for boat ramp construction discussed in the action alternatives would be implemented to avoid impacting the least tern and piping plover and their habitats. The overwhelmingly local use of existing boat ramps would be projected to continue, even with the addition of two new boat ramps within the MNRR. Local use, in combination with a steady population in the area, would likely result in a redistribution of existing users from more distant boat ramps to the new boat ramps; therefore, riverine use is projected to remain steady in spite of the new boat ramp construction. All other proposed construction is land-based and would not impact the riverine habitat of the birds.

Conclusion. Anticipated management and construction activities associated with this alternative would have no adverse effect on the least tern and piping plover.

Bald Eagle

Analysis. Potential construction activities associated with this alternative would most likely occur during the warmer months when eagles are not present. Care would be taken to avoid removal of large cottonwood trees during construction. A buffer zone would be established around any nesting eagles, if present, if construction is proposed nearby. In addition, site-specific compliance would be done when and if any construction took place.

Conclusion. Anticipated management and construction activities associated with this alternative would have no adverse effect on the bald eagle.

Pallid Sturgeon

Analysis. There have been only seven documented pallid sturgeons captured within the MNRR since 1952, with the most recent capture in 1994 (USFWS pallid sturgeon database). Because these fish are rare, specific habitat needs are uncertain. Generally speaking, any type of construction that alters the bottom contours of the river (river morphology) could cause an impact. The proposed construction under this alternative is either land-based or would not cause an alteration of river morphology.

Conclusion. Anticipated management and construction activities associated with this alternative would have no adverse effect on the pallid sturgeon.

Peregrine Falcon, Whooping Crane, Western Prairie Fringed Orchid, American Burying Beetle

Analysis. These species are being analyzed together, since it is highly unlikely that these species are within the project area, although there would be a potential for these species to be present at some point during the lifetime of the project. Site-specific environmental compliance would be done prior to undertaking any proposed construction, at which time the likelihood of the presence of these species would be more closely examined, based on the habitat requirements for each species.

Conclusion. Anticipated management and construction activities associated with this alternative would not adversely effect the above species.

Wetlands, Floodplains, and Streambanks

Analysis. The two proposed boat ramps would have direct, minor, local, inconsequential impacts on wetlands and floodplains. Benefits of generalized protection and restoration of wetlands by changes in riverflow management and conservation programs would be the same as under alternative 1. Site-specific restoration projects could result from increased management for natural resource values. No sites have been identified at this stage of planning. Impacts on floodplains from development might be lessened by increased awareness of conservation measures, improved planning, and potentially by easement purchase.

Impacts on streambanks would be the same as alternative 1 with certain exceptions. Landowners would provide wildlife habitat easements to the Corps of Engineers, so that construction of added streambank protection structures would be possible. In its own work, and in permitting private applications, the Corps of Engineers would encourage, but not demand, the use of bioremediation techniques for streambank protection.

Conclusion. No significant impacts on wetlands or floodplains would result from proposed actions. The two proposed boat ramps would have no impacts on waters of the U.S. Site-specific environmental analysis, 404 permitting, and mitigation would be undertaken when a location for these boat ramps was chosen. However, minor insignificant impacts would occur due to construction of two new boat ramps. With continued funding, the Corps of Engineers would maintain existing structures along streambanks and construct new bank stabilization structures with donated easements from landowners and specific congressional appropriations.

Water Quality

Analysis. There would be no impact on water quality from proposed recreational river management actions. Septic contamination from increased residential development may be alleviated by improved planning and proposed conservation management of floodplain areas.

Conclusion. No impact on water quality would be expected.

Air Quality

Analysis. Impacts would be the same as alternative 1. There would be no effect on air quality from proposed actions.

Conclusion. There would be no effect on air quality.

Noise

Analysis. Impacts would be the same as alternative 1. If noise from recreational use significantly increased, appropriate monitoring and mitigation actions would address the problem. No impacts from noise would be expected over the long term.

Conclusion. No significant impacts from noise would be expected.

IMPACTS ON CULTURAL RESOURCES

General

Analysis and Conclusion. Cooperative efforts among agencies and local citizens to identify and protect resources would benefit cultural resources. However, if additional funding and personnel were unavailable to carry out proposals in this alternative, resources might be adversely affected.

Historic Resources

Analysis. Use of incentives, shared expertise, directed visitor use, and resource monitoring would be beneficial to these resources. Development of resource-sensitive local zoning or land use plans would also help to protect historic resources, including cultural landscapes. However, demographic trends would continue to reduce the rural population and diminish occupancy and use of historic structures. Unless specific funding was targeted and set aside for these purposes it would be likely that resources would suffer because of available personnel and funding.

Conclusion. Generally historic resources would benefit from added community and agency attention, but unless funding was available, historic resources would suffer.

Prehistoric Resources

Analysis. Continuing private stewardship, inventory and monitoring, use of incentives, development of resource-sensitive zoning or land use plans, educating visitors, and managing visitor use would help to protect prehistoric resources and reduce looting, vandalism, or inappropriate development.

Because selected sites would be interpreted to visitors, they would require a higher level of stabilization and monitoring. If funding and staff were available to administer programs outlined in this alternatives, the costs and possible adverse effects of focused visitor use would be outweighed by the benefits of increased public understanding and support for preservation of archeological resources. Local communities would also benefit through increased understanding of the resources.

Conclusion. This alternative would help to protect prehistoric resources, and interpretation of selected sites would be beneficial. However, if funding and staff were lacking, resources could be adversely impacted.

Ethnographic Resources

Analysis. Coordinated agency programs and continued consultation with ethnographic groups would help to prevent inadvertent damage to sites and would encourage continuation of traditional activities.

Conclusion. Ethnographic resources would benefit.

IMPACTS ON VISITOR USE AND INTERPRETATION

Interpretation

Analysis. The construction of the two boat ramps would be designed (size of ramp, size of parking lot, location, etc.) to redistribute existing use, rather than to provide for additional riverine use. However, if a bike trail was constructed, this would be an addition to existing trail opportunities, so there could be a small increase in land-based visitor use that could be significant at the local (Ponca area) level, although probably not significant at the regional level. Without baseline information on visitor use, it is difficult to project future visitor impacts. Site-specific environmental compliance, including determinations of visitor use, would be done if construction was initiated.

Conclusion. Under this alternative, water-based visitor use would remain the same, while land-based use could increase slightly, for a small net visitor use increase.

Visitor Activities

Analysis. Types and levels of recreational use would not change significantly over present conditions. River management would promote river-based activities consistent with the river's natural resource values. Some visitor activities currently taking place could be regulated or controlled if they impair those values. There would be an increase in the amount of interpretive programs both on and off the river. **Conclusion.** The quality of river experiences would not change significantly for current visitors, as recreational uses consistent with river values would continue. Visitors would benefit from the opportunity to attend, participate in, and learn from interpretive programs.

Visitor Use Management

Analysis. If land-based visitor use increased slightly, as would be anticipated, there could be a need for additional visitor use management. Although no water-based increase in visitor use would be anticipated, monitoring levels of use at boat ramps would be needed to determine if this was a valid prediction.

Conclusion. Implementation of this alternative could require an increase in visitor use management tasks within the MNRR.

IMPACTS ON SOCIOECONOMIC RESOURCES

Recreational River Staff Payroll and Other Expenditures

Analysis. Under this alternative, the regional economy would benefit to the extent that outside monies are used to fund payroll, operations, and construction associated with the national river. Neither the level, type, nor funding source of such expenditures can be projected. No significant increases in management staff are proposed, nor are any major developments proposed. The amount of salary spent locally would vary with the individual employee.

Conclusion. Under this alternative, there would be an unknown, but probably minimal, benefit on the regional economy.

Land Use, Property Owners, and Regional Population

Analysis. Under this alternative, land use would be most affected by county zoning actions and/or tax incentives. Voluntary agreements with the National Park Service or wildlife habitat easements with the Corps of Engineers may also be used. Neither the relative nor actual amount of land to be protected through any of these means can be projected. The form or value of such incentives cannot be projected. The net effect of the use of these techniques would be to stabilize, and neither increase or decrease, the intensity of use of the land.

Developed land in the vicinity of the river is generally assessed based on current use. All other land uses are generally assessed based on agricultural rates. The current practice is not to give tax breaks for preserving natural environments (such as cottonwood forests) or other nonproductive uses, although such incentives could be used. This means that land values and property taxes would not be significantly affected. Limiting land use results in at least a perceived loss of freedom and a reduced potential for economic gain. When this is accomplished through purchase of a conservation easement (as opposed to zoning or donation of voluntary conservation agreement), the property owner is paid for the resulting decrease in the value of the land.

Some property owners may be displaced by acquisitions of lands. This should not be a significant problem since all of the fee purchases would be from willing sellers. The emphasis in this alternative on

non-acquisition techniques would likely result in very little fee acquisition, property owner displacement, or land use changes.

Conclusion. Under this alternative, there would be minimal adverse local impact on land use, property owners, and regional population.

County Expenses and Revenue

Analysis. Under this alternative, there might be a small increase in recreation and dispersed residential and other private development. This would increase both property tax revenues and demand for services. Overnight use might increase slightly. The counties might potentially implement lodging taxes. To the extent that the counties choose to levy such taxes, revenue would increase with increased overnight use.

Small increases in visitor use and dispersed residential and other private development would result in increased maintenance cost for roads and parks and more demand for law enforcement and other emergency services.

The county tax base may increase as some agricultural land was converted to residential and other private development. The resulting increase in tax revenue would at least partially offset the increased services required to support these land uses.

The cost of purchasing conservation easements and land in fee title might be funded by federal, state, or county government or by some nongovernmental organization. Although the actual amount to be purchased in fee title cannot be projected, it is expected to be very little. Land purchased by the government would be removed from the county tax base. When the government purchases land, the need for services decreases. The Payments In Lieu of Taxes Act, as amended, allows for partial compensation to county governments for land purchased by the federal government. During the first five years after purchase, the authorized payment is \$.75 per acre plus 1% of the fair market value at time of purchase, not to exceed annual tax payments at time of purchase. After five years the authorized payment is reduced to a flat rate of \$.75 per acre. During the first five years federal payment in lieu of taxes might approximately equal previous county tax revenue on grassland. After five years counties might lose the difference between \$.75 per acre and the previous tax rate.

Conclusion. Under this alternative, there would be an unknown, but probably minor, net effect on county expenses and revenues. The greatest potential for impact would result if the counties have direct financial participation in the management of the recreational river.

Employment

Analysis. Under this alternative, some employment options would be decreased if land acquisition results in larger holdings. Other employment options would increase with increased development and with management and operation of the recreational river and with increased demand for services.

Conclusion. Under this alternative, there would be an unknown, but probably minor, increase in employment opportunities.

CUMULATIVE IMPACTS

Analysis. For an analysis of other ongoing projects that are considered in this cumulative analysis, see page 115.

Alternative 2 proposes construction of two new boat ramps and a bike trail, but does not preclude additional development, if consistent with the objectives of the MNRR. There are no design plans, cost-share sponsors, or funding for such development, and site-specific environmental compliance would be done when and if such construction occurred. However, if this alternative was fully implemented, the result would likely be a small localized increase in land-based visitor use in the vicinity of the proposed bike trail. Boat ramp development would have location and construction constraints that should preclude impacting the least tern and piping plover by increasing water-based visitor use.

Cumulative impacts on cultural resources would be the same as described under alternative 1. However, due to programs proposed under this alternatives, the cumulative impacts would be less than under alternative 1.

Conclusion. Implementation of alternative 2, when considered cumulatively with other ongoing projects, would result in localized increases in land-based recreational use within the MNRR.

UNAVOIDABLE ADVERSE EFFECTS

Some increased use, some continued conversion of agricultural land to residential and other private development, and land purchased by the government might have an adverse impact on the county government. Whether this would actually occur cannot be predicted. Preservation of the river environs in a more natural state may be viewed as a beneficial effect of such impacts.

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SHORT-TERM USES AND MAINTENANCE AND ENHANCEMENT OF LONG-TERM PRODUCTIVITY

The primary short- and long-term use of the project area would be agricultural. Long-term productivity would be affected if agricultural land is converted to residential and other private developments. The long-term ability of the area to maintain both the current quality of lifestyle and to support the current visitor experience should significantly increase.

IRREVERSIBLE AND IRRETRIEVABLE COMMITMENTS OF RESOURCES

Irreversible commitments of resources are those that cannot be reversed, except perhaps in the extreme long-term.

Irretrievable commitments of resources are those that are lost for a period of time — a resource is devoted to a use that simultaneously precludes other uses. This plan is not predicted to significantly preclude any such uses.

ALTERNATIVE 3: RECREATIONAL EMPHASIS

IMPACTS ON NATURAL RESOURCES

Geology, Physiography, and Paleontology

Analysis. Alteration of geologic processes or features, physiography, or paleontologic resources are not expected. There are no major earthmoving or blasting activities proposed that would impact geologic processes or features or cause substantial alteration of the topography. Minor facility development would not impact the above resources. Prior to any facility development, paleontologic assessment would be done, and facilities would be relocated to avoid any scientifically important paleontologic resources should they be discovered.

Conclusion. There would be no expected impacts on geologic processes or features, physiography, or paleontologic resources.

Mineral Resources

Analysis. Impacts would be the same as described under alternatives 1.

Conclusion. No new impacts would be anticipated.

Prime and Unique Farmland

Analysis. Impacts would be the same as described under alternative 2.

Conclusion. No impact on prime and unique farmland would result from recreational river related programs.

Soils

Analysis. Impact on soil would be the same as described under alternatives 1. No new source of impact is expected.

Conclusion. Existing impacts would continue as described under alternative 1.

Vegetation

Analysis. Cooperative management and conservation programs would generally provide more means of protection of remnants of native vegetation than alternative 1. Benefits from active restoration would be less likely than from alternative 2.

Conclusion. Trends of declining native vegetation would probably be stabilized, but active improvement of native vegetation from restoration projects would be less likely than from alternative 2.

Fish and Wildlife

Analysis. Fish and wildlife management would remain focused on sport hunting and fishing, with a low priority given to nongame species. Habitat would be actively restored or increased as under alternative 2. Modified riverflow management would benefit fish populations by reducing impact on spawning due to fluctuating water level.

Conclusion. Fish and wildlife populations and habitat conditions would be protected with more emphasis on sport hunting and fishing.

Threatened or Endangered Species

Analysis. The focus of the increased recreational opportunities in this alternative would be land-based, rather than water-based, which would avoid the three most sensitive threatened and endangered species in the MNRR, the least tern, the piping plover, and the pallid sturgeon. However, there would also be two boat ramps in this alternative (similar to the preferred alternative), but future construction would have constraints to avoid impacts on threatened and endangered species. In addition, site-specific compliance would be done when and if any construction was done.

Conclusion: Anticipated management actions and construction would have no adverse effect on threatened or endangered species.

Wetlands, Floodplains, and Streambanks

Analysis. No new impacts on wetlands or floodplains would result from proposed actions. As also described under alternative 2, impacts on floodplains from development might be lessened by increased awareness of conservation measures, improved planning, and potentially by easement purchase. Benefits of generalized protection and restoration of wetlands by changes in riverflow management and conservation programs would be the same as under alternative 1.

Impacts on streambanks would be the same as alternative 1, with certain exceptions. More cabins, summer homes, and trailers may be located along the river. This might increase the demand for streambank protection. Landowners would provide wildlife habitat easements to the Corps of Engineers, so that construction of added streambank protection structures would be possible. In its own work, and in permitting private applications, the Corps of Engineers would encourage, but not demand, the use of bioremediation techniques for streambank protection.

Conclusion. Wetland and floodplain protection would generally be improved. There would be continued maintenance of existing structures along streambanks. Increasing the number of summer homes and cabins along the river might increase the demand for streambank protection. New structures would probably be built by the Corps of Engineers on donated wildlife habitat easements offered by landowners. The preservation of the natural appearance of the river would be positively enhanced through such actions.

Water Quality

Analysis. Effects on water quality would be the same as under alternative 2.

Conclusion. No impact on water quality is expected.

Air Quality

Analysis. Impacts would be the same as alternative 1. There would be no $e^{f'}$ it on air quality from proposed actions.

Conclusion. There would be no effect on air quality.

Noise

Analysis. Recreational traffic could significantly increase above existing sparse use. Because most traffic is motorized, noise would increase proportionately with boating traffic. Fishing boat motors, as commonly used on the river, are not excessively loud, compared to high performance water ski boats and personal watercraft (jet skis). Personal watercraft are not permitted on the MNRR. With the introduction of field rangers, this type of watercraft will be regulated. Noise conflicts would be possible, but unlikely in the near future given sparse shoreline development, low existing base level of recreational use, long reach of river to disperse traffic, and general unsuitability for water skiing.

Conclusion. Impact from boat motor noise is not expected.

IMPACTS ON CULTURAL RESOURCES

General

Analysis and Conclusion. Most of the impacts on cultural resources described in alternative 2 apply to this alternative as well. Under this alternative, resources would benefit from greater interpretation and preservation information if staffing and funding were available to adequately meet program needs.

Historic Resources

Analysis and Conclusion. New development and increases in recreational use could adversely impact resources, but this impact largely would be mitigated from added community and agency attention.

Prehistoric Resources

Analysis. Because recreational uses might increase moderately under this alternative, and new development would be allowed, archeological resources would require more intensive management to prevent adverse impacts.

Conclusion. If funding and staffing were available to implement programs, more intensive management would help to prevent most adverse impacts on prehistoric resources.

Ethnographic Resources

Analysis and Conclusion. Impacts would be the same as described under alternative 2.

IMPACTS ON VISITOR USE AND INTERPRETATION

Interpretation

Analysis. The amount of interpretive programming would increase over current conditions. Emphasis on all of the recreational river's primary interpretive themes would allow visitors to learn about the natural and cultural resources and history.

Conclusion. An increase in the amount of recreational activities and interpretive programming would result in increased visitor enjoyment and understanding of the river's values.

Visitor Activities

Analysis. Recreational use of the river would continue and additional activities could be provided for visitors. This alternative plans to add more land-based recreational facilities, such as two additional campgrounds and additional trails, over and above the two boat ramps and bike trail proposed under the preferred alternative. The amount of recreational use on and off the river would increased moderately.

Conclusion. The addition of more land-based recreational facilities would increase the land-based visitor use and could be significant at the regional level if implemented. There would be no increase in water-based visitor use, because the boat ramps would be designed to redistribute existing visitor use. Additional site-specific visitor use monitoring should be conducted in conjunction with construction, if cost-share sponsors were interested in such construction, and if such construction moved forward. Visitor use would be monitored to manage visitor use so that the values for which the MNRR was designated would not be adversely affected.

Visitor Use Management

Analysis. Implementation of this alternative should result in an increase in land-based visitor use; therefore additional visitor use management activities would also be anticipated. The level of visitor use management would be greater than in the previous two alternatives, if all of the planned construction was implemented. Although no increase in river-based visitor use is anticipated, monitoring of boat ramps would be necessary to verify this conclusion. Site-specific environmental compliance would be needed when, and if, any construction occurred.

Conclusion: Land-based visitor use management methods, such as increased law enforcement, visitor education, and monitoring of land-based and river-based visitor use would be necessary with the implementation of this alternative.

JIMPACTS ON SOCIOECONOMIC RESOURCES

Recreational River Staff Payroll and Other Expenditures

Analysis. This alternative would have the same type of effects as were described for alternative 2. The regional economy would be impacted the same amount and for the same reasons.

Conclusion. Under this alternative, there would be an unknown, but probably no more than modest, benefit to the regional economy.

Land Use, Property Owners, and Regional Population

Analysis. This alternative would have the same type of effects as were described for alternative 2. Land use, property owners, and the regional population would be impacted the same amount and for the same reasons.

Conclusion. Under this alternative, there would be a potentially minor adverse local impact on land use, property owners, and regional population.

County Expenses and Revenue

Analysis. This alternative would have the same type of effects as were described under alternative 2. The counties' expenses and revenues would be impacted the same amount and for the same reasons.

Conclusion. Under this alternative, there would be an unknown, but probably minor, net effect on county expenses and revenues. The greatest potential for impact would result if the counties had direct financial participation in the management of the recreational river.

Employment

Analysis. This alternative would have the same type of effects as were described for alternative 2. Employment would be impacted the same amount and for the same reasons.

Conclusion. Under this alternative, there would be an unknown, but probably minor, increase in employment opportunities.

CUMULATIVE IMPACTS

Analysis. See page 115 for an analysis of which ongoing projects would be considered in the cumulative analysis.

Alternative 3 proposes two additional campgrounds, two additional boat ramps, as well as several bike trails. There are no designs, cost-share sponsors, or funds for these actions yet; however, if all of these actions were to occur, there would be an increase in land-based visitor use in the vicinity of such construction. Site-specific environmental compliance would be done when, and if, construction occurred. Construction constraints (such as avoiding eagle trees, avoiding tern and plover nesting islands, avoiding wetlands, etc.) would minimize or eliminate additional impacts.

Conclusion. The increase in land-based recreational use, in conjunction with the localized increase in traffic, economics, and land-based recreational use from the Vermillion bridge, would cumulatively result in a greater increase in land-based recreational use within the MNRR.

Cumulative impacts on cultural resources described for alternative 2 would also be applicable to this alternative.

UNAVOIDABLE ADVERSE EFFECTS

Increased use, continued conversion of agricultural land to residential and other private development, and land purchased by the government might have a net negative impact on the county government.

THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN SHORT-TERM USES AND MAINTENANCE AND ENHANCEMENT OF LONG-TERM PRODUCTIVITY

The primary short- and long-term use of the project area would be agricultural. Long-term productivity would be affected if agricultural land is converted to residential and other private developments. The long-term ability of the area to maintain both the current quality of lifestyle and to support the current visitor experience should not be significantly decreased.

IRREVERSIBLE AND IRRETRIEVABLE COMMITMENTS OF RESOURCES

Irreversible commitments of resources are those that cannot be reversed, except perhaps in the extreme long-term.

Irretrievable commitments of resources are those that are lost for a period of time — a resource is devoted to a use that simultaneously precludes other uses. This plan is not predicted to significantly preclude any such uses.

COMPLIANCE

NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY ACT

The National Environmental Policy Act of 1969 declared a federal policy to preserve important historic, cultural, and natural aspects of our national heritage and required federal agencies to use a systematic, interdisciplinary approach that would ensure the integrated use of the natural and social sciences in planning and in decision making. This *Final General Management Plan / Environmental Impact Statement* (GMP/EIS) was prepared pursuant to the act and its implementing regulations and guidelines. A notice of intent to prepare an environmental impact statement was published in the *Federal Register* in July 1992. A *Federal Register* notice was published announcing the availability of this document, and public meetings held during the public comment period. Following public review of this draft plan, the National Park Service and the Corps of Engineers addressed public comments and developed a final environmental impact statement. Each agency will provide a record of decision.

SECTION 7 OF THE ENDANGERED SPECIES ACT

The Endangered Species Act requires all federal agencies to consult with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service to ensure that any action authorized, funded, or carried out by a federal agency does not jeopardize the continued existence of listed species or critical habitat.

The National Park Service, as primary lead, requested a list of threatened and endangered species in a letter dated December 23, 1994, initiating informal consultation on the GMP/EIS. The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service responded on January 23, 1995, with a list of six endangered and two threatened species which could occur within the project area. An informational list of category 1 and 2 species was also attached. On March 10, 1997, the National Park Service requested an updated species list, since the original list was only valid for 90 days. The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service replied on March 17, 1997, that the original list was still accurate and would remain valid for another 90 days. Each listed species and the potential impacts of the GMP/EIS are discussed, and it was concluded that the general implementation of the GMP/EIS, with the conditions discussed, will have no affect on federally listed species. Concurrence of the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service on this determination will be requested prior to finalization of this document and implementation of any site-specific actions. Site-specific compliance of construction activities will also contain a review of endangered species impacts.

It is NPS policy to provide protection for federal candidate species and any state-listed species. Consultation with the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission and the South Dakota Department of Game, Fish, and Parks concerning these species has been initiated. Lists of species were obtained from the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission and the South Dakota Department of Game, Fish and Parks. These species' locations were also entered into the GIS database.

FISH AND WILDLIFE COORDINATION ACT

This act requires federal agencies to consult with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and with parallel state agencies whenever water resource development plans result in alteration of a body of water. The secretary of the interior is authorized to assist and cooperate with federal agencies to provide that wildlife conservation receives equal consideration and is coordinated with other features of water-resource development programs.
It is not anticipated that this *General Management Plan / Environmental Impact Statement* will alter a body of water, which in this case would be the Missouri River, so this act does not apply. However, reconnecting chutes and backwaters is consistent with this plan, are not specifically planned at this time, and would most likely require a cost-share sponsor. If done, these alterations would be to benefit fish and wildlife, so would be consistent with the Fish and Wildlife Coordination Act. The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service had a representative on the planning team, and much of the planning process focused on wildlife conservation.

FEDERAL WATER POLLUTION CONTROL ACT (CLEAN WATER ACT OF 1972)

This act includes section 404 of the Clean Water Act, section 10 of the Rivers and Harbors Act of 1899, and the 1987 Federal Water Quality Act. The act establishes federal regulation of the nation's waters and contains provisions designed to restore and maintain the chemical, physical, and biological integrity of the nation's waters. The act requires that the states set and enforce water quality standards to meet EPA minimum guidelines. It establishes effluent limitations for point sources of pollution, requires permits for point source discharge of pollutants and discharge of dredged or fill material, and emphasizes onsite biological monitoring. The Corps of Engineers issues permits for work affecting navigable water and wetlands of the United States, and (with the states) issues joint permits for work affecting wetlands and navigable waters. Waters of the United States are defined as all navigable waters (all interstate waters, including interstate wetlands, intrastate lakes, rivers, streams, mudflats, sandflats, wetlands, sloughs, prairie potholes, wet meadows, playa lakes, and natural ponds) for which use, degradation, or destruction could affect interstate or foreign commerce.

The Storm Water Rule (Clean Water Act) requires a National Pollution Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) permit on certain categories of storm water discharge. Road reconstruction that involves clearing and grading activities on more than five acres would require an NPDES permit.

The GMP/EIS, in its programmatic form, is in compliance with this act because site-specific construction activities occurring in (or near) waters of the U.S. will require site-specific review. Construction of the bike trail may need NPDES compliance, and construction of the boat ramps will need section 404 compliance.

EXECUTIVE ORDER 11988, "FLOODPLAIN MANAGEMENT" AND EXECUTIVE ORDER 11990, "PROTECTION OF WETLANDS"

The recreational river includes extensive floodplains and wetlands, and NPS and Corps activities are subject to executive orders protecting these areas. Wetland information was collected from the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service National Wetland Inventory and entered into the GIS database. Areas prone to flooding were mapped with data provided by the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission in consultation with COE and NPS hydrologists. Ordinary high water was interpreted from 1:24000 scale color aerial photography taken in October 1991.

The GMP/EIS recommends that new construction be outside the 100-year floodplain or sufficiently floodproofed (one foot above the 100-year elevation). However, federal roads, foot trails and associated daytime parking areas, boat ramps, and picnic areas are excepted from compliance with Executive Order 11988, "Floodplain Management," under NPS and Corps final implementation procedures as outlined in Special Directive 93-4, "Floodplain Management Guideline." Warning signs and an emergency flood response plan would be developed for dealing with all flood-prone areas under the proposed action. No other construction is proposed by the National Park Service that might adversely

affect floodplain or wetland values or do not increase flood flow obstruction. Policies were developed to protect floodplains and wetlands and the data were used in the analysis of alternatives. Any proposed future actions would include recommendations that would not adversely impact floodplains or wetlands. A Statement of Findings would be prepared for implementing the executive orders. The section 404 compliance on site-specific construction, if needed, allows for at least a 1:1 replacement ratio for impacted wetlands, which supports the no net loss of wetlands executive order.

Under executive order 11988 "Floodplain Management," federal agencies are required to avoid, to the extent possible, the long-and short-term adverse impacts associated with the occupancy and modification of floodplains and to avoid the direct or indirect support of new construction in floodplains wherever there is a practical alternative.

Under executive order 11990 "Protection of Wetlands," federal agencies are required to avoid to the extent possible, the long and short-term adverse impacts associated with the destruction or modification of wetlands and to avoid direct or indirect support of new construction in wetlands wherever there is a practical alternative.

CLEAN AIR ACT

The Clean Air Act requires all federal facilities to comply with federal, state, and local air pollution control laws and regulations.

Under the Clean Air Act conformity requirements, federal actions must conform to all applicable state implementation plan requirements and purposes, and these actions must not cause or contribute to any violations. Conformity regulations published in late 1993 addressed only those areas that are not in attainment. The GMP/EIS is in compliance with this act.

EXECUTIVE ORDER 12898, "ENVIRONMENTAL JUSTICE"

The National Park Service and the Corps are required to assess the effects of any federal action on lowincome or minority populations. The effects of any such action must not disproportionately affect these populations. None of the alternatives in this plan would result in significant direct or indirect negative effects on any low-income populations in the region. The GMP/EIS is in compliance with this executive order.

PRIME AND UNIQUE FARMLANDS

Federal agencies are required to analyze the impacts of federal actions on agricultural land. This policy was developed to minimize the effect of federal programs in converting prime, unique, or locally important farmland to nonagricultural uses. According to the Soil Conservation Service (1971), prime and unique farmlands are located all along the recreational river. The programmatic GMP/EIS does not include plans for construction in prime farmland. As site-specific construction occurs, a determination of effects, if any, on prime and unique farmlands will be made.

CULTURAL RESOURCES COMPLIANCE

The National Park Service, as the primary lead agency, has consulted with the federal Advisory Council on Historic Preservation and with the Nebraska and South Dakota state historic preservation officers regarding this *General Management Plan* through newsletters, task directive review, and drafts of alternative proposals. Guidance for management of cultural resources is also provided by the NPS Management Policies, the Cultural Resources Management Guideline (NPS-28), the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation's implementing regulations regarding "Protection of Historic Properties," and the Secretary of the Interior's Standards and Guidelines for Archeology and Historic Preservation.

Federal agencies are mandated by presidential memorandum to respect the rights of sovereign tribal governments. This memorandum requires that agencies assess the impact of federal government plans on tribal trust resources and assure that tribal government rights and concerns are considered during the development of these plans, programs, and activities.

NATIONAL HISTORIC PRESERVATION ACT OF 1966

Section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act of 1966, as amended, requires that any federal agency that proposes an undertaking must consider the effect of that undertaking on national register properties and national register eligible properties and must allow the advisory council on historic preservation and the state historic preservation office an opportunity to comment. Section 110 of this act requires federal agencies to survey and evaluate all cultural resources on land under their jurisdiction and provides for consultation with Indian groups in planning and management activities that affect them.

The 1993 amendments to the National Historic Preservation Act provide means whereby information about the character, location, or ownership of archeological sites, historic properties, and ethnographic sites, including shrines and other religious places, might be withheld from public disclosure. This provision is especially important in cases where disclosure could risk harm to the resource or impede the use of a traditional religious site by practitioners.

The National Historic Preservation Act also recognizes the importance of traditional human (ethnographic) resources, recommending that ways be found to preserve and encourage continuation of the traditional prehistoric, historic, ethnic, and folk cultural traditions that are a living expression of our American heritage. The National Park Service must meet the requirements of regulations (36 CFR 800) and the programmatic agreement among the National Conference of State Historic Preservation Officers, the Advisory Council on Historic Preservation, and the National Park Service.

THE ANTIQUITIES ACT OF 1906

The Antiquities Act of 1906 provides for protection of historic, prehistoric, and scientific features on federal land, and requires penalties for unauthorized destruction or appropriation of antiquities.

ARCHEOLOGICAL RESOURCES PROTECTION ACT OF 1979

The Archeological Resources Protection Act defines archeological resources, requires federal permits, sets penalties, provides for preservation of artifacts and records and for confidentiality of archeological site locations and encourages cooperation with other parties to improve protection.

AMERICAN INDIAN RELIGIOUS FREEDOM ACT OF 1978

The American Indian Religious Freedom Act declares that the policy of the United States is to protect and preserve for American Indians their inherent right of freedom to believe, express and exercise the traditional religions, including but not limited to access to sites, use and possession of scared objects, and the freedom to worship through ceremonial and traditional rites.

NATIVE AMERICAN GRAVES PROTECTION AND REPATRIATION ACT OF 1990

The Native American Graves Protection and Repatriation Act of 1990 (NAGPRA) assigns ownership or control of Native American human remains, funerary objects, sacred objects and objects of cultural patrimony; establishes criminal penalties for trafficking in remains or objects obtained in violation of the act; and provides for inventory of Native American remains and associated funerary objects and identification of their cultural and geographical affiliations.



PLANNING FOR THE NATIONAL RECREATIONAL RIVER

INTRODUCTION

Planning documents previously completed and approved for the recreational river include a management plan (HCRS 1980), final environmental impact statement (COE 1980), *General Design Memorandum* (COE 1980), amendments to the *General Design Memorandum* (COE 1986, 1988), and two biological assessments (COE 1979, 1992). These documents were completed to provide direction for management of the riverway, as well as fulfilling related regulatory compliance requirements. The current planning effort has been undertaken to update and revise these earlier documents.

SCOPING PROCESS

Scoping meetings in the study area were held in Niobrara, Newcastle, Omaha, and Lincoln in Nebraska and Wagner, Yankton, and Vermillion in South Dakota during the spring of 1992. These scoping meetings showed there was local concern about the advantages and disadvantages of recreational development or increases in recreational use; high bank erosion and the continuation of the program of streambank protection; a wide range of supportive and nonsupportive comment on the preservation of endangered species, and a concern over the possibility of any change in National Park Service use of limited condemnation authority. It was apparent from the scoping meetings that these issues would need to be addressed in the planning process.

SUMMARY OF PUBLIC INVOLVEMENT

This General Management Plan / Environmental Impact Statement was written and prepared jointly by the National Park Service and the Corps of Engineers, and in consultation with other federal, state, and local cooperating agencies, as well as private landowners/county representatives.

In addition to the spring 1992 scoping meetings, newsletters were mailed to the public on several occasions. A mailing list of nearly 1,000 people was developed from contacts in the local community and statewide.

The series of scoping meetings for all five planning projects in northern Nebraska and southern South Dakota held in 1992 were summarized in an August 1992 newsletter. A second newsletter in November 1993 included a planning update. It also described legislative mandates for the river, proposed purpose statements for the river, and listed the "outstandingly remarkable values" as significance statements. Then it offered the planning team proposals for "desired futures" for the Missouri National Recreational River and included a mailback form for the public to use in commenting on the newsletter content. These comments were summarized and made available to the planning team for their use in making further revisions to planning concepts for the river.

A series of possible management alternatives were proposed in a newsletter to the public in November, 1994. It proposed five alternatives for public comment. They were: Natural River Processes, Primitive River Experience, Recreation Emphasis, Historic Highway, and "No Action" (Continuation of Existing Conditions). Also proposed were four leadership options: National Park Service (or Fish and Wildlife Service) as lead agency, U. S. Army Corps of Engineers as the lead agency, delegating the responsibility to the two states through a cooperative agreement, and establishing an interstate board of

county governments that would function under a cooperative agreement. A March 1995 news release summarized the public's views of these alternatives.

Public review of the five management alternatives and four leadership options caused the planning team to rethink the range of alternatives and managers and to propose the three alternatives presented in this plan.

There was a 60-day public review period on this draft. During the review period written comments were accepted. In addition, several public meetings were scheduled in the vicinity of the river and nearby urban centers seeking public input. Announcements of these meetings were made through newspaper and radio media.

A final plan incorporates substantive comments received during the final public review. Those people who provide written comments and public officials and agencies automatically receive a copy of the final plan. Subsequent to publishing the final plan, there will be a 30-day no-action period, followed by the issuance of a record of decision documenting the final decisions.

CO-LEAD AGENCIES

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

The U. S. Army Corps of Engineers regulates the Missouri River through a series of dams and reservoirs. It also provides streambank protection work and administers section 404 of the Clean Water Act. In conjunction with the construction of the dams and reservoirs in this area, the Corps of Engineers has acquired and manages land for both dam and recreational purposes immediately below Gavins Point Dam.

The Corps of Engineers has jurisdiction by law on the Missouri River, operates the 59-mile Missouri National Recreation River cooperatively with the National Park Service (acting for the secretary of the interior), and agreed to be a co-lead agency for this recreational river GMP.

National Park Service

The National Park Service has been designated by the secretary of the interior as the administrator of the 59-mile Missouri National Recreational River.

The National Park Service administers the Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail through an office in Omaha, Nebraska. A comprehensive plan for management and use of the trail was completed in January 1982. The Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail can be accommodated as a water-based trail in this segment, using the recreational development proposed in the Recreational River Management Plan.

COOPERATING AGENCIES

Several federal, state, or local governments and agencies that have jurisdiction by law or special expertise were asked to participate as a cooperating agency. The following have agreed to be cooperating agencies for this *General Management Plan*.

U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service

The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) has responsibilities for trust resources such as migratory birds and wetlands and for administering the Endangered Species Act. Consultation and coordination with the USFWS is covered in the "Compliance" section.

Lewis and Clark Natural Resources District (Nebraska)

As political subdivisions in the state of Nebraska, natural resource districts (NRDs) are local agencies directed by an elected board. They have state authority to facilitate and administer natural resource projects and programs on a local level. The Lewis and Clark NRD provides a wide variety of services in Cedar, Dixon, and Knox Counties in Nebraska. These services include flood control, rural water supply, and cost-share programs with individual property owners. They also provide a variety of administrative activities, including sponsorship of Section 32 streambank protection demonstration work done by the Corps of Engineers.

Nebraska Game and Parks Commission

The Nebraska Game and Parks Commission owns and manages Ponca State Park and leases and manages other recreational land and facilities. State parks, by law, have significant scenic, scientific, or historic statewide values and development potential and sufficient land that a representative portion can be retained in a natural or relatively undisturbed state.

Nebraska State Historic Preservation Office

The Nebraska State Historic Preservation Office has reviewed planning documents and has contributed information on the cultural resources of the region.

South Dakota Department of Game, Fish, and Parks

The South Dakota Department of Game, Fish, and Parks maintains minor recreational facilities and manages wildlife areas adjacent to the river.

Planning and Development District III (Yankton, South Dakota)

Planning and Development District III is a voluntary association of city and county governments. Financed by membership dues, direct government grants, and service fees, the district routinely works on a wide range of issues, including economic development, community development, recreation, transportation, and long-range planning.

South Dakota State Historic Preservation Office

The South Dakota Historic Preservation Office has reviewed planning documents and has contributed information on the cultural resources of the region.

Advisory Council on Historic Preservation

To ensure that general management plan proposals that might affect properties eligible for the National Register of Historic Places comply with provisions of section 106 of the National Historic Preservation Act, a copy of the task directive was sent to the ACHP for review and comment. Newsletters describing alternative proposals for the plan were also forwarded to the council who reviewed and commented on the *Draft General Management Plan*.

County Governments

Zoning is a power of state and local governments. The Wild and Scenic Rivers Act encourages federal agencies to work with local land use planning agencies by issuing guidelines for local and state governments for consideration in protecting river corridors. These guidelines are not binding on local governments, nor can the federal government force the local governments to adopt them.

Yankton County has been zoned in the past, but currently is not zoned. Union and Clay Counties in South Dakota have had zoning ordinances in place for quite a few years. In Nebraska, Cedar, and Dixon Counties all currently lack zoning ordinances. All the Nebraska and South Dakota Counties have appointed representatives to the planning team. Each county has the opportunity to enact laws and regulations that can serve to implement different aspects of the plan.

LIST OF AGENCIES, ORGANIZATIONS, AND INDIVIDUALS WHO RECEIVED COPIES OF THE ENVIRONMENTAL IMPACT STATEMENT

Federal Agencies

Advisory Council on Historic Preservation Bureau of Indian Affairs Bureau of Land Management Environmental Protection Agency Federal Highway Administration Natural Resource Conservation Service U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service U.S. Forest Service U.S. Geological Survey

Nebraska Agencies

Board of Education, Lands & Funds Department of Economic Development Department of Environmental Quality Department of Roads Department of Water Resources Game and Parks Commission Governor's Office Lewis & Clark Natural Resource District Natural Resources Commission Northeast Nebraska Resource Conservation & Development Rural Development Commission State Recreation Trails Commission State Historical Society State Office of Policy Research

South Dakota Agencies

Department of Environmental & Natural Resources Department of Game, Fish & Parks Department of Transportation Governor's Office North Central Resource Conservation & Development State Historical Society

Nebraska U.S. Congressional Delegation

Senator Charles Hagel Senator Robert Kerrey Representative William Barrett Representative Douglas Bereuter Representative Lee Terry

South Dakota U.S. Congressional Delegation Senator Thomas Daschle

Senator Tim Johnson Representative John Thune

Nebraska State Legislative Delegation

Senator Merton Dierks Senator Robert L. Dickey Senator L. Patrick Engel

South Dakota State Legislative Delegation

Senator Roland Chicoine Representative Kenneth Albers Representative Mike Broderick Representative Caitlin Collier Representative Bernie Hunhoff Representative Garry Moore Representative John Reedy Representative Gary Sokolow

Tribal

Nebraska Indian Intertribal Development Corporation Omaha Tribal Council Ponca Tribe of Nebraska Santee Sioux Winnebago Tribe of Nebraska Yankton Sioux

County and Local Governments

Cedar County Commission City of Crofton City of Elk Point City of Hartington City of North Sioux City City of Ponca City of Yankton City of Vermillion Clay County Commission Dixon County Board of Supervisors Union County Commission Yankton County Commission

Organizations

American Rivers Conservation Fund East River Group Sierra Club Friends of the River Hartington Public Schools Land Trust Alliance Lewis & Clark Spirit Mound Trust Loess Hills Audubon Society Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association Missouri River Basin Association National Audubon Society National Highway 20 Association National Park Foundation National Parks & Conservation Association Nature Conservancy Nebraska Association of Resources Districts Nebraska Audubon Council Nebraska Highway 14 Association Newcastle-Vermillion Bridge Committee Ponca Historical Society Ponca Public Schools Sierra Club-Nebraska Chapter Spirit Mound Trust University of Minnesota Cooperative Park Studies Unit Vermillion Chamber of Commerce Vermillion Development Corporation Vermillion Public Schools Yankton Chamber of Commerce Yankton Public Schools

Libraries

Bloomfield Public Library Creighton University Eastern Township Library **O'Neill Public Library** Gregory Public Library Hartington Library Lincoln Township Library Lynch Public Library Niobrara Public Library Neligh Public Library Newcastle Public School Library Norfolk Public Library Ponca Public Library Sioux City Public Library South Dakota State University Stewart Township Library Tyndall Library & Community Center University of Nebraska Lincoln University of Nebraska Omaha University of South Dakota Verdigre Public Library Vermillion Library Wagner Public Library Wayne Public Library

Wayne State College Wynot Public School Library Yankton Community Library

Magazines and Newspapers

Omaha World Herald Norfolk Daily News Nebraska Journal Leader Sioux City Journal Yankton Press & Dakotan

Businesses and Individuals

A list of business and individual recipients is maintained by the O'Neill office of the National Park Service.

Written Comments and Responses

The following governmental agencies, organization, and individuals sent written comments on the draft document. The letters with substantive comments and responses by the National Park Service are shown on pages 147-239. Please note that addresses have been erased from individuals' letters.

Congressman Doug Bereuter 1st District, Nebraska U.S. Environmental Protection Agency U.S. Department of the Interior Fish and Wildlife Service State of Nebraska Natural Resources Commission Game and Parks Commission Lewis and Clark Natural Resources District Cedar County Board of Commissioners Dixon County Board of Supervisors City of Yankton Siouxland Interstate Metropolitan Planning Council Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association The Wildlife Society, South Dakota Chapter American Rivers Sierra Club, Living River Subgroup Jan Wasson Harold and Joyce Hoesing Edward Sibley Annie Lamprecht **Bonnie Hageman** Steve Husen Bank of Dixon County

Burt Lunn Terrence Brady Arlene Heine Betty Curry, Dixon County Planning Committee Darrel Curry, Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association James Holy Jeaneth Pinkelman Green Island Farms, Inc. Tom Moser Rebecca Wahl Arthur Rickett Gleen and Velma Wathhorn Cy F. Pinkelman Jim Peterson Jack Williams Marlan Rolfes Dean Hyde John Davidson Larry Swanson Gary Heine Gary Pinkelman Robert Ryken •

COMMITEE ON VTENTATIONAL HELATIONS VITENTANN A Contraction of the second of COMMITTEL ON BANKING UND FINANCIAL SERVICES PEUCY A VO THATA Same and the Pacets IVERARY MER NOV - 2 1998 RECEIVED Congress of the United States Douse of Representatives October 16, 1998 Omaha, Nebraska 68102-2513 Midwest Regional Office Mr. William Schenk 1709 Jackson St Dear Mr. Schenk: 1744 412-41 1736 441-362 (Jerr 4 Bun 1940) Ware vertry, DL 20215 2201 1302, 223 486A DOUG BEREUTER 1000 M CLAREN CONTRACT SCORP IN THUR P. Director

Thank you for providing me with a copy of the Draft General Management Plan and Environmental Impact Statement for the Missouri National Recreation River. I would like to take this opportunity to express my comments and concerns regarding the proposals included in the management plan. I hope that you will consider my views in reaching your decision on the proposed management plan. I find nuch in the document with which I agree and believe to be very positive. Ilowever, I do stanzity diagree with the Mational Disk Service (DSDS) choice of alternative 2 instead of alternative 3. In my opinion, the distinction between Wild. Secrie and Reveration Rivers should be maindired after designation as well as used as a criteria in designation as a "National River." Consequently, I believe that part of the initial reason for designation as a "rational River." Consequently, I believe that part of the initial reason for designation as a "referred to a "S'Verbas's northern cosst." I of course. I stand ready to beho bolarin monies for increased recreation access points as well as to assist in increasing visitor service facilities. With Dakota, as well as a replacement bridge south of Yankon, South Dakota, this area stands on the threshold fordinional recreation developments. Therefore, the Missouri Recreation River above and below Lewis and Clark Lake can be an integral part of such developments. Although I was not in Congress when the original designation of this stretch of the Missouri National Recreation River (MNRR) was made. I have worked with the Department of Discress and the Department of Interior (DO) on matters related to this recreation iver for the nearly 20 years. As you may recall, the Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service was the original agreed to manage this river for the Department of Interior. [The DOI signed a memorandum of agreement (MOA) with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers on each agency's in eposibilities. At that time it was agreed that any appropriations for the \$20 million authorized in the legislation designating the MNRR would be sough through the Corps' budget. Subsequently, in the 1986 Energy and Warer Act, the idea of foot share was adopted by the Corpses for many programs of axistance to state and boest publivisions.

 The first three paragraphs on page 10 of the draft plan explain how a general management plan/environmental impact statement (GMP/EIS) is written under the provisions of law. Section 2 (b) of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act (WSRA), PL 90-542, as amended, explains what classification a river will receive based on the level of development existing **at the time of river designation**. A subsequent general management plan sets management directions, goals, and guidelines that adhere to core intents in the WSRA.

Section 2. (b) of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act

A wild, scenic or recreational river area eligible to be included in the system is a free-flowing stream and the related adjacent land area that possesses one or more of the values referred to in Section 1, subsection (b) of this Act. Every wild, scenic or recreational river in its free-flowing condition, or upon restoration to this condition, shall be considered eligible for inclusion in the national wild and scenic rivers system and, if included, shall be classified, designated, and administered as one of the following:

(1) <u>Wild river areas</u> -- Those rivers or sections of rivers that are free of impoundments and generally inaccessible except by trail, with watersheds or shorelines essentially primitive and waters unpolluted. These represent vestiges of primitive America. (2) <u>Scenic river areas</u> -- Those rivers or sections of rivers that are free of impoundments, with shorelines or watersheds still largely primitive and shorelines largely undeveloped, but accessible in places by roads.

(3) Recruitional river areas -- Those rivers or sections of rivers that are readily accessible by road or railroad, that may have some development along their shorelines, and that may have undergone some impoundment or diversion in the past. Although cost-sharing recreational development was not originally planned for new construction within the Missouri National Recreational River (MNRR), cost sharing was included in the 1985 Supplemental Appropriations Act (PL 99-88), which provided funding for the Myron Grove boat access site. Cost sharing was included in accordance with PL 99-662 for boat access and recreational development at Yankton's Riverside Park. Therefore, unless Congress directs the Corps of Engineers (COE) to do otherwise, the COE will require a cost-share sponsor for recreational development within MNRR for projects on their lead.

3

Mr. William Schenk October 16, 1998 Page 2 funded through the Corps budget. Even though the MNRR was a previously designated river, the Corps has interpreted this legislation to require a local cost share for implementation. I have never agreed with that decision. Why is this issue not addressed directly in the management plan and how does the National Park Service and its partner, the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, plan to address the current MOA?

3

2

Very little mention was made of coordination with the one political subdivision in Nebraska which has jurisdiction for the entire length of the Nebraska portion of the 78-mile stretch of the Missouri National Recreation River (i.e., the Lewis and Clark Natural Resources District). What level of coordination has been made with the Lewis and Clark Natural Resources District (NRD)? What level of, if any, does the NPS envision the Lewis and Clark Natural Resources District and development of resources along the river?

4

Construction of the mainstem dams on the Missouri River and subsequent management of the river have greatly affected the sediment and erosion process on the river. Above the dams sediment has accreted and below the dams where sediment level is greatly reduced from historic levels, bank and river bottom erosion has accelerated. One of the original purposes behind designation of this stretch of the river was to help find a way that bank stabilization measures could be undertaken to protect the property of adjacent landowners. Tam pleased to note that the flandowners would provide widdlife habitat casements to the Corps of Engineers, so that added construction of streambank protection structures would be possible." I was particularly interested in some of the ideas suggested as possible additions to public lands and facilities both along the river and on islands within the banks of the river. Therefore, I look forward to discussing some of these concepts in more detail with you and your staff.

Thank you again for the opportunity to review and comment upon this proposed management plan for the Missouri National Recreation River between Gavins Point Dam and Ponca, Nebraska.

Best wishes.

Member of Codgress

DB/jb

c: Colonel Robert D. Volz

The National Park Service (NPS) also endorses the concept of cost sharing, believing with COE that such policy ensures strong local support for any proposed undertaking.

- 3. As noted on page 24 of the draft plan and presented as appendix C, there is a functioning cooperative agreement between the NPS and COE, the document reflecting circumstances of 1980. As noted on p. 33, upon signing the record of decision for this GMP/EIS the cooperative agreement could be, if needed, revised to reflect current policies and authorities and be consistent with the alternative selected by the planning process.
- The Lewis and Clark Natural Resources District (NRD) manager was an active member of the planning team that forged this GMP.

Regarding the NRD's future role, they are among the organizations referenced on pages 33 and 47 that river managers would seek to consult and engage on prospective management issues. On page 33 "The National Park Service would work with local landowners and governments on appropriate land uses within the boundary...." And on page 47, "The National Park Service would work with counties, landowners, and others on land development and protection issues within the boundary.... The National Park Service would seek to protect land through local partnerships and cooperative agreements."

Already, the NPS and Lewis and Clark NRD are exploring possible cooperative projects. See the response to Lewis and Clark NRD's letter.

5
H
-
-
T.
5
6
Σ.
$\overline{}$
$\mathbf{U}_{\mathbf{U}}$
0

The COE and NPS do not support a moratorium on bank stabilization but will take cumulative impacts into account when permitting individual projects on a

S.

case-by-case basis. As information from the ongoing section 33 cumulative impact study is available, relevant information will be considered in future

decisions regarding bank stabilization.



UNITED STATES ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION AGENCY REGION VII

726 MINNESOTA AVENUE KANSAS CITY, KANSAS 66101 · jarija

Linu (1999) Linu (1990) Linu (1990)

> Mr. Paul Hendren Niobrara Missouri Natınnal Scenic Riverways Pust Office Box 591 U'Neilt, NL 66763-0391

Dear Mr. Hendren:

RC: Draft Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) for the General Management Plan - Missuuri Natiunal Recreational River

bank stabilization activities have been occurring on the unchannelized river reaches without a full authurities under the National Environmental Policy Act, we have reviewed the Draft EIS for the communicated to the Army Curps of Engineers (Corps) in the cnntext of EPA's responsibility to review Clean Water Act Section 404 permits requested for such activities. While we appreciate Missouri National Recreational River), we recommend that bank stabilization for this project be limited to the protection of existing structures pending the completion of a cumprehensive study which to identify preferred bank stabilization alternatives and limitations based on the findings In accordance with our respunsibilities under Section 309 of the Clean Air Act, and uur unicate EPA's views on bank stabilizatiun in general. EPA is concerned that individual nteotion to complete both a cumulative effects study and an EIS for bank stabilization on the ubjections to your Management Plan as proposed, but whuld like to take this opportunity to Upper Missouri River from Fort Peck to Siuux City. That EIS should provide a basis with of the cumulative effects of bank stabilization activities. The Corps has recently stated its Missouri National Recreational River In this review we have concluded that we have no understanding nf the cumulative effects such activities have on fish and wildlife diversity, ire emphasis on non-traditional habitat-frienuly bank stabilization technology in this E15 viability and habitat, overall bank erosion and sediment transport, aesthetic values, and recreational opportunities within each unchannelized reach. That cuncern has been from the cumulative effects study. comn

S

RECYCLE

CONSULTATION AND COORDINATION



ч

Thank you for the opportunity to comment. If you have any questions please do not hesitate to contact me at (913) 551-7148.

Joseph Cothern Acting NEPA Program Manager organ (Sincerely,

cc: Elaine Suriano Office of Federal Activities

COMMENTS

This change was made.

6.

United States Department of the Interior

FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE LAAL ANDEAN WINDLIFE SERVICE JAACE ANDES ANTOHA WINDLIFE SERVICE LAKE ANDES SATHI DAKOTA 5794-644 LAKE ANDES SATHI DAKOTA 5794-644 LAKE ANDES SATHI DAKOTA 5794-644



JCT - , i99E October 1, 1998

RECEIVEN

Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways O'Neill. NE 68763-0591 Superintendent P.O. Box 591

Superintendent:

I read through the draft general management plan, environmental impact statement for the Missouri River National Recreational River located in Yankton, Clay and Union Counties in South Dakota. There was only one discrepancy regarding a piece of property owned in fee title hy the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. [The two pull out maps in the document (copy attached) identify a piece of property as a welawd easement. It is not. Both maps should be changed to read: U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Waterfowl Production Area. If you want to call it by name, it is the Collar Wildlife Service. Waterfowl Production Area I have enclosed a map of the property for your information.

I also recognized the fact that ynu had left out the recreational/interpretive opportunities provided by the Gavins Point National Fish Hatchery which is also a U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service owned facility. I contacted the Hatchery Manager, Herb Bollig, to let him know he needs to comment on the draft. When dealing with the information regarding the U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service, there are three distinct segments that should be involved the Ecological Services Office in Pierre which deals with the regulatory aspect of our job and the information regarding endangeted species; the Gavins Point National Fish Hatchery; and units within the National Wildlife Refuge System. That is the segment | represent. If you have any questions or need clarification, please contact me at 605-487-7603, Monday through Friday, 8:00am to 4:30pm.

Allone Hung Sylvia R Pelizza Refuge Manager Sincerely,

151

0	OTA STATE	Herriage Center Governors Drive SD 57501-2217										
E	HISTORIC	Cultured 900	al score (in (coo)		ad Statement		mental Impact SD SHPO would æd project 66 (as	emative #2 as ve #2 appears to tion of our se. Atternative seitriciting and/or ng visitor use to hest approach t. The SD iffy, evaluate,	o contact Bruce ritage of our			
ECEIVED	1 to 1998	NUMARCHW / KONK		RWAYS	HNICAL ADVIC TU		ament Plan Enviro iver (MNRR). The ithe above referen- sservation Act of 15	rice in opting for Att ternativas, Atternati the MNRR, Likewi the MNRR, Likewi anent strategy by the as well as maintain as well arouted the burces of the MNR? Te MNRR.	ise do not hesitate t newable cultural he			
œ	001	MICHA		AL SCENIC RIVE	ULTATION - TEC lational Recreation		aft General Manag nal Recreational R otential impacts of ational Historic Pre	National Park Sen paring all three at provide the sources within at cources within at cources within the cources within the many. Atternative of the unique rest with the National P	I information, plea ern for the non-rei		5	ator
	• 11	ication and Cultural Affairs	1998	TENDENT AMISSOURI NATION 191 16 68783-0591	106 PROJECT CONS 80922002F- Missourl N Multiple Ccurties	As. Superintandent:	t for the copy of the Dri for the Missouri Natioi vide comment on the p o Section 106 of the N	HPO concurs with the red Alternative. In con- highest level of inventio non-renewable cultura pears to provide the br present or provide the br ageable levels. In sur and pand preserving all ks forward to working.	u require any additiona t 773-6004. Your conc preciated		gt oric Preservation Office હેલ્મહેન્ડ	^b enner ad Compliance Coordin
	Sundaland	Department of Edu Office of History	October 8,	SUPERIN' NIOBRAR PO BOX 5 O'NEILL N	SECTION Project 98 Location: 1 (NPS)	Dear Mr./N	Thank you Statement like to prov pursuant tu amended)	The SD SI the Prefer afford the important, #2 also ap ninimizing to maintair SHPO look	Should you Penner, at state is ap	Sincerely,	Jay D. Vog State Histo Annue, 4, 5	Bruce R. F Review an



7. The matter of local involvement is addressed often in the plan. On page 13, under the "Administration" section, the first sentence reads, "Local, state, and federal agencies, community groups, advocate organizations, and individuals act in cooperation to protect and enhance the resources." On pages 34 and 47, both the NPS and COE offer additional affirmations that they intend to seek help from and continue conferring with local governments, organizations, and landowners in managing the recreational river and its land development issues. The GMP was written identifying the need for local involvement. Please see also responses 2 and 4 above. 8. The pattern for successful periodic public information-sharing gatherings already exists in COE's well-attended annual interagency meetings, the nearest one to the MNRR occurring at the Gavins Point Dam headquarters each spring. The COE and NPS propose MNRR meetings of this sort. River managers already regularly attend county commission meetings, the annual meeting of the Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association (MRBSA), and meetings with environmental groups and other interested parties, invariably to report or consult on river management issues. As stated in response 7 above, working with local residents, groups, and governments to achieve the goals set forth in this GMP is envisioned as the principal pattern for success.

Any "major federal action," such as new construction, would require that the NPS or COE comply with the National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) before construction. This process requires public notification and involvement. At a minimum, the MNRR GMP/EIS mailing list could be used for informing the public regarding NEPA compliance activities within the MNRR, so interested citizens could attend meetings or provide written comments regarding a proposed project, its impacts, and its alternatives. In addition, both NPS and COE will attend meetings discussing MNRR concerns and issues at the request of any local group or agency.

Regarding the MNRR Advisory Group established under Public Law 95-625, that group's purpose was chiefly planning and in large measure they shepherded creation of the 1980 *General Management Plan* being superceded by the current document. The Advisory Group's charter expired in 1989.

Otoe County has been added to the list on page 79.

Director of Natural Resources

An Falls

DEW:TFP:mh cc: Vince Kramper

COMMENTS

RESPONSES



2200 N. 33rd St. / P.O. Box 30370 / Lincoln, NE 68503-0370 Phone: 402-471-6641 / Fax: 422-471-5528 / http://www.ngpc.state.ne.us/

VECENCE

December 15, 1998

What is a 51.5

datase

Paul L. Hedren, Superintendent National Park Service Niobrara/Missoun National Scenic Riverways P. O. Box 591 O'Neill, NE 68763

Dear Mr. Hedren:

The Nebraska Game and Parks Commission would like to thank you for the opportunity to review the General Management Plan (SMP) and Environmental Impact Statement for the 59-mile Missour River corridor from Gavins Point Dam downstream to Ponca State Park. This is a unique section of river and one of the few remaining unchennelized and undammed reaches left on the Missour River.

Of the three management ellematives presented, our agency would agree the benefits of alternatives two and three outlength threes are made and three another three outlength three three and the advectistics, and in fact compliment each other in many instances throughout the GMP. However, alternative three appears to be more presentee in many enderine in many our constituents and Missouri River visitors anticipated needs, enjoyment, and understanding our constituents and Missouri River visitors anticipated needs, enjoyment, and understanding of values for this section of the river.

The State Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan (SCORP), cited in your draft report, was developed by the Nebraska Game and Parks Commission and identified the freq that easient Nebraska is extremely short on water-based recreation, and area where a high percentage of citizens reside. When South Dakota and low residents, within short driving distance, are added to Nebraska's numbers, the demand for outdoor recreation on the Missouri River becomes even greater.

A second plan, entitled Focusing on the Future (July 1996), is our Commission's stevartship doctme, a plan for hotsbaska's first, widdlife, and parktand resources. This plan lists the Missouri River, adjacent to Nebraska, as one of our phincipal focal points end deals with the recreational values and resource management of the river. The goel of the Missour River section in this plan is to "Restore, protect, and maintain the diversity of historic Missour River habitats, resources and ecosystem the diversity of historic Missent and future generations may enjoy consumptive and non-consumptive outdoor recreational opportunities." Five objectives were

NPS Missouri Rivar GMP draft plan Page 2 12/15/98 identified to meet this goal. (1) To restore terrestrial and aquatic floodplain habitat types, including old oxbows, chutes, sice channels, backwater, wetland areas and other shallow water habitats. (2) Restore flows that reflect the natural hydrograph of the Missouri River. (3) Educate the public on the advantages of reduced navogation in the aurimer and early fail to the natural hydrograph as well as the summar recreational breefits on the river. (4) Double the number of total accessional breefits on the wer. (4) Double fibe number of total accessional breefits on the were (4) Double fibe number of total accessional absects occup of the Missouri River section of this plan has bean anclosed for your reference. In summary, the 59-mila segment of Missouri River from Gavins Point Dam to Ponce State Park is externing' important to Nabraskama sa walla sa cittera from our neighboring stata. Altanativa threa of the Missouri RIVer GNUP provdes our agency a tess confining opportunity to share this section of near in accord with established plans such a SCGRP and Focusing on the Future. Alternative three also affords us more latitude to meat our goals of rasource protection and recreational enhancement while helping to diversity local economies and contribute to and help maintain the Good Life here in Netzaka.

Thank you again for your thoughtful consideration.

Rex amale Rex Amack Sincerely

Director

RA/sg

Enclosure:

CC: E. Benjamin Nelson, Governor Mika Johanns, Governor-Elact Bob Korry, Sanator Douglas Breuter, Congressman, District 1 Jon Chnistensen, Congressman, District 2 Jon Chnistensen, Congressman, District 2 William Barrett, Congressman, District 3 Lee Tany: Congressman-Elact, District 3 Lee Tany: Congressman-Elact, District 3 Lee Tany: Congressman-Elact, District 3 Director, Nebraska Natural Rasource Commission Director, Nebraska State Historical Society Manager, Lewis & Clark Natural Resource District

608 N. Robinson PO Box 518	Farmington, NE 867.39 Phone (402) 254-6758 Fax (402) 254-6759	VEDEIVED	JEG . 1998	
LEWIS & CLARK	Natural Resources District			
	P	December 10, 1998	Paul Hedren National Park Service Niobrar/Missouri NSR PO Box 591 O'Neill, NE 68763	Dear David

Dear Paul

The Lewis & Clark NRD in Hartington has reviewed the draft General Management Plan for the discourt National Recretational River and has some opinions to offer on its content. We have generally been supportive of the Recretational River Concept since its inception and continue that attitude. We hope you will consider these comments as constructive and incorporate them in the final version. The District continues to emphasize the importance of local input. It is essential to seek concurrence from local partners when developing plan objectives as part of the two agencies' decision making process. This issue was raised during the planming meetings, addressed by tetter (1,0,000 Peterson 3/24/97), but sill not included yet. We believe "conferinge" individually with hocal groups suggests a one-way communication whereas mutual concurrence would be much more effective (p 34 & p 48). Some means needs to be developed to mellod and be much more effective (p 34 & p 48). Some means needs to be developed to mellod and be much more effective (p 34 & p 48). Some would like this included in the plan.

11 We believe an advisory group would be the best solution, but was told that is wasn't authorized. Please explain how that was deleted from PL95-625 We ask at least that you add the following sentence on buch pages 34 and 43" These groups will be approached as partners for constructors on management proposals and enrying out the plan objectives.³¹ Both Putted for constructors on Lata(C of E), told us on November 12, 1998 that this change would be acceptable. The NRD would be wiling to assist the NPS with Conservation Easement efforts along the river At present, we hold some perpetual examents for maintenance of Bauk Protection measures as telected locations but they likely would not fit the purposes specified in the pin. Because of limited staff and financial resources we would not fit the purposes specified in the pin. Because of limited staff and financial resources we would not fit the purposes specified in the pin. Because of limited staff and financial resources we would not fit the purposes specified in the pin. Because of limited staff and financial resources we would not fit the purposes specified in the pine. See the process preliminary discussion with Baul Helton indicated NPS could provide legal assistance on conservation easements to the District. We dilte that assure in some cooperative agreement from before we could provide logal assistance on conservation easements on the protext and the best tool wubble here, but catation medicated NPS and provide logal assistance on conservation easements will be willing to donate easements with the intertion that it qualifies them under "fielded interes" for potential bank protection, but it's not likely that such assurances can be under "fielded interes" for potential bank protection, but it's not likely that such assurances can be under "fielded interes" for potential bank protection, but it's not likely that such assurances can be under "fielded interes" for potential bank protection, but it's not likely that such assurances can be under the under the under the under the under the under the such that interpreted the process of the protection, but it's not likely that such assurances can be under the under t

12

Recycled Paper

- NPS and COE believe "conferring" to mean two-way communication. The matter of committees and general and specific communication and consultation are further discussed in response 7. Also see response 8.
- 11. Regarding the MNRR Advisory Group, see the concluding paragraph to response 8.
- 12. Before commencing any long-term cooperative undertaking with individuals or organizations, a legal instrument firming all expectations and understandings would be drawn and signed by the involved parties.

10

Cn.
Ľ.
Ξ.
Ζ.
Ē.
⋝.
≥.
$\overline{}$
\mathbf{U}
C
-

Hedren letter Page 2 December 10, 1998 The comments on "Streambark Protection" (p 39 & 50) could stand revision to strengthen the fact that stabilization is necessary and important. This is noted on page 9, however the commenis made leswhere are on a laways relative to Misseaun River conditions. It is naive for example to think that "vegetative means" and "bioengineering techniques" would be effective determents to forces of a river this size. The use of rock stabilization in portions of the River benefit widdlife habitat as well as agricultural land, and this fast should be noted. We do concur emplanically with the need for continued maintenance of activities and facilities by the Federal agencies.

13

For costs reasons as well as community acceptance, the preferred alternative would appear to be the most practical. The physical and environmental impact of emphasized recreation may not be in the best long term interests of those who admire and enjoy the Missouri River as it is, but the NRD could appear of alternative three as well. Untimately the success of the Recreation River Plan will depend on how well the NPS relates with local interests We hope they do it well.

Sincerely.

Tom M' and Tom Moser General Manager

oo: Dan Barantar

cc: Rep Bereuter Darrel Curry Jim Petersen Allen Heine

13. In fact, the second paragraph of p. 39 opens with, "When bioengineering techniques are not feasible nor practicable, erosion control techniques (including the use of rocks for streambank protection) would be permitted... .. " The use of bioengineering on the banks of the Missouri River, especially this far north, has not been tested for long-term durability. While the success of various techniques varies, COE and NPS intend to keep all stabilization options open, including hard structures, environmentally sensitive options, and the use of sloughing easements.

COMMENTS





15. The NPS and COE invite organizations and local governments with interests in the MNRR to make proposals for cooperative projects. Each agency will review the proposals as they relate to their respective missions and for consistency with the law. Pending receipt of operational funding, NPS and COE envision cost-sharing opportunities in many matters of visitor education and protection and resources management.

Dwain Heime

George (Gus) Pick, Vice-Chairr District #3

~476 215.

Board of Commissioners

Cedar County Hartingon, NE 68739

Hartington

Dear Paul:

National Park Service Niobrara/Missouri NSR

Paul Hedren

P.O. Box 591 O'Neill, NE 68763

December 16, 1998

The Cedar County Board of Commissioners has reviewed information presented by the National Park Service regarding the draft of the General Management Plan for the National Recreational River. The County Board has also been in autendance to Sinsouri National Relatings in respect to the Recreational River Concept, and on the most part has been supportive.

This Board however has some concerns regarding the Project that needs to be made known at this time. The main concern comes to retaining local control, we feel that ont Cectar County gets into place. an operating County wide Zoning Plan, the Zoning Commissioner will have Floal Control regarding new construction in Cedar County at the area adjacent to the Scenic River Project. This County Board has hopes of getting Zoning into cumplete operation within the next 24 months.
--



Regarding our previous discussions held on the Cedar County boat docks and recreation (actilities, which are located within the Scenic River Project. This Board is requesting the National Park Service to attempt to incorporate into the plan, some type diarangement to Provide assistance to Cedar County for the existing recreation facilities, along with the consolidation of Goat kland into the National Park System, us you have stated Goat Island appears to be Federal Lands.

Sincerely.

Chairman, Cedar County Board of Commissioners Lection Nernes

Cc: Rep Bereuter Senator Kerry Senator Hagel

Dure Now Clerk

DIXON COUNTY CLERK P.O. BOX 546

Phone 402-755-2208

I ECEIVED

PONCA, NEBRASKA \$6770 December 8, 1998

\$MANSON.

88

·Ł · · · 1998

Paul Hedren Superintendent Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverwaye PO Box 591 O'Neill, NE 68763

Dear Mr. Hedren:

We, the Dixon County Board of Supervisors, are pleased to have the opportunity to comment on the Miscouri National Recreation River Draft General Management Plan and Environment Statement.

revised cooperative agreement between the NPS and COE.

We recommend that there be continued stress placed on the original designation of this stretch of the river, as a "recreation river", pursuant to Public Law 95-625. enacted November 11, 1978. We recommend that the severely eroding sites be identified and cost estimates be included in the Plan, and that high bank estilization be a priority in the Plan and such stabilization work be included in the Corps of Engineers' buddet, as stated in Plain Law 95-625. The flow-way is now 60% wider than when Gavins Point Dam was completed. A wide shallow river is not in keeping with the plan for a National Recreation River.

We recommend that more access sites be provided for recreational purposes and that the natural beauty and integrity of the river be protected. Eagle roost areas, wildlife habitats, and game production areas in the wooded sites are irreplaceable.

bank stabilization. After the Section 32 projects were completed, the erosion inter dropped from an estimated 160 acters per Year to 80 actes per Year on this 59 mile reach. Since that time, the high releases of recent years has, once again, accidented the crossion rate, resulting in a tax loss to Dixon County. economic benefits to Dixon County will be greatly increased with continued Tho

We recommend that "Alternative 3" of the Draft General Management Plan and Environment Statement be selected as it is closer to the intent of the law passed by Congrese.

Sincerely,

Russell Fleury, Chairment Dixon County Board of Supervisors

Congressman Doug Bereuter William Schenk, Director NPS Senator Robert Kerry Senator Chuck Hagel c c :

commencement of the channelized river near Ponca State Park, Nebraska, The stabilization work and easement acquisition necessary to establish a mandated MRBSA, was asked to provide a list of priority bank stabilization sites. With NPS is participating in this EIS, focusing on its 39-mile management district authority for an environmental impact statement (EIS) on the effects of bank stabilization along the Missouri River from Fort Peck Dam, Montana, to the are poised and willing to conceive a new bank stabilization program for the below Fort Randall Dam and this 59-mile district below Gavins Point Dam. this EIS requirement underway NPS, COE, MRBSA, and other cooperators stabilization protection and will address alternatives and the environmental During the winter of 1998-99, the COE initiated scoping under section 33 funding and implementation through procedures outlined in the current or consequences inherent in such an undertaking. The public, including the The section 33 EIS will identify specific areas potentially needing bank federal interest. This program will then be commended to Congress for 59-Mile MNRR involving updated cost projections for critical bank 16.

16



Ganeso City of Hankton

(1) 410-416 Walnut 4.0 - 416 Walnut P.0 Box 176 Yankton, South Dakora 57078-0178 Util Phone (605) 668-5200 Prover-999

X88

Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways United States Department of Interior National Park Service **O'Neill, NE 68763** Mr. Paul Hedren Superintendent P.O. Box 591

Dear Mr. Hcdren:

River. After consideration of the three options contained within the plan, the City supports the The Board of City Commissioners of the City of Yankton met and discussed the Draft General Management Plan/Environmental Impact Statement for the Missouri National Recreational preferred option which would be future use of the river combining the environmental and recreational interests.

Lewis & Clark Bicentennial Committee will be January 13, 1999. I suggest that you contact Roger Pierce, our Director of Parks and Recreation who also serves on that committee for more We would also like to express our interest in cooperating with the National Park Service (NPS) with regard to the Lewis & Clark Bicentennial Celebration. The next meeting of the Yankton information about getting on that agenda.

As your plans for establishing a NPS field office in Yankton progress, please contact us. We would be happy to provide assistance with that effort.

If you have any further questions, please feel free to contact me.

Sincerely.

lever) lit this Eric Swanson .

City Manager

cc: Roger Pierce, Director of Parks and Recreation



EQUAL OPPORTUNITY EMPLOYER

18. See response 3.

SIOUXLAND[INTERSTATE]] ETROPOLITAN PLANNING GUNCIL

Action

\$

19. This plan does not endorse "restoring spring floods" and this language is not in the document. The plan does not affect water releases from Gavins Point Dam. On page 15, third paragraph in the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers section, it is written, "While flow releases from the dam are outside the scope of this *Draft GMP/EIS*, as administrator of the MNRR, the National Park Service favors an alternative that would protect and enhance the values for which the MNRR was included in the national wild and scenic rivers system. In reaching a decision on the *Master Water Control Manual* update, the Corps would need to balance the needs of the MNRR with other needs of the Missouri River basin."

MECENES 1991 19444-1-12-2015-00004

507 - 7TH STREET, SUITE 401 50. BOX 447 510UX CITY, 10WA 51102-047 TELEPHONE (172) 279-5205 FAX (712) 279-5205 E-MAIL almpcco@almpcc.org

December 15, 1998

Mr. Paul L. Hedren, Supt. National Park Service P.O. Box 591 O'Neill, NE 68763

Subject: Draft General Management Plan/EIS Missouri National Recreation River

Dear Mr. Hedren:

We have reviewed the subject document (plan) and recognize that it contains good and interesting information. The alternatives presented are somewhat difficult to compare because there are no specific recommendations included.

We favor an increased emphasis on recreation and, therefore, favor Alternative Three. We note that this 59-mile stretch was designated as a "National *Recreation* River".

recommendations on bank protection improvements. Such recommendations on bank protection improvements. Such recommendations would be predicated on an updated bank erosion study. This study should update the earlier work on bank erosion rates completed by the Corps of Engineers and SIMPCO. These

17

earlier studies allower the selection of high priority bank protection areas for the 1978 plan. The name should contain specific recommended recreational

The plan should contain specific recommended recreational improvements and scenic easements.

improvements and scenic easements. The costs of bank protection, recreational improvements, and scenic easements should also be included.

Agreement with the Corps of Engineers.

19 We do not believe the selected plan should restore spring floods in any event. The purpose of the plan was not to change the flows of the Missouri River. The flows and related issues are being

Visit our Home Page at http://www.plonet.net/~simpco

3
E
Z.
H
2
Σ
0
()

20. See responses 4 and 15.

addressed through the Corps of Engineers Review and Update Study of the Master Water Control Manual. We oppose any large changes in flows that would increase the threat of floods or hamper drainage of agricultural areas during the spring planting period.
We believe that a closer working relationship with local groups is warranted. SIMPCO has performed a number of high quality studies that relate to this section of the river and could be included in the plan.

Sincerely,

Srn Mumer

Don Meisner, Director

cc: US Senator Tom Daschle US Senator J. Robert Kerrey US Senator Tim Johnson US Senator Chuck Hagel US Representative Doug Bereuter US Representative John Thune US Representative John Thune US Representative Elect Lee Terry

Rec rver NPS 98-12

S	
EN	
MIV	
O	
Ŭ	

Missourl River Bank Stabilizetion Ass'n newcastle, nebraska 4357

December 12, 1998

RECEIVED	APPr JAK	VIOBRARA/MISSOUNI NSR
United States Department of the Interior	National Park Service Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways P. O. Box 591	O'Neill, Nebvraska 68763 Attention: Paul L. Hedren, Superintendent

Dear Sir,

Your office has released the final draft general management plan/environmental impact statement for the Missouri National Recreational River for public review and comment. Your plan as released contains three alternatives; according to your statements at one or more of the public meetings, the first alternative, herein identified as Alternative One. is not viable

alternative, herein identified as Alternative One, is not viable. (You may recall that when a vote was taken by the planning team, the county representatives unanimously favored Alternative One.) As a practical matter, then, only Alternatives Two and Three are to be given serious consideration.

Of the two, the Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association favors Alternative Three, the Recreational River alternative. It is the belief of the Association that Alternative Three best reflects the needs and desires of the membership. That membership, as you likely know, consists of farmers, landowners, hunters, fishermen and others interested in protecting and preserving the segment of the Missouri subject to your plan.

This segment of the Missouri, while still largely reflective of the truly wild Missouri, does in fact display a number of features indicative of the encroachment of civilization. Isolated areas of "development" in the form of trailers, cabins, a campground or two, a boat club, some sporadic activity by "outfitters", "spot" bank stabilization and extensive farming operations along the river, underscores the fact that this is no longer a natural, wild river. Its altered character would seen to qualify it best for Alternative Three. Indeed, its very categorization as a "Recreational River" suggests adoption of

21. As explained on page 24, NEPA requires a "no action" alternative as a baseline for the environmental analysis of impacts of proposed federal actions. This requirement was repeatedly explained at planning and public information meetings.

22. See response 16.

MRBS

P.2

Alternative Three.

At the outset we should emphasize the difference between bank stabilization and channelization. The latter seeks to force the river into a narrow, self-scouring "ditch". On the Missouri channelization is characteristically used to facilitate navigation. Bank stabilization is a means of erosion reduction. It seeks to set limits (the "high banks") within which the river can wander at will. It may or may not be at the water's edge. It should be as unobtrusive as possible. Some extant stabilization work, done about twenty-two years ago, is now so overgrown it is now not noticeable to a casual observer, if at all.

It has been obvious to the county representatives since the day the planning team began its work that National Park Service members of the team have, for the most part, been hostile to the inclusion of bank stabilization as a part of this plan. Despite specific language in the authorizing legislation, bank stabilization has been given short shrift. It was heartening to hear your repeated assertions at the Vermillion and Yankton meetings that bank stabilization was definitely "in there" (in the plan) and was to be given even more prominence and importance as a regult of the clamor for such at the public meetings.

If indeed you have stressed (or will streas) the need for bank protection and actually specify sites in need thereof in your revised plan, it would seem only fair to publicize these specifics prior to sending the plan on for further consideration. This is especially significant in light of the National Park

This is espectally significant in light of the National vark Services' bias against bank protection. Note, here, two things: first, (again), the Association favors bank stabilization, not channelization; second, we ask only for "high bank" protection, where needed, as needed.

Here it should be emphasized that bank stabilization can and should be an indispensable tool in protecting and preserving the river. Just one of the true tragedies resulting from the

COMMENTS

See response 19.

23.

MRBSA

P.3

neglect and delay (of the National Park Service) in dealing with erosion problems has been the total destruction of the magnificent stand of "old growth" cottonwoods at or near Mile 779R.

The view that bank stabilization is repugnant to the concept of a recreational river ignores a salient characteristic of today's river: it no longer floods in the segment covered by this plan. While erosion persists relentlessly, because of the absence of flooding no restoration ("build-back") ever occurs. Landowners thus have an almost 100% chance of losing their land; they have little or no chance of regaining any of it. It would be manifestly unfair to ignore the need for stabilization in any plan whose aim is to preserve and protect this segment of the river.

We need not remind you that landowners are willing to help achieve the aims of this project. A number of them have volunteered to provide easements which would facilitate and enhance the objectives of the plan. Your preferred alternative calls for, among other things, management so as to restore "....the natural function of the river". The annual flooding along the pre-dam river was a "natural function". It appears that Alternative Two embraces the concept of a return to the "spring flood" espoused by some environmental groups. (Summary, Alternative Two, p 63.) [If in fact that be contemplated, it is, without adequate bank procetton, irresponsible, at bast. "Criminal" is likely a more accurate description. This proposal, absent bank stabilization,

should sound the death knell for Alternative Two. With respect to the lack of public access to the "Rec River" in its lower reaches, on the South Dakota side, the Association agrees that an additional access point in that area is desirable. Such access should insure a usable, all-weather launching ramp, suitable for both power boats and canoes. Right hank access is addute, and the ramps and docks are for the most part guite

33

\mathbf{v}
Ë.
7
2
Σ
$\overline{\mathbf{a}}$
$\tilde{\mathbf{a}}$
~

P.4

good.

and precisely what being included in the boundary entails. This We also noticed the failure to specify precise boundries should be clearly outlined to inform landowners along this stretch of the river.

24

Park Service, after "dragging out" the completion of this plan, used extremely poor judgement in choosing the holiday season "public" meetings were not advertised in the local papers on the Nebraska side of the river; notably the Hartington paper It is the consensus of the Association that the National to "rush" into public meetings. Especially so, since these and the Nebraska Journal/Leader, Ponca.

The Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association, comprising of a substantial number of members in both Nebraska and South Dakota, recommends Alternative Three.

Sincerely,

/M. Peterson esident M. E

ssouri River Bank Stabilization Association

Copies sent to: Senator Hagel Senator Kerrey Senator Daschel Senator Johnson

• Congressman Bereuter • Congessman Thune • William Schenk Dir. NPS

On page 44 is additional information on the matter of private lands inside the boundary.

24.

generalized boundary is depicted in the plan. At all public meetings from the Federal Register, and copies thereafter circulated to local public repositories. Precise boundary information has long existed in the NPS O'Neill office. A maps will be forwarded to Congress, notice of availability published in the comment. Following signing of the Record of Decision, official boundary proposed boundary in greater detail were available for public review and commencement of the planning to the present, larger maps showing the



THE WILDLIFE SOCIETY Swith Dakous Chapter P.0. 80 × 48 Madison, South Dakota 57042 605 256-2794

December 16. 1998

Paul L. Hedren, Superintendent Nalional Park Service Mishrara/Missour National Scenic Riverways D'Neill, Aebraska 68763

3201 ---

MBK

AECEN FT

Ę.

Ucar Mr Hedren

Cn behalf of The South Dakota Chapter of the Wildlife Socrety. I am writing in support of the Preferred Alternative described in the Darkf General Management Plan and Christmental Impact Statement for the Missouri National Recreational River. The South Dakota Chapter is a private, nonprofit organization composed of over Z00 professional Diogolist, managers. research scientists educators are administrators that have dedicated a large portion of their lives in an effort to conserve. profest and enhance the natural resources of South Dakota.

We are deeply concerned about the decline of many native Missouri River species and the Preferred Alternative appoars to offer the best opportunity for the Mational Park Service to play a role in correcting these trends. The Section Dated Chapter realizes that while this segment of the Missouri River is a very small part of the entire system. It does support a disproportionant number of Species in need of mangament actions to check the precipitous defines that nave occurred. The Preferred Alternative appears to move in that criterion and undividuals will need to play significant roles with the dational Park Service to avert further declines in the resources along this reach of the Missouri River.

Streereiy.

Survey Van

Thomas R Tornow. President SD Chapter of the Wildlife Society




÷.

÷

JENEIVEI

December 17, 1998

Paul Hedren, Superintendent Missouri National Recreational River PO Box 591 O'Neill, Nehraska 68763

Dear Superintendent Hedren:

Thank you for the opportunity to comment for the record on the Draft General Management Plan and Environmental Impact Statement for the Missouri National Recreational River. American Rivers, working jointly with the Missouri River Coalition, is leading a five-year campaign to restore portions of the Missouri River to their natural condition - a condition that Lewis and Clark would recognize. Our vision for the Missouri includes securing river management prioritist that suppert healthy fish and wildlife populations, provide a full range of recreational opportunities and improve the quality of life in riverside communities.

The Missouri River Coalition includes forty groups from all seven states in the Missouri River Basin representing conservation. recreation and Tribal interests.

Preferred Alternative

American Rivers strongly supports the preferred alternative (Resource Protection/Recreation) identified in the draft plan. The Missouri National Ruscreational River, as suggested in the legislative history of the reach, still provides one of the last vestiges of the natural Missouri River before it was dammed and channelized. The 59-mile segment now maintains some of the best remaining habitat for the endangered interior least tern and the Intreatend piping plover, and holds promise as the Set place for matural reproduction of the endangered pallid sturgeon between the Yellowstone River in Montana and Ponca State Park.

Considering the dramatic alterations wrought on the Missouri in the last fifty years, and the considerable amount of habitat destroyed as a result, the recreational inver managed to protect its unique features: sundbars, backwaters, eroding banks, snags and cottonwood forests. These features provide numerous species of concern with proper foraging, nesting and reving habitat conditions.

As suggested in the proferred alternative, such a stretch of river also provides tremenduus educational opportunities. People from across the nation can expenence the historic Missouri

3

Q

25.

here, learning about the river's storied past and understanding more clearly the recreational river's role in the overall health of the Missouri River system. We urge you to take full advantage of these opportunities by drawing visitors to the area and subsequently educating these visitors on the history of the Missouri River and the benefits provided by the Missouri National Recreational River.

C1

Additionally, we support the preferred alternative because it ensures continued opportunities to enjoy high-quality hunting. Teshing, examping and widdlice beservation. Reseave of its meandering nature, the Missioural National Recreational River is one of the few places left) on the Missionti that affords safe canceing and studies camping possibilities. To the extent possible, tercreation opportunities should be maximized under the preferred alternative to allow people to experience the natural Missiouri and to ensure communities like Vermillion, South Dakota and Procea, Mobasia regulations.

Comments from Slerra Club - Living River Group

The Living River Group of the South Dakota Sierra Club is an active and important member of the Missouri River Coalition. We affirm their comments on the draft plan and urge you to carefully consider their concerns and ideas. Improving recreational access for non-motorizzed craft, developing a Missouri River Cance. Trail and enharcing recreational popromulication along the recreational train through hiking and biking trains and scenic or victoois are simple ways to engage people more directly in enjoying the recreational river without posing undue harm to its resources. To the extent practicable, management actions taken under the preferred alternative should encourage improvements in ware quality.

Bank Stabilization

American Rivers' stroogest concerns about the Missouri National Recreational River center around continued and increased stabilization of its banks. Like the Missouri's Garrison Reach in North Dakota, the recreational river's unique natural recources are threatened by an aggressive campaign to stabilize croding banks. While emergency situations and the potential loss of historic properties may warrant stabilization in some cases, improper floodplain development and land use do not.

American Rivers urges the National Park Service to support a moratorium on further bank stabilization projects until the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers can complete a proper cumulative impacts study of bank stabilization on the Missouri River from R. Peek Dann to Pronea. Only with such data can reasoned and accurate desisons be made regarding how a bank stabilization project may impact end angered or threatened Species. natural habitat or the recreational opportunities provided by the Missouri River in this area. When bank stabilization is warranted, environmentally sensitive methods should prevail over the use of riprap and other hard structures. The continued stabilization of the segment's banks with riprap ensures a slow progression toward channelization like the river below Sioux City.

26. See response 13. Neither the NPS nor COE support progressive channelization as cha. Acterized but acknowledge the legislative authority to address isolated erosion problem areas. If and when new federally partnered bank stabilization occurs on the banks of the MNRR, the appropriate and required environmental compliance laws will be followed and the results used to determine the validity and consequences of the proposed project. Meanwhile, Endangered Species Act and NEPA compliance are undertaken on a case-by-case basis as part of the section 404 permitting process required of any private or public bank stabilization project.

Ultimately, such changes on the recreational river will be in violation of the segment's designation legislation. the Endangered Species Act, the National Environmental Policy Act and other controlling statutes. The very unique natural resources that the re-treational river was designated up protect will surely be lost with hardened banks, as will the economic and social benefits of ferevarion.

m

Conclusion

In conclusion, American Rivers supports the Park Service's preferred alternative and requests its fall and swift implementation. We urge consideration of the Living River Group's ideas sreading enhanced recreational access. Further bank stabilization along the recreational river stabilization on the upper Missouri River.

If you have any questions regarding our comments, please contact me in Nehraska at 402-730-5593.

Sincerely,

J Ų. 0

Chad B. Smith Missouri River Regional Representative American Rivers Mill Towne Building 650 J Street, Suite 400 [Lincolo, Nebraska 68508 (p) 402-477-2565 (n) 402-477-2565 semith@amrivers.org



Living River Subgroup (Vermillion, South Dakota) East River Group 500 South Churchill Avenue Sioux Falls, SD 57103

1000000000

C. Law

> Paul L. Hedren, Superintendent Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Waterways

December 16, 1998

P.O. Box 591 O'Neill. Nebraska 68763

Dear Superintendent Hedren,

Enclosed are complete comments that describe in detail the recommendations of the Sierra Club for modifications of Alternative 2 (Preferend Alternative) of the Darti General Management Plan and Environmental Imped Statement for the Mission National Recreational River (39-mile segment, Gavins Point Dam to Ponce State Park). These comments were developed by a local group of Sierra Club members (Living River) and represent a more complete explanation of the cards that were sent to you by hundreds of local clubas.

In general, we applaud the National Park Service for their Drah Plan which clearly demonstrates a comminent towards protection of this pistiture segment of the Missouri River. In particular, our weas are most clearly allowed with more outlined in Allemative 2. (Preferred Allemative). The comments that are outlined in the enclosed document are suggestions for modifications or additions to Allemative 2 that we ele strengthen that section. In our option, Allemative 1. (Cominations to Missouri River that must be preserved. In courtest, Allemative 1. (Cominations of Existing Conditions) is tradity unacceptable and will lead to eventual destruction of many of the natural aspects of the River that must be preserved. In courtest, Allemative 3 pieces to fair in creational and public development with many longterm regative consequences for the health of the River. Overall, it is our ophion that this special section of the Missouri River must be more carefully managed for matural bank stabilization and monitored to maintain high water opailty. Efforts for natural development of the shoreline should be greatly expanded and efforts to harden or fix the shoreline antificially should be discontaged. While we are sympathetic to concerns of local landowners regarding erosion, we believe that the option that is test for the protection of the integrity of the river is a natural land corridor which allows the river to meander at will. Therefore, the long range erosion control strategy should be acquisition of land from willing selects, with interim measures that are as few and as natural as possible.

All existing species of plants and animals must be encouraged to thrive, and a much larger "greenbed" should be developed than its outlined in Alernative 2. As outlined, the proposed greenbelt is instificient to offer much procession of movement for wildlife, and a wider greenbelt would enhance the scenic and recreational characteristics of the River. 28 Noise pollution can be gready reduced by encouraging a "reduced water" policy and prohibiting powerboating, waterskiing, and use of personal motorized water craft ("jet-stois"). Further noise

- 27. As described on page 35 the "green area" concept is limited generally to the confines of the boundary. For this plan to recognize enough land to encourage plant and animals to "thrive" goes far beyond the scope of the Wild and Scenic River Act and provisions for designating boundaries. NPS and COE believe that they have identified and drawn boundaries sufficient to protect the outstandingly remarkable resources inherent in this river designation.
- 28. The National Park Service recently promulgated a regulation prohibiting personal watercraft on national park system waters, except where expressly permitted. Personal watercraft are not permitted on the MNRR. Noise is a problem on certain segments of the recreational river, and balancing desires for solitude with general recreational boating is a recognized management issue.

reductions can be achieved by discouraging future road development along the River and minimizing development of scenic overlooks for automobile traffic.

Although protection of the natural environment should be of the highest priority, we also feel strongly that recreational opportunies should be further developed that have minimum impact on the natural environment. Education of the public is necessary for future protection of the River, and the bust approach for interasting public awareness is to provide ample opportunities to experience the River. Our termendations for recreational uses by byound hose of Alternative 2 hit have much least effect. Our termendations for recreational uses possible those of Alternative 2 hit have much least effect. Our termendations for recreational use approach for interasting public awareness is to provide ample opportunities to experience the River. Our termendations for recreational use approach for interasting public awareness is to provide ample opportunities to experience the River. Our termedations for recreational uses of the strong approach for interasting public awareness is to provide ample opportunities to experience the River. Our termedations for recreational use of the strong opportunities to experience the River. Our termedations for recreational use commendations for the environg opportunities to experience the River. Our notification of the River be dasignated a development of campsites will support these low impact recreational activities.

We are excited about the future for the Missouri River that is provided by this National Park Service Draft and look forward to working with you in its implementation.

Living River Subgroup (Vermillion, South Dakota) East River Group Sierra Club (Signatures are attached on the following page) CONSULTATION AND COORDINATION

We the undersigned represent Living River, a local subgroup of the East River Group of the Sierra Club. On behalf of hundreds of local citizens, we developed and support this cover letter and supporting documents.

3 6110 S. Alva . houndres C. Welso 0 AN Electuch , 333 and altera C ohura Burney ahen Clink New 6 120 Q C 5

Missouri National Recreational River - 59 Mile Stretch Comments to the Draft General Management Plan/Environmental Impact Statement - Preferred Alternative

In October of 1998, five the thing. What they did to the River is a dauntin wid cancents from the area decided that a fall cance cruise of the 59thore, requiring almost leveloped obscare and total reliance on local canceists who have B Environmental Impact Statement for the Missouri River are respectfully submitted The following comments to the Draft General Management Plan and to the National Park Service on behalf of the Sierra Club - Living River group, Vermillion, South Dakota. The Living River group is made up of individuals from the East River Group Sierra Club, who, after meeting over a period of 15 months to review the draft management plan for the 59-mile stretch, propose the following additions to the preferred alternative The Group notes efforts of the National Park Service that are outlined in the management plan to preserve and restore the 59-mile segment of the Missouri River and is generally supportive of the preferred Iternative activities directed toward that end Day to Day, Onute Management

stretch would be jus

worth, Kansas,

know was that gettin

access is available clearly (unmarked) ingress, and a South Dakota side. What the small party was able ughlights the fact that practically out of the and hours of "arran the 59-Mille stretch Clark were to arrive to identify a public private and remote vinant Leb-2 River, including releases from the five mainstem dams. The NPS Management Plan acknowledged that recreation is a purpose for which it will manage the flow of the and the Corps' Master Manual Revisions are being developed simultaneously Yet Failure of the two agencies to plan together toward the common goal is for scenic and recreational purposes. The Army Corp of Engineers has formally An important purpose of the NPS Management Plan is to protect the River Coordination of the planning efforts has the clear potential to make each agency effort more successful, yet the two treat each other as if they were independent Balkan states rather than closely related agencies of the same popularly elected unacceptable, and flies in the face of a clearly stated purpose of Congress surprisingly, the two agencies are not coordinating their planning efforts We protest government

r maccessible on the

plates only the

of power boates

atta side, and very

tingly difficult for

sts on the

Going further, we can add an awareness that neither the NPS nor the Corps of Engineers is talking to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, despite the fact that the latter agency has a clear legally mandated role to play in both planning efforts,

today, they would not b

able to spinned the River!

tion. If Lowis and

creation. Moreover, the team responsible for writing the Master Water Control Manual EIS has had review and input into the development of this GMP. The This presumption is erroneous. The COE is a co-lead with the NPS on this GMP is consistent with the current operating manual and results from this GMP/EIS and agency representatives have participated in all facets of its document will be considered when preparing the updated Master Water Control Manual EIS. 29.

plan, the NPS and COE will continue to consult and work with the USFWS in Too, the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) actively participated on the species occurring within the project area. During the implementation of this Endangered Species Act for impacts on known threatened and endangered planning team and provided a section 7 opinion under the Threatened and the normal course of business.

Camping sites pually difficult to

gress. After bourn

points of ingre

29 and also has a wonderful capacity to advise on fish and wildlife enhancement measures

Recreation and Access

Additional access along the river should be limited to non-motorized water craft. Motorized craft have adequate access, and it is currently difficult for non-motorized craft to use the river. In addition, several hiking/cycling traits are needed along the river. Very few long distance traits exist in this part of the country, and the Park Service has an obligation to provide this type of experience. Campsites should be located at frequent intervals so that a multi-day trip could occurt.

Missouri River Canoe Trail

The primary goal for the development of the Canoe Trail of the Missouri River is to provide canoests an opportunity to fully experience pristine sections of the River to the greatest extent possible while minimizing the negative environmental impact. For the maximum benefit of canoeists, the Canoe Trail should be developed and maintained so that participants can achieve a high degree of personal solitude and experience the maximum possible interactions with the natural environment of these two sections of the Missouri River. The Trail should provide participants with opportunities for exposure to important natural, historical, and cultural sites along the river in a scenic and safe setting.

Preservation of the River in its most pristine form is a primary goal It is important, however, that the public have reasonable access to the River. For present and future generations to protect the river, they must have adequate opportunities for experiences on and education about the River

To achieve this goal, several actions are recommended

- 1 The Missouri River Canoe Trail would encompass the entire 59-mile segment of the Missouri River, and restrictions would apply to the entire width of the river for this section.
- 2 Scenic Passages should be marked on the river and on an accompanying map that is available to the public These Scenic Passages should pass through areas of the river with the least amount of visual and noise distractions. For example, if several channels of varying depth are present across a section of the River, the Scenic Passages should pass through those areas with the maximum opportunity for observation of relatively undisturbed natural landscapes and wildlife habitats. Some Scenic Passages should be designed to pass through or run adjacent to backwater areas, wildlife sanctuaries, sand bars and islands, notable geological formations, and historical and cultural sites of interest.

3 The problems associated with noise pollution should be given much great consideration To

increase the quality of the personal experience for cancelsts and for the protection of wildlife habitats, noise pollution should be minimized 4 A "reduced-wake" rule for all motorized craft should be required for the entire length and width of the 59-mile segment Speed should be reduced to reasonable and proportionate limits in order to avoid excessive wake and noise pollution Reducing wake also increases the safety for canoeists It should be recognized that in virtually all other sections of the Missouri River in South Dakota, Nebraska, and lowa power boating is relatively unrestricted. The 59-mile segment is the only opportunity to provide a place for other types of boating — cances, kayaka, and small craft for fishing and hunting. 5 Motorized "jet-ski" type craft should be totally prohibited from the 59-mile section of the Missouri River 6. Access for motorized craft (boat ramps, docks, etc.) should be limited to existing locations Access for motorized craft is currently adequate and exists in those areas that are most appropriate for motorized boat traffic. Limiting access for these craft will protect other regions of the river from heavy motorized boat traffic, helping preserve the pristine nature of this section of the river, and reducing noise pollution for non-motorized craft and for wildlife in the area.

7 Two additional access points should be developed on the South Dakota side exclusively for non-motorized craft (between Yankton and Myron Grove and across from Ponce State Park). Beach or dock entry into areas with minimal current is recommended. Boat ramps for trailers should not be available at these sites. All access points should be located near most of the access points on both sides of the River. These could be primitive in nature or developed sites. The number of campsites is adequate on the Nebraska side, but two should be added on the South Dakota side between Clay County Park and at a point across from Ponce State Park.

O. A reasonable number of designated primitive campsites for canoeists should be available on the Canoe Trail on both sides of the river and on islands in the river. To increase the wilderness canoe Trail on both sides of the river and on islands in the river. To increase the wilderness experience for canoeists, these sites should not be easily accessible by roads. The number of sites should be large enough so that in most cases all canoe parties can easily find a site for camping. Sites should be spaced far enough so that in most cases all canoe parties can easily find a site for camping. Sites should be spaced far enough apart from each other to maximize the experience of solutude for each party and reduce the impact of sites on the environment. Development of an adequate number of designated areas of the rive. Each primitive site should contain a fixed heavy metal grall and an open designated areas of the rive.

latrine. Campers would be expected to carry out all non-combustible trash for disposal after leaving the River. 10 Some campastes and points of interest along the Canoe Trail should be associated with hiking trails Development of marked hiking trails will encourage use of the designated hiking trails and thus reduce the potential negative impact on the environment of large scale off-trail hiking that might occur otherwise. 11. A guide to the Canoe Trail should be available for viatiors This guide would clearly desorbe the nature of the Trail, and a map would show the exact route, access points, areas of public and private land, campsites, hiking trails, and areas of special interest. In addition, rules and regulations for the trail could be included. Allowing people this type of access is necessary to help educate them as to the value of this complicated and rich resource.

Hiking and Biking Trails: Scenis Overlunks

Preservation of the river in its most pristine form is a primary goal. It is important, however, that the public have reasonable access to the river. To protect the river for present and future generations, people must have adequate educational opportunities and accompanying experiences on the river. 1 At least three land-based, multiple-use hiking traits should be available for public use on each side of the river within reasonable driving distance from population centers. Hiking trails should be designed to promote the mary positive features of the Missouri River and its immediate environment, including flora and faura, geology, historical and cultural features. When possible, the trails should be several miles in length and some of the traits should be near camping facilities.

2 The hixing trails should also be suriable for trail-type bicycles. The trails should be relatively undeveloped for preservation of the wildcmess experience of the participants and to reduce the impact on the environment. Horses should not be permitted on these trails because of the harsh impact that they have on trail maintenance and the impact on the trail due to erosion

 Because the impact of noise and visual pollution is deleterious to the overall outdoor experience, roads near the river should be minimized 4 Scenic overlooks for automobile traffic should be developed on both sides of the river to increase the numbers of people who can experience the attributes of the river. However, these overlooks should only be developed adjacent to boat access points and the roads to these scenic overlooks should not run along the river except as needed to reach the scenic overlook

5 A guide to the Multi-use Trails should be available This guide would clearly describe the nature

of the Trails and a map would show the exact route, access points, areas of public and private lands, campsites, and areas of special cultural, archeological and historical interest. In addition, rules and regulations for the trail would be included

Water Quality

The NPS Draft Plan appears thoroughly prepared to accept the status quo where water quality is concerned. If the River is to be protected and restored, and if the River is to be a viable recreation resource, close attention must be paid to issues of water quality. Along the 59-Mile stretch there are major pollution outfalls In addition, the rapid concentration in the azimal industries promises the potential of the development of major new outfalls Contaminated runoff from farm fields is recognized as a major contributor to waters which flow in the 59-Mile stretch Water Quality Standards for the Missouri River and tributaries exclude many key contaminants, auch as sediments, and the State of South Dakota is presently the subject of litigation involving claims of the inadequacy of the Standards 1t is clear that the NPS assumes a position that water quality is beyond its jurisdiction. We challenge this assertion on its face and urge the NPS to develop, as Missouri River custodian. an active plan for advocating and asserting water quality What should be the components of the Plan⁹ First, aggressive and comprehensive monitoring, especially below known outfalls and tributaries. Second, regular publication of water quality information. Third, appearance before Nebraska and South Dakota water quality agencies when new or revised NPDES permits are up for consideration, when Water Quality Standards are subject to triennial review, and when plans are under development for addressing nonpoint source pollution. Finally, the NPS should ask the States of Nebraska and South Dakota to declare the 59-mile stretch an Outstanding Natural Resource Water (OWWR) as provided for in the Clean Water Act.

Frotecting the Reivalping Shure

In 1944 federal legislation authorized development of the Missouri River In addition to the great mainstern dams, the law also required channelization of the navigation channel from Ponca, Nebraska, south to the River's mouth This meant that the lower River would have a "hard," or fixed shore, solidified with rock, dikes, levees and so forth. North of Ponca nearly all of the River's natural shoreline was submerged beneath the vast reservoirs that formed behind the dams. As a result, we are left with just a small reserve of natural river shoreline. And, indeed, that remaining shoreline is not altogether natural, since it is subject to the dam's releases, which in

30. NPS's policy on water quality is stated on p. 106: "*NPS Management Policies* state the National Park Service will seek to perpetuate surface and groundwater as integral components of aquatic and terrestrial ecosystems. The National Park Service will seek to restore, maintain, or *enhance* water quality consistent with the Clean Water Act" (emphasis added). Additionally the WSRA states that, "The Congress declares that the established national policy of dam and other construction at appropriate sections of the rivers of the United States needs to be complemented by a policy that would preserve other selected rivers or sections thereof in their free-flowing *condition to protect the water quality of such rivers* and to fulfill other vital national conservation purposes." (emphasis added).

The NPS's Water Resource Division has collected historical water quality data. Following the signing of the Record of Decision and the appropriation of operational funds, water quality monitoring will begin.

CONSULTATION AND COORDINATION

turn are governed by concerns for navigation rather than protection of the resource

Where is that remaining shoreline? There temain 80 miles of free-flowing Mitsouri River between Garrison Darn and Lake Oahe Some Shore remains in the 39-mile segment from the headwaters of Lewis & Clark Lake up to the Fort Randall dam Additional shore can be found in the segment from Gawins Point Dam, 59 miles downstream to Ponca State Park, Nebraska. This is a precious small remaining bit of shore. Regrettably, it too is being subjected to destructive development, and is at risk of disappearing. The development that is destroying the remaining natural shore is carried out under a variety of titles "rip-rapping." bank stabilization, revetments, jetties and so forth. Whatever the activity, the result is the same An unprecedented level of development is threatening the public's ownership values in these last freeflowing stretches On the Garrison reach, over 50% of the banks have already been stabilized with revelments, jetties, and rock rip-rap, much of it carried out at public expense. In the Bismarck-Mandan stretch, seven major housing developments have been approved recently, with at least two more on the way In Southport, North Dakota, for example, a project of 80 houses and 70 townhouses are under construction. In the South Dakota stretches, haphazard housing developments of every possible type hug the shore, each one demanding that it be protected from the natural River. Stabilization of river banks in order to protect shoreline housing developments does not eliminate erosion. but only shifts the loss to other places downstream. The water still has the same energy to pick up and transport sediment. This means new and continued requests for assistance from impacted landowners downstream. This is being done despite the bad economics. Stabilization projects cannot support costbenefit analysis, and public funds expended here are wasted

Effects of Stabilization Projects

We are losing the last remnants of river that look something like the river visited by Lewis & Clark, also the route taken by the farmous mountain men and voyageurs, and known to millennia of native peoples. In this sense, these wild stretches are an important part of our social, cultural, economic and political history We are losing the natural River Historically, the Missouri has always moved around and croded its banks To complain about this feature is to complain about the natural River itself. Before the dams, as a result of annual flooding, most of the land now being farmed or developed could not be used Bank stabilization has a serious detrimental effect on the fish and wildlife resource. Natural banks

provide a unique river habitat in which fish rest and spawn. They are key to the free-flowing River's function

as temporary home to vast populations of migratory waterfowl, including geese, ducks and heron They support important feeding and nesting grounds for the Bald Eagle. Most natural stretches are prime sports fisheries, such as the famous walleye fishery in the Garrison Stretch. Additionally, bank stabilization will restrict the surface area of the River, increase the velocity of the current, deepen the River channels, degrade the inverbed, inhibit the formation of sandbars, reduce the number of braided channels and eliminate backwaters. Recreation has come to be an important economic and social fact on the free-flowing stretches, and bank stabilization threatens the viability of this emerging resource The Garrison reach alone generates over \$20 million of water-based recreation annually, second in North Dakota only to Lake Sakakawea The 59mile stretch below Gavins Point Dam is a major destination for canoeists, boaters, birdwatchers, hunters and fishers Ultimately, the effect of thank stabilization cannot be evaluated by looking at individual impacts. The real impact is cumulative. We risk channelizing the River one housing project at a time. The final effect would be a river like that below Sioux City — a channel from which people are cut off, and in which nature cannot function. A river that is no longer a river.

Greenbelt and Biological Diversity

That the River is home to a list of important endangered and threatened species of wildlife is another concern. In addition to the tern, plover and palid sturgeon, two mimows will be added soon. Most unbiased observers recognize that the list of threatened species could be much longer. The natural River, with the refuge provided by natural shores, is an important part of recovery for some of these species. A green-belt is as near a natural and truly effective remedy as there can be as a measure protecting both the eroding banks and the threatened and endaangered species. To accomplish that purpose, a continuous greenbelt, or as continuous as possible, would be necessary, and it should be of sufficient width to fully protect both bank stabilization and animal and plant species

Summary

The Living River group is generally supportive of the management goals outlined in the preferred alternative of the draft management plan. However, we believe that it is imperative that the NPS take the additional steps outlined in this proposal in order to restore, protect and preserve the unique features of the 59-mile segment for present and future generations.

Ivear Superintendent Hedren,

- I would like to urge you to make the following changes in Missouri National Recreational River General Management Plan:
 - The Corp's "day to day ousite management" outlined in the plan must end. The National Park Service needs to take sole jurisdiction of the 59-mile designation and its Corp facilities.
- 2) Limit additional access to nonmotorized water craft. Motorized craft have adequate access.
- 3) A hiklug and riding trail is needed along the river. Very few long distance trails exist in this part of the country Campsites should be located at frequent intervals, allowing for multi-day trips.
- 4) Because of the noise and pollution associated with them, the Fark Service should ban the use of personal water craft. They do not belong on this ustural and free-flowing stretch of the river.
- 5) To protect and enhance the River, the river should be designated an Outstanding Natural Resource Water nuder the Clean Water Act.
 - 6) Protecting the remaining shore, when necessary, should be as natural as possible.

2	
1000	
an li	
·	
sincerely.	

1

(Note: As noted in the preceding letter from the Living Rivers Subgroup, East River Group of the Sierra Club, the Sierra Club organized a massive response to the NPS during the public review of this draft GMP/EIS. The tarecard response echoed the same general comments as the preceding letter. In sum, 779 cards were received from 40 different states. Included in the tally were 214 from South Dakota and 224 from Nebraska. Among the communities in the proximity of the MNRR, 10 were postmarked from Yankton, 162 from Vermillion, 42 from Sioux Falls, 24 from Sioux City, 9 from northeastern Nebraska, 95 from Omaha, and 56 from Lincoln.)

COMMENT FORM

MISSOURI NATIONAL RECREATIONAL RIVER Draft General Management Plan and Eavi-primental Impact Statement

6 m2+ -

Please share your thoughts on our array of alternatives in the draft plan, and any other interest or

rease start you moughly on our stray of any moust with the user prant and any ourse the issue concerning you about the recreational river. Please print. 31 whatever Alternative is chosen, Bank protection should have the whatever Alternative I so our first choice, but we are told this is not an option. Why is it in the Plan; Maternative J would come next: Many people and communities benefit from the construction of the Dams. The landoners along the river are paying a bug price for those energits. They are not asking for the river to be channelized. Just control of rotect the high bank where the river to be channelized. Just control and istting it code doesn't solve the prive Just provide and istting it are doners along the river to be channelized. Just control and istting it are doners and the river is provide the provide and its provide the provide and where the head on the set and get some back in a fervise. The recommendation to use on the river gets vider and vider. The recommendation to use on the Missouri fiver in the proving action. Are vises made by someone who has not seen the Missouri river in the Dams have caused bils problem - the Government. Should provide pain. The Dams have caused bils problem - the Government. Should prove the fiver to high banks. Planty of other things get funded without regard to cost.

Name Marcold 5. Joyce. Hoesing Service representative of mail to Address:

Superintendent, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways, P O Box 591, O'Neill, Nebraska 68763

THIS FORM IS VOLUNTARY. THANK YOU FOR YOUR COMMENTS.

31. See response 21.

32. See response 13. In fact, the NPS routinely participates with others in the COE's annual bank stabilization inspection trips and is quite familiar with the different demonstration projects in place along the recreational river.

e

December 1, 1998

Mr Paul Hodron, Superintendent Niobrara/Misseoun National Scenic Riverways P.O. Box 591 ONeill, NE 68763

Dear Mr Hedron:

May I urge upon you the following serious concern that has bothered me for years?

This concern is the <u>miamanagement</u> of the Missouri River by the United States Corps of Engineers.

Thave been familiar with the Missouri by boating, fishing, water skiing, and picnicking on it for many years. What the Corps has done to the river has been to destroy its beauty and scenic attributes for a set of goals that are illogical, financially disarrous, and completely unsupportable from an environment standpoint. Thuse this conclusion on the disarrous effects of the bank stabilization process from Sioux Gry to Saint Louis. Nothing could have destroyed the natural river more than what the Corps did.

I realize that floods are serious, but if farmers would sell their land to the U.S. government, they would make heak of a lot more money than to attempt to farm the fands bordening the river Furthermore, we could enjoy the river without the runoff of pollutansi form the ribels or earthe and hog confinements. I firmly believe that the National Park Service should take over the management of the fifty-nine mile stretch of the river and keep the Corps out of it completely.

Thank you for your consideration.

Edward M. Sihley An old river rat. Very truly yours, イドシャ A = -- 1

12-27

RESPONSES

Them plew threed my buildmine buinn minde WC. HAVE ALOT OF PUDLE CLEMMENT TO MIAKE - CONCERNING 344 CRAFT CR \$K7-dup - they NEVER With prefervers) And the Skidds WEEKENDA THEY ARE IN THE WATER A Gupy of The Final Approved PLAN the Amall ONE PERFON WATER THRU -AREA with No REGARD FUR ANYONE here with Amarch Ridd a o'u I what AND AND CORRATE PREA- AND I PEREE W.Th THE mud I hould hike to Revieve THE GENERAL MINNAGE MINDOWN NOON WAY thank you Full Burgers ANNIE LAMPRECHT \$40 w down ANd I have I du have cre NATION - & PARIC BERVICE -Phauk mentioned -+ Ktatementthet

33. See response 8, third paragraph.

848 ないのなか 1 [P 22.02 y 996 1.202 B ank 54 Massain Matine Reviele Non. 0.0. Br 591 0 Mill, M. 68763 Park in was cla deckerintralent An 20 Dear Ler: Rive Ban to -have Public Habi Chang K 3 5 33

		l
	_	I
9	2	l
÷	-	I
7	5	l
G	3	l
	2	l
2	Þ	l
5	1	l
2	Э	l
C	2	l
7	1	L

34

I also feel a couple of comments on stabilization and erosion are in order. With millions of acress of crophand being paved over and developed yearly in the U.S. and lost forever. I would think the Federal Government might take the loss of thes of thousands of acress of valuable flarm-ground along the river a little more sariously. I can assure you that our local government does: the potential for lost taxes and lower property values poses a serious threat to rural areas, local eschol systems, etc. The future lost revenues due to land along allowed to naturally slough into the river would far exceed the present "market value" of this land.

- 34. As explained on page 54, under the "Visitor Development and Access" section, facility development would not be extensive and such development would avoid significant resource areas. This GMP embraces the rationale that the two proposed river access developments, strategically located, would alleviate some of the crowding in places like Ryan's Bend.
- 35. Any such developments become an agency's burden to manage, whether individually or cooperatively. COE's policy is to cooperate by building, then turning operation and maintenance over to a cooperating group or agency.
- 36. See response 34. The NPS has not yet conducted visitor use studies to validate or reject assertions that quality experiences on the MNRR are already seriously compromised, but accepts the burden of managing people when visiting the unit. While many areas of the river are developed, there are still places where a quality natural setting can be experienced.

35

See responses 15.

37.

ø

Perhaps the government could look into some cost share possibilities with the landowners along the river. Perhaps this coupled with low or no interest loans for bank stabilization might lessan the financial burden to both the landowner and the government. Surely there might be creative ways the government and landowners could work together to save this fiarmground that would be both estibility and financially and financially acceptable to both parties

37

My greatest bank losses: with the exception of the recent "100 year runoff" are the result of the constant raising and lowering of the river by the COPPS. These fluctuations with the attendant wave action are the biggest culprits. I would much prefer a rather sustained flow even if it's somewhat higher than these constant fluctuations.

1 believe another major cause of eroston are the wakes caused by boats, aspecially large boats. Thave actually observed boaters purposely causing banks to cave in by represendent driving their boats right next to the bank. Many lakes and rivers already have norsepower restrictions. How big does a boat motor on this type of river reality high horsepower frestinctions. 25 of 0, hg, is perivily tog pur and down the river High horsepower boats are reality out of place on a river of this type. Both from a safety and an environmental standpoint. On a quiet evening one can hear the whine of jetkis over a mile avay no wonder terns and plovers have touble breeding with this racket on this stretch of the river.

As a landowner and river enthusiast. I am very concerned with the repid changes taking place on the river, the potential for abuse has never been greater. I hope the Corps and Park Service will work closely with landowners, local government, and river organizations to preserve the natural and unique beauty of this stretch of river and at never be restored. After all, no one realized the value of a least tern or piping plover until the wore are reducet.

Sincerely,

Steve Husen

0

RESPONSES

	AEGEIVED	
P.0 BOX 570 117 EAST THRD PHONE 402-755-224 FAX 402-755-2226	BANK OF DIXON COUNTY 1986 POHCA, NEBRASKA 6570	
F. A. Kinggabury C. A. Kinggabury John F. Kinggabury Presses a and CEO Presses and CEO Operations Operations S. Vox Pressen Operations	Paul L. Hwateri, Superintendont Nobrarzmissioun National Sumit: R. verways National Physics P.O. Box 691 O'Nall, NE 64763	
Invariants Dens Disen Voe Privatient Comparce Carliere Stark Computer Operators	Desr Mr. Hedren: I hird hoped that I could after the a public meetings regending the Missouri River but my schedule does not an allow that. Thus, I want to take this means of entimeting on the Missouri Natione Recreation River portion of the Missouri between Porce Stats Park and Gavie Point Dam.	
	Charty, only Option 3 present to in the that Management Plan addresses Congressions I intert. Congress derigneted this a Recreational portion of the River. Any option that sociality finit to Recreational bave somethin fravor of other intersts falls outsides for scale authorization. Many popple in nu area scrongly favor autable recreation devenpment sporoprides to the public enjoying the man struct option of river through industry brucks and accoss. The the managed bank and subturned	
	This should not be an lasten of which intreats to davelop of protect. Gongress much of the determination years ago. The management plan samply must do the rescipob ocesible of considering significant leaves beyond recreation.	
	It is also important to mention that I do not agree whatsooren with the idse that authorized finds sumshow mutuice local cost shering. The Missouri hetional Recreation Ruser is no designized to policit of the federal government, it is not a Rogect of spream of setsion to state or local government. This must bo recognized in the First Plan.	
	Lastly, Legislation gave silministrative responsibility to the Netional Park Sarvics. Any egreement or Final Plen with the Cons of Engineers should cale for funding to be obtained by the Department or Interior.	
вамсн цесатом. е с 8.5 30 е с 2.475 бист 1.6 л. 2.45 бист 1.6 л. 2.45 2.45 мога с 2.35 2.35 мога с 2.35 2.35 мога с 2.35 2.35	Also, as President of the Butur Po tcx Foundation I am working with Ponce State Perk and the Nehrista Garse E. Perki Jummission on vervue plans to further covelor the Part. I believe you have a liked Supt. Jar Fields and I book furward to neeting all Politicity with you soon function y function for Kingsburg President	
	"Changing to meet the chaltenges of the future."	

 See response 2. Local cost sharing is not applicable in all management matters, however.

October 26, 1998

NOV - 1998 NOV - 1998 NAM

> William Schank, Director Midwest Regional Office National Park Sarvica 1709 Jackson Street Omaha, NE 69102-2513

> > Richard D. Dohma Sr Vice President Operations

Monty L. Miller Sr Vice President Invastments

F. A. Kingsbury Clummur John F. Kingsbury President and CEO Dear Director Schenk:

BANK OF DIXON COUNTY

PONCA, NEBRASKA 68770 RECEIVED

FO BOX 570 117 EAST THIRD PHONE 402-755 2224 FAX 402 755-2256

CONSULTATION AND COORDINATION

38

Claarly, only Option 3 presented in the Draft Management Plan addresses Congressional intent. Congress designated this a Recreational portion of the River. Any option that usubstantially limits Recreational Development in favor of othat Interests fails outside federal authorization. Many peopla in our area strongly favor suitabla recreation development appropriate to the public enjoying this natural portion of view intrough increased public lands and access. Tha development of habitat lands, natural and native areas and increased bank stabilization can be incorporated.

I had hoped that I could attand or, a of the public meetings regrading the Miscouri River but into schedule does not alloy what. Thus, I want to take this maans of meneting on the Missouri Attoinal Racreation River portion of the Missouri between Ponce State Park and Qavis Point Dam.

Dena Olaen Vice President Cariptiunce Cariene Stark Compute Operatio

39

If is also important to mention that I do not agree whatsoever with the idea that authorized funds somethow require local cost stanting. The Missouli Marional Racreation River is a dasignated project of the federal government. It is not a project or program of assistance to state or local government. This must be wrognized in tha Final Plan.

This should not be an issue of which inturns to develop or protuct. Congress muck that determination years equ. Thu management plan sinity must do the best job possible of considenting significant issues beyond recruition. Legislation gava administrative rasponsibility to the National Park Sarvice. Any agreament or frian Plan with the Corps of Engineers should call for funding to be obtained by the Department of Interior.

Finally, as president of the Battar Ponca Foundation I am working with Ponca State ark and the Nebrasta Game & Parts Commission on some significant new development ideas for that Pork. Wher, botter defined wa lool, forward to sharing the Park's potential with you.

> P.O. Br. 97 217 Main Street Now.astiu NE 64/57 PHONE 402 355 2235 1.65 402 355 2235

BRANCH LOCATION

"Changing to meet the challenges of the future."

RECEIVED

1

NOV 2 < 1998

November 25, 1998

Mr. Paul Hedren Superintendent Nibbrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways P.O. Box 591 O'Neiil, NE 68763

Dear Mr. Hedren:

I am writing to urge you to establish your jurisdiction over the Missouri River. Specifically, I think that you should protect the natural state of the River by: Allowing flooding in certain areas. This will both improve habitat for fish and wildlife, while protecting cities from flooding. Even places like Boyer Chute, while useful, create very little, if any, still water

2. Ban the use of jet skis and like personal watercraft.

3 Where barge traffic is required, take further steps to stabilize the bank in a more natural way.

 Prevent further human encroachment, such as boat ramps and residential building, in scenic areas along the river.

Thank you for your time and consideration

Sincerely.

-

Burt W. Lunn

RESPONSES

lost its inherent natural integrity with the thinning or removal of trees, and the 1998 "federal interest" was consistently defined as an easement acquisition of developed lots, questioned here, is perhaps the greatest challenge confronting stands along the riverbanks. It is much more challenging to envision a federal Bank stabilization is repeatedly mentioned in the alternatives and clarified in interest in a developed lot, however, especially one that invariably long ago these responses. But the urgency and legitimacy of stabilizing the banks of Moreover, invariably developer/purchasers consummated their transactions well after post-dam river conditions were understood, and with free choice appropriated funding. At the public meetings in November and December say, development rights on farmland, or guaranteed perpetual mature tree river managers. For federally driven stabilization to occur on the MNRR, Congress mandated that a "federal interest" be established before using coming of recreation homes, cabins, trailers, roads, docks, and boats. comes the jeopardy of life on the river. 40.

Please share your thoughts on our array of alternatives in the draft plan, and any other interest or

issue concerning you about the recreational river. Please print,

Ji Nori

40

MISSOURI NATIONAL RECREATIONAL RIVER Draft General Management Plan and Environmental Impact Statement

S. Johnson

C. Three

S. Dwochl

COMMENT FORM

120. ÷.

1.11

Righted project areas. Place put a top tain it on bank attailing als by desidents, trying to ease on land over this part form years. we was not much of Aparacahia aquesta witil last even when we wer lose of in come and value to parmon. Wigh bento and large old grow! told by our county, altraugh running agreed to unoput and about 3: dollars are being lot day to land being taken by the aires not to ment. is whicherer alternative is implemented. Limit new growth but pute. trues are purt of the hand coops where we love and as you must make in Vemility, should be preserved. Fundice have in vested their swarp of the alternative orner dered. To the people that but and non land on the revent is seential that book stabilization and primity. The My community of 40 to lots al dreet 50,000 to 79,00 her deen equal where to do as cleaning the contract was illegal. There and of they Bank stabilisation was only minimelly newtined in all protected is tank endin started to take it away, equilibry in the in tume and lend along the averturching that they would be what we alkady then. ا^ي چ

Name: I hubuce W Brady Address:

Turn your comments in to a National Park Service representative or mail to:

Superintendent, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverway, P.O. Boon SSU, OKIN Nehraska 68763 THIS FORM IS VOLUNTARY, THANK YOU FOR YOUR COMMENTS.

COMMENT FORM

MISSOURI NATIONAL RECREATIONAL RIVER Draft General Management Plan and Environmental Impact Sigtement

Please share your thoughts on our array of alternatives in the draft plan, and any other interest or issue concerning you about the recreational river. **Please prime**.

We, the undersigned, would like to see additional bank atabilization done no matter which alternative decided on. We would also like to see new projects atterd. After the alternative decision is made, you should also like to see new projects atterd. After the S21.000.000 that was originally allotted for bank atabilization released. Take that money and start putting the original project areas that have gone from bad to worse core the past two decardes, back into good condition. Fermilia are aftready in place to do work, and the positive fact on the public would be almost immediate, not two years down it read. Whatever portion of the 821.000000 that was used could be deducted from your allocated budget when it was determined, or felt alone. It also maken facel sense to do these repeated budget when it was determined, or felt alone. It also maken facel sense to do these repeated budget when it was determined, or felt alone. It also maken facel sense to do these repeated budget when it was determined, or felt alone. It also maken facel sense to do these repeated budget when it was determined and in the semplered atters. You would all able be protecting your original investment that has been let go for 20 years. Repairs and new project sites should be done using a <u>barge</u>. Thack hoes and loaders desitoy what you are trying to protect.

	monord on Sinth on not with
NAME ADDRESS	PHONE NUMBER
Indie Porche	
Tenene W. Bud	
Kundi Ramskishin	
Flack Remeteredan	
Marte Mill	
4.).	
Pure Hander	
Three Abreit	
Zorres Auto	
Here some Cher	
all the	
l'auto Record	
Out Marine	
Vira Minnau	

COMMENT FORM

MISBOURI NATIONAL BECREATIONAL RIVER Draft General Management Plan and Environmental Impact Statement

Please share your thoughts on our array of alternatives in the draft plan, and any other interest or issue concerning you about the recreational river. Please print.

We, the undersigned, would like to see additional bank stahilization done no matter which alternative led decided on. We would also like to see new projects attract. After the alternative decidenton is made, you abould work releafdeapy to get some or all of the \$21,000,000 that was originally allotted for bank stabilization released. Take that moncy and east putting the original project areas that have goor from bad to worse over the pant wo decade, heak into postect areas that have goor from had to worse over the pant Whatever protion of the \$21,000,000 that was used could be deducted from your allocated budget when it was determined, or left alone. It also makes fleesil actored from your allocated budget when it was determined, or left alone. It also makes fleesil actored from your allocated budget when it was determined, or left alone. It also makes fleesil actored from your allocated budget when it was determined, or left alone. It also makes fleesil actored from your allocated budget when it was determined, or left alone. It also makes fleesil actored from your allocated budget when it was determined, or left alone. It also makes fleesil actore to do these repairs because much rock is still part of these projects aites. You would also be project intes abould be done using a <u>barge</u>. Thack hoes and loaders destroy what you are trying to protect.

PHONE NUMBER									
ADDRESS	udi)	ret	her	ĸc	line	K			
NAME	Ser min	Cut Luly	Clentur Sul	Com Hawthen	Brale Haw	and a form	A. A.		

\mathcal{O}
E
S
H
6
Ň
0
()

RESPONSES

41. The conditions permitting the condemnation of privately held land have been severely restricted. Public Law 95-625 establishing the recreational river declares, in part, "... no land or interests in land may be acquired without the consent of the owner: *Provided*, That not to exceed 5 per centum of the acreage within the designated river boundaries may be acquired in less than fee title without the consent of the owner, in such instance of the Secretary's determination that activities are occurring, or threatening to occur thereon which constitute serious damage or threat to the integrity of the river corridor, in accordance with the values for which this river was designated."

12-6-98

and here since read through the draft of this plan 1) by siggest concern is continuation of privately held That ensures of a low affects a 180 acru field juster and on the rebuilde wide elecensed pathers in law loat 3,500 acres, the site by generations we own 8 acres cour of the dem on the south Dabata side, where we have , and canter " and studies of the " bloward pendemon." in Churchen 50 land and that is not unrelistic to me since my I realize this issue is very complex and there are belave the more governmental agancies involved, the diets and territorial " aquebbles will result what I merelize with the . have regators " you describe. We can't even get busic abovington is reted for sending descents duch as "rang valid, and sometimes conflicting, provides I explain that it " C's requiring who will sup he Vodey, if I there a problem with verybler . A', the county level and our terebure are paid so poorly isit librery to refer me to register "B" who will hord numberance due to lack of funds at the it's jobs. We do not need more " interpretive BULLIN IN LAUND RECEIVED DEC 1 : 398 averides the funde Dattended the 11-25-48 meeting VIT land Hadren, duperintendent, can't de amptieng cento 'D' of Mining Point Law. That is exactly more con a family

5
5
5
H
5
6
\geq
~
\mathbf{U}

RESPONSES

See response 21. 42.

q

- What is written on page 158, appendix A, is an explanation of section 6(a) of the WSRA. It is a limit placed by Congress in the law restricting land acquisition by the managing agency. 43.
- Appendix F only shows theoretical examples of appropriate and inappropriate screening of river front development. 44.

faster that monthlity and perple resent their rare

these to Aungry people. I believe this plan will

" alternative " oner is

Ś

a big

theres

Frendez,

iles.

these

Ę

increasing,

credibility

erred . regetion and a wendow-less konze te de subtle arait likel and these scenes kouses or been preserved is presented as such when, in fact, it is NOT and plan is " Be shey. mon. The ordinances through Perfale dite - how did they wattow Des likes ~ three of us litigue in our area Junes alternative. This is deliberately misbadin the es cen ridientons. this yerent years or trant house in these anyway dame the 220 a turg putert 5 7 June every to 158 wet show the ÿ much that could have also unsettling Sil Ater 20 renord Ś publim an long and no trees, shrubs, Highties as would pring d. 30mm Just 6 disturbing " regative " prente jungle? F' LO 2 are produced (?) 0 resurvected it received buch down. The appendix Arcing against Ar it and "after" z F buried in appendig the same epperantly Dictures of get that dereening g hon public. to Carte vating beine Jore L a 4 4 43 4

drueway,

and

-faj

Jungton

an warte

CONSULTATION AND COORDINATION

RESPONSES

رر: ا or any clarred areas for any reworked

were done that conclude live there." Sincirchy. interested to know well wat to public unlos MALLY CALMER been wateled to ą on the into the waise. like tet be just et e place to visit If I lived by the city dury, " probably it is the cit corridor " traw such as drawn Do you really think ingree wants to live by the who own your word) to pay for a range to the ~ 90 derree Kere around Kere. ب stand these who public access D don't n de Perole problemes of glinge Incore wasand authic treat our beach aren as y 3 j. Per la gent shaller at ipecto, لسعا Ortes I certainly would and, no thereby littered L'EFE ้เร ዓ 1.10 June ton the " shilled" the Sele trant gue suct in any increased viter with water 2 or 3 tor J that: dist; diporable dispers 3 Can ore public 200 over their left 3 something rould 3 that more sources to help me clean but I would be trie to ' spirel" (another place artere plaine Trapasord Nex dae wouldn't mind it's different they sollition. cleen up. Siev 4 I wre eractly Lorbing dump leng

 See response 16. Federal policy derives from legislation or congressional intent an functionaries are beholden to those policies until modified or sup Congress. 	 14 15 - State State 18 - State		2		ver could protection, lopment of al areas	ding the 11 Plan	by current	ži č			
	December 5, 1998	Paul Hedren, Supenntendent NiobraraMissouri National Scenic Riverweys PO Box 591 O'Neill Nebraske 68763	RE: Missouri National Recreational River Draft General Management Plan Environmentel Impact Statement	Dear Sir.	We, the Dixon County Planning Committee, feel the Missouri Recreational be even more important to Dixon County with these improvements. (1) bar (2) protection of sensitive areas. (3) preservation of natural features (4) de additional recreationel resources; and (5) development of high value reside	We have been working with SIMPCO on a general comprehensive plan, int "Rec" River We have concluded our review of the Draft General Managen and Environmental Impact Statement and recommend that the plan include	 Updated high priority bank protection areas, with cost estimates; Recreational facilities, with cost estimates; The need to implement the purpose of the MNRR and not be constraine federal policies; Timetables for completion of improvements, and The necessary funding alternatives of recommended areas. 	The Missouri National Recreational River is extremely important to Dixon C Nebraska, not only as our northern boundary, but also for our economic gro Therefore, we recommend "Alternative 3" with the above listed additions.	Sincerely.	Betty Curry, for The Dixon County Plenning Committee	Copies sent to: Senator Bob Kerrey Senator Chuck Hagel Congressman Doug Bereuter William Shenk, NPS Regional Director

Donald E. Andersen, Meyor City of Ponca Date Anderson, Supervisor Dixon County

John Book, Clerk Village of Martinsburg

Land Lund L Curry Darrell Curry, Supervisor Dixon County

Furstell Heury Russell Fleury, Supervisor Dixon County

Annul 7 Mole Semesting, Supervisor Dixon County

Partial Russmark David Krusemark, Supervisor Dixon County

Dorothy Mettes, Supervisor Dixon County

Rice with Clerk Diane Mohr, Clerk Dixon County

Tom Moser, Maneger Lewis & Clark NRD Jerry Schroeder, Supervisor Dixon County Joury Johnso

Bob Wegner, Board Chair Village of Maskell

Larry Boswell Village of Allen Gretchen Dietrich Villege of Concord

Dale Jackson

Dale Jackson Dixon County Lowell Johnson City of Wakefield Elsie Lund Village of Newcastle Leonard Marron, Boerd Chair Village of Newcastle CONSULTATION AND COORDINATION

Danaid E. Andersen, Mayar T. City of Ponon

Dale Anderson, Supervlaor Dison County

John Book, Clerk Village of Mertinsburg Darmell Curry, Bupervisor Dison County

Russell Fleury, Supervisor Dison County James Hoesing, Supervisor Dison County David Krussmark, Supervisor Dicon County

Dorothy Mettee, Supervisor Dison County

Diane Motr, Clerk Dixon County

Tom Moser, Manager Lewis & Olark NRD Jerry Schroeder, Bupervlsor Dbon County

A CHAR Bob Wegner, BDe Village of Meekeli BYG WE

Larry Boswell Village of Allen

.

Gretchen Dietrich Village of Cancord

Date Jackson Dison County Lowell Johnson City of Wakefield Elsie Lund Village of Newcentle Leonard Marton, Board Chair Village of Newcaette

Doneld E. Andersen, Meyor City of Ponca

Dale Anderson, Supervisor Dixon County ĸ

John Book, Clerk Village of Martinsburg

Darrell Curry, Supervisor Dixon County

Russell Fleury, Supervisor Dixon County

Jemes Hoesing, Supervisor Dixon County

David Krusemark, Supervisor Dixon County

Dorothy Mattes, Supervisor Dixon County

Diane Mohr, Clerk Dixon County

Tom Moser, Manager Lewis & Clark NRD

Jerry Schroeder, Supervisor Dixon County

Bob Wegner, Board Chair Village of Meskell

Lerry Boswell Village of Allen

Gretchen Dietrich Village of Concord

Dale Jeckson Dixon County

Lowell Johnson City of Wekefield

Elsie Lund Village of Newcastle

Leonerd Marron, Boerd Cheir Villege of Newcastle

RESPONSES

Tom Moser, Manager Lewis & Clark NRD	Jerry Schroeder, Supervisor Dixon County	Bob Wegner, Board Chair Villege of Meskell	Larry Bosweil Village of Atlen	Gretchen Dietrich Village of Concord	Dale Jackson Dixon County	Lowell Johnson City of Wakefield	Elise Lund Elsie Lund Village of Newcastle	Leonard Marron, Board Chair Village of Newcastle
Donald E. Andersen, Mayor	Dale Anderson, Supervisor	John Book, Clerk	Darrell Curry, Supervisor	Russell Fleury, Supervisor	James Hoesing, Supervisor	David Krusemark, Supervisor	Dorothy Mettes, Supervisor	Diane Mohr, Clerk
City of Ponca	Dixon County	Village of Martinsburg	Dixon County	Dixon County	Dixon County	Dixon County	Dixon County	Dixon County

RESPONSES

46. Please see responses 1, 3, 8, and 16. Access development is discussed on page 54 of the draft plan.

December 16, 1998

VECEIVED

JET C. 1948 STORRANDA TO THE

Paul Hedren, Superintendent Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways P. O. Nox 591 O'Neill, Nebraska 68763

Dear Sir,

In 1971, six farm couples who lived along the missouri River, and shared the same concerns about land loss, started the missouri River Bank Stabilization Association. Since South Dakota landowners were experiencing the same problems, they too were invited to join the Nebraska group. The Earl Rowland's and Betty and I, are charter members. In 1978, Earl Rowland and I participated in the writing of Public Law 95-625, in Washington, D. C. This legislation designated this 59 mile stretch a National Recreational River. The intent of PL95-625, was to preserve the river in a some what natural state, provide high bank protection, where needed, scenic easements and additional access sites. Alternative 3 is closer to the original intention of the law.

Earl and I were appointed by then Secretary of the Interior, James Watt, to the Advisory group that wrote the original plan. Unfortunately, I was not to be included in the up-dating of the new plan, but after reconsideration, I was asked to join the planning team.

- I have reviewed the plan and recommend that the plan include:
 - 1. Identified severe erosion sites, with cost estimates;
- High bank protection, as a priority;
 A memorandum of agreement between the Corps of Engineers

- and the National Park Service;
 - 4. Putting the Advisory group back into this plan, per PL95-

CONSULTATION AND COORDINATION

P.2

- 625, and consist of local people;5. Stressing that this is a National Recreational River, not
 - a "Scenic" or a "wild and Scenic" river;

46

Scenic easements, with cost estimates; and
 Access sites, with cost estimates.

I also recommend that the local landowners have more voice in the forming of this plan than special interest groups, who only have a passing interest.

Alternative 2 includes the restoring of the "spring floods", which would greatly increase bank erosion and degradation, therefore, I recommend Alternative 3.

Sincepely, 1 Allier

Darrei G. Curry Vice President, Missourl River Bank Stabilization Association

Copies sent to: Senator Hagel Senator Kerrey Senator Jonson Senator Jonson Congressman Bereuter Congressman Thune Congressman Terry Milliam Schenk Dir, NPS
RESPONSES	47. The Wild and Scenic Rivers Act was written to allow the inclusion of nationally significant rivers having adjacent landscapes that are largely pr held. In the case of the MNRR the current landowner retains control of hi her land inside the boundary, unless willingly sold to the Federal governn The land inside the boundary is a geographical delineation of resources important to the river designation.	State law does prohibit people from exiting rivers, except to portage arou obvious obstacles. Access development is a recognized management issue										
COMMENTS			1845			ways on the Missouri River from Yankton to the Iowa border, if the Take line', boundary, on the River bank so you have jurisdiction, the Xten. If a person in a cance can't get out on the river bank without whole idee is flawed.	ink only causes it to change direction and erode in some other spot. If own misfortune along the river by destroying the trees and giving ank.	the river is nothing at all. The Corp of Engineers has already rip- le property which will just cause more problems than leaving things eping the Corp of Engineers from changing things along the bank is sconic.				
			December 16, 1998	Paul L Hedren Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways P O, Box 591 O'Neill NE 68763	Dear Sir.	In regard to your Scenic Riverw Parks Service doesn't have a 'ts whole process should be forgott being called a treepasser, the w	Any rip-rapping on the river ban Most farmers have caused their the river a chance to cut the ban	The best thing you can do for th rapped places to protect private to run their natural course. Kee the only way to keep the river so	Sincerely,	gan rachy	James Holy	

47

205

RESPONSES

AECEIVED D. 20 17, 1978 Commer Lower 1 citates and stat way to destroy our natural PAR 5 Y stule usuantys of UEC 18 1998 Missour M. trank parte are muco CALARAOU alours a 22 Concerning the cetumental to the Dar Mer Hick reduced. A.A. art, tional Diver reduced ad along with nating Ite in 1 the mane cialogi- el mo Commete 4 if you reduced ieti, ronor all ano statict diamo A.s. ALULA They the 200 2

(ANHONE)

ć	l cl seu
ž	المحمد المحمد الم
;	en Louis an ann an ann ann ann ann ann ann ann
Mr Paul Hedren	natioal faik service P.O.Bov 591 O'Neill, Ne 68763

908

Dear Sir,

This letter is in reference to the 11-24-98 meeting held at the Yankun Library We attended the meeting & were gratified to have the hatinnal Park Service becume active in establishing relationship with the property owners along the Missouri River We wish to everse nor interest in the bank stabilization effort. Our farm is at mile # 805 across from Yankion. The land is now in the fourth generation of nur family. Through the years we have been aware of the value of trees

Our farm is at mile # 8/05 accoss from X arkion. The land is now in the fourth generation of nur family. Through the years we have been aware of the value of trees and the three for stabilization & wildlife. While cleaning bush for farming we left approx 30 rods of land along the rust (much which now is gone) for our own interest in stabilization & wildlife. The errison was bud then but is much worse now since the fligh distributes in the last couple years. We are very interested in keeping the trees which are distributes in the last couple years. We are very interested in keeping the trees which are distributes in the last couple years.

We would like to meet with you and do anything possible to establish interest in bank stabilization of the high bank along nur land You spoke of heing neighbors and that is what we want thu We will work with you and ready to do our part as a good neighbor

We did receive a permit from the Corp. in 1995 to begin our own stabilization We have made arrangements to haul concrete as ut is available and when we have time & and front to do son.

We support Alternative 2' as we understand it, with high priority on bank stabilization. We also support natural protection of wildlife. One of the teasons we left trees is our love of the bald ragle & deet. We wish to keep them in our area. We should all wurk together & compromise our interests instead of trying to defeat the others interest

We are the Nelsons

Marron & Flearror Nelson J. Doug & Lynne Nelson Green Island Farms, Inc

copres sent to Senators Bob Kerrcy & Chuck Hagel Congressman Dvug Bcreuter William Schenk, Director NPS

AECEIVED	JES I 1998 Ubrany maauka asp	been mailed to N.P.S. previously.	to explain the plan and guaged public record was taken; neither ne that was deliberate to funnel	hat has a worry some affect in vice are pair of the recordAll of toward NPS. There is a very real will implement a Rec. River Plan nor without respect for practical. crous the Federal agencies are on
December 17, 1998	Superintendent, Niobrarz/Missouri National Scenic Riverways, P.O. Box 591 O'Neilt, Nebrasta 68763	Official comments from the Lewis & Clark NRD have I wish to express some personal viewpoints of my own	I have boen to three of the public meetings held public opmons J was puzzled at each session why no for opinions expressed, nor explanations given. I assur	official comments on to these or other writter forms. If that none of the assusances given by National Parks Set this heightens a sense of mistrust among local interests fear that neither the NPS or the US Corps of Engineers without procrastination, without jurisdictional disputes realistic, local input. As time fors by we'll learn how s thus.

questions, and clear any confusion. The best formal records are these written questioning at the public meetings and will be summarized in the Record of Decision, affirming responses provided herein. The public meetings were chiefly held as information sessions allowing the NPS and COE to inform the public about what was happening, respond to comments and letters. Certain topics like bank stabilization dominated the 48.

48

/s/ Tom Moscr

MISSOURI NATIONAL RECREATIONAL RIVER Draft General Manacoment Plan and Eavienmental Impact Statement Sen Johnshe Dockle

Please share your thoughts on our array of alternatives in the draft plan, and any other interest or issue concerning you about the recreational river. Please print.

status as well as one of the last stands of all growth (high bunk and treesall along the Wissori. war a different bord species - come endangered by potente NIDBRARA/MISSOURI RECEIVED DEC 17 1996 I urge you to do all that is possible to save these precisis areas of network breaty. Please protect our highbard areas. My 12t at Panlarase Acres, Vemiliun, in home to a 6. WAHL That yor, and wild Name: Keber - 6

Federal Agencies and Elected Officials

Superintendent, Niobrara/Missouri National Scient Stverways, P.O. Boxo 591, ONBIL Nebraska 68763 THIS FORM IS VOLUNTARY, THANK YOU FOR YOUR COMMENTS,

Turn your comments in to a National Park

Service representative or mail to:

Address:

50. The WSRA does not give managing agencies authority to effect programs on private land without the consent of landowners.

_	
υ	
5	- 11
· ·	
-	- 18
	- 12
•	
0	
~	
-	- 12
5	- 1
÷.	
e	
ച	
-	
=	
(1)	
-	
0	
d) –	
õ.	
-	

itendent Lional Scenic River	RECEIVED	UEC 17 1998
CT	tendent ional Scenic Rive	

Dear Sir,

As a concerned citizen and landowner I appreciate the opportunity and vould like to make a few comments on the Draft General Management Plan and Environmental Impact Statemént for the Missouri National Recreational River. I have attended three of the public meetings by the National Park Service and one by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers . The That looks good and desiteable on the surface but I see where landowners have some understandable feasts. As a landowner I think bank stabilization should be a high or number one priority in this plan. This will get landowners to embrace this plan quicker than anything else. I would also think it would have to be a fight priority of the National Park Service because of the practices talked about and alluded to in the forst than such that and alluded with native plants and vegetation, preservation of historical, any developement of vegitor access and public access used for recreation as in boating, hiking trails, and bicycle trails etc. alluded to in the general draft plan.

In the general draft plan (#2.6.3) there are no concrete plans to implement bank stabilization to preserve the other practices implemented by the Corps of Engineers and the National Park Service. Let alone preserving valuable farm land much of which has already been lost and more being eroded at present and future losses to be sure. I think peoples and or landowners fears are they are concerned and fear the unknown as to what projects and practices will be implemented by or frym this plan. Will it be used as a Vehicle to implement and carry out projects and practices against the landowners will. NRD projects are a good comparison where a landowners of sidislaced or permanently inconvenienced:

50

Sincerely. authur Richert

Arthur Rickett

RESPONSES

51. See response 16 above.

the kinds away and we are getting a children We as Digne County - Farmere are pleased to be recommed the statch of the rear as a 55 よろーナ/ ーイ/ the run is getting with next in endui to to comment in the Yoman Ne. We recommend that more active active provided for recientenal purposes Missionic national never drift many in the corper p Vink stal Userne Watcher the literia pite he identified and cost let this also recorded that the reaches Sinciulty We recommend that high attice Law 75- 625. marine. Ne. 68102 - 2513. an the pera have the opportunit Piinlity, recention hurer. William Schink the st his a high Clear Sir, inclued Nieter niliuer Areier. 7096 Plan'. ry

Federal Agencies and Elected Officials

S
Ē
-
Z
T I
~
5
$\mathbf{\nabla}$
C
-

RESPONSES

A summary of planning activity, including landowner involvement, appears on pages 139-140. Regarding future public involvement, see response 7. 52.

individual. As discussed at the public meetings in November and December, stabilization undertaking. Donated easements could well have a termination application, terms and conditions may vary from case to case, individual to clause if, say, stabilization work is not undertaken in a timely manner. It is easement acquisition, whether of a development right or vegetative cover Draft easement documents are available from the NPS O'Neill office. In guarantee, is a critical step establishing a "federal interest" in a bank difficult to envision a termination clause in a purchased easement. 53.

The only way the limitations on condemnation can be changed from the given 5% for easement of the total acres inside the boundary to some other term is by act of Congress and concurrence of the president. 54.

CONSULTATION AND COORDINATION

during the decision making process. Quite a few people believe they should be allowed to help in decision affecting the their own land and lives.

residents. I could not find any mention of input from local landowners and citizens before and

l'nfortunately there is very little mention of working and/or compromising with the local

Common to Both), 47 - 54 (Preferred Alternativo), and 55 - 60 (Recreation Alternative).

problems to many because of the lack of information. The only thing most of us have been told is provided to the property owner. The vagueness about the easement contract is a cause for some there is no guarantee that money will aver be appropriated for this construction. The property that money for bank stabilization will only be provided if the easements are granted, however owners deserve to have some recourse should the easement be granted and satisfaction is not The easements that will be used to acquire an interest in the property are presenting

I hope this next fear is extremely remote, but it is a possibility and therefore I am going to of guarantee that some future decision-making body cannot change this? The only reason l want mention it. The condemnation clause stands at 5% right now, but is there going to be some sort to bring this to attention is that every administration has it's own agenda and the property concern.

54

With the overwhelming concern of bank atabilization, and the call to do something about it. some people have wondered how the NPS can expect to keep this area Natural, Wild, & owners need to have some measure of control over their fears and property.

Scenic? This question was asked at the meetings and I did not hear an answer. The

212

52

53

regarding the local people and their land. I read through the plan on pagas 33 - 44 (Actions The biggest concern is about the lack of local input before the decisions are made

claim of wanting to be a good neighbor.

approved. Many of the individuals who took the time to attend these meetings deserve to have

their suggestions given serious consideration, if not implementation. and give aupport to your

notice that quite few concerns were raised that need to be addressed before the final version is

discussion of these plans. Each of the maetings ware informative and educational, but 1 did

I am writing to express my grave concerna regarding the praferred and recreational emphasis management plans. I have attended two of the meetings and participated in the

Re Missouri River Management Plan

Mr. Paul Hedren:

; 196 December 13.1998

UBAIBOSe

132 MAN MISSOUGHartington, NE.

RESPONSES

55. The continuation of a bank stabilization program is ultimately conditioned on

congressional direction and support.

effective in the future. Will stream-bank stabilization continue if the first attempt proves futile controlling or stopping riverbank erosion and I sincerely doubt if they will prove to be any more bioengineering techniques outlined on page 39 have not proven to be successful in the past at and what. if any, compensation is the property owner going to receive?

55

The majority of property owners along the river bave taken care to do as little damage to nature s beauty and still be able to pass this legacy on to the future generation. A quite a few of us realize that nature is always changing and regarding the Missouri River we have always had the area as possible, not because someone told them to, but because we want to be able to enjoy Ponca and Souix City and yet this is what will happen when man tries to control something as beautiful and powerful as the Mussouri River. This is the most important reason why I believe the local land and property owners must be involved in the decision making process regarding meant to be. The Missouri was not meant to be a channeled valley the way it is seen between to live with ber, not fight her. It is the only way to keep this piece of creation the way it was the management of the Missourn River.

Sincerely:

Rebecca Latka William Shenk Sen. Chuck Hagel Sen. Bob Kerrey Rep. Doug Bereuter 8

Cy F. Pinkelman

Federal Agencies and Elected Officials

Superiotendent Paul II.dren Nubbraz-Musouri National Scenic Ruverways P.O. Box 591 O'Neill, NF 68763-0591

Re. M N.R.R. Draft Plao

Dcar Paul.

This is written in no official capacity. Rather, I write as a life-long readern along the nver, a huncter, bournas, and office are of the rowing. Takes own and parcet of liand long the inver in Warmillion by equests. How the CO.E. has never placed any row along my waterford. We fasher was a lowroof the Missouri, my great-grandfaber homesteaded along the river morthwest of Ponca, the Missouri has long the Missouri, my great-grandfaber homesteaded along the river morthwest of Ponca, the Missouri has long the Missouri, my great-grandfaber homesteaded along the river morthwest of Ponca, the Missouri has long the evented has holding. For easily 100 years II have a point optimizing the river. escender how the river beared the Missouri from the head of anvigation to the mount. There long take a restore T have boared the Missouri from the head of anvigation to the mount. There long taken here an state. T have boared the Missouri from the head of anvigation to the mount. There long taken a restore the ration the plane mouth written in my personned interest and not as the representative of any young on other emity.

Cuopres has designated the Paoca-Yankium reach of the Missiourn as a Recreational River under the nation's Wild and Science Art. This paparoni anim way to preserve and poticit in a the solic remain of the "wild" "reviewed" service and the service and the four the designation and the objective. Thus some thy-none mile reach of the rules as treasure multi discriming of pomeranu and preservation. Note of those concreted with and botter the aster with those objectives preservation. Note of those concreted with and botter the aster of the rules are aster the preservation. Note of those concreted with and botter the aster of the rules are aster than the objective solitpreservation. While this reach of river returns many of the characteristics of the truly wild Missouri, there are crucial differences. Perhapire the principal difference on their this reach to houser experiments the natural florodoing which flore from (itterally) the seasonal anoward on the phase and in the mountainal florodoing often overtopped the river's hanks, and the water was sedimentiaten as the Missouri weat about houding often overtopped the river's hanks, and the water was sedimentiaten as the Missouri weat about housing of those concurrenced about the fitte of today's triver have no recollection of the muly middy river, they think the often green water uf today's triver is its natural hue.) In the days of the "Ture Rise," flooding, of course, eroded the bank s that very eroston caused the culturg, winderung and channel burging which became the hullmark of the massouri of oid. The order genered, however, six fact channels burging which flooding burleback? The tree rebuil or restreed lamk along the never even as it curl lands cleavahere. Old channels were filled in, and successive years as annual modulion's built by adjacent lands, creating the flooding. The Vermillion maperi lies on day on restored.) Joshy, restore ontinues releateshy by an even more voiseous never. As the river no longer more even as the rower no build-back occurs. The reparan hudowing the invert sidue subject to a "colobe wharmys" moreaked eronion and no build-back These who would evalerly loose the river upon the reparan owness groute the fact that where as a pro-dam days habe events stored to back to back or regioning land previously loss. These who would evalerly loose the river upon the reparan owness groute the data fraction where a stored or back that fact that when a seco propert data rationand this bene related percent chance of Doung at with a zero propert of any restoration. Repartur owners are not only in danger of loang their land, many are losing ut. It's gone. Gone

There is, as you know, a proposal to change the fluw regimen so as to emulate the outural spring flowling. At 1 indexeated it such flowdling would more overing the hands and therefore would not cause flowling. If and the such change the physical banks. The reusion would don't be first: The

proponents of such a scheme point to un uncrease in the river sediment content as a benefit of such a "spring rise". Where would it come from? You know where it would come from!

Your Preferred Alternative appears to favor renewal of the "spring flood." While such is not set forth in bold prun, that possibility is suggested, if not cationred, in the Preferred Alternative. Con page 63 of the dard) plun this alternative is station provide from management" on resucce-the management of the total. Takah would construe molving less than the internetional detectation of the fardy, seen the fixed by the set of the character and the structure. Takah would construe molving less than the internetional detectation of the fardy, seen the fixed by hourd of the eparato mores. It is your mentional detectation of the structure data factor and the types at the fourth of the eparate structure data factor and the structure of the structure

56

1 believe that most of those concerned with preserving and protecting this reach of river intri) do warn to keep the folding adopted the river, the beases, the versues of the build's and mynad of other distributions agrees of that unchannelished reach. We do not warn use concerned with a unchannelished, reached warn warn use concerned reach. We do not warn use concerned reaches the versues to be added to the the state of the st

Oppments of bank stabilization, which some confide with channelization, have an aversion to curbing the river's appoint of no soul. I show the resting ware the evaluing matter of the river's in on such opposition self-defaults. They can the resources sought to be princeted ratily be protected if the river is not restanced. For example, the super's assort of old group colonomode which the bround mass of the protect early in the process of resming boundances to longer ensist. It is goor. The river slashed it away, tree by tree. Remains of that treatment that the the revert is more alloched it away, tree by tree. Remains of that treatment free the tree at and below file 779R. A modest investment in sublitation would have (and hould laver) proceered this have, Acters of treatmelly under assort by the treet metale the streiches pring a MME 759(Wast of the Have) and the buffs a Multerry Benck the trefficient again bank, in the Lik Pount Bench and Poul and Poul and Multerry Benck the trefficient and in build with the trefficient and the buffs a Multerry Benck the trefficient and the trefficient and the buffs at Multerry Benck the trefficient and build work point.

1 From prospective destruction of a "Rec River" sits, whilip provision does the plan make for saving u? Except for both lands matched an the project versor points or that "research" saving the to the excerblangs, the states be protected? To be the trust easi its way to evaluate the traditional sectiv view of the shoreline will be gone. Note, for example, the ranged shoreline near mile 37.8. It is taked to monstrate the sort of scenery, which will become all the common *f* no effort to contain the trust is made.

51

A storng argument can be made for making hank stabilization a high princity of m the "Rec River" turnidor. If those features to the trever we can choose how preserved, some degree if bank stabilization must be provided. If there is to be motified was not according to the propose, please datives mes needed and where medded. The Mission shows you accomption the propose, please datives are needed and where meeded. The Mission shows you accomption the propose, please datives when neural and where meeded. The Mission shows you accomption the propose, please datives are not work users the neural Dios. The Mission shows you accomption the propose, please datives are neural and where meeded. The Mission shows when the neural between the protected bank semilitary to some degree the narrel Dios. In several planes the buffit alreidy store the same function by limiting the meandemy. There are even now armored banks which the net is no longer ausking and which are an overgrown one would have to dg to find the next used. (Netzi Mile 'Nil' e g.)

- 56. The plan does support the concept of mimicked natural flow, meaning measured rises, if possible, in the spring and summer, and reduced flows in the waning summer and fall. It is incorrect, however, to interpret this as an endorsement of seasonal flooding, And these are ideals only. The COE's *Master Water Control Manual*, an authority outside of the scope of this plan, sets conditions for water flows.
- 57. NPS and COE view bank stabilization as a site-specific matter. Restoration of lost land is highly improbable.

CONSULTATION AND COORDINATION

Bauk protection should be as unobtrusive as possible, of course, and used only when necessary. The C.O.E can and has developed a varrery of techniques to accomplish this. No me has more expertise m coping with the Missoun and the Copys should be actively engaged in the effort to make this suprasti of the Missouri.

If I may be of assistance to you in seeking a resolution of the various problems involved here, please feel free to call on me.

With Warm Regards, Why J.M. Peterson 4 wil

21
Z
3
H
4
-
4
0
-
\mathbf{C}
-

ES
\mathbf{S}
Z
Z
S
R

13.
sponse
See re
58.

 Water quality matters are discussed and evaluated on pp. 106, 111, 121, and 127. Also see response 30.

> > December 14, 1998

Paul L. Hedren, Superintendent Niebrazhissouri National Scenic Waterways P.O. Box 591 O'Neill, Nebraska 68763

Dear Superintendent Hedren,

This letter is in response to the request for public commons on the ND Draft Magement Plan and Environmental Impact Statement. Twas placed to review the Draft and the three alternatives, and after an era with more all plan or management. If find it quite refreshing to see that the National Park Service intends to move loward in developing a strategy to protect our valuable scenic resource. My comments focus on this fact:

As a National Recreational River under the National Wild and Scenic Rivers Act, this 59-mile section of the Missouri River is a <u>tational</u> treasure and thus much more than merely a local resource. In an age when natural areas and wildlife are in constant threat from the many irreversible stresses of our explanding civilization, we must give increasingly greater emphasis to probection of the natural aspects of the few remaining preserves so that future generations can appreciate these environments. We have a moral obligation to prevent a gradual chiscling away of these natural areas. While preserving the natural state as much as possible, we must also educate the public so that in the future they will recognize the need to preserve our natural herdiage.

Therefore, Alternative 2 (Preferred Alternative) is clearly the most desirable option. In general, I agree with this plan, but I feel some modifications are needed.

First, extensive use of artificial methods for bank stabilization is a losing strategy in the long run and should be minimized. Artest has are stabilized with rock to other autification thehods are expensive to implement and maindin, and the power of the River is just transforred downstream to another site. I encourage the use of natural methods are much as possible or protense of bank laads to prenti be River to shift naturally. The solution is not really in bank stabilization hut in the chonnic reduction of flow races by the Army Corps of Engineers and in the realization that the Missouri River is contained in soft, sandy soil which is impossible to control in the long term without changing the scenic and recreational characteristics of the River.

58

We may be able to stabilize the hank for a while, but eventually in the long-term the River will win unless we decide to strap the idea of preserving a Scenic Recretational River and antificially stabilize the entire 39-mile segment. Moreover, artificial bank stabilization usually protects the bank of a few landowness at great public expense. If appears that the greater public interest-that of preserving the 59mile structh as a national scence and recreational low starts waitificial hank stabilization. The River does not belong to a lew landowners but to the general public.

Second, no mention is made of water quality cmntrol in the proposals. Preservation of flora and faura is dependent on both land and water quality. In noday is word the Kiver is suffected by an over growing number of sources of protocial optition from towns, farms, and industres. This section of the River should be designated as an Outstanding Natural Resource Water under the Clean Water Act.

61. See response 28.

Frequent monituring of the water should take place at a number of sites along the S9-mile segment. Perhaps science classes and the University of South Dakota could assist in this effort to keep costs down—a strategy that would also increase public awareness. We should have an idea whether pollution is 62. The CONcept from sources upstream in the Missouri, from tributaries along the S9-mile segment, or from adjacent protection w

Third, I storngly encourage expansion of the narrow "greenbelt" that is proposed for the hanks of the River. It is questionable whether the intermittent and narrow greenhelt hat is proposed will be sufficient for protection or expansion of animal and han species because their movement and growth will be severely limited. A larger continuous area will serve to protect the environment's species, maximize the experience for River users, and allow for shifting of the River without artificial bank stabilizatioo. Fourth, the Plan should agreessively deal with the developing problem of noise nollution on the

Fourth, the Plan should aggressively deal with the developing problem of noise pollution on the Scenic Recreational River. Personal motorized watercaft ("ye sizt") should be hanned in this segment of the River, and power boaing and water-stiing should be prohibited. These recreational activities are permitted in virtually very other segment of the River in South Dakota. Rebracka, and howa. Therefore, waterways for these activities exist nearby and are accessible. Intuitively, I think that it is obvious that a large volume of these activities exist nearby and are accessible. Intuitively, I think that it is obvious that a distance and conflicts with the many positive natural characteristics that the River offers canceist, hitters, and other outdoor enthusiats.

61

Fifth, whereas Alternative 2 proposes development of two more access points for boats and a cycling trail on the Nebraska side of the khver. If set that these developments will not accommodate the recreational receds of the public. It is viral that we increase the opportunities for the public to experience the many natural, historical, and cultural characteristics that this section of the River can officer, and these needs are not met by Alternative 2. As we approach the Lewis and Clark biccretunial, we can expect an increased damand for recreational river use. Accommodations for the we can expect an increased damand for recreational river use. Accommodations for nerve insufficient in Alternative 2.

In contrast, I think that Alternative 3 (Recreational Emphasis) is excessive and amounts to overdevelopment. Proceeding with Alternative 3 will, in fact, be disruptive to the maintenance of the natural onvironment and counterproductive for recreational users who want to experience the many existing Barbard elements of the River. Specifically, I encourage development of recreational activities that encourage use of the River, but only how arevivites that are associated with mitimal disturbance of the natural state and of other users. Specifically, it rectational use of the River for canocing, hiking, cycling, and low-impact camping abould be expanded white also acconnotating the needs of humers and fishermen. A canoc trail should be made variables that encompasses the entire width and length of the river, and more access points should be made variables for nonmonicating the Routh Dakog side. A system of primits should be made variables from more stores to the River, especially near population centers. These trails should be maintained from the kernels and used is possible. Because of the severe impact, horses should be probleded from the rails.

Whereas existing campsites may be adequate on the Nebrarka side, camping facilities are minimal on the South Daxota side, and a multiday trip on the River is difficult. Moreover, a cance trail should accompate fourtes, with designated sites for primitive camping on islands and banks of the River. Development of these sites will reduce trespassing on private lands and thanks of the River, other artes, which will contribute to stress reduction for flora and fauna.

The idea of River access for car visitors is superficially appealing, but we must be careful that overdevelopment of sectile overlopment of a scenical kinetic can have a scrious impeation the River that may be inversible. Development of a scenical kipway that truns along the Missouri River should be discouraged, even if most of the road is kept visually away from the River. Quiet and isolation are discouraged, even if most of the road is kept visually away from the River. Quiet and isolation are discouraged, even if most of the road is kept visually away from the River. Quiet and isolation are discouraged, even if most of the road is kept visually away from the River. Quiet and isolation are discouraged, even if most of the road is kept visual given and increasive development of scenic overlooks for this truer. A frow scenic overhooks should be developed, but exertational users of the Scenic Recreational River. A frow scenic overhooks should be developed to but

52. The concept in the preferred alternative is to balance the need of resource protection while providing for the needs of recreation. While this GMP sets parameters for management, subsequent implementation plans will be

developed to accomplish specific projects. See also response 34.

development should be restricted to boating access points and areas that are already developed for public use.

1 look forward to a more active role of the National Park Service in the implementation of their plan for the Missouri River as a part of the National Wild and Seemic Rivers Act. If you have any questions or if I can assist you in the future please contact me.

Sincerely,

1

Quele. A. L. C. Jack Williams

1

٠.

2
E
5
Z
0
Ā
Ē
\mathbf{Z}

I		
		63. See response 8, third paragrap
		64. See responses 16 and 26.
	Locombor 17. 1998	
	Mr Paul Hedren Mr Paul Hedren Notronal Park Service Niobranal Vaskour NSR P O Box 591 C Neil, NE 68763	
	RE Missoun River Draft Management Plan Review	
	Dear Paul	
	I have reviewed the "Draft General Management Plan and Environmental Impact Statement" and I have the following concerns and recommendations on its conterns	
63	 The "Recreational Advisory Group" replaced with an annual or simu-annual meeting (page 48 of the plan) should be renstated on a permanent basis. In the past, this group added valuable input in the planming and implementing of projects on this reach of the Missour River. This advisory group must plav a key role in the project for effective participation of keeal government and other interest groups (this the Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association.). 	
64	2 Streambank protection and maintenance must have high priority to protect and preserve the natural resources along this nver stretch and address the big problems landownders face with regard to brank crosson. The word "might" (page 30) suggests very tow unpetiasis on streambank protection and should be changed. All would agree that this is high priority and the backbone for protecting our natural resources along this reach of the river in the future.	
	If the above concerns are addressed (would favor your proposed "Alternative 2" for the final management plan	
	Ulturnately a large part of the success of the recreational river plan will depend on how well the NPS relates with local interests. We hope they do it well!	
	Sincrety. Marken Rich fred	
	Marlau Rolfes	

CONSULTATION AND COORDINATION

COMMENTS	
COMMENT	Ś
COMME	F
COMIM	Ξ
CON	E
ŭ	R
	ŭ

S
$\overline{\mathbf{S}}$
Ž
2
$\overline{\mathbf{S}}$
H

December 17, 1998	
Superintendent - National Park Service P.O. Box 591 O'Neill, Nebraska 68763	and the second s
Subject Missouri River Scenic River, National R To Niobrara, Nebraska	ecreational Category - Fort Randall Dam
Dear Superintendent.	
As an affected landowner adjacent to the Missou scenic river, 1 express very strong feelings about	ri River within the boundary of subject. the following points.
 The federal government (National Park Servic continuous strip of land adjacent to each side of t without regard to any discontinuity as a result of scenic river exempt from provisions of this act 	e;) should not take into ownership a he subject scenic river! This statement is Indian lands adjacent to the subject
The federal government (National Park Servis land by condemnation; therefore, it should only p	ce) should not take into ownership ANY urchase land from willing sellers!
 The federal government (National Park Servic huming. fishing or trapping rights, or the right to land taken into federal ownership! 	e) should not take into ownership any trespass for those purposes, on any of
4) The federal government (National Park Servic accretion rights that are in private ownership at th	e) should NOT take into ownership any te present time ¹
 The federal government (National Park Servic mineral rights, or the right to trespass for acquisit private ownership at the present time! 	e) should not take into ownership any ion of any such minerals, that are in
Sincerely,	
Dean A Hude PE	

- 65. Neither NPS nor COE has a vision or authority for the massive fee ownership characterized here. As described in the previous responses, however, easement acquisition is imperative for successful federal participation in bank stabilization and certain resource protection. And fee ownership may be imperative for access development.
- See response 41.
- 57. Hunting, trapping, and fishing are regulated by states on nonfederally owned lands. The WSRA expressly permits hunting and fishing on federal lands administered as part of the MNRR, while trapping is not permitted. See pages 38.
- 68. State, not federal law, determines the ownership of accretion land.
- 69. Mineral ownership is also determined by state, not federal law.

cc. US Senator Tom Daschle US Senator Tim Johnson US Representative John Thune

99

67

68

69

Tánkutar	- ASA 			S Management Plan for ich I have reviewed in and your staff are to ting this significant t to describe certain i I believe merit more	guided by the words a recreational river: if legislation of the gation to protect our id not have set aside retion, nor would it f the NFS, had it not of a trust for the Thus, the Management containing the higest	restored it must be the immediate threat to that the overriding trin, a process which jon." Channelization the uptoress is that dided by the uptream didain. When normal s bank to erode, these the bank near their is the bank near their the that this process
17 December 1998	Paul Hedren Superintendent Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways National Park Service P.O. Box 591 O'Neill, Nebraska 68763	Re: 59-Mile Stretch, Missouri River Management Plan	Dear Superintendent Hedren:	This is my response to the proposed NP the 59-M1E stretch of the Missouri River, wh detail. Overall, it is my opinion that you be commended for a great effort at inaugura undertaking. In the comments below I attemp features of the Recreational River Plan which detailed concern.	Wy analysis of the 59-Mile segment is provided by Congress in it's definition of "PROTECT AND RESTORE." In addition, the organ National Park Service charges it with the oblivational heritage." Charly, Congress wou "national heritage." Clearly, Congress wou the 59-Mile Stretch for Protection and restric- the S9-Mile Stretch for protection and restric- intended that management be in the nature benefit of all criticens of the United States. Plan needs to ergoes the terms of a trust, pladation to protect and restore.	Before the 59-Wile Stretch can be protected, which requires that we identify th it's integrity. There is a broad consensus threat is that of channelization of the str proceeds under the cuphenism "bank stabilizat appears to be proceeding piecemeal. Typicall under the publicity-financed protection prov under the publicity-financed protection prov fluctuations in the flow cause portions of th property. Section by section, the threat leads, inevitably, to channelization. Tepeat leads, inevitably, to channelization. Tepeat

0. Again, the 1978 law designating the MNRR gives authority for certain bank stabilization, but this should not be construed to mean channelization or startto-finish armoring within the Gavins Point to Ponca reach. Every effort will be made to ensure that any federally sponsored stabilization is consistent with and advances the intent of the WSRA by including resource protection and enhancement.

RESPONSES

71. Resource management issues are particularly discussed on pp. 38-41. As noted on page 41, a specific resource management plan will be prepared by the NPS following completion of this GMP.

The National Park Service has been provided with the full scientific description of the destructive effects of this piceneal channelization on river functions. river life and river use. Fish pacies, including some endangered and threatened, are deprived of habitat, and the overall riparian zone is deprived of it's ability to function; to serve it's essential role in the ecosystem. Visitors to the River are deprived of a picture of the natural river. finding instead only an engineered lifeless channel. Idearly, if this process is allowed to continue, the notion of profit of a few private land developers.

A second immediate threat to the protection of the river is the continuing destruction of fish and wildlife habitat. The river of Lewis & Clark, the history of the Voyage of Discovery, is associated with the extraordinary abundance and diversity of wildlife which the River once sheltered. Take that away, and the River's principal role in our national heritage is lost. I urge that the the lian contain more aggressive and specific plans for developing real wildlife habitat. This will require positive cooperation with the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service as well as state game agencian. For this plan to have a chance, I think that NPS must re-think it's normal processes, and become an advocate for the River. Many important decisions involving the River will be made in other jurisdictions. Typically, an agency such as NPS simply says: "It's not under our control." What I urge is that you speak for the River, even when that takes you into other jurisdictions. Be the Riverkeeper.

How would such an advocacy role work? Take the example of a hypothetical NPDEs permit being considered for issuance by the South Davka DERK under the Clean Water Act. As advocate for the River you can appear and make suggestions, describing the impacts that the permit might have on the 59-will estrech. DBKR is in a position to include conditions in the permit which assure it's compatibility with the recreational river, and i am sure would be preased to have the input. There are numerous opportunities for this type of positive intervention as spokespersons for the River, and the role is entirely consistent with that of trustee, which is what NPS now is.

There is much to be done, and the opportunities are great. Thank you for this opportunity to participate.

Where H A De VINVIN

As noted in response 67, hunting is expressly permitted within designated wild and scenic river boundaries on lands that are or may be federally owned.

72.

Therein, respective state regulations apply in matters such as blinds.

MISSOURI NA TIONAL RECREATIONAL RIVER Draft General Management Plan and Environmental Impact Statement

Please share your thoughts on our array of alternatives in the draft plan, and any other interest or issue concerning you about the recreational river. Please print.

RECEIVED

ut 1. 1985 Mubrana manunat

> Mr. Paul Hedren National Park Service Niobrara/Missouri NSR PO Box 591 O'Neill, Nebraska 68763

Dear Mr. Hedren:

I am not a land owner along the Missouri River, just an avid hunter and fahrerman who uses the river extensively. My major concern it, what changes can are expert in these areas if one of these plans is put into effect? "We", and I speak for a lot of other duck hunter, have heard rumbles that we will no longer be able to bust out of "boo" blinds any longer, that we will be forced to hunt out of boat blinds. A "box blind" is a wooden blind that we hear on the standbar during the bunting season and there remove it at the end of the season. If we are forced to hunt out of boat blinds, this will seriously handicap us, because it will severely limit the number of decoys that we can use. Plus with everyone leaving from the same boat landing at the same time in the morning in the dark, will create a dangerous and volitie situation.

2

My comment and request is, please let us use our bos blinds and decoy spreads as we have in the past. I personaly guarantee you that our crew will not leave a trace and 1 will assure you that I will do all in my power to make sure that no one else in our area at least doem't either. Turm your comments in to a National F Name

Turn your comments in to a National Park Service representative <u>or</u> mail to:

ALIEN AP

Address, Handey

Sincerely yours,

Superintendent, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways, P.O. Box 591, O'Neill, Nebraska 68763

THIS FORM IS VOLUNTARY. THANK YOU FOR YOUR COMMENTS.

73. See response 8.	74. See responses 13 and 16.(Seven additional letters identical to this were received by the NPS during the public review period. All originated in Nebraska, with one from Hartington, two from Fordyce, three from St. Helena, and one unsigned and otherwise unidentifiable except for a generic Nebraska postmark.)							
	December 7, 1998	L. Paul Hedren	ear Paul,	1 have reviewed the "Draft General Management Plan and Environmental Impact Statement" and 1 ve some concerns and opinions on its contents.	I am very concerned that the "Recreational Advisory Group" is being replaced with an annual or semi- mual meeting (page 48 of the plan.) In the past, this group added valuable input in the planning and phemetings of projects on this retroit of the Missouri River. This input will be lost. The approach in reatives 42 and 43 with occasional public meetings, does non allow for effective participation of local vernment and other interest groups (like the Missouri River Bark Stabalization Association.) This visory group must play a key role in the project.	As to streambank protection, alternatives #2 and #3 do luttle to address the big prublems landowners c. whis regard to bhark cosion. Such statements as "the use of natural streambank protection or angineering techniques are recommended" (page 39) are a joke. They have not worked in the past. onther statement (on page 50) "sciential streambank erosion control might be allowed on a case-by- se basis for protection of residences, other important structures, and lands adjacent to high bank " The ord "high" paut vory low emphasis on streambank protections. Mhere is the support for the section 33 agrains in alternatives 2 and 37 All would agree that this is a high priority, and the backbone for other atternatives 2 and 37 All would agree that this is a high priority, and the backbone for other atternative stores along this reach of the river in the past	Ultimately, the success of the recreational river plan will depend on how well the NPS relates with al interests. We hope they do it well!	HEINF FARNS
					73	74		

RESPONSES

COMMENTS

Federal Agencies and Elected Officials

See responses 7, 50, and 52.

75.

~	
-	
F	
-	
~	
100	
1	
-	
1-1	
-	
-	
~	
-	
~	
0	
-	
\mathbf{O}	ł

MISSOURI NATIONAL RECREATIONAL RIVER **Draft General Management Plan and** Environmental Impact Statement

Please share your thoughts on our array of alternatives in the draft plan, and any other interest or issue concerning you about the recreational river Please print.

December 7, 1998

with the feeling that I am going to lose control of my own property and not being able to do anything about it once National Parks has control of it. Just to note their plans for bank stabilization has not worked in the past and I can not see how it could possibly work they have not included any local representation by land owners, advisory groups and local As a land owner along the 59 mile stretch of river between Gavins Point Dam and Ponca. I am very concerned about the National Park Service's proposal. It appears to me that governing bodies. I attended one of the local meetings at Yankton, SD I came away any better in the future as they stated in their report on page 39

75

I am very much against the NPS proposal without local land owners, advisory groups and local governing bodies having a voice and representation in this proposal. These groups have dealt with the river and have every right to be a ble to be a part of its future.

JECEIVEL

Marium Mar 31;61 -÷ .

3 Name: Ary J. Herne GENE, FARYS Address:

Turn your comments in to a National Park Scrviee representative or mail to:

Superintendent, Niobrara/Missouri National Seenie Riverways, P.O. Box 591, O'Neill, Nebraska 68763

THIS FORM IS VOLUNTARY. THANK YOU FOR YOUR COMMENTS.

COMMENT FORM

New Stransmith RECEIVED

Please share your thoughts on our array of alternatives in the draft plan, and any other interest or issue concerning you about the recreational river. Please print.

Atri: Paul redien

I Per the public can best be several by rething the recent I have attended the internation meetings you attend usis, or as in optim I.

Event book going up the river creates a water, and erobes the banks more. More peuple mean more books, I see no reason to have any mite government here. The rigurgable river is at most surgards which,

The Coips, the NRD and the Baiks are all Aghting Set the outherity to centrol the river, but will up nothing in return. your past actions (compared to what you promised to do) speak by themselves.

Name: Dry Que lelina Address:

Turn your comments in to a National Park

Service representative or mail to:

Superintendent, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways, P.O. Box 591, O'Neill, Nebraska 68763

THIS FORM IS VOLUNTARY. THANK YOU FOR YOUR COMMENTS.

ROBERT L. RYKEN Attorney at Law

December 15, 1998

VIA EXPRESS MAIL

Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Superintendent National Park Service Mr. Paul L. Hedren Riverways P.O. Box 591

. . .

A PAVIC

eft.

÷,

ĩ

O'Neill, NB 68763

Draft General Management Plan And Environmental Impact Statement for Misson National Recreational Rever Re

Dear Mr Hedren

I was pleased to meet you and hear your presentation at your public meeting in Yankton on November 24, 1998, at which time I first received a copy of the above described document (which will refer to for convenience as the "Plan"). Since you stated that public comment will be closed on Docember 18, 1998, I have acted with as much hate as possible to prepare the following comments which I ask that the National Park Service ("NPS") and the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers ("COE") consider in preparing a final plan and report on this project.

My Family As Interested Parties.

First, I should introduce who I am and the other interests I represent. I am one of the fourth generation of my family who have been continuous owners since the beginning of this century of our family farm located on the South Dakota side of the Missouri River Dr. Mary Ann Ryken Wilcox, Linda K. Merkwan and Sam K. Ryken, of the Marvin L. Ryken Big Timber Trust, we own farm and tumber land in it in location including somewhat less than one male of river from. My comments are made on behalf of all the trustees of our family trust. My comments are also made on behalf of thy mother, Gladys south and west of Gayville, Yankton County, in the big bend roughly between river miles 795 and 797. As a co-trustee together with my brothers and sisters, Marvin L. Ryken, Jr.

E. Ryken, who also owns adjacent farm land, some portion of which appears to be included in the boundaries for the Missouri National Recreational River ("MNRN"). Our soon-to-be centenary farm was originally assembled by my great-grandfaither, Samuel Van Osdel. who purchased for ur adjoining farms on the banks of the Missouri River totalling over 800 acress including 500 acress of prime agricultural land. Having at various times in his youth owned and operated a steamboat on the Missouri and Cheyenne Rivers and a portable scarwill in the land. Hallis and elsewhete in South Disdoka, a heavily wooled farm on the banks of the great Missouri River was the ideal location for my greatgrandfaher. The remnants of an old steam engine that once powered the sawmill on the farm are still located at the main building site. I personally remember that the sawmill rarenaised fin use until the late 1950's to saw building tumber from large cottonwood logs harversted from the farm's timber stock. When Samuel Van Osdel died, my grandmother, Pearl E. Van Osdel Ryken and my grandfather, Lawrence J. Ryken, acquired the Samuel Van Osdel farm. They actively farmed until my grandfather's death in 1963. My grandfather was an avid sportsmun in and around the farm and river and was well known by his contemporates as a fisher of big and farmer home with many channel cafifsh much heavier and taller than 1 was.

When my grandfather died, my father, Marvin L. Ryken, Sr. and my mother, Gladys E. Ryken acquired the farm. By this time, high bast cosion had cut over 400 acres away from the original Samuel Van Osdel farm, actually cuting the remaining farm in several asparate pieces now found on the Missouri. Under our parents, my brothers, sisters and I quite literally grew up on the banks of the Missouri River.

generations. At the same time, the challenges of growing up and having carned a living on this land and the continuing burdens of owning it make us keenly aware of how hard-won has expended considerable time, money and work to visually improve the farm, including: rebuilding fences to ensure privacy of river access, and planting new trees and controlling agreement is to continue to maintain long term family ownership. Since 1994, my family noxious weeds In addition to our farming activities, our family regularly uses the timber and river bank areas for recreation Just this past Thanksgiving, over 25 family members from Indiana, California, Minnesota, Washington, Nebraska and Illinois gathered in a fall farm represents The surface and banks of the river, the sunset at any time of year our rights are and continue to be To still be here after four generations is no small thing sisters when I tell you that we are fully aware of the unique natural qualities which our family reunion at our cabins on the river. I know I speak for my mother, brothers and solitude of wooded meadows, the shared space with amazing wildlife all represent spiritual corners in the dimensions of whom we are and have been as a family for four With my father's death in 1994, the riparian portions of the farm were left in a removal of old mobile homes/RVs from immediate high river bank areas, removal of family trust for the benefit of my brothers and sisters and I. The object of our family mulated farm debris and machinery; demolition of delapidated farm buildings, family accui ę

in and of itself. As the Plan suggests, our family is a significant part of the cultural landscape of the river, and we hold the river and our land very dear to our hearts. You will therefore understand if we examine and comment on your proposal in a rigorous fashion.

Context of Plan. Insufficient Notice of Resurrected Planning Effort.

NPS titring of closing public comment on December 18, 1998 and going to a final plan 60 Ownership of lands is a matter of public record, and actual notice in this situation actually be impacted by the Plan, who desire to make meaningful review and comment on the Plan, but who have not been given reasonable notice that NPS was finally going to act included on NPS' mailing list apparently notified by 1992 and 1993 newsletters No other Yankton County tax rolls) has received such a notice, either. Yet an additional five years planning under MNRR between 1993 and the Plan issuance. After 15 years of signalling also are to be informed that these actions are being taken and are to to consulted." (Plan have not been routinely notified of significant developments in the finalization of the Plar Manning for this project. Even if NPS wishes to rely on public notice, my recollection of As a matter of general context for MNRR, land owners have been living in a state days thereafter places an unfair comment burden on parties, such as my family, who will obligation to give reasonable actual notice to affected property owners that the planning directly on the shoulders of adjoining real estate owners, yet adjoining real estate owner when NPS first began work on this revised Plan, when notices to the public or interested co-owner of our family farm (including my mother who has been listed as addressee on which the Analysis of Statue provides in part: "The interested organizations and public have been quite simple for NPS to achieve. The impact of the Plan will fall most attended and registered at various "river meetings" in the two decades since, I was not September, 1998, and I am not aware of any notices given regarding the resumption of mpacted and in a substantive sense avoids the stated statutory purposes of truly public period of time than has been afforded on the current Plan. 1 would like to know First, given the languorous history of implementation of MNRR, I believe that parties were issued, and whether the current notice is comparable to the original notice Something is wrong with this situation, since it stifles comment by those most directly wenty years ago is that there was a great deal more official public notice over a much process was back in motion. Certainly that ia the intent of the original legislation, of to property owners that no NPS action was likely, 1 believe that NPS was under an passed after the Plan referenced "scoping" meetings before issuance of this Plan in on this matter. The original MNRR legislation dates from 1978 Although I have rocedures in regard to the 1978 legislation 153)

As a matter or general context for MNKL, land owners have been bring in a state of "benign neglect" for over 20 years, and the Missouri really has not fared too badly with this inaitention by the foderal government. I understand that some property owners cry out for back stubilization relief, and I an deeply sympathetic to those who lose family farm lands to the river. But the Plan aindicates that nevery inpaint and owners will pay a price in terms of constant and higher level of federal involvement regarding uses not only on the river but also on private lands adjoining the river. My family believes that an interatified

5

76. A continuing effort has been made since 1991 to inform the public about the renewal of planning for the MNRR. Periodic updates were fashioned in the form of news releases to the media, newsletters sent to a continually growing mailing list, and at public meetings. See pages 13-14 and 139-140 for overviews of the planning process. 77. The plan explains that for bank stabilization structures to be constructed on private property there must be a minimum Federal interest established to justify the use of federal money. Also see response 50. 78. See responses 1 and 38.

level of federal control of the iver uses may actually detract from the river experience for those of us who live on or near it. We believe that enhanced access improvements and detractional activities will inevitably increase visitor use and pressure on natural resources, both privately and publicly owned. What is wrong with the MNIKR park the way it is now? We understand from your public meeting presentation that political support for spot bank stabilization is the primary monivating factor behind the Plan. However, must spot bank stabilization is the primary monivating factor behind the Plan. However, must spot bank stabilization carry with it a revived version of an actively managed federal tark? In 1978, MNRR evolved in a political climate of federal activism in local affairs, which assumed that federal control always made everything better. We now know that federal governmental involvement is not a panacet to a panacet to a panacet to a panacet to ave a easo need to judge the Plan by the degree with which it is continuously responsive to local needs.

Finally, I think the Plan should specifically address how, under applicable legislation, it has metamorphosed from the original recreational river concept (ie, Missouri National Recreational River) to the acenic river concepts discussed at public meetings 1 have been unable to divine this information from the text of the Plan While I have done my best to provide Plan commentary on short notice, I do not waive lack of required notice as an objection to any provision of the final form Plan which might have been subject to more reasoned scrutiny had actual sufficient notice been given.

No Action Alternative No. 1.

From the Missouri River land owner's point of view, the "no action" alternative number 1 must be refreshed with the realization that there is always federal impact even if there is no apparent raction 1 acknowledge that the National Environmental Policy Act experises the status quo to be defined as a "no action" alternative, but informed judgment requiries that one recognize preceding federal actions which have created the status quo

Since the inception of the Pick-Sloan Plan, the federal government has had a continuous impact on ripriviral moto wners in maintaining a federal typefreed hydologic regime in the Missouri River basin to include flood corntrol, navigation, hydropower, water supply and recreation. For the downstream riparitan owner, federal upsterement y downsor, make a federal type returned in the Missouri River basin to include flood corntrol, navigation, hydropower, water supply and recreation. For the downstream riparitan owner, federal upsterement and a decision that might otherwise appear to be for the common work, federal water management accisions that might otherwise appear to be for the common good might and attaually custe include flooding and ecosion, inhibit navigation, make agricultural water supply difficult and make reveasional facilities unsubble. And our family's septences since construction of Gavin's Point Dam is that substantially more than half our farm have erosion. The main course of the Missoni downiver from Gavin's Point to our farm have erosion. The main course of the Missoni downiver from Gavin's Point to our farm have erosion. The mains in virtually constant erosive contact with the fastile base mathace water remains in virtually constant erosive contact with the fractibe base construction of the dam. Fare that and fact and make areas adown stream. The costs of this federally prefered by diologic regime in terms of lost farm and make areas usbrantial over the past floor decades, and those costs have been home

231

79.

determines ownership of riverbeds and accretion lands, and South Dakota and relating to public use, not ownership. NPS does not own the water. State law surface discussions at the public meetings pertained to jurisdictional matters No property rights are lost in the implementation of this plan. The water Nebraska laws differ. 80.

without compensation by many other down stream land owners besides my family. I think

consideration throughout the entire planning process when envisioned plan rules might

deprive those same land owners of rights with respect to their remaining property

that these accumulated private losses of riparian land owners need to be taken into

Section 32 authority expired in 1984, and only limited maintenance of existing expanded not contracted. Congress and the public demand action, not inaction. structures continues. Private landowners can accomplish bank stabilization at share policies and new laws have been imposed, and erosion problems have General Design Memorandum can also be undertaken, but since then coststabilization of sites identified in the 1980 General Management Plan and personal expense under the provisions of a section 10/404 permit. Bank 81.

> this water line from time to time, adjoining property owners' lands may be submerged and accretion lands that may sometimes be under water and sometimes exposed as a result of thus taken for park purposes without any compensation. What is the resulting status of the federal hydrologic regime? These are important matters to my family, and 1 request that the Plan address them. park subject to direct NPS control is the ordinary high water line of the Missouri River Given the fact that other segments of the federal government are in a position to adjust I am also troubled by the apparent Plan position that the MNRR surface water

boundary are not directly controlled by rules of the Plan and remain subject to all state and

and development, the Plan lacks focus and clarity on the distinction between voluntary guidelines as they may be invoked with respect to privately owned property and actual

bark rules that apply to federally owned water and land.

the Plan should clearly and expressly recognize that privately owned lands within the park local laws affecting use While the Plan makes repeated references to "guidelines" for use

29

1 believe

November 24 Yankon meeting that the federal government, as owner of the surface of the

in the Plan and explained at your meeting are somewhat ambiguous You stated at the

Missouri River, is simply in the position of a neighboring land owner who always has an

suggest that the boundary concepts for all alternatives of the MNRR as discussed

properties. You stated that the federal government, as river owner, has no right to tell an

interest and a right to comment on the appearance, condition and uses of neighboring adjoining land owner what he or she can or cannot do with adjoining property. Yet, privately owned lands are clearly included within the boundaries of the MINRR. I bei

alternative as an option In its current formulation, the Plan implies that bank stabilization adequately is the possibility that bank stabilization in critical areas, with the same political may simply want to address erosion without inviting a larger scheme of federal rules and is not obtainable under the status quo, yet this premise has not really been the subject of achieved by the COE under existing legislation, such as Section 32. Many land owners coordination that would be required under Alternatives 2 and 3, could be completely regulations to their properties, and any Plan should investigate the least restrictive Finally, one aspect of "no action" status quo that the Plan fails to discuss any serious evaluation

Alternative 2 and 3 Common Issues.

prefer, existing) level of visitor use as highly desirable, since we believe less intensive use better preserves to our family and local users the peaceful and quiet enjoyment of our lower use rate) would be preferable to Atternative 3. We regard lower (or, as we would As a preliminary matter, my family agrees that Alternative 2 (with its envisioned

81

232

y other respondents. See also							
2. This contention is countered repeatedly by response 26.	3. See responses 34 and 62.	4. See responses 4, 7, and 8.					
 ~~~~~	~~						
		family farm and the river Lower level of visitor use also means less pressure on delicate natural scenery, habitata and species, which my family also regards av essential parts of the intrinsic value of our farm	With that general preference stated, we still have a number of concerns about common issues of Atternatives 2 and 3, noted below:	1 Streambank Stabilization The initial desired future condition is streambank stabilization First, we submit that adequate streambank stabilization is politically and economically obtainable under the status quo. A good amount of stabilization has already occurred, and there seems to be far less community complaint about erosion and changing river courses now than at any time in the prior thirty years. Even if additional streambank stabilization is desirable, must it occur only in the context of a far reaching national park regimal park regulatory schemework, when this meed not be ture. So is stabilization of Missouin River bank can and should occur on its own merits, and the extension of a more intensely regulated national park under MNRR should occur only upon the evaluation of its own, separate merits.	2 Low Level of Visior Use. While this may desired, the Plan fails to describe bow this will be achieved. At your public meeting, you described environmental and rectational tourism as a dynamic gowhin public, meeting, you described environmental and rectational tourism as a dynamic gowhin busisty, yet neb Plan does not consider this growing market force. It would seem a matter of common sense that installation of additional visitor facilities and access along with education and interpretation activities and provering increase public avarteness and use of MNRR. Why would the Plan observation serie (as it does) contain contingencies for partol of river islands and other areas and use of MNRR? And given the assumption of the Plan thest most traver access will continue to be from private lands, how can any real control over river use be achieved? The Plan recitation of the is and this without logic. Of course there will be higher visitor use is all the more troubling because local residents and owners have no meaningful control on the throttle of this new engine.	3. Management and Public Understanding/Interest Group Involvement. Although described as a Desired Future Condition in the Plan, the Plan, the Plan gives this condition in descriptive development to illustrate how in will happen or to assess impact. Federal staff is to "work with local land owners. Ion appropriate uses." In discussion at your meeting. This is probably the most predictable of continuing impact with a park-like setting. This is probably the most predictable of continuing impact with a park-like setting. This is probably the most predictable of continuing impact with local land owners. While your own administrative experience in this region was lighly complimented by several poople attending the Yankon meeting, there was also discussion for discustines fueld owners. While your own administrative experience in the everal poople attending the Yankon meeting, there was also discussion for the owner developmental readings under the terms of an administrative plan. Once this Plan is finalized and every procedure items of an administrative plan. Once this Plan is finalized and agreed to, what procedure terms of an administrative plan.	e
				82	<u> </u>	8	

233

RESPONSES

COMMENTS

ensures that the project continues to faithfully live up to the Plan? Finally, my sense of the political subdivisions thereof, affected Federal agencies, and such organized private groups advice of a Recreational River Advisory Group which may be established by the Secretary importance of coordinated public input to the park was congressionally recognized by the input on how the park is developing. The Plan should focus more on the control of uses Yankton meeting was that the general public desires more routine opportunities to give segment designated by this paragraph shall be in coordination with, and pursuant to the as the Secretary deems desirable." (Plan p 150) Although the emphasis of the current coordinate site-specific rules, regulations and procedures, during which time divergent primarily by local people, NPS should be able to offer some routine local meetings for existing, adjacent land owners. If, as the Ptan states, that this is a local resource used Such group may include in its membership, representatives of the affected States and enabling legislation. NPS would probably need some site experience to develop and public comment might be disruptive. But after a settling-in period during which the by new visitors to the park instead of devoting itself primarily to control of uses by monitoring. The original MNRR legislation provides: "Administration of the river Plan is scenic river development rather than recreational river development, the

8

4 Land Use Planning and Cooperation to Protect Resources, Including Both Natural and Cultural Resources. Agricultural use would continue to be encouraged, except that feedlots and ordinement facilities adjacent to the river would be considered incompatible activities. We agree that highly intense adjacent to the river would be considered incompatible activities. We agree that highly intense adjacent to the river would be considered incompatible activities. We agree that highly intense adjacent to the river would be considered incompatible activities to our lands, as our family has done since my great-grandfather's establishment of the farm. The Plan hins at concurrence with this use by stating. "Financial assistance for livestock wattering equipment could be used as an incentive to minimize trampling of rivebanks." (Plan p. 37). We feel that we must great cattle in our timber and pasture areas during fair need. We are also troubled by the vagueness of the term should more directly address and corrals for horses and other farm animals. Since the Plan should more directly the intensity of use which is to be avoided, it leaves these area is a great deal of uncertainty.

85

The Plan concedes that 'present development could remain in place inside the boundaries', yet a series of Guidelines are established for 'Existing and Replacement Structures. These cludelines further confuse the issue by providing that "There would be no effect on origing structures and uses." (Plan p. 50) As we understand the Plan's voluntary position on land uses and the existing patchwork of state/county land use rules, it would be better understood if the Plan guidelines were limited to the advocacy position that NPS will adopt with regard to the future development of state and county land use rules.

86

85. A feed lot is defined as a permanent confinement area for animals in buildings, pens, or areas that normally are not used for raising crops or grazing. This definition has been added to the glossary. The grazing of stock cattle is not prohibited in the plan, but the trampling of riverbanks could be a problem.

86. The guidelines offered are recommendations only.

operation of the park becomes routine, it would seem that an organized advisory group

would provide useful input to NPS and address the local desire for input.

5
[-
Z
E
Z
Ż
0
7 \

$\mathcal{I}$
Ξ
5
7
-
0
Ă
$\boldsymbol{\mathcal{O}}$
E
2

87. See response 86	88. See response 14							
		5 With regard to the normative judgments implicitly stated in the Guidelines for Structures (Plan $p$ 36). I have the following comments:	a Minimum setback requirements are sure to be a source of controversy Owners of river bank strongly appreciate the beauty of their river views, especially if they live there on a daily or frequent basis. The Plan presumes that there is a greater value in affording the consolinal water traveler an unimpeded view of the riperian owner's property than in affording the riparian owner a beautiful daily view of the river. No exception is apparently contemplated for physics or private venues which might logically be developed adjacent to the water's dags precisely for the convenience and safety of park visitors using mainly the water surface of the park.	b Structures should be consistent with maintenance, screening, visibility, texture and color recommendations. 1 think we all want recreational and residential structures to be harmonious with the landscape and intrinsically sentsfying. However, 1 would strongly object to a federally sponsored set of focal zoning laws that would limit helpsin, matchesping, 1 and sho deeply troubled by the apparent intent that my family's use and activities should now become "invisible" from river users, after we have so visibly lived on the river is the essence of my family's living experience on the farm. This Plan should not take that right away from any riparian owner.	c Colors similar to the surrounding environment Country structural colors are not necessary genule Farmhouse white and barn red are encountered up and down the river Nature, itself, changes color through the year. Many rural buildings stand for years without fresh paint and thus slowly return to the woods from whence they came. While we can octatingly discuss color of structures. I would strongly object to any zoning or use law that attempted to create and enforce a color scheme	d Exterior Maintenance of Structures. What does this mean? To the extent that structures are not visible from the river, what interest does NPS have in their appearance? Is it possible that a rustically designed structure might fall afoul of this maintenance requirement?	6 With regard to Guidelines for Zoning and New Construction, (Plan pp. 36- 37), I have the following comments:	a First, on a philosophical level, local land use planning is an inherently local concern, and the idea of a federal zoning law imposed at the local level by the considerable resources of the federal government is disturbing to my notion of balanced powers. If this new federal vision is even partially achieved, it will certainly limit the variety of conomic uses that should otherwise be put. It may perhaps prohibit the highest and best economic uses that should otherwise be available to an adjoining private land owner.

b Structures/Maintenance, Screening, Visibility 1 continue my same comments egrading parallel performance requirents previously noted for existing structures, in articular those provisions suggesting that landowners must mask their occupation and anticular from the inver The Plan must make a more deliberate a strempt to recognize that and of the cultural landscape being embraced by this new park is the historical, individual invate uses adjacent to the river	c Boat Docks and Ramps The Plan suggests that boat ramps and boat docks hould be shared. My family takes strong exception to this suggestion. In my personal nemory, we have always had some form of boat dock and/or ramp on our farm. And with nemory and is of increasing the should be entitled to establish and maintain our own dock and ramp without being required to share it with other members of the public. This would terampount to forcing, a land owner: to grant a public access easement in order that the word be allowed communes and the water surface. We would like to see the Plan ecknowledge that riparian land owners have an absolute right of access to the river urface and that any permit system established to control docks and boat ramps be unface and that any permit system established to control docks and boat ramps be unface and that any permit system equiring that public access be granted at any such permit tice.	7 The Plan at several points addresses a need for two additional public access ares on the South Dakota side, and generally prefers the locations to be "near Elk Point and one between Myron Grove and Yankton." (Plan p 54) We would like NPS to fisciose its entire thinking on this subject, since it is impossible to assess probable impact on the basis of these vague references. To the extent that intensified use a much advance site interval intensified use they are in the basis of these vague references. To the extent that intensified use impact will act, will most likely develop at or near these proposed new South Dakota access sites. Owners of property near these proposed new sites are entitled to as much advance information as NPS possesses so that owners can effectively comment on the Plan.	8 Assessment of impacts of the Plan. I have the following comments on the Plan's assessment of impacts a Natural Resources/Noise (Plan p 121) We believe that some visitor necrease is likely, and we concur with meeting comments that noise levels may become a test concur lifthe Plan were as detailed about use restrictions of the river sturdace as it is bout pointen in the Plan were as detailed about use restrictions of the river sturdace as it is subject. We do not want to live through a worst case scenario, where our rights to use and develop our property are significantly limited without compensation, but unbridled ublic use makes the river not worth living on any more.	b Socioeconomic Resources/Land Use, Property Owners and Regional Opulation. (Plan p 123) It is not clear how one gets cleanly to the stated conclusion. The net effect of these techniques would be to stabilize, and neither increase or decrease.



RESPONSES

COMMENTS

- 90. As discussed in the plan and at each of the public meetings, neither NPS nor COE have specific land acquisition agendas, but the agencies do accept the challenge of limited additional access development. Resolution of that matter will be guided by NEPA, which is a public process. If related land acquisition were involved, it would only be from willing sellers.
- 91. The emphasis of the plan is not on recreation alone but a balance between recreation and resource preservation. Existing agricultural practices are viewed as protecting the river corridor. Encouraging successful continued agricultural land use helps to minimize future development, as noted on page 37, under "Guidelines for Agricultural Lands."

236

¢

Ë
Ż
Ð
Ę
E
2
0
Ũ

92. No property rights are lost in the implementation of this plan.

93. See response 86.

river, certainly must decrease if more land area is dedicated to park access and use. Visitor uses for recreational and scenic/historic touring certainly must increase, and public and private infrastructure for all threat uses will provide further impacts. Isn't that what the Plan is all about? Further, the Plan states that current real estate tax assessment practices based on current use "means that hand values and property taxes would not be significantly affected." (Plan p. 123) This is a speculative attatement which may not supported by actual experience. One recent sale of riverfort property near our farm closed at a multiple of more than twice what the best agricultural land in the neighborhood selfs for

91

Riverfront property will probably continue to appreciate in value faster than ordinary farm land, because having prysical and are serie access to the trivit is a valuable property right of ripurian land owners. One can reasonably forese how the Plan might enhance the general scenic and recreational reputation of the entire area, resulting in higher land values and perhaps taxes. This escalation in possible value represents a potential burden for area farmers who continue agricultural use but who may find that the scenic or recreational portions of their properties will be viewed as sources of invite on local tax revenue. On the other hand, escalation in land values also represents an local tax revenue. On the other hand, escalation in land values also represents an opportunity to the many riparan land owners who have endored the rules, and will the Plan be fleible enough over time to allow land owners to put their properties to the linghest and best uses that may exist from time to time?

92

demand for recreation and scenic experience continues to evolve, a more likely "no action" local impact on land use, property owners and regional population." But if market driven scenario would allow locally desirable development and reward the land owner who wants The Plan impact analysis makes little sense on land use issues. The Plan contends By contrast, the Plan furthers asserts (Plan p. 124) that under Alternative population." This conclusion is unlikely, unless NPS is singularly unable to advocate any suggest that NPF will fail in obtaining some measure of "guideline" conformance Given the intention to acquire a minimal amount of park land in fee, the public rights in the new family, as owners who want to continue on the river even with this new park vision, the park experience will most likely depend on a complex system of rules (both federal and federally inspired state and county) limiting private ownership rights. Thus, the Plan's likely impact on our own uses and farm value is certainly the darkest part of the crystal that Alternative 1, No Action (Plan p. 114) would result in "potentially minor adverse "there would be no adverse local impact on land use, property owners and regional denial of impact from proceeding with the new park vision seems insincere. For my of the land use guidelines otherwise contained in the Plan Surely the Plan does not to participate ball before us.

93

In conclusion, as a family, we are generally supportive of the evolutionary development of more park uses on the Missouri River, as long as we are not selved to undergo economic harm or to be denied the economic expectancies of reasonable development of our property. We have concerns that a park administration not closely

CONSULTATION AND COORDINATION

aligned to local needs will eventually produce burdens on private land owners and local public users. Given the extensive privately owned areas of this park, we hope the administration of the park will be structured to be specially responsive to the needs of icoal and owners.

Please add my name and address, and the names and addresses of my co-trustees and mother as set out on the attached page, to your official mailing list with respect to all public matters affecting MNRR.

Respectfully submitted, On behalf of the Trustees of the Marvin L. Ryken Big Timber Trust

· · · · · · ·

Robert L. Ryken, One of the Co-Trustees

- U S Army Corps of Engineers (Ornaha) VIA EXPRESS MALL Mrs Gladys E Ryken Mrs Linda K Merkwan Dr. Mary Ann Ryken Dr. Maryan L. Ryken Dr. Maryan L. Ryken U.S. Senator Thomas Daschle U.S. Senator Thomas Daschle U.S. Representative Gary Moore S.D. Representative Gary Moore ŝ

Ξ

INTERESTED PARTY NOTICE LIST

- 1 Gladys E Ryken
- 2 Marvin L. Ryken, Jr
- 3 Dr. Mary Ann Ryken Wilcox
- 4 Linda K. Merkwan
- 5 Sam K. Ryken
Appendixes Glossary / Bibliography Preparers and Contributors Index



## **APPENDIX A: LEGISLATION**

# PUBLIC LAW 95-625 – NOV. 10, 1978 92 STAT. 3529

# ADDITION OF MISSOURI SEGMENT

SEC. 707. Section 8(a) of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act is amended by adding the following new paragraph at the end thereof : "(22) MISSOURI RIVER, NEBRASKA SOUTH DAKOTA.- The segment from Gavins Point Dam, South Dakota, fifty-nine miles downstream to Ponca State Park, Nebraska, as generally depicted in the document entitled "Review Report for Water Resources Development, South Dakota, Nebraska, North Dakota, Montana," prepared by the Division Engineer, Missouri River Division, Corps of Engineers, dated August 1977 (hereinafter in this paragraph referred to as the "August 1977 Report"). Such segment shall be administered as a recreational river by the Secretary. The Secretary shall enter into a written coopertime agreement with the Secretary of the Army (acting through the Chief of Engineers) for construction and maintenance of bank stabilization work and appropriate recreational development. After public notice and consultation with the State and local governments, other interested organizations and associations, and the interested public, the Secretary shall take such action as is required pursuant to subsection (b) within one year from the date of enactment of this section. In administering such river, the Secretary shall, to the extent, and in a manner, consistent with this section -

> "(A) provide (I) for the construction by the United States of such recreation river features and streambank stabilization structures as the Secretary of the Army (acting through the Chief of Engineers) deems necessary and advisable in connection with the segment designated by this paragraph, and (ii) for the operation and maintenance of all streambank stabilization structures constructed in connection with such segment (including both structures constructed before the date of enactment of this paragraph and structures constructed after such date, and including both structures constructed under the authority of this section and structures constructed under the authority of any other Act); and

"(B) permit access for such pumping and associate pipelines as may be necessary to assure an adequate supply of water for owners of land adjacent to such segment and for fish, wildlife, and recreational uses outside the river corridor established pursuant to this paragraph.

The streambank structures to be constructed and maintained under subparagraph (A) shall include, but not be limited to, structures at such sites as are specified with respect to such segment on pages 62 and 68 of the August 1977 Report, except that sites for such structures may be relocated to the extent deemed necessary by the Secretary of the Army (acting through the Chief of Engineers) by reason of physical changes in the river or river area. The Secretary of the Army (acting through the Chief of Engineers) shall condition the construction Boundaries.

Cooperative agreement.

Notice and consultation.

Administration.

Recreation river features and streambank stabilization structures, construction.

Access.

or maintenance of any streambank stabilization structure or of any recreational river feature at any site under subparagraph (A) (I) upon the availability to the United States of such land and interests in land in such ownership as he deems necessary to carry out such construction or maintenance and to protect and enhance the river in accordance with the purposes of this Act. Administration of the river segment designated by this paragraph shall be in coordination with, and pursuant to the advice of a Recreational River Advisory Group which may be established by the Secretary. Such Group may include in its membership, representatives of the affected States and political subdivisions thereof, affected Federal agencies, and such organized private groups as the Secretary deems desirable. Not withstanding the authority to the contrary contained in subsection 6(a) of this Act, no land or interests in land may be acquired without the consent of the owner: *Provided*, That not to exceed 5 per centum of the acreage within the designated river boundaries may be acquired in less than fee title without the consent of the owner, in such instance of the Secretary's determination that activities are occurring, or threatening to occur thereon which constitute serious damage or threat to the integrity of the river corridor, in accordance with the values for which this river was designated. For purposes of carrying out the provisions of this Act with respect to the river designated by this paragraph, there are authorized to be appropriated not to exceed \$21,000,000, for acquisition of lands and interests in lands and for development."

Recreational River Advisory Group.

Lands and interests, acquisition. 16 USC 1277.

Appropriation authorization.

ANALYSIS OF THE STATUTE THAT DESIGNATED THE GAVINS POINT DAM TO PONCA STATE PARK REACH OF THE MISSOURI RIVER AS A RECREATIONAL RIVER

On November 10, 1978, President Carter signed Public Law 95-625 into law which, in part, amended the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act, 16 U.S.C. 1271 et. seq., by adding a 59-mile reach of the Missouri River to the Wild and Scenic Rivers System. The purpose of this paper is to analyze the statute that designated that reach of the Missouri River by utilizing the legislative history of this statute and the other applicable sections of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act (the Act).

Portion of the Statute

Section 3(a). The following rivers and the land adjacent thereto are hereby designated as components of the national wild and scenic rivers system: . . .

(22) Missouri River, Nebraska, South Dakota. — The segment from Gavins Point Dam, South Dakota, 59 miles downstream to Ponca State Park, Nebraska, as generally depicted in the document entitled *Review Report for Water Resources Development, South Dakota, Nebraska, North Dakota, Montana* prepared by the Division Engineer, Missouri River Division, Corps of Engineers, dated August 1977 (hereinafter in this paragraph referred to as the "August 1977 Report"). Such segment shall be administered as a recreational river by the Secretary.

#### Interpretation

The segment of the Missouri River discussed in the August 1977 Report is the 59.05-mile reach immediately below Gavins Point Dam at the 1965 river mile 811.05 downstream to Ponca State Park, Nebraska, at the 1965 river mile 752, (Appendix 1, at E-93). This reach is the segment that this legislation designates for protection as a Recreational River. Due to physical changes in the river channel the reach between Gavins Point Dam to Ponca State Park may not be 59.05 miles at this point in time. This does not present a problem because the statute provides the flexibility to allow for such difference where it states that the designated segment is that which is "generally depicted" in the August 1977 Report.

Rivers designated for inclusion in the wild and scenic rivers system may be classified as wild, scenic, or recreational. The basic differences between these are the amount of manmade development allowed and the degree of accessibility. A river classified as recreational, such as the subject reach, may have the greatest amount of such development and is to be readily accessible by road or railroad, Section 2(b)(3).

All the rivers in the system must be freeflowing and the related adjacent land must possess at least one of the following: "outstandingly remarkable scenic, recreational, geologic, fish and wildlife, historic, cultural, or other similar values," Section 2(b). The August 1977 Report describes in detail the values of this recreational river segment and states the conclusion that the values that made this segment eligible for designation are the .

outstandingly remarkable recreational, fish and wildlife, esthetic, historical, and cultural values, (Appendix 1, at E-113). In urging designation of this reach of the Missouri River both Congresswoman Smith and Senator McGovern stressed that these were the values that needed to be protected and enhanced. 124 Cong. Rec. E3529 (1978) and 166 Cong. Rec. S18526-9 (daily ed. October 12, 1978).

The Secretary of the Interior is mandated to administer the river in a manner that will "protect and enhance the values which caused it to be included" in the system, Section 10(a), for the benefit and enjoyment of present and future generations, Section 1(b). Therefore, the recreational, fish and wildlife, esthetic, historical, and cultural values described in the August 1977 Report are to be protected and enhanced. The freeflowing condition of this reach is also to be preserved and protected, Section 1(b). Actions taken to carry out the authorities granted by the Act or actions limited by the Act must be exercised in a manner that is consistent with such protection, enhancement, or preservation.

Although Congress has given the Secretary of the Interior the duty to administer this river, this responsibility may be delegated. If the Secretary of the Interior delegates his administrative responsibility to the Park Service, the recreational river must become part of the National Park System, and if that responsibility is delegated to the Fish and Wildlife Service, it must become part of the National Wildlife Refuge System, Section 10(c). In these situations, the recreational river will then be subject to the laws covering the National Park System or the National Wildlife Refuge System as well as the provisions of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act.

A state or local government may participate in the administration of the river if the Secretary enters into a cooperative agreement with the state or local government for such participation. The Secretary is to encourage the cooperation of the state and local governments in the planning and administration of the river segments which include or are adjacent to any state or county-owned lands, Section 10(e). This cooperative effort may be accomplished through the use of the Recreational River Advisory Group (discussed below).

#### Portion of the Statute

The Secretary shall enter into a written cooperative agreement with the Secretary of the Army (acting through the Chief of Engineers) for construction and maintenance of bank stabilization work and appropriate recreational development. After public notice and consultation with the state and local governments, other interested organizations and associations, and the interested public, the Secretary shall take such action as is required pursuant to subsection (b) within one year from the date of enactment of this section.

#### Interpretation

The Corps of Engineers (Corps) is responsible for constructing and maintaining bank stabilization works and recreational facilities. The Corps is to carry out this responsibility through a written cooperative agreement entered into by the Secretary of the Interior and the Chief of Engineers. That agreement may delineate the details of the Corps' responsibility. The legislative intent of this section, as stated by Senator McGovern in the October 12, 1978, Congressional Record at S18528, is that the Corps is to be responsible for the two specified functions of bank stabilization and recreational development but is not necessarily limited to these functions. The Secretary of the Interior has the discretionary authority to delegate to the Corps a greater involvement in the management of the river, including the day-to-day routine management responsibility. Therefore, the cooperative agreement could cover responsibilities in addition to bank stabilization and recreational facilities. However, both House and Senate subcommittees made it clear in informal conversations that the Secretary of the Interior was to retain ultimate administration authority and that such authority could not be delegated to the Corps.

The actions the Secretary of the Interior must take by November 10, 1979, are delineated in Section 3(b), and are as follows: (1) establishing detailed boundaries of the recreational river, (2) preparing a management plan, and (3) publishing the boundaries and management plan in the Federal Register which will become effective 90 days after being forwarded to the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Representatives. The area within the recreational river boundaries shall include an average of not more than 320 acres per mile on both sides of the river.

The Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service has been directed by the Secretary of the Interior to carry out these three actions. These are to be done in consultation with Nebraska, South Dakota, and local governments. The interested organizations and public also are to be informed that these actions are being taken and are to be consulted. Public meetings or other appropriate means may be used to consult and communicate with the organizations and the interested public.

The management plan may establish varying degrees of intensity of protection and development but the plan must provide for the protection and enhancement of the recreational, fish and wildlife, and the other values for which this river was designated, and for the preservation of its freeflowing condition, Section 10(a). Uses which do not substantially interfere with the public use and enjoyment of these values may be permitted, if those uses are consistent with such protection, enhancement, and preservation. These uses can be delineated in the management plan and a mechanism can be established for permitting compatible uses.

The land or interests in land that need to be acquired to protect, enhance, and preserve the river's values may be detailed in the management plan. However, Section 6(a) places a limitation on such acquisition by limiting the lands on which fee title may be acquired to an average of not more than 100 acres per mile on both sides of the river.

Section 7(a) of this Act additionally protects this reach by prohibiting any manner of federal assistance for a water resource project that would have a direct and adverse effect on the values for which this river was designated. However, projects above or below this recreational river reach which will not unreasonably diminish these values may be permitted.

#### Portion of the Statute

In administering such river, the Secretary shall, to the extent, and

- in a manner, consistent with this section-
  - "(A) provide (i) for the construction by the United States of such recreation river features and streambank stabilization structures as the Secretary of the Army (acting through the Chief of Engineers) deems necessary and advisable in connection with the segment designated by this paragraph, and (ii) for the operation and maintenance of all streambank stabilization structures constructed in connection with such segment (including both structures before the date of enactment of this paragraph and structures constructed after such date, and including both structures constructed under the authority of this section and structures constructed under the authority of any other Act); and ...

#### Interpretation

The Secretary of the Interior is to consult with the Corps with a view to determining what recreational facilities and streambank stabilization structures the Chief of Engineers deems necessary and advisable to construct. When the Secretary of the Interior, who has the ultimate responsibility for administration, concurs in the Chief's determination the Secretary is to have such facilities or stabilization structures constructed pursuant to the cooperative agreement. Such concurrence is to be consistent with the Secretary's affirmative duty to protect, enhance, and preserve the river's values. This division of responsibility may be clarified further in the cooperative agreement between the Secretary of the Interior and the Corps.

The operation and maintenance referred to in (ii) gives the Secretary of the Interior the responsibility to operate and maintain streambank stabilization structures constructed in this reach that the Secretary may authorize under this Act, that have been authorized under the National Streambank Erosion Prevention and Control Demonstration Program, P. L. 93-251 and P. L. 94-587, or structures constructed under the authorities of any other Act.

Any streambank stabilization structures or recreational river facilities constructed or maintained under the authority of this Act may be subject to the conditions discussed below.

#### Portion of the Statute

"(B) permit access for such pumping and associated pipelines as may be necessary to assure an adequate supply of water for owners of land adjacent to such segment and for fish, wildlife, and recreational uses outside the river corridor established pursuant to this paragraph.

#### Interpretation

The Secretary is to permit access for water pipes, pumps, irrigation intakes, etc.; however, that permission must be consistent with the Secretary's responsibilities to protect, enhance, and preserve the values which caused this river to be included in the wild and scenic rivers system. This may involve putting stipulations in a permit regarding noise limitations, visual screening, or other protective measures. The mechanism that will be utilized to grant or deny such access may be developed as part of the management plan. If the pumping and pipelines also involve the discharge of dredge or fill material, a Section 404 permit also may be required.

Section 13(g) of this Act authorizes the Secretary of the Interior to grant easements and rights-of-way for other purposes and to include protective stipulations in those easements or rights-of-way.

Portion of the Statute

The streambank structures to be constructed and maintained under subparagraph (A) shall include, but not be limited to, structures at such sites as are specified with respect to such segment on pages 62 and 63 of the August 1977 Report, except that sites for such structures may be relocated to the extent deemed necessary by the Secretary of the Army (acting through the Chief of Engineers) by reason of physical changes in the river or river area.

#### Interpretation

The sites that are listed on pages 62 and 63 are as follows:

Site	Right		
Location	or Left	Name of Area	
1960	Bank	induce of mica	
River Mile	Ballx		
755.5	Left	Elk Point	
759.0	Right	Ionia Bend	
760.5	Right	Ionia Bend	
764.5	Left	Bolton Bend	
767.0	Right	Ryan Bend	
771.0	Left	Vermillion River Chute	
772.5	Left	Fairview	
775.0	Right	Mulberry Bend	
777.0	Left	Mulberry Point	
779.0	Right	North Alabama Point	
781.0	Left	Clay County Park	
783.5	Left	Vermillion Boat Club	
784.0	Right	Brooky Bottom Road	
786.0	Left	Vermillion Boat Club Area 2	
790.0	Left	Audubon Bend	
794.0	Left	St. Helena Bend	
796.5	Left	Goat Island	
798.5	Right	Cedar County Park	
800.0	Right	Campbells Point	
801.0	Left	James River	
803.0	Right	Yankton Reach	
804.0	Left	Rush Island	
805.7	Right	Beaver Creek	
806.0	Left	Yankton Riverfront	
806.6	Left	Sacred Heart Hospital	

The legislation does not limit the stabilization structures to the sites listed to the left. If there are physical changes in the river that make stabilization at these sites unnecessary or other sites preferable, the Secretary of the Interior has the discretionary authority to provide for the stabilization of other sites. The actual construction and maintenance is to be carried out by the Corps according to the terms of the cooperative agreement. Changes in sites or additions of sites for other than physical changes in the river are covered by subsection (A)(i) which states that the Corps is to decide what structures are necessary and advisable. However, such changes are subject to the Secretary of the Interior's ultimate admin-

istrative authority over the river and limitations of the Act that the administration of the river must be in a manner that will protect, enhance, and preserve the river's values.

68

#### Portion of the Statute

The Secretary of the Army (acting through the Chief of Engineers) shall condition the construction or maintenance of any streambank stabilization structure or of any recreational river feature at any site under subparagraph (A)(i) upon the availability to the United States of such land and interests in land in such ownership as he deems necessary to carry out such construction or maintenance and to protect and enhance the river in accordance with the purpose of this Act.

#### Interpretation

Since this legislation puts limits on the exercise of the condemnation powers of the United States government, the intent of this sentence is to assure, that at a minimum, the land or interests in land necessary to protect, enhance, and preserve fish and wildlife, and other values will be acquired at the sites that may be stabilized under the authority of the subject amendment. Congress intended that there be a "guid pro quo." This was explained by Senator NcGovern in his statement in the October 12, 1978, Congressional Record, at S18529, that "If a landowner wants to protect his property with bank stabilization and such a stabilization plan is authorized under the conditions of this amendment, then that streambank protection is conditioned upon his making an acceptable amount of acreage within the river corridor available for protection of wildlife habitat and other values for which this designation is intended." This assurance was deemed necessary to meet the concern expressed by the Fish and Wildlife Service that the then existing wildlife habitat would be cleared for agricultural purposes once the banks were stabilized.

This sentence means that land or interests in land deemed necessary must be made available to the United States before any stabilization site can be constructed or maintained by the Corps under the authority of this Act. The Corps is to determine which land or interests in land is necessary to protect, enhance, and preserve the fish and wildlife, and other values. However, again this determination is subject to 'the Secretary of the Interior's ultimate authority to administer the recreational river. Any interests in land acquired in this manner must be acquired in the name of the United States for such interest probably could not be legally transferred at a later date.

The words "lands and interests in land in such ownership" mean that if a landowner has 1 mile of land that is to be stabilized but that landowner owns additional acreage in the designated boundaries, the United States can condition that additional acreage to protect, enhance, and preserve the river. The land or interests in land that are made available to the United States may be grants of land in fee simple absolute, easements, or other types of real property interests. The land or interests in land may be sold or donated to the United States [authority to accept donations is in Section 6(f)], or may be made available by other means that are acceptable to the Corps and the Secretary of the Interior.

# Portion of the Statute

Administration of the river segment designated by this paragraph

shall be in coordination with, and pursuant to the advice of a Recreational River Advisory Group which may be established by the Secretary. Such Group may include in its membership representatives of the affected states and political subdivisions thereof, affected federal agencies, and such organized private groups as the Secretary deems desirable.

#### Interpretation

The intent of the above is to assure the continued involvement of the private local citizen groups, and the affected local state and federal agencies and to provide a mechanism for that involvement in the management of the river. The Recreational River Advisory Group is to assist the Secretary of the Interior in the administration of the river by acting in an advisory capacity and in such capacity participating in the decisionmaking process regarding the management of the river.

#### Portion of the Statute

Notwithstanding the authority to the contrary contained in subsection 6(a) of this Act, no land or interests in land may be acquired without the consent of the owner: *Provided*, That not to exceed 5 per centum of the acreage within the designated river boundaries may be acquired in less than fee title without the consent of the owner, in such instance of the Secretary's determination that activities are occurring, or threatening to occur thereon which constitutes serious damage or threat to the integrity of the river corridor, in accordance with the values for which this river was designated.

#### Interpretation

The authority in Section 6(a) that is limited by the above sentence states:

The Secretary of the Interior and the Secretary of Agriculture are each authorized to acquire lands and interests in land within the authorized boundaries of any component of the national wild and scenic rivers system designated in section 3 of the Act, or hereafter designated for inclusion in the system by Act of Congress, which is administered by him . . .

The above authority of the Secretary of the Interior to acquire lands or interests in land includes the authority to use the power of eminent domain. However, that power is specifically limited by this subsection. In the situation where the Secretary would use his power of eminent domain, it cannot be used to acquire fee title or to acquire more than 5 percent of the acreage of the river and the adjacent lands that will be within the designated river boundaries. The acreage to which the 5 percent limit applies does not include land in public ownership or land or interests in land that are made available to the United States as a condition of the construction or maintenance of a stabilization structure. Public ownership includes land owned by the local, state, or federal government.

For the Secretary of the Interior to exercise his power of eminent domain

within 5 percent of the acreage, the Secretary must first determine that activities are occurring or are threatening to occur which would seriously damage or threaten the recreational, fish and wildlife, esthetic, or the other values for which the river was designated.

This Act further limits the condemnation power in Section 6(c) which states:

(c) Neither the Secretary of the Interior nor the Secretary of Agriculture may acquire lands by condemnation, for the purpose of including such lands in any national wild, scenic, or recreational river area, if such lands are located within any incorporated city, village, or borough which has in force and applicable to such lands a duly adopted valid zoning ordinance that conforms with the purposes of this Act.

The Secretary of the Interior may determine that a zoning ordinance is sufficient to protect the river's values and in that event the above limit would become effective. No specific guidelines have been established for evaluating zoning ordinance.

#### Portion of the Statute

For purposes of carrying out the provisions of this Act with respect to the river designated by this paragraph, there are authorized to be appropriated not to exceed \$21,000,000, for acquisition of lands and interests in lands and for development.

#### Interpretation

Congress has authorized \$21,000,000 for the acquisition of land and interests in land and for the streambank stabilization, recreational facilities, and other developments that are outlined in the management plan. The involved federal agencies must go through the appropriation process before this money is available for their use.

# APPENDIX B: PLANT COMMUNITY TYPES

Fourteen general plant communities were identified and mapped for the 1978 Missouri National Recreational River. Wetland community types were identified using U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service –National Wetlands Inventory data, which consisted of 125 wetland categories. These categories were further classified by the Nebraska Game and Parks Natural Heritage Program to come up with the 10 wetland types defined below. The remaining 4 plant community types (terrestrial system) were derived through classification of satellite imagery by the Nebraska Natural Resource Commission.

The actual community types used for this project are numbered 1–14 below, along with general descriptions of the palustrine, riverine, and terrestrial systems:

**Palustrine System** – This includes all wetlands dominated by trees, shrubs and persistent emergents. It also includes wetlands lacking such vegetation, but with all of the following three characteristics: 1) areas less than 20 acres, 2) active wave-formed or bedrock shoreline features absent, and 3) water depth in the deepest part of the basin less than 2 m.

- 1 Palustrine aquatic bed (PAB) This includes wetlands dominated by plants that grow principally on or beneath the water surface. (Found along some portions of the unchannelized Missouri. Some farm ponds are also this type)
- 2 Palustrine unconsolidated bottom (PUB) This includes all wetlands with at least 25% cover of particles smaller than stones, and vegetative cover less than 30%. (No areas of this wetland type could be found on NWI maps, it may be of minor importance)
- 3 Palustrine emergent temporarily flooded (PEMA) These are emergent wetlands where surface water is present for brief periods during the growing season, but the water table usually lies well below the soil surface for most of the year. (Most commonly found as small pockets of wetlands in the Missouri River floodplain. Probably dominated by a combination of wetland and upland plants)
- 4 Palustrine emergent seasonally and semipermanently flooded (PEMC-F) These are emergent wetlands where surface water is present for extended periods of the growing season (seasonally flooded) through the entire growing season (semipermanently flooded). These are emergent marsh areas very common along the Missouri river. Probably dominated by cattails, bulrushes, arrowhead, etc.)
- 5 Palustrine scrub/shrub (PSS) This includes wetlands dominated by woody vegetation less than 6 m tall. This includes true shrubs and young or stunted trees. (*This consists of stands of willow and other shrub species and young cottonwoods. Most commonly found along the Missouri river.*
- 6 Palustrine forested (PFO) This includes wetlands dominated by woody vegetation that is 6 m or taller. (This consists of stands of wet forests along the Missouri River. Dominant tree is likely cottonwood)
- 7 Palustrine unconsolidated shore (PUS) This includes all wetland habitats having three characteristics: 1) unconsolidated substrates with less than 75% areal cover of stones, boulders, or bedrock; 2) less than 30% areal cover of vegetation other than pioneering plants; and 3) any of the following water regimes: irregularly exposed, regularly flooded, irregularly flooded, seasonally flooded, temporarily flooded, intermittently flooded, saturated, or artificially flooded. Unconsolidated shores are characterized by substrates lacking vegetation except for pioneering plants that become established during brief periods when growing conditions are favorable. Erosion and deposition by waves and

currents produce a number of landforms such as beaches, bars, and flats, all or which are included in this category. (This type is found at a few areas of the unchannelized Missouri River where it is almost always associated with PSS wetlands. It appears to be indicating sparsely vegetated areas that are only seasonally flooded. A few farm ponds are also this type)

<u>Riverine System</u> – This includes all wetlands and deepwater habitats contained within a channel with the exception of wetlands dominated by trees, shrubs, and persistent emergents. Water is usually, but not always, flowing in the Riverine System. Upland islands or palustrine wetlands may occur in the channel, but they are not included in this system.

- 8 Riverine, lower perennial, unconsolidated shore (R2US) Lower perennial rivers include low gradient rivers where the water velocity is slow. The substrate consists mainly of sand and mud. Unconsolidated shore includes habitats having three characteristics: 1) unconsolidated substrates with less than 75% areal cover of stones, boulders, or bedrock; 2) less than 30% areal cover of vegetation other than pioneering plants; and 3) any of the following water regimes: irregularly exposed, regularly flooded, irregularly flooded, seasonally flooded, temporarily flooded, intermittently flooded, saturated, or artificially flooded. Unconsolidated shores are characterized by substrates lacking vegetation except for pioneering plants that become established during brief periods when growing conditions are favorable. Erosion and deposition by waves and currents produce a number of landforms such as beaches, bars, and flats, all of which are included in this category. (Sandbars in the rivers)
- 9 Riverine, lower perennial, unconsolidated bottom (R2UB) Lower perennial rivers include low gradient rivers where the water velocity is slow. The substrate consists mainly of sand and mud. Unconsolidated bottoms are characterized by the lack of large stable surfaces for plant and animal attachment. This includes all areas with at least 25% cover of particles smaller than stones, and vegetative cover less than 30%. (*This is the main channel of the Missouri River*)
- 10 Riverine intermittent (R4) This includes streams where the channel contains flowing water for only part of the year. When the water is not flowing, it may remain in isolated pools or surface water may be absent. (*This includes all small streams, Such as the James and Vermillion Rivers and Bow Creek.*)

Terrestrial System - These are upland areas.

- 11 Croplands This includes both irrigated and nonirrigated row crops and alfalfa fields.
- 12 Pasture/Rangelands This includes loess mixed-grass prairie on the loess-soiled bluffs of the Missouri and Niobrara Rivers. Dominant grasses in this community include big and little bluestem in moister and drier sites, respectively, blue and sideoats grama, needlegrasses, June grass and others. This category also included areas of wet-mesic prairie in river floodplains and areas of tallgrass prairie on rolling to level, deep-soiled upland sites. Dominant grasses in these two prairie types include big bluestem, Indian grass, switchgrass and Canada wildrye. Prairie cordgrass and bluejoint may also be prominent in wet-mesic prairies. Both grazed and hayed areas of the above grassland types are included here. Brome fields and planted warm-season grasses are also included here.
- 13 Floodplain forest This includes all forests in floodplains of rivers and major streams not designated as palustrine communities by the NWI. These forests are probably somewhat drier than the forested palustrine communities. Cottonwood is the dominant tree species in this community, but green ash, boxelder, American elm, black walnut, honey locust and hackberry may also be prominent.
- Upland forest This includes all forests on uplands. Dominant trees are bur oak and basswood.
   American and red elm, black walnut, green ash, eastern red cedar and hackberry may also be prominent.

# APPENDIX C: 1980 COOPERATIVE AGREEMENT BETWEEN U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE INTERIOR AND U.S. DEPARTMENT OF THE ARMY

II. THE SECRETARY OF THE INTERIOR, ACTING TEROUGH THE ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR FISE AND WILDLIFE AND PARKS, WILL:

(A) Administer the designated segment as a Recreational River under the provisions of the act;

(B) Initiate efforts to establish a Recreational River Advisory Group which may include members representing those organizations identified in section 3(a)(22) of the act and define the duties and responsibilities of the Recreational River Advisory Group;

(C) Upon request, provide technical assistance to the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers in those instances where the Department of the Interior has unique capability by virtue of law or special expertise required for planning and implementation of the act;

(D) Determine, upon notification by the Secretary of the Army (acting through the Chief of Engineers), or otherwise, if activities are occurring or threatening to occur along the designated river segment which constitute serious damage or threat to the values for which the segment was designated; and

(E) Submit budget requirements through normal Departmental channels.

III. THE SECRETARY OF THE ARMY, ACTING THROUGH THE CHIEF OF ENGI-NEERS,

WILL:

(A) Submit budget requirements for project planning, acquisition of lands and interests in lands, development of interpretive facilities and features, and construction of recreational and streambank stabilization;

(B) Submit budget requirements for operations, maintenance and replacement of such features and facilities;

(C) Notify the representative of the Secretary of the Interior and other members of the Recreational River Advisory Group about activities that are occurring along the designated river segment which constitute a threat to the values for which the river was designated and to land and interests in land acquired by the United States, and make recommendations concerning the issuance of a determination by the Secretary of the Interior as provided for in Article II(D) of this Agreement; and (D) Notify Interior of the congressional budget hearings on the Recreational River so that Interior will be able to testify.

IV. THE SECRETARY OF THE ARMY, ACTING THROUGH THE CHIEF OF ENGINEERS, SUBJECT TO APPROPRIATIONS WILL:

(A) Conduct or cause to be conducted during detailed planning and design for implementation of the Recreational River Management Plan (incorporated herein by reference), and in coordination with appropriate agencies of the Department of the Interior:

1. A survey to determine the sites of historical and archeological resources which may be located within the river corridor;

2. A visual resource analysis to identify any outstandingly remarkable scenic areas which should be protected as part of the Recreational River;

3. An inventory and assessment of wildlife resource values which should be protected and enhanced to maintain those qualities which led to designation of the segment; and

4. A mineral resource inventory and analysis for management of these resources.

(B) Determine the extent and location of streambank stabilization structures and other works necessary to control erosion and the legal interest in lands required for the construction and maintenance of such works;

(C) Further determine, prior to the initiation of construction (or the Federal assumption of maintenance), of any streambank stabilization structure, the extent of additional related lands or legal interests in lands within the same ownership which are required to protect and enhance the river in accordance with the purposes of the act;

(D) Condition the construction or maintenance of any streambank stabilization structure, other works necessary to control erosion, or of any recreational river feature, upon the availability to the United States of such land and interests in land in such ownership as is deemed necessary to carry out such construction and maintenance and to protect and enhance the river in accordance with the purposes of the act.

(E) Acquire in the name of the United States such additional lands and legal interests in lands required to carry out the river preservation and recreational purposes of the act in accordance with normal real estate practices of the Corps of Engineers, section 3(a)(22) of the act, and the requirements of Public Law 91-646; (F) Design, construct, operate, and maintain the recreation and interpretive features in consonance with the Recreational River Management Plan;

(G) Design, construct, operate and maintain streambank stabilization and river preservation structures;

(E) Seek written cooperative agreements for State or local governmental participation as provided for by section 10(e) of the act; and

(I) Failing to negotiate adequate protection or willing cessation of activities which threaten the land or interests in land acquired by the United States or which threaten the values for which the river segment was designated, as determined by the Secretary of the Interior, exercise eminent domain or other appropriate remedy to prevent or terminate such adverse activities.

V. RENEGOTIATION OR TERMINATION

Either party may initiate renegotiation or termination of this agreement by 30 days written notice.

U.S. Department of the Interior

By Robert retary for Fish and Wildlife and Parks Assistant

U.S. Department of the Army

By

J.W. Morris Lieutenant General, USA Chief of Engineers

257

# **APPENDIX D: BANK STABILIZATION**



**MNRR 404 Permits** 

as of April 1997

other

# 404 Permits Within MNRR

802.75	SD	Jul-76	irrig intake	
802.25	NE	Nov-94	irrig intake	
802	NE	Oct-92	irrig intake	
801.8	SD	Jul-80	irrig intake	
801.5	SD	Jul-76	irrig intake	
801	NE	Sep-92	irrig intake	
800.9	SD	Mar-81	bank stab	
800.75	SD	Aug-91	boat ramp	
800.6	SD	Mar-96	bank stab	
800.5	SD	Mar-90	bank stab	
800.4	SD	Mar-82	irrig intake	
800	SD	May-81	bank stab	
799.3	NE	Mar-94	bank stab	
798.8	NE	Jun-96	bank stab	
798.8	NE	Aug-95	bank stab	
798.6	SD	Jul-76	bank stab	
798.6	SD	Mar-78	irrig intake	
798.3	SD	Mar-78	irrig intake	
798.1	SD	Mar-81	bank stab	
797.7	SD	Mar-78	irrig intake	
797.5	SD	Aug-78	Section 32 structure*	
797.4	SD	Mar-78	irrig intake	
797.1	SD	Dec-91	bank stab	
795.7	SD	May-83	bank stab	
795.7	SD	Mar-94	bank stab	
795.5	SD	Aug-78	Section 32 structure	
795.3	SD	Mar-94	Section 32 structure	
795.1	SD .	Apr-83	Section 32 repair	
794.9	SD	Aug-95	bank stab	
794.8	SD	Nov-95	bank stab	
791.8	SD	Jul-92	bank stab	
791.4	SD	Jul-92	bank stab	
791.3	SD	Aug-92	bank stab	
790.4	SD	May-89	dredge fill	
790	NE	Jul-96	boat dock	
789.3	SD	Dec-81	bank stab	
789.3	SD ·	Jun-81	irrig intake	
787.1	SD	May-95	bank stab	
787	SD	Dec-96	bank stab	
787	SD	Jul-86	boat ramp	
786.7	SD .	Dec-96	boat ramp	
786.35	SD	Mar-83	bank stab	
786.3	SD	Aug-81	bank stab	
786.25	SD ,	Mar-83	bank stab	
786.1	SD	Jun-82	bank stab	
786	SD	Mar-97	bank stab	
786	SD	Feb-80	Section 32 structure	
785.91	SD	Jun-84	bank stab	
785.91	SD	Jan-97	boat ramp	

* The Section 32 projects are each a series of structures within a 4-mile area, which explains why repair river miles may vary from original river miles. Page 2

#### 404 Permits Within MNRR

785.9	SD	Apr-90	boat dock	
785.9	SD	May-96	boat ramp	
785.8	SD	Sep-95	bank stab	
785.7	NE	Apr-85	<ul> <li>boat ramp</li> </ul>	
785.68	SD	May-83	boat ramp	
785.6	NE	Sep-95	bank stab	
785.6	SD	Aug-96	bank stab	
785.57	NE	Oct-95	bank stab	
785.2	SD	Jul-90	boat ramp	
785	NE	Aug-95	bank stab	
785	NE	Oct-95	bank stab	
785	SD	Dec-96	bank stab	
784.95	SD	Feb-83	irrig intake	
784.75	SD	Dec-81	irrig intake	
784.7	SD	Oct-85	irrig intake	
784.61	SD	Aug-81	boat ramp	
784.61	SD	Nov-81	irrig intake	
784.5	SD	Oct-92	boat dock	
784.2	NE	Jun-96	bank stab	
784	NE	Aug-95	bank stab	
784	NE	Aug-96	bank stab	
783.9	NE	Oct-93	bank stab	
783.25	SD	Mar-97	bank stab	
783	SD	Jun-96	bank stab	
782.5	SD	Feb-80	Section 32 structure	
782	SD	Jul-95	bank stab	
781.75	SD	Apr-97	bank stab	
781.25	NE	Oct-96	bank stab	
781.25	NE	Jul-95	boat dock	
781.2	SD	Jul-87	bank stab	
781.1	SD	Jan-97	bank stab	
780.85	SD	Jun-95	bank stab	
780.85	SD	May-82	bank stab	
780.85	SD	Jun-92	boat ramp	
775	NE	Jul-79	Section 32 structure	
775	NE	Nov-93	boat ramp	
774.5	NE	Jul-76	irrig intake	
774.1	SD	Feb-95	irrig intake	
774	SD	Jun-96	bank stab	
772	SD	Feb-80	Section 32	
771.55	SD	Mar-94	Section 32 repair	
771.1	SD	Mar-94	Section 32 repair	
769.8	SD	Mar-96	boat dock	
769.5	SD	Feb-80	Section 32 structure	
769.3	SD	Aug-85	Section 32 repair	
769.3	SD	Jun-76	Jun-76 boat dock	
768.85	SD	Jul-95	Jul-95 bank stab	
768.85	SD	Feb-81	Feb-81 boat dock	
768.8	SD	Jul-95	bank stab	

* The Section 32 projects are each a senes of structures within a 4-mile area, which explains why repair river miles may vary from original river miles. Page 3

# 404 Permits Within MNRR

768.68	SD	Sep-77	Section 32 structure
768.6	NE	May-78	bank stab
768	NE	Aug-95	bank stab
768	NE	May-81	irrig intake
767	SD	Sep-77	Section 32 structure
765.95	SD	Jun-78	road
763.4	SD	Dec-86	boat ramp
762.8	SD	Sep-77	irrig intake
757	NE	Mar-93	bank stab
757	SD	Nov-95	bank stab
757	SD	Nov-79	bank stab
755.5	SD	Jun-89	irrig intake
755.2	SD	Mar-94	Section 32 repair
755	SD	Mar-94	Section 32 repair
754.85	SD	Jan-92	boat dock
753.6	SD	Mar-83	Section 32 structure

* The Section 32 projects are each a senes of structures within a 4-mile area, which explains why repair over miles may vary from original river miles. Page 4

## **APPENDIX E: U.S. FISH AND WILDLIFE LETTER**



United States Department of the Interior

FISH AND WILDLIFE SERVICE Ecological Services 420 South Garfield Avenue, Suite 400 Pierre, South Dakota 57501-5408

June 25, 1998

#### MEMORANDUM

To: Director, National Park Service (Attention: Lynn Peterson) Denver, Colorado

From: Field Supervisor, Ecological Services South Dakota Field Office; Pierre, South Dakota

Subject: Continued Informal Consultation on the General Management Plan/ Environmental Impact Statement for the 59-Mile Section of the Missouri National Recreational River

This is in reference to your letter of June 17, 1998, regarding the subject document which requested an extension of 90 days on the list of endangered, threatened, and candidate species that appears as Table 5.

The Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) has reviewed the subject list and finds that there have been no changes since our previous letter of March 17, 1997. Accordingly, the previous list will remain applicable for the following 90 days. The Service continues to concur with your assessment that implementation of the General Management Plan will not adversely affect threatened and endangered species which may occur within the project area. We would like to alert you to one potential change in the list which may occur sometime in October or November of 1998. The Topeka shiner is present in both the Vermillion River and James River watersheds and is currently listed as a candidate species. We anticipate that this species will be listed as endangered and may occur within the project area but only as an accidental occurrence. The Service will advise the National Park Service accordingly after listing through the informal consultation process.

Also, it is important to remember that the Service has issued a jeopardy biological opinion to the Corps of Engineers regarding the adverse impacts of their Missouri River operating plans on threatened and endangered species. Once a jeopardy opinion has been issued, section 7 may preclude further activities in that ecosystem which may adversely affect those species. Therefore, a determination of an adverse affect on these species as a result of implementing the Missouri National Recreational River General Management Plan would require formal consultation and could result in a jeopardy biological opinion.

If you have further questions concerning section 7 consultation, please feel free to contact Nell McPhillips of this office at (605) 224-8693, Extension 32.

Scttfaron

cc: Field Supervisor, ES; Grand Island, NE

# **APPENDIX F: VEGETATION SCREENING**

# **INAPPROPRIATE VEGETATION SCREENING OF HOUSE**



# PREFERRED VEGETATION SCREENING OF HOUSE



# **NEGATIVE VEGETATION SCREENING OF TRAILER HOUSE**



PREFERRED VEGETATION SCREENING OF TRAILER HOUSE





CORRIDOR VIEW

When selectively removing vegetation

for a view of the river, it is best to cut for a downstream view. Maintaining the upstream vegetation will help to screen structures from the river and will protect the tranquility and enjoyment of your property. The corridor within which trees and shrubs are selectively removed (X) and should not be wider than 10 to 20 feet.



opening, removing a tree (X) and selectively pruning of shoreland vegetation (P) as shown, several attractive views can be had while preserving privacy and the natural edge of the river.

# GLOSSARY

100-year floodplain - an area of land where the probability of inundation is once in 100 years

Access – a way of approaching, entering, or using an area; river access includes boat ramps and canoe launches

Adjacent wetlands — the river and its islands and adjacent wetlands within the ordinary high water lines; under the influence of groundwater or high water, such as areas that would be wet during high releases from dams (see also Wetlands).

Agricultural land - land used for farming and ranching

Agricultural landscape — land used for farming and ranching, and the associated structures, vegetation, and livestock that comprise the scene

Backwater (area) — (1) a place where water has moved backward or has been held back or (2) stagnant water in a small stream or inlet

*Biological hot spots* — small, intact riverine habitat patches that provide critical functions for a segment of the ecosystem; could include deep pools for fish habitat, a cold-water tributary junction with a small thermal refuge, or a small section of complex healthy riverine habitat

Biological resources - includes all of the plants and animals and their habitat

Biotic refuges or refugia - areas with relatively undisturbed, healthy habitat and processes

Bluff - a topographic feature such as a hill, cliff, or embankment with steep slopes rising above the river corridor

Bluff line - the transition point between the steep bluff face and more level terrain at the top of a bluff

*Buffer* – a method of minimizing the impact of adjacent activities by the use of setbacks, vegetation screening, and other means

Carrying capacity — the type and level of visitor use that can be accommodated while sustaining the desired resource and social conditions that complement the purposes of the park units and their management objectives

*Commercial development* – the creation or placement of buildings or facilities for business purposes, principally for the sale lease, rental, or trade of products, goods, or services

Corridor - a long, relatively narrow area that is centered on a linear feature, such as a river

*Cultural landscape* — a geographic area, including both natural and cultural resources, associated with a historic event, activity, or person

*Cultural landscape resources* — the components of a landscape that, taken together, provide a scene evocative of a specific culture

*Cultural resources* – includes archeological resources, cultural landscapes, historic buildings and structures, museum objects and archival materials, and ethnographic resources

Design guidelines — recommendations for scale, form, materials, color, and texture; addresses the aesthetic issues and blending of new development into the surroundings

*Development* — includes buildings and recreational facilities, excluding only those associated with agricultural and public land. Platting land is not development.

Development zone - area in which buildings, recreational facilities, or other development is encouraged

Endangered and threatened species — those plants and animals that are listed by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and offered protection under the Endangered Species Act; also state-listed species that are protected under state law

*Environmental education* — activities with organized groups (such as schools, scouts, community groups) or seminar participants; designed to develop understanding, appreciation, and caring for the natural environment

Ethnic group - a cultural group who shares common values, beliefs, and customs

Feed Lot — A permanent confinement area for animals in buildings, pens, or areas that normally are not used for raising crops or grazing.

GIS — geographic information system, a computerized system for storing, analyzing, and displaying geographically oriented data, such as vegetation, topography, roads, cultural sites, and land use

*Historic properties* — any prehistoric or historic district, site, building, structure, or object included on, or eligible for inclusion on the National Register of Historic Places, including artifacts, records, and material remains related to such a property or resource

*Hydrologic regime* – the flow amount and timing/pulsing of water releases from the main stem reservoirs along the Missouri River.

*Interpretation* — educational activities designed to reveal meanings and relationships through presentations, original objects, first-hand experience, or graphic illustrations; activities or media designed to help people understand, appreciate, and care for the natural and cultural environment

*Interpretive media* — visual, auditory, and textual products (such as exhibits, films, videos, books, pamphlets) designed to provide interpretation and education

Lacustrine — standing bodies of water, marshes, etc.

Law enforcement — the act of ensuring that laws or regulations are followed, including rules for management of visitor use and resource protection

*Marina* - A dock or basin providing secure moorings for motorboats and other small craft. A marina may offer supply, repair, and other boating related facilities.

*Monitoring* — a program established to track the condition of a resource over time or evaluate the effectiveness of implementation of plan elements

Natural area — an area that visually exhibits primarily nonmanufactured qualities, such as a forest or wetland

APPENDIXES/GLOSSARY/BIBLIOGRAPHY/PREPARERS

*Natural landscape* – the natural scene with little modification by man; includes land, water, sky, vegetation, wildlife, and natural processes such as weather and erosion

*Natural materials* – naturally occurring substances, not manufactured; stone rather than brick, wood rather than plastic

*Natural resources* — assets or values related to the natural world, such as plants, animals, water, air, soils, geologic features, fossils, and scenic vistas; elements of the environment not created by humans

Nonpoint source pollution — pollution from a broad area, resulting from such things as agricultural pesticides and fertilizers or from urban activities (oil, salt, etc.).

*Open space* — includes public and private land that is retained as primarily undeveloped; includes land devoted to active or passive recreational use or land retained for visual or natural resource protection purposes

Ordinary high water line – the line on the shore established by the fluctuations of water; indicated by physical characteristics such as a clear, natural line impressed on the bank, shelving, changes in the character of soil, destruction of terrestrial vegetation, the presence of litter and debris.

*Oversight* — periodic review of a program's effectiveness or the success of plan implementation to determine if objectives are being met; could take place monthly, quarterly, annually, or less often based on the need

Oxbow - a U-shaped bend in a river or stream, which can become largely cut off from the main channel and become a backwater area.

Point-source pollution --- pollution from a single source, such as a sewage treatment plant discharge

*Prime farmland* – one of several kinds of important farmland; best suited to food, feed, forage, fiber, and oilseed crops; can be cultivated land, pasture, or woodland; does not include urban or developed or water areas

*Recreational resources* — those elements of the environment that are used for outdoor recreation purposes; includes natural and manmade features such as rivers, lakes, parks, and trails

Residential and other private developed areas — areas that include buildings or facilities for residential living or other private purposes

*Resource* — something of value to be preserved, protected, and enhanced, such as significant historical, recreational, scenic, cultural, natural, economic, and scientific resources

Resource management — the art or manner of treating, directing, or handling resources

*Restore* — to bring back or emulate natural processes and features by correcting detrimental, human-included habitat alterations

Restoration — the act of restoring

Riparian area (or streamside vegetation buffer zone) – (1) land adjacent to streams where vegetation such as willow and cottonwood is strongly influenced by presence of water or (2) the transition zone between the flowing water and terrestrial ecosystems

River - (1) a flowing body of water or estuary or a section, portion, or tributary thereof, including rivers, streams, creeks, runs, kills, rills, and small lakes or (2) a natural stream of water larger than a creek and emptying into an ocean, a lake, or another river

*River area* — for a river study, that portion of a river authorized by Congress for study; includes at least .25 mile from each bank; for designated river, the river and adjacent land within the authorized boundaries

Riverine - pertaining to a river or formed by the action of a river

*Riverine-riparian ecosystem* — includes the processes and elements that interact throughout the entire riverine system; generally includes the 100-year floodplain

Riverine system- the entire river network, including tributaries, side channels, sloughs, and intermittent streams

Scenic easement — the right to control the use of land within the authorized boundaries

Sensitive natural areas — includes shorelines, floodplains, wetlands, endangered or threatened species habitat, steep slopes, and bluff lines

Significant resources – the area's important resources as listed in the significance statements, including scenic vistas; habitat for endangered, threatened, and rare species; exceptional fish and wildlife; scientifically important fossil deposits; historic and prehistoric cultural resources; visitor use and access areas; and areas that would be wet under high releases from dams

Stewardship - care of resources to preserve and protect them for future generations

Upland (1) above the floodplain — not to be wetted, (2) land elevated above other land, as above land along a river

Undeveloped — Land left in a natural state; unplowed, uncultivated, without roads, buildings, or other manufactured structures

Watershed - (1) a ridge or stretch of high land dividing the areas drained by different rivers or river systems, (2) the area drained by a river or river system

Watershed or catchment basin — the entire area or basin drained by a distinct stream or riverine system, physically separated from other watersheds by ridge-top boundaries

*Watershed ecosystem* — all of the elements and processes that interact within the catchment basin or watershed, including the riverine-riparian ecosystem.

Wetland — those areas that are inundated or saturated often and long enough by surface or groundwater to support vegetation adapted for life in wet soil; includes swamps, marshes, bogs; upper limit is the boundary between land that is flooded or saturated at some time during the growing season each year and land that is not flooded.

## **BIBLIOGRAPHY**

## Botkin, B. A., ed.

1955 A Treasury of Mississippi River Folklore. New York: Crown.

- Bureau of Mines, U.S. Department of the Interior, and South Dakota Geological Survey
  - 1993 *The Mineral Industry of South Dakota, 1991*, by E. K. Petersen and R. H. Hammond. Minerals Report 37. Vermillion, SD: South Dakota Geological Survey.

Bureau of Outdoor Recreation, U.S. Department of the Interior

- 1971 "Missouri River: Gavins Point to Ponca State Park: Recommendation for Inclusion under Section 5(d) of the Wild and Scenic Rivers Act."
- Chaney, E., W. Elmore, and W. Platts.
  - 1990 "Livestock Grazing on Western Riparian Areas," by Project Officers R. Dean and D. Merkel. Produced for the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency by the Northwest Resource Information Center, Inc., Eagle, ID.

Chittenden, Hiram M.

1897 Report on steamboat wrecks on the Missouri River; in Appendix D of "A Report to the Chief of Engineers, Part 6." In *Report of the Chief of Engineers, U.S. Army, for the Fiscal Year ended June 30, 1892.* Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.

## Clapp, J. R.

1977 "Wildlife Habitat Evaluation of the Unchannelized Missouri River in South Dakota." Master's Thesis. South Dakota State University, Brookings, South Dakota.

Corps of Engineers, U.S. Department of the Army

N.d.	Lewis and Clark Lake: Gavins Point Dam	, Nebraska and South Dakota	Brochure. Government
	document.		

- 1977 Missouri River, Review Report for Water Resources Development ("Umbrella Report".)
- 1980 Missouri National Recreational River, Nebraska and South Dakota: General Design Memorandum MRR-1, Gavins Point Dam, South Dakota, to Ponca State Park, Nebraska. Omaha, NE: Omaha District, Corps of Engineers.
- 1991 Personal observation, Dr. Don Becker, Plant Ecologist.
- 1994 Missouri River Master Water Control Manual: Review and Update Study: Draft Environmental Impact Statement. Omaha, NE: U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Missouri River Division.
- 1995 Personal communication. Environmental Analysis Branch, Planning Division, Omaha District, Omaha, NE.
- 1996 "Missouri River Interior Least Tern and Piping Plover Population Status and Productivity Summary." Omaha District, Omaha, Nebraska.
- 1997 "Weekly Missouri River Least Tern and Piping Plover Survey Results." Unpublished reports. Omaha District, Omaha, Nebraska.

Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service, U.S. Department of the Interior

- 1978 "The Missouri River, Gavins Point Dam to Ponca State Park: A Potential Addition to the National Wild and Scenic Rivers System." Draft report.
- 1980 Missouri National Recreational River Management Plan: Gavins Point Dam, South Dakota, to Ponca State Park, Nebraska. Washington, D.C.

# Hesse, Larry

- 1994 "Flora and Fauna of the Missouri River Downstream from Fort Randall Dam to the Mouth as they Relate to the Alteration of the Hydrosystem." Draft report on file at Nebraska Game and Parks Commission, Lincoln, NE.
- Hesse, Larry, C.W. Wolfe, and N. K. Cole
  - 1988 "Some Aspects of Energy Flow in the Missouri River Ecosystem and a Rationale for Recovery."
     In *The Missouri River: the Resources, Their Uses and Values,* edited by N. G. Benson. Special publication 8. Bethesda, MD: North Central Division AFS.

Hesse, Larry, G. E. Mestl, P. P. Sensenbaugh, P. A. Tornblom, R. J. Hollis, T. L. Nuttlemann, J. A. Vaughn, and J. A. Harrison.

1993 *Recreational Use Survey of the Missouri River in Nebraska*. Dingell-Johnson project F-75-R. Norfolk, NE: Nebraska Game and Parks Commission.

### Inside Outside, Inc.

1992 Lewis and Clark State Recreation Area Master Plan. Prepared by Inside Outside, Inc., Austin, TX.

Yankton [South Dakota] Daily Press & Dakotan

1992 "Lewis & Clark Lake Guide '92." Yankton Daily Press & Dakotan, May 21, 1992.

# Ludwickson, John, Donald Blakeslee, and John O'Shea

1981 *Missouri National Recreational River: Native American Cultural Resources.* Prepared for the Heritage Conservation and Recreation Service, U.S. Department of the Interior, by Nebraska Historical Society. Lincoln, NE.

#### Moulten, Gary, ed.

1988 The Journals of the Lewis and Clark Expedition. Lincoln, NE: University of Nebraska Press.

## National Park Service, U.S. Department of Interior

- 1980 Ozark National Scenic Riverways, Missouri: Environmental Assessment / General Management Plan. Denver, CO:Denver Service Center.
- 1982 Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail: Comprehensive Plan for Management and Use. Denver, CO: Denver Service Center.
- 1987 History and Prehistory in the National Park System and the National History Landmarks Program. Prepared by the History Division. Washington, DC.
- 1988 Management Policies. Washington, DC
- 1990 Natural History in the National Park System and on the National Registry of Natural Landmarks. Natural Resource Report. Washington, DC.

- 1991a Draft Comprehensive Plan and Environmental Assessment: Western Historic Trails Center, Council Bluffs, IA. Denver, CO: Denver Service Center.
- 1991b "Kiosk Plan: Lewis and Clark National Historic Trail, Nebraska: Environmental Assessment." Denver, CO: Denver Service Center.
- 1993 *Floodplain Management Guidelines*, July 1, 1993, as specified by Special Directive 93-4 "Revised Guidelines for NPS Floodplain Compliance." August 11, 1993. Washington, DC.
- 1994a Historical Overview and Inventory of the Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways, Nebraska / South Dakota, by Rachel Franklin, Michael Grant, and Martha Hun,. Prepared by Midwest Regional Office, Omaha, Nebraska. Denver, CO: Denver Service Center.
- 1994b NPS-28, Cultural Resource Management Guideline. Washington, DC.
- 1994c "Draft Archeological Overview and Assessment: Niobrara / Missouri National Scenic Riverways, Nebraska and South Dakota," by Anne M. Wolley Vawser and Alan J. Osborn, Midwest Archeological Center, Lincoln, NE.
- "A Cultural Anthropological Overview of the Niobrara / Missouri National Scenic Riverways", by Beth R. Ritter, Robert K. Hitchcock, Michelle L. Watson, Michele Voeltz, Thomas D. Thiessen, Oliver Froehling, Rebecca Hautzinger, Judith Campbell Miller, Michele Moray, Leonard R. Bruguier, and Gloria Rial, Midwest Archeological Center, Lincoln, NE.
- 1997 "Preliminary Section 7(a) Evaluation for the Proposed New Crossing of the Missouri Naitonal Recreational River, Vermillion-Newcastle Bridge."
- 1998 Special Resource Study / Reconnaissance Survey Report: Proposed Lewis and Clark National Recreation Area: Nebraska/South Dakota. Denver: Denver Service Center.

Natural Resource Conservation Service, U.S. Department of Agriculture

- 1978a Soil Survey for Dixon County, Nebraska. Prepared by U.S.D.A. Soil Conservation Service, in Cooperation with Conservation and Survey Division of the University of Nebraska, Lincoln. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- 1978b Soil Survey for Union County, South Dakota. Prepared by U.S.D.A. Soil Conservation Service, in cooperation with South Dakota Agricultural Experiment Station. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- 1979 Soil Survey of Yankton County, South Dakota. Prepared by U.S.D.A. Soil Conservation Service, in Cooperation with South Dakota Agricultural Experiment Station. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- Soil Survey for Cedar County, Nebraska. Prepared by U.S.D.A. Soil Conservation Service, in Cooperation with Conservation and Survey Division of the University of Nebraska, Lincoln. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- N.d. Draft Soil Survey for Clay County, South Dakota. Huron, SD.

Nebraska Department of Environmental Quality

- 1987 "Rules and Regulations for the Design, Operation and Maintenance of Septic Tanks: Title 124." Lincoln, NE.
- 1991 "Nebraska Surface Water Quality Standards: Title 117." Lincoln, NE.

Nebraska Energy Office and Nebraska Department of Economic Development

1994 A Network of Discovery: A Comprehensive Trails Plan for the State of Nebraska, by Martin Shukert and Ciaccio Dennell Group. Prepared for the Nebraska Department of Economic Development, Omaha, NE.

Nebraska Game and Parks Commission

- 1979 State Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan, Lincoln, NE.
- 1992 1992 Eastern Nebraska & Western Iowa Visitor's Guide. Lincoln, NE.
- N.d. Boating the Missouri. Brochure. Lincoln, NE.
- N.d. Fort Atkinson: 1820–1827. Brochure. Lincoln, NE.
- N.d. Mike Fritz, Plant Taxonomist, Heritage Biologist, personal communication to Larry Hesse, Fisheries Division. Lincoln, NE.
- N.d. Nebraska Camping A Guide to State and Federal Camping Areas." Brochure. Lincoln, NE.
- N.d. NEBRASKAland Magazine's Guide to Good Fishing. Brochure. Lincoln, NE.
- N.d. NEBRASKAland Magazine's Guide to Public Hunting Lands. Brochure. Lincoln, NE.
- N.d. Nebraska State Parks. Brochure, Lincoln, NE.
- N.d. Ponca State Park. Brochure. Lincoln, NE.

Nebraska Game and Parks Commission, Fisheries Division

1992 "Recreational Use Survey of the Missouri River in Nebraska: Summer," prepared by Larry W. Hesse, et al. Draft manuscript on file Denver Service Center, National Park Service, Denver, CO.

Nebraska Game and Parks Commission, Planning and Programming Division

- 1991a SCORP State Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan Assessment and Policy Plan 1991–1995, Lincoln, NE.
- 1991b Nebraska Wetlands Priority Plan For Inclusion in the 1991–1995 Nebraska State Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan. By Richard A. Gersib, in cooperation with Fish and Wildlife Service. Nebraska Game and Parks Commission, Lincoln, NE.
- Northwest Resource Information Center, Inc.
  - 1993b "Livestock Grazing on Western Riparian Areas: Managing Change," by project Officers: R. Dean and D. Merkel. Produced for the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency by the Northwest Resource Information Center, Inc., Eagle, ID.

Pacific Coast American Peregrine Falcon Recovery Team

1982 "Pacific Coast Recovery Plan for the American Peregrine Falcon (Falco peregrinus anatum)."

## Palmer, Tim

1993 The Wild and Scenic Rivers of America. Washington, DC: Island Press.

The River Federation. National Association for State and Local River Conservation Programs

- 1994 "Managing Land Along Protected Rivers." Prepared for the National Park Service by the River Federation, Silver Spring, MD.
- South Dakota Department of Game, Fish, and Parks. Division of Parks and Recreation N.d. South Dakota Guide to Public Fishing Waters. Brochure. Pierre, SD.
  - 1987 South Dakota Comprehensive Outdoor Recreation Plan. Pierre, SD.

### South Dakota Geological Survey

- 1967 Geology and Hydrology of Clay County, South Dakota. Bulletin 19. Vermillion, SD.
- 1983 Test Holes Drilled for Oil and Gas in South Dakota, 1900–1983, by Mike Spilde. Vermillion, SD.

## Thompson, Jerrilyn L., and David W. Lime

1994 Analysis of Existing Information About Recreational Use for the Potential Missouri River National Recreation Area. Saint Paul, MN: Cooperative Park Studies Unit, University of Minnesota.

# Thwaites, Reuben Gold

1959 Original Journals of the Lewis & Clark Expedition. New York: Antiquarian Press.

## U.S. Department of the Interior and U.S. Army Corps of Engineers

- N.d. The Missouri National Recreational River Nebraska and South Dakota Public Information Fact Sheet. Brochure. On file at the National Park Service, Denver Service Center
- U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, South Dakota Department of Transportation, and Nebraska Department of Roads
  - 1995 "Environmental Assessment and Section 4(f) Evaluation: South Dakota Project P 0019(20)0 PCEMS 238H; Nebraska Project STPD-57-4 (108); Missouri River Bridge Near Vermillion, Clay County South Dakota, Cedar and Dixon Counties, Nebraska."

# U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, U.S. Department of the Interior

- 1979 Classification of Wetlands and Deepwater Habitats of the United States, by Lewis M. Cowardin, Virginia Carter, Francis C. Golet, and Edward T. LaRoe, Office of Biological Services. Washington DC.
- 1983 Northern States Bald Eagle Recovery Plan, by James W. Grier. Minneapolis, MN.
- 1986a "Location of Habitat Important to Federally Listed Bird Species on the Missouri National Recreational River." Report prepared under contract to U.S. Army Corps of Engineers by South Dakota Field Office, Ecological Services, Pierre, SD.
- 1986b Whooping Crane Recovery Plan. Albuquerque, NM.

- 1988 Great Lakes and Northern Great Plains Piping Plover Recovery Plan. Twin Cities, MN.
- 1990 Interior Population of the Least Tern (Sterna antillarum, Recovery Plan. Twin Cities, MN.
- 1992 "The 1991 International Piping Plover Census," by S. M. Haig and J. H. Plissner. Unpublished report. Twin Cities, MN.
- 1993 Pallid Sturgeon Recovery Plan. Bismarck, ND.
- 1994 "Draft Biological Opinion on the Draft Environmental Impact Statement on the Missouri River Master Water Control Manual Review and Study and Operations of the Missouri River Main Stem System." Denver, CO, and Fort Snelling, MN.
- N.d. Pallid sturgeon database. Bismarck Office, Bismarck, North Dakota.
- U.S. Geological Survey, U.S. Department of the Interior
  - 1960 *Geology of the Yankton Area, South Dakota and Nebraska.* Professional paper 328. Washington, DC: Government Printing Office.
- University of Nebraska. Bureau of Business Research
  - 1993 "Description of the Demographic and Socioeconomic Characteristics of the Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways." Prepared for the National Park Service. Lincoln, NE.
- Voorhies, Michael R., and R. G. Corner
  - 1993a "An Inventory and Evaluation of Vertebrate Paleontological Sites Along the Niobrara/Missouri Scenic River Corridors." Prepared for the National Park Service by the University of Nebraska, Lincoln, NE.
- Yankton [SD] Chamber of Commerce
  - N.d. Yankton Magazine. Brochure. Yankton, SD.

## PREPARERS AND CONTRIBUTORS

## **National Park Service**

- Dean Alexander, Former Chief, Planning and Environmental Quality, Midwest Regional Office, Omaha, NE
   Education: B.A., geography
   Experience: 5 years with the Florida Department of Community Affairs (planner); 9 years with the National
   Park Service
- John Austin, Resource Economist, Branch of Planning, Central Team, Denver Service Center Education: B.S., M.F., biology, geology, forestry, and economics Experience: 20 years with National Park Service; specializing in planning, socioeconomics, visitor use, and computer applications

William Beteta, Outdoor Recreational Planner / Landscape Architect, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways

Education: B.S., landscape architecture Experience: 7 years with the National Park Service

- Sharon A. Brown, Former Interpretive Planner, Harpers Ferry Center Education: B.S., history; M.A., history; Ph.D., American studies Experience: 18 years with the National Park Service
- Philip Campbell, Management Assistant, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways Education: B.S., Resource Development for Outdoor Recreation Experience: 30 years with the National Park Service

Charles E. Cranfield, Former Management Assistant / Interpretive Specialist, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways

Education: B.A., geography Experience: 10 years federal government, including 4 years with the National Park Service

Roberta D'Amico, Former Interpretive Specialist / Management Assistant, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways

Education: B.A., environmental science/biology; M.A., environmental education Experience: 13 years with the National Park Service; public affairs officer, Mid-Atlantic Region, park ranger interpretation, educational program coordinator

Paul L. Hedren, Superintendent, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways
 Education: B.A., geography
 Experience: 26 years with the National Park Service; 14 years as a park manager

- Warren Hill, Former Superintendent, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways, retired 1997 Education: B.A., geology Experience: 36 years with the National Park Service
- Gary Howe, Former Outdoor Recreational Planner, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways Education: B.S., sociology Experience: 32 years with the National Park Service; 20 years as a park manager
- Lauren W. Johnson, Resource Management Specialist, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways Education: B.A., botany; M.S., land resources Experience; 4 years with the National Park Service, 5 years with the U.S. Forest Service
- Holly Kirchner, Natural Resource Specialist Education: B.A., biology Experience: 4 years with the University of New Mexico / U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Rio Grande River project, 3 years with the National Park Service
- Carrie Maldonado, Planning Technician, Denver Service Center Education: B.S., land resources, geographic information systems Experience: 7 years with the National Park Service
- Jill, Medland, Environmental Protection Specialist, Midwest Area Field Office Education: B.S., environmental biology and botany; M.S., environmental biology Experience: 9 years with the National Park Service
- Lynn Peterson, Natural Resource Specialist / Project Leader Education: A.A., conservation; B.S., forestry, recreation Experience: 6 years with state of South Dakota; 8 years with the Bureau of Reclamation and the National Park Service in resource planning

# Diane Rhodes, Archeologist

Education: B.S., elementary education, library science, physical science; M.A., anthropology/archeology Experience: 20 years with the National Park Service in compliance, history research

- Kent Schwarzkopf, Former Outdoor Recreation Planner, Niobrara/Missouri National Scenic Riverways
  Education: B.S., biology; M.S., geography; M.A., resource recreation management
  Experience: 6 years with state parks in North Carolina and California; 10 years with the National Park
  Service in planning, cooperative land management, and interpretation
- Sandy Vana-Miller, Former Natural Resource Specialist Education: B.S., ecology, ethology, and evolution; M.S., wildlife biology Experience: 5 years with the National Park Service

## **State Representatives**

Chuck Duncan, Retired, Division Administrator for Planning and Development Larry Voecks, Nebraska Game and Parks Commission Dave Johnson, South Dakota Game, Fish and Parks

## **County Representatives**

John Cimpl, Yankton County James Peterson, Clay County Bob Davis, Union County Dwain Heimes, Former, Cedar County Fred Pinkelman, Cedar County Palmer Lund, Former, Dixon County Darrel Curry, Dixon County and Missouri River Bank Stabilization Association Planning and Development District III APPENDIXES/GLOSSARY/BIBLIOGRAPHY/PREPARERS

#### **U.S. Army Corps of Engineers**

Becky Latka, Environmental Resource Specialist, Omaha District
 Education: B.S., biology; M.A., biology
 Responsibility: NEPA, Endangered Species Act, natural resources

Omaha Office:

Jeannine M. Nauss, Outdoor Recreation Planner, 14 years Education: B.S., chemistry and biology

Donald A. Becker Environmental Resources Specialist, 16 years Education: M.S. and Ph.D., botany

Yankton Office: Mick Shea, Former Project Manager, Gavins Point Project

David A. Becker, lake Manager, Gavins Point Project, 20 years Education: B.S., outdoor recreation resource management

#### **U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service**

Dave Allardyce, Fish and Wildlife Biologist Education: B.S., biology, conservation Responsibility: Section 7 Consultation/Endangered Species Act, NEPA

### **CONSULTING AGENCIES**

Through the course of the project, the National Park Service consulted with the following agencies and organizations through numerous meetings of the planning team for the general management plan and/or individual consultation:

#### U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service

Pierre Office National Wetlands Inventory

U.S. Geological Survey Denver Federal Center

# Nebraska Game and Parks Commission

Natural Heritage Program at University of Nebraska – Lincoln Nebraska State Parks Fisheries Division

## South Dakota Department of Game, Fish and Parks

Natural Heritage Program Technical Services University of Nebraska – Lincoln Nebraska State Museum CALMIT Bureau of Business Research

# Nebraska State Historic Preservation Office

### South Dakota State Historic Preservation Office

# **PUBLICATION SERVICES**

Beverly Boecher, Visual Information Specialist, Denver Service Center, National Park Service Sandy Schuster, Editor, Denver Service Center, National Park Service

#### **INDEX**

- 404 permit, 24, 120
- advisory, 24, 48, 135, 142-143
- agriculture, 18-19, 24, 27, 37, 73-75, 105, 110-111, 119
- archeological, 4, 13, 17, 28, 39-41, 44, 47, 52, 53, 55, 64, 86-88, 90-91, 107, 116, 122, 128, 135
- bald eagles, 67, 79, 80
- boundary, 4, 10, 14, 18-19, 23, 25, 30, 31, 33-38, 41-45, 47, 52-55, 58-60-62, 64-66, 74, 84, 88, 90-91
- business, 90, 92, 101, 108, 144
- camping, 30, 35, 43, 57, 62, 93, 96-98
- capacity, 40, 80
- Clean Water Act, 106, 133, 140
- condemnation, 25, 36, 139
- conservation programs, 110-111, 120, 126-127
- cost, 3, 14, 18, 23, 25-26, 30, 38, 44, 48-50, 56, 62-63, 68, 96-97, 109, 114-115, 124-125, 129-130, 133, 141
- county government, 68, 114, 116, 124-125, 131
- county zoning, 18-19, 35, 44, 55, 62, 114, 123
- cultural landscapes, 90-91, 107, 112, 121
- cultural resources, 4, 11, 13, 27, 28, 33, 35, 38-43, 47, 50, 52-55, 57-58, 61-62, 64, 67, 86, 90, 107, 112, 116, 121, 125, 128-129, 131, 135, 141
- desired future conditions, 12
- easements, 25, 27, 28, 35-38, 48, 53, 55, 61, 67, 111, 114, 118, 120, 123-124
- endangered, 3-4, 11, 13, 16, 23-25, 28, 39, 40, 42-43, 50, 52, 55, 57-58, 63-64, 67, 72, 76-78, 80-83, 94, 106, 110, 115, 119, 127, 132, 139, 141
- Endangered Species Act, 16, 28, 40, 76, 106, 132, 141
- facilities, 3, 4, 13-18, 24-26, 29, 33-38, 41, 44, 47-48, 53-56, 58-60, 62-65, 68, 84, 89, 93-94, 96-100, 105-106, 109, 113, 118, 126, 129, 134, 141, 266-268
- feedlots, 24, 34, 37, 114
- fish, 9-11, 14-18, 24, 28, 35, 38-40, 52, 57, 63, 65, 67, 72, 74-81, 83, 84, 90, 92, 95-98, 110, 119-120, 127, 132-133, 139, 141, 143-144
- Fish and Wildlife Service, 9, 16, 24, 28, 35, 38, 40, 52, 57, 64, 74, 76, 80, 83, 132-133, 139, 141, 143-144
- fishing, 11-12, 18-19, 29, 35, 38, 43, 53-55, 57-58, 64, 67, 92-94, 96-100, 127-128
- floodplains, 39, 51, 64, 73-74, 83-84, 106, 111, 120, 127, 133-134
- fossils, 72
- geology, 72, 86, 109, 118, 126
- hunting, 11, 12, 19, 29, 30, 38, 43, 53-54, 57, 64-65, 67, 87, 88, 92-94, 97, 99, 100, 127, 273
- information, 12, 15, 19, 28-29, 33, 36-38, 40, 42, 47, 53, 55, 58-59, 65, 67, 74, 80, 86, 91, 93-95, 100-101, 107, 110, 113, 116, 122, 128, 133, 135, 141
- interpretation, 3, 29, 33, 41-43, 48, 52-58, 61-62, 64-65, 67-68, 93-94, 107, 113, 122, 128-129
- land acquisition, 24, 30, 33, 36, 49, 56, 61, 68, 124
- landowners, 9, 25, 28, 33-34, 36, 41, 47-48, 55, 62, 94, 106, 109-111, 118-120, 127, 139
- landscape preservation, 12
- law enforcement, 25, 28, 38, 41, 48, 53, 56, 58, 63, 68, 108, 110, 114, 124, 129
- maintenance, 3, 9, 23, 25-27, 30, 33, 36-38, 47-49, 51-52, 56, 60, 62-64, 67, 111, 114, 116, 124-125, 127, 131
- management, 3, 10, 13-16, 18, 19, 23-30, 33-41, 43, 44, 47, 48, 50-52, 54, 55, 57-59, 61, 63-64, 67-68, 83, 86,
  - 93, 96-98, 105-107, 109-116, 118-124, 126-130, 132-135, 139-140, 142, 143
- mineral resources, 72, 109, 118, 126
- Missouri River, 4, 9, 11, 12, 14-19, 23, 24, 27, 29, 34, 35, 37, 39, 42, 43, 47, 50-52, 54, 59-60, 71-72, 74-80, 83-84, 86-90, 92-94, 96, 98-100, 108, 115, 133, 140, 144, 145
- National Historic Preservation Act, 28, 40, 41, 44, 64, 107, 135, 142

ordinary high water mark, 37, 84

- outstandingly remarkable, 10, 17, 35
- picnicking, 35, 57, 93, 99
- planning, 13-17, 19, 24, 33, 35, 38, 41, 44, 49, 56, 60, 66, 86, 91, 94, 96, 106-108, 115, 118, 120-121, 127, 132, 133, 135, 139-142, 144-145
- plovers, 23, 40, 67, 73, 75, 78, 94, 116
- private property, 24, 27, 28, 30, 37, 43, 51, 55, 58-59, 62, 64, 105, 108
- public involvement, 139
- public land, 3, 26, 38, 39, 41, 49, 51, 54, 112
- ranger, 48, 56
- recreation, 3, 9-11, 14, 15, 17-19, 23, 29, 35-36, 38, 44, 47, 49, 55-56, 58-59, 61-62, 84, 90, 93-97, 99, 108, 111-112, 114, 124, 139-141, 143
- recreational use, 4, 16, 29, 33, 57, 67, 100, 105, 108, 115, 121-122, 125, 128-129, 131, 139
- resource management, 3, 27, 28, 38-39, 41, 48, 50-52, 57-58, 63-64, 86
- river use, 29, 53, 93, 100
- section 7, 12, 17, 24, 40, 132
- shoreline, 10, 17, 77-78, 99, 111, 128
- significant resources, 27, 33, 52, 57
- soil, 27, 67, 71, 73, 74, 105, 106, 110, 118, 126, 134
- staffing, 25, 49, 56, 63, 67, 128
- technical assistance, 34-36, 38, 39, 44, 51-52, 64-66
- terns, 23, 40, 67, 73, 75, 77-78, 94, 116
- threatened, 3-4, 11, 13, 16, 23, 28, 39-43, 50, 52-53, 57-58, 63-64, 67, 72, 76, 80-83, 106, 110, 115, 119, 127, 132
- trapping, 11, 29, 38, 43, 54, 57, 64-65, 92, 97, 100
- vegetation, 34-37, 67, 72-74, 78, 84, 86, 90, 106, 110-111, 119, 126
- visitor, 3, 12, 13, 25, 29, 30, 33-34, 36, 40-43, 47, 48, 50, 53-59, 61-65, 67, 68, 84, 92-96, 100-101, 105-107, 112-114, 116, 121-125, 129-131
- visitor experience, 29, 41, 42, 53, 58, 65, 84, 92, 106-107, 116, 125, 131
- visitor use, 3, 12-13, 29, 30, 33, 40-41, 43, 47, 50, 53-59, 61, 64-65, 67-68, 93, 100-101, 107, 112-114, 116, 121-125, 129-130
- water mark, 37, 84
- water resources, 9, 17, 23, 27, 30, 38, 44, 65-66, 80, 105-106, 143
- whooping crane, 16, 76, 77, 81, 120
- Wild and Scenic Rivers Act, 3, 9-10, 12, 17, 23-24, 36, 48, 142
- wildlife, 4, 9-12, 14-19, 24, 28, 34, 35, 37-40, 42, 47, 50-53, 57, 63-64, 67, 74-76, 80, 83-84, 90, 92, 97-98, 100, 105-106, 110-111, 119, 120, 123, 127, 132-133, 139, 141, 143-144
- zoning, 14, 18, 19, 25, 33, 35-36, 44, 48, 55, 62, 109, 112, 114, 121-123, 142

The U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (Corps) is a vital part of the Army and the engineer team of choice responding to our Nation's needs in peace and war. The Corps has been a significant force in the history of modern development in the United States. Corps missions include support to military installations and military construction; hazardous, toxic and radioactive waste cleanup; emergency management; and water resources management. The Corps water management mission includes the operation and maintenance of the Missouri River Main Stem Reservoir System for flood control, irrigation, navigation, hydropower, recreation, fish and wildlife, water supply, and water quality.

As the nation's principal conservation agency, the Department of the Interior has responsibility for most of our nationally owned public lands and natural resources. This includes fostering sound use of our land and water resources; protecting our fish, wildlife, and biological diversity; preserving the environmental and cultural values of our national parks and historical places; and providing for the enjoyment of life through outdoor recreation. The department assesses our energy and mineral resources and works to ensure that their development is in the best interests of all our people by encouraging stewardship and citizen participation in their care. The department also has a major responsibility for American Indian reservation communities and for people who live in island territories under U.S. administration.



